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Business HghUghts

BlackRocks financial results were strcng in 2010

capturing early benefits of the BGI Transaction

Revenue increased 83% to $8.6 billion earnings per

share as adjusted7 rose 53% to $10.94

Financial discipline enabled us to double adjusted

operating income to $3.2 billion and increase ad

justed operating margin by more than percentage

points to 39%

Net new business in long term products was $131.2

billiont helping to fuel an increase in assets under

management AUM to $3561 trillion at year end

Investment performance remained competitive

with 70% of our active AUM outperforming their

benchmarks or peer medians and over 97% of our

index AUM achieving tracking errors within estab

lished tolerances

At year end 2010 BlackRock served institutional

retail and high net worth investors in more than

100 countries AUM managed for clients located

outside of the U.S totaled 44% and 41% ofbur

employees were based outside the U.S We

expect these figures to approach 50% over the

coming years

At year end 2010 products invested primarily in

long term assets represented 88% of total AUM or

$3131 trillion of which 54% were equity mandates

36% tixed income accounts 6% multi asset class

portfolios and 4% alternative investments The

remaining AUM was in cash management products

and advisory mandates

The BGI Transaction included an at scale index

business that materially changed BlackRocks AUM

mix Index AUM including institutional and iShares

products increased from 4% of AUM at year end

2008 prior to the BGI Transaction to 54% of AUM at

December 31 2010

See Iriportant Notes os page
t4G

Equity and fixed income AUM include wide range

of active and passive strategies In total equity AUM

increased $158.4 billion or 10% to $1694 trillion

at year end 2010 Fixed income AUM ended 2010

at $1.41 trillion up $85.7 billion or 8% relative to

December 31 2009

Institutional AUM is well diversified by product

and region we serve institutional investors on six

continents with 55% of AUM managed on behalf of

investors in the Americas 32% in Europe the Middle

East and Africa EMEA and 13% in Asia Facific

At December31 2010 assets managed for retail

and high net worth investors totaled $414.7 billion up

8% or $31.3 billion versus year end 2009

During 2010 we launched BlackRock A/f ernafive

Invesfors BA to coordinate our alternative invest

ment efforts including product management busi

ness development and client service At year end we

managed $1 09.7 billion of AUM in hedge funds funds

of funds real estate commodities and currencies

iShares is the leading exchange traded fund

ETF provider in the world with $590.2 billion of

AUM at December 31 2010 an increase of $96.0

billion or 19% since year end 2009 We were the top

asset gatheter globally in 2010 with $44.0 billion of

net inflows complemented by $52.0 billion of market

appreciation We also introduced 78 new exchange

traded products during the year maintaining our

dual commitment to innovation and responsible

product structuring

Demand for BlackRock Solufions continued to

be robust adding 62 net new assignments and

increasing Aladdin revenue 14% year over year

largely as result of continued strong demand

for risk management services We ended the year

with over $10 trillion of positions processed on our

system for nearly 150 clients
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As always navigating these markets as fiduciary

fcr cur clients was BlackRocks first prinrity Hr the

mcst part we succeeded 70% cf cur active assets

under management AUM cutperfcrmed their

benchmarks cr peer medians last year delivering

pcsitive alpha tc cur clients and ever 97% of our

index AUM achieved tracking errors within estab

lished tolerances consistent with the market beta

investors expected Investment performance is and

always will be the most important barometer of our

success the essential ingredient in building endur

ing client relationships and as consequence

shareholder value

Our financial results were equally strong in 2010

as we captured the early benefits of the 801

Transaction Revenue increased 83% to $8.6 billion

aided in part by performance fees of $540 million

sharp increase from 2009 though still well below

pre crisis levels Strong financial discipline enabled

us to double adjusted operating income to $3.2

billion and increase adjusted operating margin by

more than percentage points to 39% Earnings

per share as adjusted rose 53% to $10.94 Net new

business in long term products was $131.2 billion

helping to fuel an increase in AUM to $3561 trillion

at year end Demand remained strong for BlackRock

Solutions as crisis engagements gave way to longer-

term mandates and higher quality earnings

lam especially proud of our 2010.results given the

significant focus on the BOI integration throughout

the year Our objectives in this regard were clear

though not simple ensure continuity nf invstment

focus and strengthen teams where necessary com

municate frequently with clients and work with them

to resolve manager concentration issues and bring

our organization together into more powerful

unified whole

During the year we worked together to define our

core values and mission the foundation upon which

to build robust culture We modified our goUernance

model to streamline our efforts and more broadly

engage and empower our talented professionals We

made steady progress implementing our global oper

ating platform which underpins connectivity and the

integrity and efficiency of our operating processes

Thanks to the hard work of many employees much of

our integration work is behind us

Our message to employees is to embrace change

as an agent for reinvention and renewal That theme

is equally fitting
for the financial services industry

which needs to embrace change as way to restore

trust and to adapt to new world order featuring

greater balance between developed and emerging

markets The adjustments may be wrenching but

they are unavoidable As H.O Wells said adapt or

perish With technology hastening change that

imperativetakes on even greater urgency Who for

example could have imagined populations across

the Middle East texting and tweeting their way to

uprisings and democratization

This past year the world continued to recover from the financial crisis and adapt to the

changing dynamics among developed and emerging markets Equity and bond markets

extended their rally but were highly volatile in the face of ongoing sovereign debt concerns

dissension over fiscal monetary and foreign exchange policies and uncertain and uneven

growth prospects While excess supply continued to plague the U.S housing market home

prices in China soared amid worries of new asset bubbles in the fast growing emerging

markets Demand for commodities remained robust and gold appreciated sharply enjoying

its renewed status as preferred store of wealth Although investors took tentative steps to

re-risk their portfolios with allocations to bonds index equities and emerging markets bank

deposits and cash balances remained exceptionally high
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As we become more interconnected globally we

should expect the pace of change to be faster the

impact to be more widespread and the potential

to be exhilarating Many emerging markets have

emerged Middle classes are burgeoning standards

of living are increasing There are whole new popula

tions of consumers and savers to serve They are

driving economic growth at home and abroad and

financing developed markets They are growing

the global pie This is not zero sum game It is in

my opinion cause for great optimism It is also

warning shot global perspective is absolutely

critical no matter where you are doing business and

where you are investing

The implications of globalization are widespread

Consider for example Fradas mcent decision to do

their IPO on the Hong Kong stock exchange rather

than in their home market following LOccitane

and growing number of international companies

Similarly the dim sum offshore yuan denominated

bond marl et is gradually expanding with non Chi

nese issuers like McDonalds and Caterpillar coming

to market in 2010 These firms recognized the need

to build on their global brands to be close to their

fastest growing markets and in the words of Frada

CEO Fatrizio Bertelli to seize the best opportuni

ties offered by the international capital markets.1

Investors must do the same

Every day we work with clients to address these

and other investment challenges and capture invest

ment opportunities for them That work is not one

area of focus for us if is our only focus and occupies

all of our efforts every day Let me share with you

some of the specific ways we are working to bring

BlackRocks best thinking and our full capabilities to

bear for our clients

Among the most talked about challenges is persis

tent low rates Yet many investors remain over

invested in cash and deposits earning near zero

That is not sustainable if you need to meet earnings

targets satisfy liabilities or provide for the future

Clients are employing variety of approaches to

meet these challenges but there is no magic bullet

We bring unique set of products and services to

the task spanning alpha active and beta index

strategies as well as our BlackRock Solutions risk

management offerings We can offer them individu

ally or in combinations tailoied to clients specific

circumstances Very few clients use only one of our

offerings and an increasing number seek to work

with us as strategic partner That means differ

ent things to different clients as highlighted in the

examples below

For LPL Financial leading U.S independent

broker dealer partnership means developing an

integrated solution for LFL Financial advisors which

leverages BlackRocks expertise across asset

allocation ETFs and mutual funds combining both

active and passive investments for their clients

For the Australian Government Future Fund it

means having our BlackRock Alternative Advisors

team build an opportunistic portfolio of funds

to complement Future Funds direct hedge fund

program and provide advisory services on niche

segments of the industry

For Banca Fideuram Italys leading financial advi

sors network it means making our product range

available on their platform sub advising investment

solutions to BlackRock and working with us to

import and translate value added tools to help their

financial advisors better serve their clients

For The Equitable Life Assurance Society it means

developing comprehensive investment and risk

management program to maximize returns for policy

holders while meeting regulatory solvency ratios

Across theAladdin client community which

crossed 40 organizations in 2010 it means leading

the industry in preparing for regulatory reform

Aladdin was enhanced to support the new U.S

money market reporting requirements and deriva

tives central clearing workflow

For Delta Air Lines it means implementing the

default target date fund option in their defined

contribution plan including coordinating mapping of

assets supporting communications with
partici

pants and providing world class investment options

for the long term benefit of their employees

As an advisor to the Central Bank of Ireland in

support of its Financial Measure Frogramme it

means performing risk assessment of the six

largest banks in Ireland having total loan books in

excess of 300 billion helping our client fulfill its

..

Pan ar eio chrisire and Amos Todor 12011 jaroary 27 Prada to Li or Horg Korg Exchange Wait Streotiosroai Accnoond March 25 2011

iron blip
orhoc ws om/arl cin/5Bi000i4240527487033P92047dl08i8322i548792 him
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reporting obligations to the European Commission reallocation of their portfolios For example last year

the European CentralBank and the International we helped ExxonMobil undertake major reallooa

Monetary Fund tion to aohieve greater consistency across plans and

improve diversification The new passive strategy

For Registered Investment Advisors it means shifted their portfolio from developed market index

partnering with firms like Sage Advisory Services with less than 1500 securities to broad global

which runs tactical all ETF portfolios to help Sage index with over 8500 securities in 45 countries The

gain new clients and broaden its distribution in both transition involved $18 billion of transactions across

the 401k and independent broker dealer channels twelve plans in eleven countries We achieved seam

less execution through close coordination with the

For SPMS the $7.7 billion Dutch Medical client careful risk management and
liquidity sourcing

Specialists pension plan being strategic part that saved the client considerable transaction cost

ner means assuming wide range of investment

responsibilities allowing the client to focus more on The savings achieved for ExxonMobil were made

the schems strategic priorities BlackRock advises possible partly by using our global trading platform

on overall plan risk and on ways to realign fund an internal crossing system that we are in the

investments to overall strategic objectives We also process of expanding to enhance our execution

oversee the manager structure report on range of efficiency In addition we have built fixed income

fund risks and performance and are responsible for capital markets desk to work directly with issuers on

implementing overlays cash flow management and the structure of new bond offerings enabling us to

rebalancing We deploy our global investment and source better securities for our portfolios This year

liability capabilities on behalf of SFMS and deliver we are launching thd BlackRock Investment Institute

ur cPrvir.Pc thrnugh ddiratd SFMS rlient tam to fariIitat infnrmatinn and ida sharing amnng

based in the Netherlands working alongside our our portfolio managers and other experts fostering.

London fiduciary management team debate that can lead to better investment decisions

These are just three of the ways in which we are

Frequently clients turn to BlackRock to adopt working behind the scenes to leverage our scale and

more global approach to their portfolios For capabilities to achieve better results for our clients

investors seeking to achieve specific exposures

we offer range of regional and country products Our government relations work has been another

that are ideal building blocks for their portfolios differentiator Historically banks have lobbied

Our Glubel Allucetiuii eiid Olubel Asueiit fuiids die extensively tu influence laws affecting their lever

examples of strategies where we allocate across age ratios capital standards and business activi

geographies and asset classes to access the best ties Given the very different business model of

investment opportunities for clients We also work fiduciary asset managers have had no need for

with clients to evaluate and implement strategic such lobbying activities As fiduciary though we
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felt it was our responsibility to represent our clients

interests in the debate about the post crisis reshap

ing of the financial system In 2009 theiefore we

launched government elations effort to educate

policymakeis on market dynamics and the needs

of investors as they considered sweeping financial

reform The ream has had many meetings submit

ted numerous letteis and consultations and pre

pared special reports for our clients on wide range

of topics including Dodd Frank Easel Ill derivatives

clearing MiFID money market fund reform the

flash crash and StrI designation criteria Dur goal

is to ensuic that unintended consequences and

operational practicalities are carefully considered

before oui clients
ability to execute their invest

ment strategies is impaiied

The extent and paco of regulatory change linger

ing effecfs of the financial crisis and more recent

events all
spell continuing uncertainty foi markets

Debtor nations in the euro zone are facing tremen

dous political and social upheaval as they struggle

to deal viith the extensive fiscal adjustments

required in the absence of currency devaluation

option Even with the considerable help of thek

stronger neighbors it is far from cci tam that debt

restructuring can be avoided Rather the European

Financial Stability Fund and its successor the

Euiupean Stability Mechanism buy some tine to

cushion thc impact at banks that held substantial

soveieign debt positions all of which had been

given preferential isk weighting under both Easel

rules end the EUs stress tests

Dn the other side of the Channel David Camerons

coalition government in the ha proposed

program of fiscal austerity that could sacrifice near

term DDE growth in order to achieve balanced

budget by 2Dt5 The U.S is effectively pursuing

hybrid approach the federal government has

provided fiscal and monetary stimulus to promote

jobs and economic growth while the states adopt

austerity measures to balance their budgets since

like euro zone members they cannot print money

number of states have already pushed through

bold measures amid piotest and tavisuit This is

democracy at woi mossy to be sure but the best

system we have foi driving the evolution or revolu

tion needed to survive and thrive

That same messy proces makes the rcsult of

revolts in the Middle East and attempt at democ

ratization votatitc and uncertain It is too early to

predict the outcome though the risk of an oil shock

cannot be ignored At the same time imbalances

in the standard of
living in China have spurred

demands for higher wages Chinas government has

done magnificent job of engineering the economy

but the challenges will intensify as the country

develops presence on the global stage commenu

rate with its economic power In particular would

expect continued pressure to let its curi encv trade

more freely to open its markets to increased par

ticipation and competition and to build its
capital

markets These steps wilt be necessary it the central

government is to establish the yuan as reserve

curiency over time

The recent event in japan inspire both concern

and respect The worlds largest creditor nation

has already suffered lost decade of economic

malaise and is grappling with rapidly increasing
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We beLieve that investors wiLt be best served

by combining efficient market exposures

beta with opportunities to enhance returns

atph and by empLoying dynamic risk

management processes

dependency ratic Now they face the daunting

task of rebuilding whih will most certainly impact

insuranco companies globally may have negative

repercussions
for global supply chains and could

put pressure on markets to the extent that the

government sells their foreign reserves to finance

reconstruction would be remiss not to commend

our team in Japan who distinguished themselves

and BlackRock throughout the tragedy also would

like to welcome Mizuho Financial Group as share

holder and buqiness partner in Japan and Asia

look forward with great enthusiasm have never

been prouder of our team or more excited by the

potential of our platform Over the past five years

we did two major mergers and endured financial

crisis of epic proportions We were driven by vision

of what we believed would be needed to best serve

clients as fiduciary in ra5idly changing global

landscape Unlike Warren Buffett my elephant

gon is not loaded we are not looking to do any

significant transactions We are happily focused

nn running our business executing for our clients

and our shareholders by refining and continuously

improving our business practices raising the bar on

our operations and our people and fostering global

content and connectivity

We have assembled range of capabilities unlike

any other asset manager anywhere in the world

And we have done so intentionally We believe

that inyesturs will be best served by uombining

efficient market exposures beta with opportuni

ties to enhance returns alpha and by employing

dynamic risk management processes We believe

that investing whether in home markets or abroad

is global activity requiring insight into the worlds

capital markets economies and regulations We

believe fervently in the merits ot our business model

as an independent globally integrated fiduciary as

well as the importance of information sharing and

the poWer of connectivity and collaboration to make

more informed investment decisions to develop

more innovative products and to provide thought

ful independent advice to our clients

Lots of firms claim to be global but few
try

to

achieve global connectedness and even fewer do

so for the sole purpose of serving their clients That

connectivity is at the core of who we are and we

think makes us the most differentiated financial

services firm in the world To sustain and build upon

that position we must be fertile home for manu

facturing of alpha and beta and expand our manu

facturing footprint We also need to build our brand

globally as demographics and trends in retirement

savings necessitate increased name recognition

among retail investors worldwide

Most importantly we must invest in our people We

are committed to raising the bar and to ensuring

that we have deep bench for succession in each

of ou teams We drew upon the depth of our bench

when for example Evy Hambro and Robin Batchelor

assumed leadership of the Natural Resources team

Rick Rieder was named global GIG of Fundamental

Fixed Income Ken Kroner took charge of Scientific

Active Equities Chip Castille waa appointed head uf

our Defined Contribution platform in the U.S and

Canada and Charles Prideaux was asked to lead the

EMEA Institutional effort in our Global Client Group

At the same time we have been able to attract
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world class talent suoh as Nanoy Everett head of

U.S Fiduoiary Management Servioes Chris Leavy

CIO of U.S Fundamental Equities Edwin Conway

head of U.S and Canada Institutional in our Global

Client Group Tom Garside head of B/ac/cRock

So/uf ions in EMEA Lee Kempler Exeoutive Direotor

of the BlackRook Investment Institute and Jim

Barry CIG of our renewable power investment team

During 2010 we completed secondary offering of

5B.7 million shares of common stock raising gross

proceeds of $9.6 billion for Bank of America and

The PNC Financial Services Group and reducing

their stakes to 7% and 20e respectively Both banks

remain valued partners of BlackRock and active

participants on our Board We were very gratified

by the warm reception we received from investbrs

the book was .B times oversubscribed with 4B

existing and 164 new institutional investors coming

into the deal The offering increased our public float

to over 50% which led to BlackRook being added to

the SP 500 index on April 2011 Going forward

we expect to generate substantial free cash flow

which will give us the flexibility to consider returning

more capital to shareholders In February 2011 we

announced 375% increase to our dividend

Bringing two firms together is huge undertak

ing It requires tremendous planning and tireless

contributions from every employee not to mention

patience and sense of humor We took people out

of their comfort zones with new roles and routines

We collectively embraced culture of performance

and accountability It wasnt for everybody some

5Cc imporiant Notes on page 140

employees chose to leave but the vast majority

chose to stay and many more joined the firm We

entered 2011 energized and focused on doing our

jobs delivering alpha in active products achieving

low traoking error in passive strategies being good

listeners so we can help our clients think about the

marl ets and how to meet their investment objec

tives and being good partners to each other

feel very fortunate to work with an incredibly

talented team over 9000 strong in 25 countries

around the world They oontinue to make me proud

and to inspire me Thank you all also have the

great fortune to be able to tap into the wisdom of an

exceptionally strong engaged Board of Directors

rely on their guidance and am enormously grateful

for their devotion to our Company Finally would

like to thank our clients for beliqving in BlackRock

and entrusting us with their investments Gur goal

is to meet your goals Its that simple Thank you for

giving us the opportunity to do so

Sincerely

Laurence Fink

Chairman and Chief Executive Gffioer
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Our Business

BlackRock serves institutional retail and high net worth investors in more than 100 countries

Through the efforts of professionals located in 25 countries we strive to leverage our global

expertise and scale together with our understanding of local requirements and business customs

to most effectively serve our clients Portfolios may be invested in local regional or global capital

markets Products may be structured to address location specific issues such as regulations

taxation operational infrastructure market liquidity and client specific issues such as investment

policy liability structure and ratings

In order to enhance our ability to best serve our clients and develop our talent we modified our

matrix organizational structure in 2010 to reinforce the teamwork required among global functions

and regions The global functions Portfolio Management BlackRock Solutions BRS Global

Clients and Corporate Bosirress Operations are key to driving coordination and consistency

and to achieving the benefits of our scale The regions Americas EMEA and Asia-Pacific

support local clients employees regulators and business strategy At December 31 2010 44%

of our assets under management AUM was managed for clients outside the U.S and 41% of

our employees were based outside the U.S We expect these figures to approach 50% over the

coming years

Source Geru/ti Associates for VAu IC/for IRA DC sod DR issuEs
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Global Clientele

Americas

At year end 2010 assets managed on behalf of cli

ents domiciled in the Americas defined as the U.S

Caribbean Canada Latin America and lberia totaled

$2.1 77 trillion oi 6100 of total AUM an increase of

$118.8 billion or 600 in 2010 Growth was driven by

$78.4 billion in net new business in long term prod

ucts and $1773 billion in investment performance

and marl et appreciation Clients are served through

dFfices in Brazil Canada Chile Mexico Spain and

throughout the U.S

Gfferings include closed end funds and Shares

traded nn dnmeshc stnrk exchanges full range nf

open end mutual funds collective investment funds

common trusts private funds and separate accounts

The long term product mix is well diversified and

proportional to the firms mix 57c in equities 34c

in fixed income 600 in multi asset class and in

alternatives By comparison cash management of

ferings predominantly serve clients in the Americas

We also have wide variety of BRS assignments for

IstituLiundl invusturs dud guvurnnluntdl entiti in

the U.S and Canada

The mix by investment style is also balanced with

39c of long term AUM managed in active prod

ucts 350 in institutional index accounts and 26

in iShares and other exchange traded products

ETPs at year end Note that the Shares figures

are based on the jurisdiction df the fund rather than

the underlying investor Non U.S investors often

prefer U.S iShai es primarily due to the depth of the

markets and
liquidity of the products

Europe Middte East Africa

AUM for clients based in Europe the Middle East

and Africa EMEA ended the year at $1 .017 trillion

or 29c of total AUM an increase of $79.7 billion

from 2009 During the year clients awarded us net

new business of $28.0 billion including inflows from

investors in 24 countries across the region Dur of

ferings include fund families rhe U.lK Luxembourg

and Dublin and iShares listed on stock exchanges

thioughout Europe as well as separate accounts and

pooled investment products

Clients invested across the entire product spectrum

with 510o of long term AUM in equities 40% in fixed

income 60o in multi asset class and 3% in dlterna

tives EMEA clients constitute the remaining 25c of

uui udbh manageo cot AUM dod iepresdot just

of oui advisory AUM which are long term portfolio

liquidation assignments BRS has steadily built its

presence in EMEA including Aladdio relationships

with variety of institutional investors and Fioaocial

Markets Advisory FMA engagements for financial

DEMOGRAPHIC
TRENDS ARE
IMMUTABLE

Bdby buoniers dIC ietu uig Peupte re tiviiig Longer Sdvings dre

inadequate Government sociaL security schemes and corporate

defined benefit ptans are rapidLy givirg way to defined contribution

foisting responsibiLity for investment decisions onto individuaLs

BLackRock introduced the first target date fund in 1993 and we

continue to deveLop innovative retirement soLutioos for the DC market
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At December31 2010 44%

cLients outside the US

services companies and official institutions including

the valuation assignment announced in January 2011

for the Central Bank of Ireland

The mix by investment style is slightly more concen

trated than
iq

the Americas with 36% invested in

active products 53% in institutional index accounts

and 11% in /Shares and other ETPs The relatively

higher percentage in institutional index is driven by

lQw fee institutional liability hedging portfolios which

account for approximately 25c of total institutional

index assets The relatively lower percentage in

/Shares primarily reflects the fact that the European

ETP market is at an earliestage of development

Asia- Pacific

Clients in the Asia Pacific region are served through

offices in Japan Australia Hong Kong Singapore Tai

wan and Korea and Joint ventures in China and India

At December31 2010 we managed $3672 billion

of AUM for clients in the region an increase of 5% or

$16.2 billion from 2009 Net new business contributed

$15.4 billion and the remainder of the increase was

attributable to investment performance and favorable

market movements We also acquired the Taiwan

based asset manager Primasia Investment Trust Co

Ltd strengthening our onshore investmept capabilities

by offering locally managed investment solutions

At year end the mix of long term products managed

for these cliehts consisted of 46% equities 43%

fixedincome 5% multi asset class and 6% alterna

tive investments Asia Pacific clients represent

ed 2% of our advisory AUM and less than 1% of

our cash management AUM BRS served select

number of the largest and most sophisticated

investors in the region

The mix among investment styles was more tilted

toward institutional index accounts than in the other

regions with $219.9 billion or 61% of long term AUM

in these products This bias can be traced to the

presence of very large governmental institutions and

pensions that are heavy users of index products Asia

Pacific institutional investors also use/Shares for tacti

cal allocation but often favor the liquidity of the U.S

products which are counted in Americas ishares

Active mandates represented 36% of AUM managed

for investors in the region at veanend

Client Region
Tot 1153

of our AUM was managed for
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CHANGING FACE

OF THE WORLDS
WEALTHY

CLients Served

We serve diverse mix of institutional and retail

investors worldwide Clients include tax-exempt

institutions such as defined benefit and defined

contribution pension plans charities foundations

and endowments official institutions such as central

banks sovereign wealth funds supranationals and

other government entities taxable institutions

including insurance companies financial institutions

corporations and third party fund sponsors and re

tail and high net worth investors We also serve both

institutional and retail and high net worth investors

who acquire iShares on exchanges worldwide

Institutional Investors

Assets managed for institutional investors totaled

$2.556 trillion or 72% of total AUM at year end 2010

During the year net new business excluding merger-

related uutfluws in long-term products totaled $60.3

billion which was partially
offset by $38.4 billion of

net outflows in cash management and $12.0 billion of

net distributions in advisory assignments Investment

performance and market appreciation contributed

$201.2 billion of additional AUM growth

BlackRocks institutional AUM is well diversified by

both product and region Long term AUM was $2167

trillion at year-end 49% of which was in equities 42%

fixed income 5% multi-asset class and 4% alterna

tives The mix by investment style was 38% active

and 62% passive excluding institutional investors in

iShares As noted earlier institutional index accounts

tend to be very large mandates managed for rela

tively low fee rates and subject to higher turnover

We serve institutional investors on six continents

with 55% of AUM managed on behalf of investors in

the Americas 32% in EMEA and 13% in Asia Pacific

Institutional clients are further diversified by sub

segments tax exempt official institutions taxable

and cash investors as described-below

BlackRock is among the largest managers of pen

sion plan assets in the world with $1 .487 trillion or

58% of institutional AUM managed for defined ben

efit defined contribution and other pension plans for

corporations governments and unions at December

31 2010 An additional $57.0 billion was managed

for other tax exempt investors including charities

foundations and endowments Assets managed for

these clients grew $90.4 billion during 2010 includ

ing $18.4 billion of net inflows from defined contribu

tion plans which represent an important and growing

component of the retirement market

White devetoped markets struggte to çecover from the financiat

crisis emerging markets continue to grow As they get weatthier

their expanding middte ctasses witL consume more Deeper capitat

markets witt devetop to finance business growth which witt in

turn attract investors at home and abroad gtobat ptatform tike

BtackRocks is essentiat for fiduciaries to navigate the investment

opportunities and risks that arise and to serve the worLds growing

poputation of savers and investors

14 OUR USINES5
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We also managed $245.4 billion or 10% of institu ment products at December31 2010 See Cash

tional AUM for official institutions including central Management and Securities Lending section for

banks sovereign wealth funds supranationals additional information on cash management AUM

multilateral entities and government ministries and

agencies These clients often require specialized RetaiL and High Net Worth Investors

investment policy advice the use of customized BlackRock serves retail and high net worth inves

benchmarks and training support In addition BRS tors globally through separate accounts open end

has been selectd.by number of official institu- and closed end funds unit trusts and private

tions to provide range of services including investment funds At December31 2010 assets

Aladdin risk management and financial mqrkets managed for retail and high net worth investors to

advisory assignments taled $414.7 billion up 8% or $31.3 billion versus

year end 2009 AUM During the year net inflows H.

Blackkock is the top independent manager of of $26.9 billion in long term products were partially

assets for insurance companies which accounted offset by $21.9 billion of net outflows in money

for $218.6 billion or 9% of institutional AUM at market funds Investment performance and market

year end These clients awarded us $4.6 billion appreciation contributed $31.1 billion of additional

Of net new business driven by trend toward AUM growth

outsourcing particularly in Europe last year Assets

managed for other taxable institutions including Retail and high net worth investors are served

corporations banks and third party fund spon principally through intermediaries including

sors for which we provide sub advisory services broker-dealers bankb trust companies insurance

totaled $326.6 billion or 13% of institutional AUM at companies and independent financial advisors Cli

year end ents invest primarily in mutual funds which totaled

$318.2 billion on 77% of retail and high net worth

The remaining $221.7 billion or 9% of institutional AUM at year end with the remainder invested in
pri

AUM was managed on behalf of taxable and tax vate investment funds and separately managed ac

exempt institutions invested in our cash manage- counts The product mix is well diversified with 47%

is ous BU51NE55
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in the U.S Our success in each of these

reflects strong relationships with intermediaries and

an established ability to deliver our global investment

expertise in funds and other products tailored to Ic

cal regulationS and requirements

Our retail and high net worth offerings include the

BlackRock Funds in the U.S our Luxembourg

cross border fund families BlackRock Global Funds

BOF BlackRock Strategic Funds and range of

retail funds in the U.l BOF is comprised of 61 funds

and is registered in 35 countries Over 60% of the

funds are rated by SR In 2010 we were ranked

as the second largest cross border fund provider

/shares/ETPu In the U.K we ianked among the six largest fund

managers and are known for our innovative product...

nffrings inr.liiding
the ahcntiite alptin prriduir.ts we

introduced in 2005 In the U.S we had over 50 prod

uct placements on broker dealer platforms during the

year and have grown our market position from tenth

to fourth largest fund manager since we acquired

Merrill Lynch Investment Managers MLIMV in late

2006 In 2010 BlackRock won the Dalbar award for

customer service in financial services thØeleventh

occasion on which we have been recognized for

uutstdridiiig oohiovonieiit iii this diNd

of long term AUM in equities 29u in fixed income

22% in multi asset class and 2% in alternatives The

vast majority 98u of long term AUM is invested in

active products although this is partially inflated by

the fact that iShares is shown independently since

we cannot identify all of the underlying investors

Client Type
Ia 114 3a or

institutional

Pets UI

High Net Worth

The client base is also diversified geographically with

68% of long term AUM managed for investors based

in the Americas 23% in EMEA and 9% in Asia Facific

The remaining $40.7 billion or 10% of retail and

high net worth AUM is invested in cash management

pruducts priricipslly iriuiiey
rriciikst fuods uffered

FuLty understanding cLients needs abiding by their constraints competing for them not with

them Thats what it means to be fiduciary Thats BtackRock It may be new standard hmposed

on financiat advisors but its the onty standard weve ever known And we embrace it daity by doing

one thing and one thing onLy investment and risk management for our ctients

Source Lipper tsr

Source Sift urd
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GLOBALIZATION

OF THE CAPITAL

MARKETS

Asset CLasses

At year-end 2010 products invested primarily in long-term assets represented 88% of total AUM

or $3.131 trillion of which 54% were equity mandates 36% fixed income accounts 6% multi asset

class portfplios and 4% alternative investments The remaining AUM was in cash management

products and advisory mandates Net new business in long-term products totaled $131.2 billion

before giving effect to merger-related outflows Net inflows in long term products were offset

by net outflows in cash management products as money market fund yields remained near zero

and net distributions from advisory portfolios

Product Mix

017 liSJo 107

AUM ended 2010 at $1141 trillion up $85.7 billion or

8% relative to December31 2009 Net new business

contributed $36.0 billion of the growth while marl ets

and investment performance contributed $66.1 billion

Merger related outflows totaled $99.4 billion and

$19.9 billion in equitids and fixed income respectively

primarily due tn manager rnnrentratinn and underper

formance in scientific active equities See additional

discussion under Investment Styles

MuLti-Asset CLass

rixed income
BlackRocks multi asset class AUM ended 2010 af

$185.6 billion an increase of 31c or $43.6 billion

During the year we were awarded $26.3 billion of

net new business and portfolio values rose $13.9

billion BlackRuul itiulti asset oDes team nianages

variety of bespoke mandates that leverage our

broad investment expertise in global equities cur

4% Advisory

rencies bonds and commodities and our extensive

risl management capabilities Investment solutions

18 ASS ASSES

Emerging MarkeEs

Suurcv McKinsey Cur pory BlackRo

Equity and Fixed Income

Equity and fixed income AUM include wide range

of active and passive strateies In total equity AUM

increased $158.4 billion or 1000 to $1 .694 trillian at

7baF end 2010 Growth was driven by $69.1 billion of

net new business and $1971 billion of investment

porfnrmance and market apprniatinn Fixed inm

Equity

Muiti Ascut

3% AlEernatives

cash Management



might includv combination of long only portfolios

and altei native investments as well as tactical asset

allocation overlays The products are described

briefly below

the Americas 32% in EMEA and 0% in Asia Pacific

During the year clients in the Americas and EMEA

awarded BlackRock net new business of $26.6 bil

lion which offset net outflows of $0.5 billion from

clients in Asia Pacific

BlackRocks multi asset class products were man

aged on behalf of well balanced client base At De

cember 31 2010 institutional investors represented

56% of multi asset class AUM while retail and high

net worth investors accounted for 44% Flows were

almost evenly split as well with $15.3 billion or 59%

and $10.7 billion or4l%comingfrom institutional and

retail and high net worth investors respectively The

geographic mix was similarly diversified with 59% of

multi asset class AUM managed for clients based in

Asset allocation and balanced products represented

59% or $1 09.8 billion of multi asset class AUM at

year end up $23.0 billion on the strength of net

new business of $14.0 billion and favorable invest

ment performance and market movements of $9.0

billion Our industry leading global allocation funds

surpassed $70 billion in AUM in 2010

Target date and target risk funds ended the year

at $41.9 billion or 23% of multi asset class AUM

driven by net inflows of $7.5 billion year over year

organic growth rate of 26% and portfolio apprecia

tion of $4.5 billion Products include our LifePath

and LifePath Retirement Income oftering
which

are Oualified Default Investment Alternatives under

the Pension Protection Act of 2006 These products

utilize proprietary asset allocation model that seeks

to balance risk and return over an investment horizon

based on the investors expected retirement timing

Fiduciary management services accounted for

15% or $28.6 billion of multi asset class AUM at

As newLy adopted regutations constrain the gtobat banking system it wiLt be increasingLy necessary

to finance growth through the capitat markets Companies often want to finance where they need to

invest and they need to invest where they are growing Thus we see robust issuance and trading on

the Bovespa Brazits stock exchange Hong Kong becoming increasingty popuLar for IFOs and the

debut of dim sum bonds Whether investing in one or more markets around the wortd BtackRocks

gtobat presence
and the systems and cuLtureto support gtobat information sharing are significant

advantage for our cLients

Multi Asset AUM
ii ci

Asset Allocation

Balanced

Target Date

Target Rrsk

Funds

Frd ama ry

Management

services

3%Other
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December 31 2010 AUM increased $4.1 billion

during the year These are complex mandates in

which pension plan sponsors retain BlackRock to

assume responsibility for some or all aspects of plan

management Customized services include tailoring

investment strategy to client specific risl budgets

and return objectives working closely with the cli

ents investment staff and trustees

Volatile investor sentiment presented challenges

for asset allocation strategies in 2010 While 35% of

multi asset class AUM achieved returns above their

benchmarks or peer medians for the one year longer

term results remained strong with 81% of multi asset

class AUM outperforming for the.three years and 87%

for the five years ended December31 2010

ALternative Investments

BlackRock ended 2010 with $109.7 billion of AUM

in its alternative investment products an increase

of $7.6 billion Net outflows totaled $0.1 billion as

withdrawals and disbursements in real estate cur

rency and opportunistic funds were offset by inflovs

in single and multi strategy hedge funds global

macro funds funds of hedge funds and commodity

piuduutu Wo buliuve thut investuis udupt their

asset allocation strategies to best meet their invest

ment objectives in the current environment they will

continue to increase their use of alternative invest

ments to complement their core holdings

The alternatiVe investment client base was preddmi

nantly institutional representing 75% or $81.8 billion

of alternatives AUM with retail and high net worth

investors comprising 8% or $9.3 billion of AUM at

December31 2010./Shares comprised $1 8.6 billion

or 17% of ending AUM The geographic mix was well

diversi0ed with 55% of AUM managed for clients in

the Americas 24% for clients in EMEA and 21% for

clients in Asia Pacific

BtackRock ended 2010 with

$109.7 bittion of AUM in its

atternative investment products

an increase of $7.6 biRion

Alternative Investments AUM
.S OR/li/i

Hedge Funds

Funds of

Funds

currency

commodity

Funds

Real Estete
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During 2010 we launched B/ackRock Alternative

Investors BA to coordinate our alternative

investment efforts including product manage

ment business development and client service

The prndiic.ts nffered under the BA umbrella are

described below

Rea/ estate debt and equity products managed

by BlackRobk totaled $12.9 billion at year end

Offerings include high yield debt and core value

added and opportunistic equity portfolios Real

estate AUM decreased $5.5 billion during the

year driven by $3.3 billion in net outflows and

$2.2 billiun Hi iriaiket declines Meiket perfur

mance rebounded for U.S funds in 2010 and

showed continued strength in the U.K and within

separate accounts

Funds of funds AUfA increased $1.8 billion or 8%

to $23.9 billion at December31 2010 including

$18.5 billion in funds of hedge funds and hybrid vehi

des and $5.4 billion in private equity fund of funds

During the year growth was driven by net inflows

of $0.5 billion and $1.3 billion of investment and

market performance Performance was strong and

growing number of institutional clients worldwide

sought our expertise in customized accounts and

commingled vehicles

Hedge funds ended the year with $25.9 billion of

AUM in variety nf single strategy multi strategy

and global macro hedge funds as well as portable

alpha distressed and opportunistic offerings

Products include both open end hedge funds and

similar products and closed end funds that have been

created to take advantage of specific opportunities

over defined often longer term investment horizon

Orowth of $1.1 billion primarily came from $0.6 billion

of net inflows into fixed income and multi strategy

hedge funds dud strung investuient end market per

formance of $1.8 billion across all strategies

Currency and commodity mandates totaled $45.6

billion at year end 2010 These products include

range of active and passive products primarily

managed through institutional separate accounts

AUM increased $10.0 billion during the year driven

by $2.8 billion of net inflows primarily in commodi

ties dnd currency overlays and $7.1 billion of market

appreciation Our iShares commodities products

represented $18.6 billion of AUM which are not

eligible to pay performance fees

CONTINUING

LOW RATES

Low rates are tax on all savers Driven to try new

asset allocation strategies investors are increasingly

barbelling their portfolios pairing core positions such

as fixed income and index equities with satellite positions

in higher alpha strategies including long-onty and

alternative investments BlackRock works with clients

seeking futt spectrum of services from single product

to comprehensive customized sotution

22 AsSET cLAssEs
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Cash Management and Securities Lending

AUM in cash management products totaled $279.2

billion at December31 2010 decrease of $70.1

billion or 20% from AUM reported at year end

2009 Investors continued to look for higher returns

by reallocating balances to deposits and operations

and to lesser extent longer term investment prod

ucts Cash management products include taxable

and tax exmpt money market funds and custom

ized separate accounts Portfolios may be denomi

nated in U.S dollar euro or pound sterling

Our cash management clientele is largely institutional

with 85% of cash AUM managed for institutions

and for retail and high net worth investors at

yeai end 2010 The investor base was also predomi

nantly domestic with 75% managed for investors in

the Americas and 25% for clients in other regions

almost all EMEA based We suffered net outflows

during the year as investors sought higher yields in

bank deposits direct money market investments

and as they became more confident of the market

recovery in longer-term assets Clients also used

their cash for operating purposes as business

investment increased and merger and acquisition

activity increased We expect these trends to con

tinue which will continue to put pressure on cash

management flows

The cash management team also invests the cash

we receive as collateral for securities on loan in

other portfolios Securities lending which is offered

as potential source of incremental returns on

long term portfolios is managed by dedicated

team supported by quantitative analysis propri

etary technology and disciplined risk management

Fees for securities lending can be structured as

share of earnings and/or percentage of the value

of the cash collateral The value of the securities

on loan and the revenue earned is captured in the

corresponding asset class in AUM The value of the

cash or securities collateral is not included in cash

management AUM

The combination of the legacy businesses along

with the addition of new lending mandates

has Increased lendable inventory and solidi

fled BlackRock as top tier provider of lendable

BtackRock empl.oys conservative

cash management investment

styte that emphasizes quality

liquidity and superior ctient service

throughout att market cyctes

24 ASsET cLAssEs



Cash Management AUM
his eor

15

instances individually or in the aggregate have been

material to the Company To the extent that
daily

evaluation/reporting ot the
profile

of the poi tfolios

identifies that limit has been exceeded the relevant

portfolio will be adjusted To the extent portfolio

manager would like to obtain temporary waiver of

risk limit the portfolio manager must obtain approval

frnm th r.rdit rssrnh which is inrIpnrInt

from the cash management portfolio managers

While risk limit may be waived such temporary

waivers are infrequent

assets Outstanding loan balances ended the year

at approximately $104 billion down slightly
from

$111 billion at year end 2009 Balance
volatility

throughout 2010 was lower than in recent years

Demand remained weak as relatively few securities

command premium lending fees This trend is ex

pected to continue through 2011 with turnaround

nrriirring whn th snrl bnrrnwprs nf ssruritins

begin re risking and putting their capital to worl

with more conviction

BlacI Rock employs conservative investment style

that emphasizes quality liquidity
and superior client

service throughout all market cycles Disciplined risk

management including rigoroUs credit surveillance

process is an integral part of the investment process

BleukRuul Cash Maiiaguiiieiit Risk Cuiiiiiiittaa

has established risk limits such as aggregate issuer

exposure limits and maturity limits across many of

the products BlackRock manages including over all

of its cash management products In the ordinary

course of our business there may be instances when

portfolio may exceed an internal risk limit or when

an internal risk limit may be changed and no such

Americas

24/

EMEA

Asia Pacific
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DEMAND FOR

INVESTMENT
SOLUTIONS

An increasingly complex market environment

drives demand for customized portfolio

solutions Only BlackRock has the futt
range

of alpha and beta capabilities and risk

management expertise to capitalize on these

trends now

Groups Rupreseotsd

BlsckRock MuIEiAssst

CHSTL Solutioos

SlsckRock Solutions

BlsckRock Solutions

Finsncisl Msrkets Advisory

Fiosncial Institutioos

Globsi Cossuitsot

Ruistioss

iShsres

Porttolio Msosgsment
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nvestment Styles

Long term product offerings include active and passive index strategies The investment objec

tive for active portfolios is to earn attractive returns in excess of market benchmark Or per

formance hurdle alpha In contrast passive strategies seek to closely track the returns of the

corresponding index beta generally by investing in the securities that comprise the index or in

subset of those securities selected to approximate the risk and return profile of the index

BlackRocks acquisition of Barclays Global Investors included an at-scale index business that

materially changed BlackRocks AUM mix Index AUM including institutional and iShares prod

ucts increased from 4% of AUM at year-end 2008 prior to the BGI Transaction to 54% of AUM at

December 31 2010

Although many clients use both active and passive strategies the profile of these assets differs

greatly For example clients often use index products to gain exposure to market or asset class

pending reallocation to an active manager This has the effect of increasing turnover on index

AUM In addition institutional index assignments tend to be very large multi-billion dollars and

priced at low fee rates This has the effect of exaggerating the significance of net flows in institu

tional index on BlackRocks earnings

Active Strategies

We offer two types of active strategies these that

rely primarily en fundamental research and these

that utilize primarily quantitative models to drive

security selection and portfolio construction At

year end 2010 active long term AUM increased

$18.0 billion to $1 .190 trillion at year end of which

28% was in equities 50% in fixed income 15% in

multi asset and 7% in alternatives Favorable mar

kets contributed $89.4 billion of growth which was

slightly
offset by $2.0 billion of net outflows AUM

growth was significantly hampered by merger related

uutfluws uf $64.6 billiun primorily in uuientifiu active

equities SAE

Active Equity

BlackRocks active equity AUM closed the year at

$334.5 billion decline of 4% or $14.0 billion rela

tive to year end 2009 Net new business contributed

$2.6 billion of growth while investment and market

performance added $41.7 billion widevariety of

products are offered including global and regional

portfolios value growth and core products large

mid and small cap strategies and selected sector

funds We believe an improving U.S economy strong

corporate balance sheets and sustained strong

growth in the emerging markets bodes well for equity

markets in 2011 although geopolitical risk remains

potential drag on investor sentiment

Fiduciary Dutsourcing 8.6%

Advisoiy 21.9%

Target Date/Risk 6.1%

Fiduciary Outsourcint3.7%

Insurance Outsourcing 51.5%

Insurance Outsourcing 29.5%

ccrrRe.kRn
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Blaci Rod manages active equity portfolios fnr

diverse base of institutional and retail and high net

worth investors globally At Decembei 31 2010 ap

proximately half of active equity AUM $1 65.8 billion

ionogod on boholf of ii istitutiunol invostui iH

separate accounts collective investment trusts and

mutual funds and half $168.7 billion for retail and

high net worth investors largely through open end

mutual fund and separately managed accounts

Approximately 46c of our active equity AUM was

managed for investors based in the Americas 39c in

EMEA and 1500 in Asia Pacific

Investment Style

Toli $3 ryj i/lion

Fundamental acfive equity ended 2010 with

$239.1 billion in AUM Net inflows of $3.9 billion in

equity dividend global European and other regional

strategies were offset by outflows of $0.2 billion in

U.S equity funds Market appreciation of $30.4 billion

bolstered AUM as equity markets rebounded late in

the year BackRocks fundamental aotive equity inves

tors seek to add value relative to specified index or

on an absolute basis primarily through security selec

tion based on proprietary researoh and portfolio man

ager judgment Performance was strong in European

and emerging market products as well as selebted

sector funds inoluding energy natural resources and

tealth sciences In total 62c 65 and 77% of funda

mental active equily AUM beat their benchmai or

peer medians for the one three and fve year periods

ended December31 2010 iespoctiveIy Duringthe

yoor wo UI ow on uiostu ig
toUr it to fill out thu luudui

ship team and attracted an experienced CID for our

U.S fundamental active equity strateges

Scientific active equity AUM declined 32c to $95.4

billion Portfolio appreciation ot $11.4 billion was in

sufficient to overcome BGI merger related outflows

of $52.6 billion much of which was anticipated due

to underperformance dating back to 2007 in key

developed market products SAE strategies seek

superior investment outcomes through stock

selection process that aims to systematically find

and exploit pricing opportunities while rigorously

managing risk and cost During the year we appoint

ed new head of the SAE business who reorganized

the team and instilled strong performance culture

that has begun to stabilize the asset base Though

still nascent there are early signs of improvement

as 55% 45% and 36% of SAE AUM outperformed
4% Advisory

their benchmarks or peer medians for the one

three and five year periods ended December 31

2010 respectively

Active Fixed Income

BlackRocks active fixed income AUM ended 2010 at

$592.3 billion slight decrease of 1% or $3.3 billion

from the previous years results During the year we

had $22.1 billion of net outflows partially offset by

$32.3 billion of investment and market performance

Pixed income mandates are often tailored to client

specified liabilities accounting regulatory or rating

agency requirements or other investment policies

U.S bonds enjoyed good absolute returns in 2010

Despite slight pullback during the fourth quarter
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in overall asset allocation and long-term performance

concerns In addition $B.B billion of fixed income

assets on which we have been waiving fees for more

than year transferred to cash management Market

appreciation cbntributed $30.5 billion to ending AUM

Positive flows in U.S municipal bonds of $2.0 billion

were buoyed by the successful launch of the $1.2

billion Build America Bond Trust in the third quarter of

the year Fundamental taxable fixed income strategies

achieved strong performance in 2010 with 72% 49%

and 49% of AUM above their benchmarks or peer

medians for the one three and five year periods

rixed Income
ended December31 2010 respectively

Multi Asset
Model driven fixed income AUM declined $3.9

____________ billion or 9% ending the year at $3B.B billion Invest-

mont and markt perfnrmanFe nf $1.7 billinn was in

sufficient to overcome $3.Zbillion of outflows These

strategies employ models to identify relative return

opportunities and to apply those results subject to

pragmatic review of model risk on systematic basis

across portfolios Performance in our model-driven

fixed income strategies was mixed with 66% B1%

and 92% of AUM above their benchmarks dr peer

medians for the one- three and five year periods

ended December 31 2010 respectively

Mutt-Asset and ALternatives

Virtually all 9B% of AUM in multi asset class man

dates and the majority 75% of AUM in alternative

investments are managed in active strategies These

products are discussed earlier See the correspond

ing sections under Asset Classes

Institutional Index

Institutional index AUM generally managed in com

mon trust funds or separate accounts comprised

3B% of total AUM at December 31 2010 AUM

the Barclays Capital U.S Aggregate lndex returned

6.5% for the year While sovereign credit risk remains

concern particularly in parts of Burope inflation is

not expected to have material impact on Federal

Reserve policy in 2011

Active AUM
I-i 50/

Equity

Alternatives

Of BlackRocks total active fixed income AUM B2%

was managed on behalf of institutional investors and

B% for retail and high net worth investors The client

base reflects our historical roots with 69% of active

fixed income AUM managed for investors in the

Americas 230 for BMBA domiciled clients dud B%

for investors in the Asia Facific region Net inflows of

$1.3 billion from Asia Pacific clients were more than

offset by outflows of $23.4 billion from investors in

the Americas and BMBA

Fundamenfal fixed income AUM totaled $553.5

billion or 93% of active fixed income AUM at year end

2010 These products emphasize risk controlled

sector rotation and security selection driven by sector

experts and direct interaction with issuers and market

makers Fundamental strategies experienced net out

flows of $10.2 billion largely driven by client changes

FinanciaL reform is creating opportunities for disruptive innovation and BtackRock is usirg its

scate and position in the market to ensure our ctients are represented First weve organized our

efforts under newty formed government reLations effort that witL ensure our chents are Ieard

in the post crisis debate about reform Second were expanding our gLobaL trading pLatform to

enhance execution efficiency inctuding an internat crossing network to reduce transaction costs for

ctients and third we have deveLoped fixed income capitat markets desk that works directty with

issuers to source securities for our portfotios

Sen lnportvnt Notes on page 14c
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GROWTH OF THE

ETF MARKET

InstitutionaL and retait investors worLdwide increasingLy use ETFs to

gain exposure to markets Efficiency is key investors want to get the

beta they sought and have the tiquidity needed to seLL without moving

the market ReguLatory and investment trends favor continued growth

of ETFs as efficient buiLding bLocks for cLients portfoLios i5hares is

the worLds Leading ElF provider offering the widest range of products

and serving the broadest cLient base
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address manager concentration issues by reallocat

ing commoditized low fee AUM while retaining

significant relationships and oppotunities

Equity products comprised approximately 68% of

institutional index AUM ending the year at $911.8

billion driven by net inflows of $44.6 billion and

$110.4 billion of market appreciation Net inflows in

global U.S equity and other regional strategies were

partially offset by outflows of $2.7 billion in other low

fee currency overlays for equity strategies Toward

the end of the year investors began to reallocate to

higher return asset classes helping to fuel recovery

in the global equity markets Institutional index equity

portfolios closely tracked their respective benchmarks

Less than 1% of institutional index AUM is in

alternatives or multi asset class products See

discussions under the Asset Classes section

iShares/ETPs

iShares is the leading exchange traded funds ElF
provider in the world with $590.2 billion of AUM at

December 31 2010 an increase of $96.d billion or

19% since year end 2009 We were the top asset

gatherer globally in 2010 with $44.0 billion of net

inflows complemented by $52.0 billion of market

appreciation We also introduced 78 new ETPs

35oerce Year sod zctc Tr Landscape Indes iv Review BlackRock

Global ETF Research aed Implemestalior Strategy Teen eloomberg

Natiova Stock Eechange INstIl

Source Fivaecial Reuear Cerperaverc B/ackReck cry Lavrlvcapc Ivdsu try Highlights

growth was driven by net new business of $89.2

billion and market appreciation of $143.9 billion

Merger related outflows of $55.3 billion were con

centrated among relatively
small number of clients

Where possible we worked with these investors to

Institutional Index AUM
IS

Equity

with 97% 96% and 98c of AUM at or above tracking

error tolerance for one three and five year periods

Fixed income products represented approximately

32% or $425.9 billion of institutional index AUM an

increase of 19% or $68.4 billion Net new business

totaled $3v.1 billion fueled by $1 z.e billibn of net

inflows primarily in
liability hedging strategies

Investors remained risk averse largely due to the

European sovereign debt crisis in the first half of the

year favoring low risk fixed income exposures As

global markets stabilized and recovery in the U.S

looked increasingly likely equity markets recovered

rixed Income and investor confidence returned Institutional index

fixed income portfolios closely tracked their respec

tive benchmarks with 92% 94% and 98% of AUM at

or above tracking error tolerance for one three

and five year periods

31%

t% Multi Asset

1% Aiternetives
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At year end our iShares offerings

were traded on 19 exchanges

throughout the wortd

during the year maintaining our dual oommitment

to innovation and responsible product structuring

Our broad product range offers investors the building

blocks required to assemble diversified portfolios and

implement tactical asset allocation strategies and

the
liquidity required to make adjustments to their

exposures quickly and cost efficiently

The market for ETPs continues to grow globally

with investor preference driven to varying degrees

by performance as measured by tracking error

which is the difference between net returns on the

FTP and the corresponding index liquidity bid ask

spread tax efficiency transparency and client ser

vice Flows also reflect investor risk appetite which

shifted toward fixed income and within equities to

broad and single country emerging market funds in

2010 In early 2011 investors have begun to shift

equity allocations back to developed markets

At year end our/Shares product mix included

$448.2 billion or 76% in equity offerings and

$123.1 billion or 21% in bond ETPs The remaining

$19.0 billion or 3% of/Shares AUM was in multi asset

and alternative investments /Shares equity AUM in

creased $66.8 billion or 18% versus 2009 with $21.9

billion in net inflows and $44.9 billion of market and

foreign exchange appreciation /Shares fixed income

AUM rose $20.6 billion or 20% over the previous

year with 92% of the increase being driven by $19.0

billion of net inflows /Shares multi asset and alterna

tives AUM grew by $8.6 billion or 84% with $3.2

billion of net inflows predominately in commodity

products such as gold and silver and $5.5 billion of

market and foreign exchange appreciation

the top five six of the top ten and twelve of the 20

largest ETFs in the U.S.3 Our7Shares offerings were

traded on 19 exchanges throughout the world These

included 276 funds3 in the Americas with $480.3

billion or 81% of/Shares AUM Assets in these funds

increased $77.6 billion or 19% during the year

including $27.8 billion of net inflows

isharex/ETPs AUM
5O hi oi

Equity

21%

Fixed income

3% Alternatives

Multi Asset

Notwithstanding substantial increase in the

number of FTP
sponsors and products /Shres

has maintained market share of more than 48% in

the U.S and 36% in EMEA3 In addition we are the

largest FTP manager in Mexico have pioneered

the product in Ohile and Peru and have intro

duced products in Brazil Australia Hong Kong

and Japan Importantly our share of revenues

is significantly higher due to our product mix In

general we expect to maintain our pricing so long

as it is supported by performance and the /Shares

value proposition although we continually seek to

achieve efficiencies and pass them through to

our clients

35osrce Year end zcic ST Lundscane lrdustry Review BluckRock

Global ETF Researct and lrrplemeetvtior strategy Team Bloomberg

National 5tock rechenge IN5XI

In total we had net inflows in 315 different FTPs

during 2010 As of year end we managed three of
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BlackRock Solutions and Advso ry

BlackRock offers investment systems risk management outsourcing and advisory services

under the BlackRock Solutions brand name Over $10.0 trillion of positions are processed on our

Aladdin operating platform which serves as the investment system for BlackRock and growing

number of sophisticated institutional investors around the world BRS also offers comprehensive

risk reporting via the Green Package and risk management advisory services interactive fixed

income analytics through our web-based calculator AnSer middle and back office outsourcing

services arid investment accounting Clients have also retained BRS Financial Markets Advisory

group fora variety of engagements such as valuation and risk assessment of
illiquid assets

portfolio restructuring workouts and dispositions of distressed assets and financial and balance

sheet strategies

As global capital markets have recovered clients

have focused more on risk management and

demand for BRS services continues to be robust

During the year BRS added 62 net new assign

ments While revenue declined modestly by 4%

to $460 million demand was strong for Aladdin

and risk management services with year over

year revenue growing 14c particularly in EMEA

where we signed record number of new BRS

clients onto the platform Aladdin assignments

are long term contracts providing significant

recurring revenue

During theyearwe added 49 new FMA assign

ments and ccmpleted 33 engagements The

nature of FMA assignments shifted from urgent

short term risk analyses to longer term advisory

and risk monitoring engagements with year

over year revenue declining 23% as the crisis

subsided and fewer clients required emergency

valuation and liquidation services Advisory AUM

decreased to $1 50.7 billion with $1.5 billion

of market appreciation insufficient to offset $12.0

billion of client distributions in these long term

liquidation portfolios

At year end BRS served 149 clients including banks

insurance companies official institutions pen

sion funds asset managers and other institutional

investors across North America Europe Asia and

RISK

MANAGEMENT
MATTERS

Opportunity and risk are two sides of the same coin If the financiat

crisis taught investors anything its that risk management

matters And thats not just about having models and processes

Its about having the culture to question the models and challenge

conventional wisdom Risk management is not just something we

du its dt the core of who BtdckRuuk dud BlciclcRuck So/uhons are
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Australia During the year BlackRock acquired and

integrated Helix Financial Grcup LLC tc enhance

BRS commercial real estate capabilities which

proved to be critical to BRA success in winning

several high profile assignments We will continue

to consider acquisition opportunitios that can

expand Aladdin functionality and our risk manage

mont expertise

added in connection with the integration to enhance

the Aladdin platform over time Additionally we will

seek to leverage our scale for the benefit of our

clients through the creation of robust global trading

platform and other initiatives

tion based on achieving best execution consistent-

with theclients risk manogement tolerances

We use state of the art teols and work closely

with BlackRocks trading cost research team to

manage four dimensions of risk throughout the

transition exposure execution process and

operational risk The average transitionassign

ment is executed within two weeks although the

duration can be longer or shorter depending on

the size complexity and liquidity of the related

assets These portfolios are not incluJed in AUM

unless BlackRock has been retained to manage

the assets atter the transition phase

35 BLACKROCK sOLUTIONS AND ADvIsoRy

Transition Management Services

BlackRock also offers transition management

services involving the temporary oversight of

clients assets as they transition from one

manager to another or from one strategy to an

other We provide comprehensive service that

includes project management and implementa

.2010 BlackRock Solutions

Assignments

Aladdin Risk

Analysis

Other Tools

rina no is

Markets

Advisory

Outsouroing

The BRS and Aladdin teams are also supporting key

aspects of the BGI integration These eftorts are vital

to establishing unified operating platform and con

sistent operating processes We expect functionality

Assets trillions

Assets

Source BlackRuck
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41 BLACKROCK

SeLected FinanciaL Data APR 292011

The selected financial data presented below has been
VL1

and ResultseOpratio JIcLüdebJsLhrih7J$ Annual

derived in part from and should be read in conjunction with Report Prior year data reflects certain reclassifications to con

the consolidated financial statements of BlackRock and form to the current yearpresentation

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

00//ar amounts in mi//ions except pershare data

Year ended December31

20101/ 2009 2008 20072/ 2006

Income statement data

Total revenue $8612 $4700 $5064 $4845 $2098

Expenses

Restructuring charges 22 38

Termination ot closed end fund administration and

servicing arrangements 28

Fee sharing payment131 34

Otheroperatingexpenses 5614 3400 3433 3423 1592

Total expenses 5614 3422 3471 3551 1626

Operating income 2998 1278 1593 1294 472

Total non operating income expense 23 577 526 53

Income before income taxes 3021 1272 1016 1820 525

Income tax expense 971 375 387 463 188

Net income 2050 807 629 137 337

Less Net income loss attributable to

non controlling interests141 13 22 155 364 16

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc $2063 $875 $784 $993 $321

Per share data5
Basic earnings $10.67 $6.24 $5.86 $7.53 $3.95

Diluted earnings

Bookvalue161

$10.55 $6.1 $5.78 $7.37 $3.83

$136.09 $128.86 $92.91 $90.16 $83.63

Common dnd preterred cash dividends $4.00 $3.12 $ä.12 $2.68 $1.68

Decethber 31

0o//aramounts in mi//ions
2010 2009/1/ 2008 2007 2006

Balance sheet data

Cash and cash equivalents $3367 $4708 $2032 $1656 $1160

Goodwill and intangible assets net 30317 30346 11974 12073 11139

Total assets171 178459 781 24 19924 22561 20470

Less

Separate account assetsfe 121 137 119629 2623 4670 4300

Collateral held under securities lending agreements5 17638 19335

Consolidated investment vehicles1 1610 282 502 805 1236

Adjusted total assets 38074 38878 16799 17086 14934

Short-term borrowings $100 $2234 $200 $300

Convertible debentures 67 243 245 242 238

Long term borrowings 3192 3191 697 697

Total borrowings $3359 $5668 $1142 $1239 $241

Total stockholders equity $26094 $24329 $12069 $11601 $10789

Assets under management
Equity

Active $334532 $348574 $152216 $291324 $255330

Institutional index 911775 806082 51076 71381 61631

iShares/ Exchange traded products 448160 381399

Fixed income

Active 592303 595580 477492 506265 441046

Institutional index 425930 357557 3873 3942 4274

iShares/Exchange traded products 123091 102490

Multi asset class 185587 142029 77516 98623 78601

Alternatives 109738 102101 61544 71771 48292

Lung-term 3131116 2835812 823717 1043306 889174

Cash management 279175 349277 338439 313338 235453

Sub total 3410291 31 85089 11 621 56 1356644 1124627

Advisory1111 150677 161167 44995

Total $3560968 $3346256 $1307151 $1356644 $1124627

Significaet increases in 2009 ror balance sheet data and assets under management rota BlackRock stockholders equity excluding appropriated retained
earnings

AuM and 2010 tsr income statement data were pnman/y the resuh of BlackRock dindedby total common and prete rred shares outstanding at December31 of the

acquisihon from Barclays eank rc Barclays all of the oufstanding equity interests respective year end

of subsidianes of Barclays conducting the business of Barclays Global Investors 501 Inc/odes separate account assets that are segregated
funds held for

purposes
of

the BOl rransaction which closed on December 2009 funding indindual and group pension cenfracts and collateral held under securities

Significant increases in 2007 for income statement data only were pr/manly the lending agreements related to these assets that have equal and offset hng amounts

result of BlackRocks acqmuition of MernIl Lynch Investment Managers the MtIM recorded in habihhes and ultimately do net impact BlackRocbs stockholders equity

rranuachon which closed on September29 2006 or cash flows

Represents 2006 fee shanng payment to Mettife Inc represenhng one hme gqual and offset hng amounts related to separate account assets and collateral held

epecs related to large instuhcnal real estate equity chrt account acquird in th under secunh lendin1 agreements are reorded ih liabilities

acqumihens of SSRM Holdings Inc the SSR rransaction Includes assets held by consolidated variable interest entities and consohdated

Includes both redeemable and nonredeemable non controlhng interests sponsored investments funds

Sedes and non voting participating preferred stuck is considered to be com t0 Data reflects the reclassification ofAuM into the current penod presenta hen

mon stock eqmvalent for purposes of earnings per share calculahons 11 AdnsoryAuM represents long term portfohe hquida don assignments



Overview

BlackRock Inc BlackRock or the Company is the largest

publioly traded investment madagement firm As of Deoember

31 2010 the Company managd $3561 trillion of assets under

management AUM on behalf of institutional and individual

investors worldwide The Company provides wide array of

produots including passively and actively managed produots

including equities fixed inoome multi asset class alternative

investment and cash management products and offers clients

diversified auuesc tu glubel nerkets thruugh separate accounts

collective investment trusts open-end and closed end mutual

funds exchange-traded funds hedge funds and funds of funds

In addition BlackRockSo/ufions BRS provides market

risk management financial markets advisory and enterprise

investment system services to broad base of clients Financial

markets advisory services include valuation of illiquid securities

dispositions and workout assignments including long term

portfolio liquidation assignments risk management and strategic

planning and execution

On September29 2006 Merrill Lynch Co Inc Merrill

Lynch contributed the entities and assets that constituted its

investment management business Merrill Lynch Investment

Managers MLIM to BlackRock in exchange for common and

non voting preferred stock such that immediately after such

closing Merrill Lynch held approximately 45% of BlackRocks

common stock outstanding and approximately 49.3% of the

Companys capital
stock on fully

diluted basis the MLIM

Transaction On October 12007 BlackRock acquired certain

assets and assumed certain liabilities of the fund of funds

business of Ouellos Group LLV Ouellos for combination of

cash and common stock the Ouellos Transaction

On January 2009 Bank of Afrierica Corporation Bank
of America adquired Merrill Lynch In connection with this

transaction BlackRock entered into exchange agreements with

each of Merrill Lynch and The PNC Financial Services Group

Inc PNC pursuant to which each agreed to exchange por

tion of BlackRock voting common stock they held for non-voting

preferred stock

On December 2009 BlackRock acquired from Barclays

Bank PLC Barclays all of the outstanding equity interests of

subsidiaries of Barclays conducting the business of Barclays

Global Investors BGI the BGI Transaction in exchange for

37.6 million capital shares valued at $B.53 billion or $227.OB

per share the closing price of BlackRocks common stock on

November 30 2009 and $6.65 billion in cash for total of

$15.2 billion The fair value of the BGI Transaction on June

2009 several deys prior to the annuuncement uf the transac

tion included the capital shares valued at $6.16 billion or

$163.74 per share and $6.65 billion in cash for total of

$1 2.B billion The increase in the fair value of BlackRocks

common stock resulted in $2.4 billion or 19% of additional

purchase price consideration for accounting purposes as com

pared to 16% increase in the SP 500

On November 15 2010 Bank of America and PNC sold

5B7371 22 shares of BlackRocks common stock which

included 56407040 shares of common stock that converted

from non voting preferred stock In connection with this trans

action BlackRock entered into an exchange agreement with

PNC pursuant to which PNC agreed to exchange 11105000

shares of BlackRock non voting preferred stock they held for

common stock

As of December31 2010 equity ownership of BlackRock was

as follows

Voting

Common Stock Capital Stock1

PNC 25.3% 20.3%

Barclays 2.3% 19.6%

Bank of America/Merrill Lynch 0.0% 7.1%

Other 72.4% 53.0%

100.0% 100.0%

Includes outslanding cemmen and cnn veting preferred stuck enly
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The following table summarizes BlackRocks operating performance for the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008

Financial Highlights

Variance

Ye

Do//ar amounts kim/I/ions except pershare data 2010

ar ended Dece

2009

mber 31

2008

2010 vs

Amount

2009 2009 vs

Amount

2008

GAAP basis

Total revenue $8612 $4700 $5064 $3912 83% $364 7%
Total expenses $5614 $3422 $3471 $2192 64% $49 1%
Operating income $2998 $1278 $1593 $1720 135% $315 20%

Operating margin 34.8% 27.2% 31 .5% 7.6% 28% 4.3% 14%
Non operating income expense

less net income loss attributable to

non controlling interests $36 $28 $422 $64 $394 93%

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc $2063 $875 $784 $1188 136% $91 12%

Dluted earnings per common share11 $10.55 $6.11 $5.78 $4.44 73% $0.33 6%

-Effective tax rate 32.0% 30.0% 33.0% 2.0% 7% 3.0% 9%

As adjusted

Operatingincomela $3167 $1570 $1662 $1597 102% $92 6%

Operatingmargin1 39.3% 38.2% 38.7% 1.1% 3% 0.5% 1%
Non operating income expense

less net income loss attributable to

non controlling interests/b $25 $46 $384 $71 $338 88%

Net income attributable to BlackRock lnc1101 $2139 $1021 $856 $1 18 110% $165 19%

Diluted earnings per common share/P /5 fl $10.94 $7.13 $6.30 $3.81 53% $0.83 13%

Effective tax rate 33.0% 33.0% 33.0%

Other

Assets under management end of period $3560968
Diluted weighted-average common

$3346256 $1307151 $214712 6% $2039105 156%

shares outstandinge 192692047 139481449 13137651 5321 0598 38% 81 04932 6%

Shares outstanding end of period 191191553

Bookvaluepershar $136.09

188806296

$128.86

129896028

$92.91

2385257

$7.23

1%

6%

5891 0268

$35.95

45%

39%

Cash dividends declared and paid per share $4.00 $3.12 $3.12 $0.88 28%

Nst app/s able vi the percentage isis excess st tiJOOo

Total SlackRsck stockholders eqsity excluding apprspnated retained earnings dindedby total common and preterred shares os/standing ot Oecember 3t otthe respective year
end

elackeock reports ito tinancial results in accordance with
accounting pnnciples generally accepted in the United States OAAP9 however management behaves that

evaluating
the

companys ongoing operating reoslt maybe enhanced itinveotors have addihonal non OAAP basis financial meassres Management renews non OAAP financial measures to assess

ongoing opera boss and tsr the reasons described below considers them to be ettechve indicators tsr both management and investors otelaskescks tinansialpertormance over

time Black/flocks management does not advocate that investors consider sssh non OAAP tinascial measures in isslason from oras ssbshtste tsr financial into rmahon prepared in

accordance with OAAP

certain pnur period non OAAP data has been reclassitied to contorm to the csrrent presentation compstations tsr ae periods are denved from the companys sonsobdated statements

utincume as tollows

fa Operating income as adjusted and operating margin aa adjusted

Opera hng income as adjusted eqsals opera ting income OAAP basis excluding certain items deemed non recernng by management or transactions that ultimately
will not impact

BIas/cRocks book valve as indicated in the table below Operating income used tsr operating margin measurement equals operating income as adjusted excluding the impact utclused

end tund launch costs and commissions Operahng margin as adjuited equals operasng income used tsr operating margin measurement divided by re venue used tsr operating margin

measurement as indisatedin the table below

Do//ar amountx in
mi//ions

2010

Year ended December31

2009 2008

Operating income GAAP basis $2998 $1278 $1593

Non-GAAP expense adjustments

BGI transaction/integration costs

Employee compensation and benefits 25 60

General and administration 65 123

Total 801 transaction/integration costs 90 83

PNC LTIP funding obligation 58 59 59

Merrill Lynch compensation contribution 10 10 10

Restructuring charges 22 38

Compensation expense related to appreciation/

depreciation on deferred compensation plans 11 18 38

Operating income as adjusted 3167 1570 1662

Closed end fund launch costs 15

Closed end fund launch commissions

Operating income used for operating margin measurement $3184 $1573 $1671

Revenue GAAP basis $8612 $4700 $5064

Non GAAP adjustments

Distribution and servicing costs 408 477 591
Amortization of deferred sales commissions 102 100 130
Reimbursable property management compensation 21

Revenue used for operating margin measurement $8102 $4123 $4322

Operating margin GAAP basis 34.8% 27.2% .31.5%

Operating margin as adjusted 39.3% 38.2% 38.7%
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Notes to Nb/c continued

continued

Management believes that opera hng income as adjusted
and

operating margin as adjusted are effecdve indicators of BlackRecks financial performance overtime As such management

believes that operating income as adusted and opera ting margin as adjusted provide useful disclosure to investors

Operating income as adjueted

801 transachon and integration costs recorded in 2OtO and 2009 consist principally of certain advisory payments compensation expense legal tees marketing and promohonal occupancy

and
consulting expenses

incurred in cenunction with the 801 Transaction Restructunng charges recorded in 2009 and 2008 consist of compensation costs occupancy costs and

pro festional fees The expenses associated wdh restructunng and 801 transaction and integra hoe costs have been deemed non recurrieg by management and have been excluded from

opera hng income as adjusted to help enhance the comparability of this infermahon to the current reporhngpenods As such management belle yes that opera bng margins exclusive of

these costs are useful measures in
evaluating BtackRocks opera hng performance

for the respechve penods

The porhon of compensation expense associated with certain long term incentive plans LTIP that will be funded through the distribution to parhcipants of shares of BlackRock stock

held by PNC and Merell Lynch cash cempensahon contebutien porhon of which has been received have been excluded because these charges ultimately do not impact Btackkocks

book value

Compensahon expense associated with appreciation depreciahon en investments related to certain BlackRock deferred compensation plans has been excluded as returns on investments

set aside fur these plans which substanhally offset this expense are reported in non operating income expense

Operating margin ac adjuated

Opera dog income used for meaeunng bpera beg margin as adjusted is equal to opera ting income as adusted excluding the impact of closed end fund launch costs and commissions

Management beheves that excluding such costs and commissions is useful because these costs can fluctuate considerably and revenues associated with the expenditure of these costs

will not fully impact the Companys results unhl future periods

Operating margin as adjusted allows the Company to compare performance from period to penodby adjusting for demo that may not recu recurinfrequently or may fluctuate based en

marlt muymets uh as rastruuturing charg transactinn and integrative cuata clusad end fund laarsh euts vmmissiuns paid to ertcin emplayvea as campensatian and fluLtua

hone in compensation expense based se mark to market movements investments held to fund certain compensation plans The Company ado uses opera beg margin as adjusted to

monitor corporate perNrmance and efficiency and as benchmark Is
compare

ds performance to other companies Management uses both the GAAP and non OAAP financial measures

in evaluating the financial performance of BlackRock The non OAAP measure by itself may pose fimitabons because it does not include all of the Companys revenues and expenses

Revenue used for opera beg margin as adjusted excludes disfribuhon and servicing costs paid to related parbee and other third parties Management be he yes that excluding such costs is

useful to BlackReck because it creates consistency in the treatment for certain con fracts for similar eernces which due to the terms of the con fra etc are accounted for under OAAP en

net basis within investment advisory adminisfration fees and secunhes lending revenue Amorhzason of deferred sates commissions is excluded from revenue used for
opera hug margin

measurement as aduuted because such costs over bme offset distribution fee revenue earned by the Company Reimbursable property management cempeesahon represented com

peesatiee and benefits paid to personnel of Mefric Property Management Inc Metric subsidiary of BlackReck Ready Adnsors Inc Realtyj Peer Is the transfer in 2008 these

employees were retained on Metncs
payroll when certam preperhes were acquded by Realtys cheers The related compensation and benefits were fully reimbursed by Realtys clients

and have been excluded from revenue used for
opera beg margie as adjusted because they did net bear an economic cost to BlackRock For each of these items BlackReck excludes

from revenue used for opera beg margin as adjusted the costs related to each of these items as proxy for such sffsetheg revenues

Nec-operating income expense tees eet income Ieee attributable to nee-coetrolting intereata aa adjusted

Non
eperaheg income expense less net income loss attributable tense con frodeg interests NCI as adjusted equals eon opera beg income expense GAAP basis less net

income teuuj attebutabte to NCI GAAF basis adiusted for cempeesahon exeeese associated with depreciation acareciahoel on investments related Is certain BlackReck deferred

cempeesahen plans The cempeesahon expeese offset is recorded ie opera dng income Thm compensation expense
has been included in eon eperaheg income expense less net

income loss attnbutable to NCI as adusted to offset returns on ieveutmeetu set aside for these plans which are reported in eon eperaheg income expense GAAP basis

Dol/aT amounts in mi/dons 2010

YeaT ended December31

2009 2008

Non operating income expensej GAAP basis $23 $6 $577
Less Net income loss attributable to NCI 13 22 155

Non operating income expenset\t 36 28 422
Compensation expense related to appreciation/

depreciation on deferred compensation plans 11 18 38

Non operating income expense less net income loss

attributable to NCI as adjusted $25 $46 $384

Net of net iecemfi less attributable to eec centre/hug interests

Managemeetbeheves that non opera beg income expense less net ieceme less attributable to Nd as adjusted provides for comparabihty of thd infermahee to peer periods and

is ae effechve measure for
reviewing RlackReck seen

operating con fibs hoe to de results As compeesahee expenee associated wdh appreciahee/depreciatiee en ievestmeets

related to certaie deferred compeesabee plans which is included in opera beg income offsets the gain less on the ievestmeete set aside for these plaes management belle yes that

eon operating ieceme expense less net ieceme less attributable to Nd as adjusted preedes useful measure for beth management and in vectors of BlackRecks non eperahug

resuds that impact book value
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Notes to table conhnsedj

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc as adjusted

Management beheves that set income attributable to Blackflock Inc as adjusted and diluted earsisgs per commos Share as adjusted are Useful meassres of Blackflscks pro htabihty

and financial performance Net income attributable to Blackflock Inc as udjusted equals set income attributable to Blackflsck Inc GAAP basis adjusted for significant nun reeurdng

items as well as charges that ulhmately wih not impact fllackflocku book value or benehts that do not impact cash flow

DoNaramounts in millions except per uhafe date 2010

Year ended Dece

2009

mber 31

2008

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc GAAP basis $2063 $875 $784

Non-GAAP adjustments net of taxNl

BGI transaction/integration costs 59 29

PNC funding obligation 40 41 39

Merrill compensation contribution

Restructuring charges 14 26

Income tax law changes 30 45
Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc as adjusted $2139 $1021 $856

Allocation of net income attributable to BlackRock Inc as adjusted10

Common shareslel $2109 $995 $828

Participating restricted stock units 30 26 28

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc as adjusted $2139 $1021 $856

Diluted weighted average common shares outstandinglel 192692047 139481449 13137651

Diluted earnings per common share GAAP basislel $10.55 $6.11 $5.78

Diluted earnings per common share as adjustedldl $10.94 $7.13 $6.30

rhe restructuring charges and 801 transachon and integra hen costs reflected in OAAP net income attnbstabte to fllackflock Inc have been deemed non recurnng by management and

have been excluded from net income attnbutable to fllackflock Inc as adjusted to help enhance the csmparabfrty of this informahsn to the reporhngpenodu

rhe porhsn of the compensahon expense associated wdh certain LOP awards that mill be funded through the diutnbuhon to parhcipants of shares of fltackflock stock held by PNC and

the Mernh Lynch cash compensahon contnbu hen portion of which has been received has been excluded from net income attnbutable to fllackflock Inc as adjusted because these

charges ulhmately do not impact Blackflocks book value

During third quarter 20t0 and thfrd quart er2009 the United Kingdom and New York city respechvely enacted tegislahon reducing corporate income tax rates which resuhed in

revaluadon of certain net deferred tax habihhes pnmarfly related to acqufred intangible assets rhe resslhng decrease in income taxes has been excluded from net income attnbutable

to Blackilock Inc as adjusted as these were non recurdng enacted tax legislation changes that do not hove cash flow impact and to ensure cemparabNty of this information to the

reporhng periods

Per the years ended December 3t 20t0 2009 and 2008 non GAAP adjustments were tax effected at 33% 30% and 33% respecsvely whichre fleets the blended rate apphcable to the

adjustments

fej Senes and non vohngparticipahngpreferred stock are considered to be common stock equivalents for purposes of determining basic and diluted earnings per share

calculations certain snvestedrestncted stock units flSUuj are not included in this number as they are deemed parhcipahng secudties in1accsrdance with requfred provisions of

Accosnhng Standards codification ASc 260 tO Earnings per
Share A5c260 10

fj Allocation of net income atfributable to Blackflock Inc as adjusted to common shares and parhcipating fiSUs is calculated pursuant to the two claus method as defined in A5 260 to
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BlackROck has portfolio managers located around the

world including the United States the United Kingdom the

Netherlands Japan Hong Kong Australia and Germany The

Company provides wide array of products including passively

and actively managed equities fixed income multi asset class

cash management and alternatives and offers clients diversified

access to global markets through separate accounts collective

trusts open end and closed-end mutual funds exchange

traded funds hedge funds and funds of funds to its diverse

global clientele BlackRock provides global advisory services

for investment funds and other don U.S retail products The

Companys non U.S investment funds are based in number

of domiciles and cover range of asset classes including cash

management fixed income equities and alternatives

In the United States the primary retail offerings include various

open end and closed-end funds including/Shares the global

product leader in exchange-traded funds ETF5 for institu

tional retail and high net worth investors There are over 475

Shares globally across equities fixed income and commodities

which trade like common stocks on 19 exchanges worldwide

The BlackRock Global Funds the Companys primary retail fund

group offered outside the United States are authorized for distri

bution in more than 35 jurisdictions worldwide Additional fund

offerings include structured products rear estate funds hedge

funds hedge funds of funds private equity funds and funds

of funds managed futures funds and exchange funds These

products are sold to both U.S and non U.S high net worth retail

and institutional investors in wide variety of active and passive

strategies covering both equity and fixed income assets

BlackRocks client base consists of financial institutions

and other corporate clients pension plans charities official

institutions such as central banks sovereign wealth funds

supranational authorities and other government entities high

net worth individuals and retail investors around the world

BlackRock maintains significant sales and marketing presence

both inside and outside the United States that is focused on

establishing and maintaining retail and institutional investment

management relationships by rdarketing its services to retail

and institutional investors directly and through financial profes

sionals pension consultants and establishing third-party dis

tribution relationHhips BlackRock also distributes its products

and services through Merrill Lynch under global distribution

agreement which following Bank of Americas acquisition of

Merrill Lynch runs until January 2014 After such term the

agreement will renew for one automatic three year extension if

certain conditions are met

BlackRock derives substantial portion of its revenue from

investment advisory and administration fees which are recog

nized as the services are performed Such rees are primarily

based on pre determined percentages of the market value of

AUM percentages of committed capital during investment

periods of certain alternative products or in the case of cer

tam real estate equity clients net operating income generated

by the underlying properties and are affected by changes in

AUM including market appreciation or depreciation foreign

exchange translation and net subscriptions or redemptions

Net subscriptions or redemptions represent the sum of new

client assets additional fundings from existing clients includ

ing dividend reinvestment withdrawals of assets from and

termination of client accounts purchases and redemptions

of investment fund shares and distributions to investors

representing return of capital and return on investments to

investors Market appreciation dr depreciation includes current

income earned on and changes in the fair value of securities

held in client accounts Foreign exchange translation reflects

the impact of converting non-U.S dollar denominated AUM

into U.S dollars for reporting purposes
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BlackRock also earns revenue by lending securities on behalf of

clients primarily to brokerage institutions The securities loaned

are secured by collateral in the form of cash or securities with

minimums generally ranging from approximately 102% to 112%

of the value of the loaned securities The revenue earned is

shared between BlackRock and the funds or other third party

accounts managed by the Company from which the securities

are borrowed

Investment advisory agreements for certain separate accounts

and BlackRocks alternative investment products provide for

performance fees based upon relative and/or absolute invest

ment performance in addition to base fees based on AUM
Investment advisory performance fees generally are earned

after given period of time and when investment performance

exceeds contractual threshold As such the timing of

recognition of performance fees may increase the volatility of

BlackRocks revenue and earnings Historically the magnitude

of performance fees in the fourth quarter generally exceeds the

first three calendar quarters in year due to the higher number

of products with performance measurement periods that end

on December31

BlackRock provides variety of risk management investment

analytic and investment system and advisory services to finan

cial institutions pension funds asset managers foundations

consultants mutual fund sponsors real estate investment

trusts and government agencies These services are provided

under the brand name 8/ac/cRock So/ut/ons and include wide

array of risk management services valuation services related

to illiquid securities disposition and workout assignments

including long-term portfolio liquidation assignments strategic

planning and execution and enterprise investment system out

sourcing to clients Over $10 trillion of positions are processed

on ourA/add/n operating platform which serves as the invest

ment system for BlackRock and other institutional investors

Fees earned for B/ackRock So/ut/ons and advisory services are

determined using some or all of the following methods fixed

fees percentages of various attributes of advisory assets

under management and Hi performance fees if contractual

thresholds are met

BlackRock also builds upon its leadership position to meet the

growing need for investment and risk management solutions

Through its scale and diversity of products it is able to provide

its clients with customized solutions including fiduciary out

sourcing for liability driven investments and overlay strategies

for pension plan sponsors balance sheet management and

related services for insurance companies and target date and

target return funds as well as asset allocation portfolios for

retail investors BlackRock is also able to service these clients

via its A/add/n platform to provide risk management and other

outsourcing services for institutional investors and custom and

tailored solutions to address complex risk exposures

The Company also earns fees for transition management

services comprised of referral fees or agency commissions

from acting as an introducing broker dealer in buying and selling

securities on behalf of its customers Commissions related to

transition management services are recorded on trade-date

basis as securities transactions occur

Operating expenses reflect employee compensation and

benefits distribution and servicing costs amortization of

deferred sales commissions direct fund expenses general

and administration expenses and amortization of finite lived

intangible assets

Employee compensation and benefits expense includes

salaries commissions temporary help severance deferred

and incentive compensation employer payroll taxes and

related benefit costs



Distribution and servicing costs include payments made to

Merrill Lynch-affiliated entities under global distribution

agreement to PNC affiliated entities and Barclays as well as

other third parties primarily associated with obtaining and

retaining client investments in certain BlackRock products

Direct fund expenses primarily consist of third party non-

advisory expenses incurred by BlackRock related to certain

funds for the use of index trademarks reference data for in

dices custodial services fund administration fund account

ing transfer agent services shareholder reporting services

legal expenses audit and tax services as well as other fund

related expenses directly
attributable to the nonadvisory

operations of the fund These expenses may vary over time

with fluctuations in AUM number of shareholder accounts

or other attributes directly related to volume of business

General and administration expenses includes marketing and

promotional occupancy and office related costs portfolio

services including clearing expenses related to transition

management services technolbgy professional services

communications closed end fund launch costs and ofher

general and administration expenses

Non-operating income expense includes the effect of changes

in the valuations on investments excluding available for sale

investments and earnings on equity method investments as

well as interest and dividend income and interest expense

Other comprehensive income includes changes in valuations

related to available-for sale invpstments BlackRock primarily

holds investments in sponsored investment products that invest

in variety of asset classes including private equity distressed

credit/mortgage debt securities hedge funds and real estate

Investments generally are made fbr cc investment purposes

to establish performance track record to hedge exposure

to certain deferred compensation plans or for regulatory pur

poses including Federal Reserve Bank stock BlackRock does

not engage in proprietary trading or other investment activities

that could conflict with the interests of its clients

In addition non-operating income expense includes the im

pact of changes in the valuations of consolidated sponsored in

vestment funds and consolidated collateralized loan obligations

The portion of non-operating income expense not attributable

to BlackRock is allocated to non controlling interests cr1 the

consolidated statements of income

Assets Under Management

AUM for reporting purposes is generally bad upon how invest

ment advisory an6administration fees are calculated for each

portfolio Net aset values total assets committed assets or

other measures may be used to determine portfolio AUM

Mix of Assets Under Management by Asset CIass1
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Assets Under Management by Asset CIass

collaramounts in millions
2010

December31

20D9 2008

Variance

2010 vs 2009 2009 vs 2DD8

Equity

Active $334532 $348574 $1 5221 4% 129%

Institutiunal indux 911775 806082 51076 13%

/Shares/Exchange traded products 448160 381399 18%

Fixed income

Active 592303 59558D 477492 1% 25%

Institutional index 425930 357557 3873 19%

Shares/Exchange-traded products 123091 102490 2D%

Multi-asset class 185587 142029 7751 31% 83%

Alternatives J09738 102101 61544 7% 66%

Long-term 3131116 2835812 823717 10% 244%

Cash management 279175 349277 338439 20% 3%

Sub total 3410291 31 85D89 1162156 7% 174%

Advisory151 150677 161167 144995 7% 11%

Total $3560968 $3346256 $1307151 6% 156%

Not applicable or the percentage is in excess of t000%

t5ata reflects the rectassificahen of AuM into the current pened presentatien

Advisory .4 uM represents long term portfnhn hquidation assignments

2010

December31

2009 2008

Equity

Active 9% 10% 2%

Institutional index 26% 25% 4%

/Shares/Exchange-traded products 13% 11%

Fixed income

Active 17% .18% 36%

Institutional index 12% 1%

/Shares/Exchange traded products 3% 3%

Multi asset class 5% 4% 6%

Alternatives 3% 3% 5%

Long term 88% 85% 63%

Cash management 8% 10% 26%

Sub-total 96% 95% 89%

Advisorytit 4% 5% 11%

Total 100% 100% 100%

cata reflects the reclassibcahon of AUM into the current penod presentation

AdvisoryAuM represents long term portfo tin liquidation assignments



AUM increased approximately $215 billion or 6% to $3561

trillion at Deoember 31 2010 oompared to $3.346 trillion at

December 31 2009 The growth in AUM was primarily attribut

able to $267 billion in net market appreciation $131 billion

of net subscriptions in long term mandates and $17 billion

increase due to foreign exchange movements partially offset

by $127 billion of 801 merger-related outflows due to manager

concentration considerations and active equity quantitative

performance and acquisition adjustments $61 billion of net

outflows in cash management products and $12 billion of net

client distributions in advisory assignments

Net market appreciation of $267 billion included $191 billion of

net appreciation in equity products due to an increase in global

Year ended December 31

Dollaramounfs in millions 2010 2009 2008

Beginning assets under management $3346256 $1307151 $1356644

Net subscriptions/redemptionsl1

Long-term 131206 84436 2822
Cash management 61424 491 22 25670

Advisory15 12021 11642 144756

Total net subscriptions/redemptions 57761 46956 167604

801 merger related outflows131 120969 2894
Acquisitions/reclassifications14l 6160 1850252

Market appreciation/depreciation 266981 143706 188950

Foreign exchange15 17099 1085 28147

Total change 214712 2039105 49493

Ending assets underTnanagement $3560968 $3346256 $1307151

Includes distnbutisns representing return of capital and return on investment to investors

AdvisoryAUM represents long term pnrtfolio liquidation assignments

Includes outflows due to manager concentration considerations and actine equity quantitative performance

Includes AUM acquired from Barclays in Oecember 2009 and P3 capital Management LLf2 in April 2009 and Barclays acquisition adjustments and reclassifications to conform to current

penod combinedAUM policy

BlackRock has
historically grown aggregate AUM through on strong investment performance the efficient delivery of

organic growth and acquisitions5 Management believes that beta for index products client service and by developing new

the Company will be able to confinue to grow AUM by focusing products and new distribution capabilities

equity markets $55 billion in fixed income products due to

current income and changes in interest rate spreads $14 billion

in multi asset class products and $7 billion in alternatives

primarily due to appreciation in precious metals including silver

and gold

The $17 billion net increase in AUM from converting non U.S

dollar denominated AUM into U.S dollars was primarily due to the

weakening of the U.S dollar against the Japanese yen Canadian

dollar and Australian dollar partially offset by the strengthening of

the U.S dollar against the euro and pound sterling

The following table presents the component changes in

BlackRocks AUM for the years ended December 31 2010

2009 and 2008

Foreign exchange reflects the impact of converting non U.S doflardennminatedAUM into U.S dollars for reporting purposes

The following tabld presents the component changes in BlackRocks AUMIiI for the year ended December31 2010

Net 801 merger- Market

Dogar amounts December31 subscriptions related Acquisition appreciation Foreign December 31
in millions 2009 redemptions15 outf lows131 reclassifications depreciation exchange1 2010

Equity

Active

Institutional index

$348574

806082

$2Ł32

44570

$54490

44907
$3920
4390

$40670

104152

$1066

6268

$334532

911775

iShares/ETFs61 381399 21865 45830 934 448160

Fixed income

Active 595580 22143 9474 3922 31945 317 592303

Institutional index 357557 39148 10408 7374 21220 11039 425930

iSharesETP5 102490 19008 2195 602 123091

Multi asset class 142029 26262 127 3550 13917 44 185587

Alternahves 102101 136 490 7170 1093 109738

Long term 2835812 131206 119896 1309 267099 18203 3131116
Cash management 349277 61424 1063 4852 38 2725 279175

Sub total 31 85089 69782 120959 61 60 267061 15478 3410291

Advisoryt 161167 12021 10 80 1621 150677

Total $3346256 $57761 $120969 $6160 $266981 $17099 $3560968

Oata reflects the reclassification of pnorperiodAUM into the current period present ation

Includes distnbuhsns represenfleg return of capital and return nn investment to investors

Includes outflows due to manager
ccncenttation considerations and achve equity quanhta five performance

Includes acquisihsn adjustments and reclasses of AUM acquired from Barclays in Oecember 2009 and other reclassif ications to conform to current period combined AUM pohcy

Foreign exchange reflects the impact of converting non US doflardenominatedAUM into US dcflars for repnrhng purposes

Exchange traded products ETPs

Advisory AUM represents long term portfolio hquidation assignments

48 MANAOEMENTS olscussloN



Business Outlook

The Company began 2011 with substantially increased

AUM base as compared with 2010 average AUM as result

of strong markets in second half of 2010 and 2010 organic

growth in long term products BlackRock believes we are in

an environment of economic growth and believes that equities

in the United States could post double
digit

returns in 2011

for the third straight year BlackRock will continue to actively

monitor global corporate earnings growth bank lending poll

des changes in the labor markets inflation expectations and

monetary policies

The Company offers broad range of equity fixed income

and alternative products which are designed to track various

indices and products that target returns in excess of specified

benchmarks or absolute returns BlackRocks broad set of

product offerings and risk skills and tools allow us to work with

clients to meet their investment objectives While investing

in fixed income and cash continue to be core to many clients

portfolios we are also seeing trerds of re risking
into equities

implementation of barbell strategies comprised of beta alpha

and alternatives and clients seeking investment solutions which

we can help to meet by combining multi asset class solutions

with risk management

The following items could impact the Companys results in 2011

and beyond

AUM and Flows

As investors shift their preferences between asset classes

and between active and passive investment styles the

Companys broad product profile
should enable it to retain

and capture revenue as it has wide array of offerings in

multiple asset types and product styles As equity markets

continue to improve and as clients re risk into beta and alpha

equity products which have higher yielding fee structures

BlackRocks revenue and margin could benefit

BlackRocks unique combination of index and active

capabilities positions it well to assist companies in narrowing

the gap on underfunded pension plans by implementing

barbell strategies using combination of index alpha and

alternative products In addition as retirement money moves

away from defined benefit plans into defined contributions

plans and ultimately to individuals BlackRock is well

positioned to offer individual investment options with its

L/fePath target date portfolios and wide array of ETFs and

other mutual fund products

Exchange traded funds are playing an increasingly important

role in asset allocation and advisory portfolios for insti

tutional and retail investors The overall size of the global

exchange traded funds market is expected to continue to

grow at significant rate for several years BlackRock has

leading market share due to its large array of products and

assets under management in this market As additional asset

managers enter the marketplace to offer exchange traded

funds they may offer similar products at lower fee struc

tures We believe that many factors beyond pricing influence

investor preferences As first mover in several products

many/Shares products have achieved critical mass

providing both
liquidity

to investors and minimizing additional

costs to investors in the form of bid ask spreads and lower

discounts/premiums on the ETFs traded market prices as

compared with the underlying unit net asset values Investors

also value an ETEs ability to closely track its benchmark and

the information tools and education provided by/Shares

The levels of cash management assets may continue to

decline from year end
levelp

as we expect rates to remain

low and if clients continue to re risk their portfolios The

Companys diversified global product offerings client service

and independent advice may enable it to retain portion of

these assets

Outflows related to manager concentration considerations

as result of the BOl Transaction many of which were low

basis point assignments are expected to be largely behind

us by the end of first quarter 2011 Outflows as result of the

historical performance of the legacy 301 active quantitative

equity strategies are expected to abate as performance

improves under the new leadership of the strategy

Regulatory Reform

The regulatory environment is continuing to evolve for finan

cial institutions as well as money market funds with the intent

of the reform supported by BlackRock to protect the industry

and our clients The specific details of regulatory reform

may effect the competitive environmentand may provide

BlackRock with risks as well as opportunities For example

BlackRock is continuing to explore the creation of an internal

trading platform on its enterprise systems to cross trades

within its AUM and potentially among other client transac

tions which would result in reduction of transaction costs

and ultimately increased performance returns for our clients

Performance Fees and BRS/f4dvisory Fees

continued return to higher market levels may enable the

Companys alternative invesfment products with absolute

return objectives to contribute additional performance fee

revenue While most of the absolute return AUM eligible for

performance fees is above high water marks certain prod

ucts are still dependent upon achieving high water marks to

be performance fee eligible

The ongoing aftermath of the global liquidity crunch and the

associated market disruption gave rise to greater demand for

our risk tools and advisory services combining our extensive

capital markets and structuring expertise with rigorous

modeling and analytical capabilities In 2011 we expect to

continue to see strong demand for our A/add/n operating

platform and our comprehensive risk reporting from sophis

ticated institutinnal invtors and gnvernmental agPnr.ies

investing in longerterm risk management solutions as well as

strong demand for financial market advisory services

Future Opportunities

The Company plans to continue to focus on increasing the

recognition of its global brand to position itself for globaliza

tion while reinvesting in the business for future growth op

portunities where the cost in the current period will precede

the expected future revenue

As BlackRock seeks to grow its alternative product offerings

BlackRock may choose to seed dr co invest in additional prod

ucts to establish track records and to align with clients interests

BlackRock acts as an independent asset manager and does not

engage in proprietary trading dr deposit taking activities
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Operating results for the year ended December 31 2010
as compared with the year ended December 31 2009

Operating Income and Operating Margin Overview

GAAP

Year ended December31 Variance

0/

Do//ar amounts in mi/lions 2010 2009 Amount io Change

Revenue $8612 $4700 $3912 83%

Expenses 5614 3422 2192 64%

Operating inccme $2998 $1278 $1720 135%

Operating margin 34.8% 27.2% 7.6% 28%

Operating Income Operating Margin

Operating inccme totaled $3.0 billion fcr the year ended The Companys cperating margin was 34.8% fcr the year ended

December31 2010 an increase cf $1.7 billion ccmpared with December31 2010 ccmpared with 27.2% fcr the year ended

operating income for the year ended December 31 2009 December 31 2009

Operating inccme for the year ended December31 2010
The increase in operating margin for year ended December31

included the full year effect of revenue and expenses related
2010 included the positive effects cf synergies related to the

to the December 2009 acqUisition of BGI and $90 million
BGI Transaction growth in long-term AUM driven by market

of BGI integration costs as compared to $183 million of 801
appreciation $93 million decrease in 801 transaction/integra

transaction/integration costs for the year ended December
tion costs decline of $22 million in restructuring charges and

31 2009 The transaction/integration expenses are not part of
$17 million change in foreign currency remeasurement costs/

BlackRocks ongoing business and are principally comprised of

benefits which more than offset decreases to margin related to

compensation expense legal fees advisory payments 000upan-
$131 million increase in stock based compensation expense

cy costs marketing and promotional and consulting expenses related to additional grants to larger number of employees at

The increase in operating income for the year ended December the end of January 2010 $20 million in costs for U.K regula

31 2010 is attributable to the $3.9 billion increase in revenue tory assessment $20 million expense related to contribu

primarily related to an increase in base and performance fees tion to donor advised charitable fund $16 million increase in

associated with the AUM acquired in the 801 Transaction and occupancy costs due to the commencement of rent for Drapers

growth in long term AUM which included market appreciation Gardens $14 million increase of closed end fund launch

and net new business partially
offset by $2.2 billion net costs/commissions and $13 million increase in amortization

increase in operating expenses related to increases in em- of intangible assets related to the finite lived management

ployee compensation and benefits general and administration contracts acquired in the 801 Transaction as well as increased

expenses and direct fund expenseb due to the 801 Transaction investments to grow the business

As Adjusted

Year ended December 31 Variance

0/

Dol/aramounts in millions
2010 2009 Amount /o Change

Revenue $8612 $4700 $3912 83%

Expenses 5445 3130 2315 74%

Operating incometi $3167 $1570 $1597 102%

Operating marginii 393% 38.2% 1.1% 3%

Operating income as adjssted and operating margin as adjssted are described in more detail in the Overeihw to Managements Oiscssmon andAnalysis otFinancial Condition and

Resoits ot Opera dons

Operating Income

Operating income as adjusted totaled $3.2 billion for the

year ended December31 2010 which was an increase of

$1.6 billion compared to operating income for the year ended

December 31 2009

The increase in operating income as adjusted for the year

ended December 31 2010 is attributable to the $3.9 billion

increase in revenue primarily related to an increase in base and

performance fees associated with the AUM acquired in the

801 Transaction and growth in long term AUM which included

market appreciation and net new business partially
offset by

$2.3 billion net increase in operating expenses primarily related

to increases in employee compensation and benfits general

and administration expenses anil direct fund expenses due to

the 801 Transaction
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Operating Margin

Operating margin as adiusted was 39.3% and 38.2% for the

years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

The increase in operating margin as adjusted for the year

ended December31 2010 included the positive effects of syn

ergies related to the 801 Transaction growth in long term AUM

driven by market appreciation which more than offset decreas

es to margin related to $132 million increase in stock based

compensation expense related to additional grants to larger

number of employees at the end of January 2010 $20 million in

costs for U.K regulatory assessment $20 million expense

related to contribution to donor advised charitable fund

$16 million increase in occupancy costs due to the commence

ment of rent for Drapers Gardens and $13 million increase

in amortization of intangible assets related to the finite-lived

management contracts acquired in the 801 Transaction as well

as increased investments to grow the business



Total

Investment advisory performance fees

Equity

Fixed income

Multi-asset class

Alternatives

Not applicable or the percentage into exceoo of 1000%

Total revenue for the year ended December31 2010 increased

$3912 million or 83% to $8612 million compared with

$4700 million for the year ended December31 2009 The

$3912 million increase was the result of $3464 million

increase in total investment advisory administration fees and

securities lending revenue $338 million increase in perfor

mance fees $111 million increase in other revenue and

$16 million increase in distribution fees partially offset by

$17 million decrease in BlackRock Solutions and advisory

revenue

Investment Advisory Administration Fees and

Securities Lending Revenue

Investment advisory administration fees and securities lending

revenues increased $3464 million to $7290 million for the year

ended December31 2010 compared to $3826 million for the

year ended December31 2009 primarily related to fees earned

on products acquired in the 801 acquisition as well as organic

growth in long term AUM due to market appreciation and net

new business which included securities lending revenue of

$325 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared

to $36 million for the year ended December31 2009

The $3464 million net increase in investment advisory

administration fees and securities lending revenues consisted

of $1524 million in equity iShares/Exchange traded products

$618 million in active equity products and $368 million in

institutional index equity products $244 million in fixed income

iShares/Exchange traded products $182 million in active fixed

income products and $150 million in institutional index fixed

income products $261 million in multi asset class products and

$232 million in alternatives investment products partially offset

by $115 million decrease in cash management products due

to lower average AUM

Performance Fees

Investment advisory performanoe fees increased $338 million

or 167% to $540 million for the year ended December31 2010

as compared to $202 million
f9r

the year ended December31

2009 primarily due to an increase in performance fees earned

upon exceeding absolute investment or relative investment return

thresholds on alternative multi strategy fixed income and equity

hedge funds and separate accounts across regional/country

equity strategies fixed income and multi asset class products

BlackRock Solutions and Advisory

BlackRock Solutions and advisory revenue for the year ended

December31 2010 decreased $17 million or 4% compared

with the year ended December31 2009 The decrease in

BlackRock Solutions and advisory revenue was primarily due

to decline in non recurring advisory assignments as well as

the effect of decline in advisory AUM due to distributions in

portfolio liquidation assignments which have AUM based fees

partially offset by additional Aladdin risk management solutions

and investment accounting mandtes Revenue earned on

advisory assignments was comprised of advisory and portfolio

structuring assignment fees and ongoing fees based on AUM of

the respective portfolio assignments

Distribution Fees

Distribution fees of $116 million fo the year ended December31

2010 increased $16 million as compared to $100 million for the

year ended December31 2009 The increase primarily is the

result of higher AUM in certain hare classes of BlackRock Funds

Revenue

Oo//aramounts/nmi///oris

Year ended

2010

December 31

2009

Variance

Amount Change

Investment advisory administration fees

and securities lending revenue

Equity

Active $1848 $1230 $618 50%

Institutional index 424 56 368 657%

iShares/Exchange-traded products 1660 136 1524

Fixed income

Active 1047 865 182 21%

Institutional index 166 16 150 938%

iShares/Exchange traded products 263 19 244

Multi asset class 740 479 261 54%

Alternatives 632 400 232 58%

Cash management 510

7290

625

3826

115

3464

18%

91%

123

55

33

329

46

21

20

115

77

34

13

214

Total 540 202 338

BlackRock Solutions and advisory 460 477 17
Distribution fees 116 100 16

Otherrevenue 206 95 111 117%

Total revenue $8612 $4700 $3912 83%

167%

162%

65%

186%

167%

4%
16%
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Other Revenue

Year ended December 31 Variance

Do//ar amounts in rn//lions 2010 2009 Amount Change

Other revenue

Transition management service fees $74 $22 $52 236%

Commissions revenue 35 28 25%

iPath marketing feeslil 27 25

Equity method investment earnings151 22 47%

Custodyfees 13 12

Fund accounting 44%
Other miscellaneous revenue 30 18 12 67%

Total other revenue $206 $95 $111 117%

Noi applicable or the percentage is in excess of t000%

Related to cxc hange traded notes isssed.by Barclays

Related to opera hng advisory company investments

Other revenue of $206 million for the year ended December31 Barclays for services to distribute Barclays iPafh products

2010 increased $111 million or 117% compared with $12 million increase for custody fees earned on LifePath prod

$95 million for the year ended December31 2009 The in ucts portion of which is paid to third-party sub-custodian

crease in other revenue was primarily the result of $52 million and reflected within direct fund expenses $7 million increase

increase in fees which excludes related portfolio service costs in BlackRocks share of underlying earnings from certain operat

earned for transition management services due to an increase
ing advisory company investments and $7 million increase

in transactions to execute transitions of equity and fixed income in commissions revenue as result of unit trust and open end

mandates $25 million increase in marketing fees earned from mutual fund class sales commissions

Expenses

Year ended December31 Variance

Oo/laramounts in mi//ions
2010 2009 Amount %Change

Expenses

Employee compensation and benefits $3097 $1802 $1295 72%

Distribution and servicing costs 408 477 69 14%
Amortization of deferred sales commissions 102 100 2%

Direct fund expenses 493 95 398 419%

General and administration 1354 779 575 74%

Restructuring charges 22 22 100%
Amortization of intangible assets 160 147 13 9%

Total expenses GAAP $5614 $3422 $2192 64%

Total expenses GAAF $5614 $3422 $2192 64%

Less non GAAP xpnse adjustnients

801
transactio1n/integration costs

Employee compensation and benefits 25 60 35 58%
General and administration 65 123 58 47%

Total BGI transaction/integration costs 90 183 93 51%
PNC LTIP funding obligation 58 59 2%
Merrill Lynch compensation contribution 10 10

Restructuring charges 22 22 100%
Compensation expense related to appreciation/

depreciation-en deferred compensation plans 11 18 39%

Total non GAAP expense adjustments 169 292 123 42%

Total expenses as adjusted $5445 $3130 $2315 74%

Total GAAP expenses increased $2192 million or 64% to $2315 million or 74% The increase in total expenses as ad

$5614 million for the year ended December31 2010 compared justed is primarily attributable to the BGI Transaction including

to $3422 million for the year ended December31 2009 increases in employee compensation and benefits general and

Excluding certain items deemed non recurring by management administration expenses and direct fund expenses partially

or transactions that ultimately will not affect the Companys offset by reduction of distribution and servicing costs

book value total expenses as adjusted increased
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Employee Compensation and Benefits

Oollaramounts in mi/lions

Year ended

2010

Dece mber 31

2009 Amount

Variance

Change

Employee compensation and benefits GAAP $3097 $1802 $1295 72%

Less non-GAAP expense adjustments

BGI transaction/integration costs 25 60 35 58%
PNC LTIP funding obligation 58 59 2%
Merrill Lynch compensation contribution 10 10

Compensation expense related to appreciation/

depreciation on deferred compensation plans 11 18 39%

Total non CAAP expense adjustments 104 147 43 29%

Employee compensation and benefits as adjusted $2993 $1655 $1338 81%

Employee compensation and benefits expense increased

$1295 million or 72% to $3097 million for the year ended

December 31 2010 compared to $1802 million for the year

ended December31 2009

Employee compensation and benefits as adjusted increased

by $1338 million after excluding the decrease of $43 million of

non GAAP adjustments primarily related to decrease in BGI

integration costs The $1338 million increase in employee com

pensation and benefits expense for the year ended December

31 2010 was attributable to $721 million increase in incentive

compensation and $617 million increase in salaries benefits

payroll taxes temporary help and commissions The increase

in incentive compensation is primarily associated with the

increase in operating income after excluding the 801 integration

costs $132 million increase in stock based compensation

expense related to the effect of additional grants to larger

number of employees at the end of January 2010 offset by an

$8 million decrease in other deferred compensation The

$617 million increase in salaries benefits and payroll taxes

retlects an increase in the number of employees primarily

resulting from the BGI Transaction as well as growth in number

of employees subsequent to the 801 Transaction Employees at

December 31 2010 totaled approximately 9100 as compared

to approximately 8600 at December 31 2009

Distribution and Servicing Costs

Distribution and servicing costs decreased $69 million to

$408 million for the year ended December31 2010 compared

to $477 million for the year ended December31 2009 These

costs include payments to Bank of America/Merrill Lynch under

global distribution agreement PNC and Barclays as well as
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other third parties primarily associated with the distribution

and servicing of client investments in certain BlackRock prod

ucts The $69 million decrease primarily related to lower levels

of distribution payments due to lower levels of average cash

management AUM and decrease of costs due to an increase

in advisory fee waivers for certain cash management funds

serviced by Merrill Lynch

Distribution and servicing costs for the year ended December

31 2010 included $246 million of costs attributable to Bank of

America/Merrilftynch and affiliates and $10 million of costs

attributable to PNC and affiliates as compared to $349 million

and $19 million respectively in the year ended December 31

2009 Distribution and servicing costs related to other third par

ties including Barclays increased $43 million
ço

$152 million

for the year ended December31 2010 as compared to

$109 million for the year ended December31 2009 due to an

expansion of distribution platforms and higher long term AUM

Amortization of Deferred Sales Commissions

Amortization of deferred sales commissions increased

$2 million to $102 million for the year ended December

31 2010 as compared to $100 million for the year ended

December31 2009 The increase in amortization of deferred

sales commissions was primarily the result of higher sales and

redemptions in certain share classes of U.S open end mutual

funds

Direct Fund Expenses

Direct fund expenses increased $398 million primarily related to

the addition of legacy BGI funds subject to these arrangements

under which BlackRoek pays certain fund expenses



Generi and Administration Expenses

Year ended December31 Variance

Dollar amounts in millions
2010 2009 Amount Change

General and administration expenses GAAP

Marketing and promotional $328 $85 $243 286%

Occupancy and office related 317 82 135 74%

Portfolio services 177 100 77 77%

Technology 152 114 38 33%

Professional services 115 162 47 29%
Communications 49 26 23 88%

Regulatory filing and license fqes 34 29 580%

Charitable contribution 20 20

Closed-end fund launch costs 15 13 650%

Other general and administration 147 103 44 43%

Total general and administration expenses GAAP $1354 $779 $575 74%

Less 801 transaction and integration costs

Marketing and promotional $33 $1 $22 200%

Occupancy and office related 12 11

Technology 71%
Professional services 12 91 79 87%
Other general and administration 13 54%

Total 801 transaction and integration costs $65 $123 $58 47%

General and administration expenses as adjusted

Marketing and promotional $295 $74 $221 299%

Occupancy and office related 305 181 124 69%

Portfolio services 177 100 77 77%

Technology 150 107 43 40%

Professional services 103 71 32 45%

Communications 49 26 23 88%

Regulatory filing and license fees 34 29 580%

Charitable contribution 20 20

Closed end fund launch costs 15 13 650%

Other general and administration 141 90 51 57%

Total general and administration expenses as adjusted $1289 $656 $633 96%

Not applicable or the perceotage isis escess ot 000%

Prior year data reflects certais reclassifications to costorrs to the csrrestyearpresestatios

General andAdministration Expenses GAAP Technology expenses increased $43 million or 40% to

General and administration expenses increased $575 million or
$150 million primarily due to an increase in software licens

74% to $1354 million for the year ended December31 2010 ing and maintenance and hardware depreciation expenses

compard with $779 million for the year ended Dncember 31 Professional services increased $32 million or 45% to

2009 primarily dHe to the 801 Transaction $103 million compared with $71 million for the year ended

December 31 2009 primarily related to consulting account

BGI Transaction and Integration Costs
ing/tax and

legal
costs

801 integration costs of $65 million for the year ended December
Communications increased $23 million primarily related to

31 2010 decreased $58 million as compared with $123 million
the expansion of the Company due to the 801 Transaction

for the year ended December31 2009 primarily due to advisory

and
legal

costs incurred for the year ended December31 2009 Regulatory filing
and license fees increased $29 million

partially
offset by higher re-branding costs in 2010 primarily due to $20 million U.K regulatory assessment

Charitable contribution increased $20 million which is

General andAdministration Expenses as Adjusted related to contribution to donor advised charitable fund

Excluding th 801 transaction and integration expenses genral Closed-end fund launch costs excluding cumpensation
and administration expenses as adjusted of $1289 million in

costs increased $13 million as compared to the year ended

creased $633 million or 96% for the year ended December31 December31 2009 due to the Build America Bond Trust

2010 compared with $656 million for the year ended December
fund which launched during the year ended December31

31 2009
2010 and generated approximately $1.2 billion in AUM

Marketing and promotional expenses increased $221 million
Other general and administration expenses increased

primarily due to an increase in global and exchange traded
$51 million or 57% to $141 million compared with $90

fund marketing expenses which included travel promotional
million for the year ended December31 2009 due to an

and rebranding and advertising expenses
increase of $86 million related to growth of the Company

Occupancy and office related expenses increasd
including recruiting training and insurance costs as well

$124 million primarily related to the expansion of the
as costs for potential operating errors/fines partially

offset

Company due to the 801 Transaction including expenses by $17 million change in foreign currency remeasurement

related to Drapers Gardens and an increase in lease impair
costs/benefits from $11 million of costs in the year ended

ments as result of vacating bertain locations in the year December31 2009 to $6 million benefit in the year ended
ended December31 2010

December31 2010 $9 million decline in an expense for

Portfolio service costs increased $77 million or 77% to potentially uncollectible receivable recorded in 2009 and $9

$177 million due to an increase1n market data and research million of lower provisions related to an outstanding loan to

expenses as well as transition management execution and Anthracite Capital Inc

clearing expenses
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Restructuring Charges

For the year ended December31 2009 BlackRock recorded

pre tax restructuring charges of $22 million primarily related

to severance outplacement costs occupancy costs and

accelerated amortization of certain previously granted stock

awards associated with reduction in work torce and

reengineering efforts

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets increased $13 million to

$160 million for the year ended December31 2010 as

compared to $147 million for the year ended December31

2009 The increase in amortizatipn of intangible assets reflects

amortization of finite lived management contracts acquired in

the 801 Transaction

Non-operating results for the year ended December 31 2o10
as compared with the year ended December 31 2009

Non-Operating Income Expense Less Net Income Loss Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests

Non operating income expense less net income loss attributable to non controlling interests for the years ended December31

2010 and 2009 was as follows

I-

Dollar amounts in mi/lions

Year en

2010

ded Dece mber 31

2009 Amount

Variance

Change

Non-operating income expense GAAP basis

Less Net income loss attributable to NCItI

$23

13
$6

22

$29

35
Non operating income expense51

Compensation expense related to appreciation/

depreciation on deferred compensation plans

36

11

28

18

64

39%

Non-operating income expense as adjusted111 $25 $46 $71

Nor applicable or the percentage is/n excess of 000%

lecludes $35 roiNen less attributable to consolidated eanable interest enhtieo for the
year ended December31 20t0

Net of net incnme less attnbetable to non controNng interests
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The components of non operating income expense less net income loss attributable to non-controllng interests for the years

ended December 31 2010 and 2009 were as follows

Year ended December 31 Variance

Dollar amounts in millions 2010 2009 Amount to Change

Net gain loss on investments0

Private equity $31 $9 $22 244%

Realestate 17 114 131

Distressed credit/mortgage funds 66 00 34 34%
of

Hedgefunds/fundsofhedgefunds 18 18 to

Other investments121 14 11 25

Subtotal 146 144

Investments related to deferred compensation plans 11 18 39%
Total net gain loss on investments 157 20 137 685%

Interest and dividend income 29 20 45%

Interest expense 150 68 82 121%

Net interest expense 121 48 73 152%

Total non operating income expense0 36 28 64

Compensation expense related to appreciation/

depreciation on deferred compensation plans 11 18 39%

Non operating income expense as adjustedli $25 $46 $71

Not applicable or the percentage is in excess of 1000%

Net of net income floss attributable to non controlling interests

Includes net gains flosses related to equity and fixed income inoeotments and BlackRocks seed capital he dging program

Non operating income less net income loss attributable to real estate equity/debt products of $17 million hedge funds/

non controlling interests increased $64 million to $36 million funds of hedge funds of $18 million and other investments of

for the year ended December31 2010 as compared to $14 million

$28 million net non operating expense for the year ended
Net gain on co investments and seed investments increased

December 31 2009 The $36 million non operating income
$144 million from the year endd December 31 2009 primarily

net of non controlling interests for the year ended December
due to an increase in real estath valuations as compared with

31 2010 was comprised of $146 million of net gains on 00
2009 which included significant valuation declines in real

investments and seed investments and $11 million of apprecia
estate equity and debt co investments

tion related to hedges of deferred compensation partially offset

by $121 million of net interest expense
Net interest expense was $121 million an increase of

$73 million primarily due to an increase in interest expense
The $146 million net gain on investments less non controlling related to the December 2009 issuances of $2.5 billion of long-

interests related to the Companys co investments and seed
term notes partially offset by higher dividend income related to

investments included net gains in distressed credit/mortgage
an investment required for regulatory purposes

funds of $66 million private equity investments of $31 million



Income Tax Expense

Year ended December31 Year ended December31

2010 2009 2010 2009

Dollaramounts/n millions GAAP GAAP Change

As

adjusted

As

adjusted Change

lnccme before income taxes $3034 $1 25D 143% $3192 $1524 109%

Incometaxexpense $971 $375 159% $1053 $503 109%

Effective tax rate 32.0% 30.0% 33.0% 33.0%

Net of net income loss attnbotable to non controlling interests

Income tax expense increased $596 million in the year ended

December31 2010 as comparpd to the year ended December

31 2009 The effective income tax rates for the years ended

December31 2010 and 2009 were 32.0% and 30.0% respectively

The year ended December31 2010 included the effect of third

quarter 2010 tax legislation enacted in the United Kingdom

which resulted in approximately $30 million tax benefit revalu

ation of certain net deferred income tax liabilities primarily

related to acquired intangible assets which has been excluded

from net income attributable to BlackRock Inc as adjusted as

it was non recurring enacted tax
legislation change that does

not have cash flow impact and to ensure comparability of

this information to
prior reporting periods.ln addition the year

ended December31 2010 included the effect of favorable tax

rulings
and the resolution of certain outstanding tax positions in

third quarter 2010

The year ended December31 2009 included the effect of third

quarter 2uu9 legislation enacted primarily with respect to

Net Income Attributable to BlackRock Inc

GAAP

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc for the year ended

December31 2010 includes operating income of $2998 million

or $10.28 per diluted common share non operating income

less net income attributable to non controlling interests of

$36 million or $0.12 per diluted common share and $30 millioh

or $0.15 per diluted common share of tax benefits related to

United Kingdom income tax law change Net income attributable

to BlackRock Inc totaled $2063 million or$10.55 per diluted

common share for the year ended December31 2010 which

was an increase of $1188 million or $4.44 per diluted common

share compared to the year ended December31 2009

56 MANAOEMENTS OIscus5ION

New York City corporate income taxes effective January

2009 which resulted in approximately $45 million tax benefit

revaluation of net deferred income tax liabilities primarily related

to acquired intangible assets which has been excluded from net

income attributable to BlackRock Inc as adjusted as it was

non-recurring enacted tax legisjation change that does not have

cash flow impact and to ensure comparability of this information to

prior reporting periods The year ended December31 2009 also

included $25 million of tax benefits primarily related to favorable

tax ruling
and the final resolution of outstanding tax matters

The Company succeeded to $580 million California net

operating loss carryforward for fiscal year 2007 2008 and 2009

in connection with the BGl Transaction for which it has not

recorded deferred income tax asset because of certain tech

nical matters related to the predecessors unitary tax returns

The Company will continue to assess these matters which may

result in future tax benefits which based on current factors

rnuld apprnxirriate $40 millinn if they are resolved favorably

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc of $2063 million for

the year ended December31 2010 included the after tax effect

of the 801 integration costs of $59 million the portion of certain

LTIP awards which will be funded through capital contribution

of BlackRock stock held by PNC of $40 million and certain

compensation of former MLIM employees of $7 million to be

funded through cash contribution by Merrill Lynch portion

of which was received by BlackRock in 2010

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc of $875 million for

the year ended December31 2009 included the after tax effect

of the portion of certain LTIP awards which will be funded

through capital contribution of BlackRock stock held by PNC

The components of net income attributable to BlackRock Inc and net income attributable to BlackRock Inc as adjusted for the

years ended December31 2010 and 2009 are as follows

Year ended

2010

December31

2009

Year ended

2010

December31

2009

As As

00//er amounts/n mi//ions except per hore data GAAP GAAP Change adjusted adjusted Change

Operatingincome $2998 $1278 135% $3167 $1570 102%

Non operating income expense11 36 28 25 46
Incometaxexpeqse 971 375 159% 1053 503 109%

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc $2063 $875 136% $2139 $1021 110%

attributable to common shares 99% 97% 99% 97%

Net income attributable to common shares $2033 $853 138% $2109 $995 112%

Diluted weighted average

common shares outstanding2 1927692047 139481449 38% 192692047 139481449 38%

Diluted EPS components

Dperatingincome $10.28 $5.75 79% $10.85 $7.17 51%

Non-operating income expense11 0.12 0.13 0.09 0.21

Income tax benefit 0.15 0.49 69% 0.17 100%

Diluted earnings per common share $10.55 $6.11 73% $10.94 $7.13 53%

Not apphcable or the percentage is in excess of i0005

Net of net income loss attribotable to non controthng interests redeemable and nonredeemabte

Un vested R5Uo that contain non forfeitable nghts to dindendo are not inctsded as they are deemed parllcipating oecsnhes in accordance with OAAP Upon veshng of the participating

RSUs the shares are added to the weighted average shares ootstanding which resolts in an increase to the percentage of net income attnbotable to common shares in addition senes .4

and non voting preferred stock are considered to be common stock eqoivalents for porposes of determining basic and dusted earnings per share calcolabons



of $41 million 801 transaction/integration costs ot

$129 million restructuring charges of $14 million and certain

compensation of former MLIM employees of $7 million to be

funded through cash contribution by Merrill Lynch portion

of which was received by BlackRock in 2009

As Adjusted

Exclusive of the items discussed above diluted earnings per

common share as adjusted of $10.94 for the year ended

December 31 2010 increased $3.81 or 53% compared to the

year ended December 31 2009

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc as adjusted for the

year ended December31 2010 included operating income of

In Exchange trades products TPs

7AdvissryAUM represents lung term portfolio liquidation assignments

AUM increased approximately $2039 trillion or 156% to

$3.346 trillion at December31 2009 compared to

$1 .307 trillion at December31 2008 The growth in AUM was

primarily attributable to $1 .849 trillion acquired in the 801

Transaction $1 billion acquired from R3 Capital Management

LLC $145 billion in net market appreciation and foreign

exchange movements $84 billion of net subscriptions in long

term mandates $12 billion of net new business in advisory

$3167 million or $10.85 per diluted common share non op

erating income less net incomv attributable to non controlling

interests of $25 million or $0.09 per diluted common share

Net income of $1021 million or $7.13 per diluted common

share attributable to BlackRock Inc as adjusted for the year

ended December31 2009 included the effect of

$25 million of tax benefits primarily related to favorable tax

ruling and the final resolution of an outstanding tax matter re

ceived during the year ended December31 2009 Diluted earn

ings per common share as adjusted is described in more detail

in the Overview to Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations

assignments offset by $49 billion of outflows in cash manage

ment products Net market appreciation of $144 billion included

$104 billion of net appreciation in equity products due to an

increase in global equity markets $27 billion in fixed income

products due to current income and changes in interest rate

spreads and $17 billion in multi asset class products offset by

$5 billion market depreciation in alternative products primarily

in real estate products
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Operating results for the year ended December 31 2009
as compared with the year ended December 31 2008

The following table presents the component changes in BlackRocks AUMIiI for the year ended December31 2009

Net 801 merger Market

Dogacamounfs December 31 subscriptions related Acquisition/ appreciation/ Foreign December 31
in mi/lions 2008 redemptionsI1I outflows131 reclassifications141 depreciation exchange 2009

Equity

Active $152216 $10849 $1549 $1 28063 $55147 $3848 $348574

Institutional index 51076 24528 492 695658 39365 4053 806082

/Shares/ETF5111 8716 363940 9715 972 381399
Fixed income

38626 3141

91 68 61 02

595580

357557

1973 492 102490

16703 443 142029

4717 320 102101

143698 3867 2835812

161 591 349277

143537 3276 3185089

169 4361 161167

Active

Institutional index

iShares/ETFs

Multi-asset class

Alternatives

Long-term

Cash management

Sub-total

Advisory171

Total

477492

3873

77516

61544

823717

338439

1162156

144995

27835

2275

3669

10959

4395

84436

49122

35314

11642

784
23

46

2894

2894

49270

366702

101286

36408

49395

79 727

59530

1850252

Oata reflects the reclassification of pnorperisdAUM into the current period presentation

$1307151 $46956 $2894 $1850252 $143706 $1085 $3346256

Includes distribuf ions represenhng return of capital and return on investment to ineestors

Includes outflows due to manager csncentrahon considerations and active equity quantitative performance

Includes AUM acquired from Barclays in Oecember 2009 and R3 capital Management LW in Apnl 2009 and Barclays acquimtien adjustments and reclassificadens to conform lo current

period combinedAUMpohcy

Foreign exchange reflects the impact of converting non US dollar denominated AUM mb Us do Bars for reporting purposes



Operating Income and Operating Margin Overview

GAAP

Year ended December 31 Variance

Do/laramounts in mi/lions
2009 2008 Amount Change

Revenue $4700 $5064 $364 7%
Expenses 3422 3471 49 1%

Operating income $1278 $1593 $315 20%

Operating margin 27.2% 31.5% 4.3% 14%

Operating Income $42 million reduction in distribution fees and other revenue

Operating income totaled $1278 million for the year ended
offset by an $84 million increase in BlackRock Solutions and advi

December31 2009 which ws decrease of $315 million
sory revenue $25 million increase in performance fees revenue

compared fo the year ended December31 2008 Operating
and $49 million net decrease in operating expenses primarily

income for the year ended December31 2009 included
due to declines in employee compensation and benefits distribu

$141 million resulting from incremental revenue and expenses
tion and servicing costs amortization of deferred sales commis

related to the operations ot 831 and $183 million ot 831 transac
sions and restructuring expenses offset by increases in direct

tion and integration costs The transaction and integration ex
fund expenses and general and administration expenses

penses are not part of the ongoing business and are principally

comprised of advisory fees compensation expense legal fees
Operating Margin

and consulting expenses The Companys operating margin was 27.2% for the year ended

Operating income for the year ended December31 2009
December31 2009 compared to 31.5% for the year ended

included the effect of $431 million decrase in investment
December31 2008 The reduction in operating margin in 2009

advisory administration fees and securities lending revenue
as compared to 2008 included the effect of $183 million of BOI

associated with market driven reduction in average AUM for
transaction and integration costs and change from $50 million

all asset classes forthe year ended December31 2009 as
of foreign currency remeasurement benefits in 2008 to $11

compared to the year ended December31 2008 and
million of foreign currency remeasurement costs in 2009

As Adjusted

Year ended December31 Variance

Dollar amounts in millions 2009 2008 Amount Change

Revenue $4700 $5064 $364 7%
Expenses 3130 3402 272 8%

Operating incomelil $1570 $1662 $92 6%

Operating margin/I 38.2% 38.7% 0.5% 0%

Operating incnme an adjusted and operting margin an adjusted are descnbedin more detail in lhe Oeernew to Managements Oiscussinn and Analysis of Financial condition and

Results of Operadons

Operating income as adjusted totaled $1570 million for the

year ended December31 2009 which was decrease of $92

million compared to the year ended December31 2008 The

decline of operating income as adjusted for the year ended

December31 2009 as compared to the year ended December

31 2008 is related to the effect of the $364 million decrease

in total revenue offset by $272 million decrease in operating

expenses due to dereSses in employee compensation and

benefits distribution and servicing costs and general and

administration expenses

Operating margin as adjusted was 38.2% and 38.7% for the

years ended December31 2009 and 2008 respectively

The reduction in margin includes the effect of the $61 million

increase in expenses related to the change in foreign currency

remeasurement offset by reduction of certain expenses as

result of additional cost controls in 2009
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Not applicable or the perceotage 1010 OX0000 of 7000%

Total revenue for the year ended December31 2009decreased

$364 million or 7% to $4700 million compared with

$5064 million for the year ended December31 2008 Total

revenue for the year ended December31 2009 includes

$312 million of incremental revenue related to the BGI acquisi

tion The $364 million decrease was the result of $431 million

decrease in total investment advisory administration fees and

securities lending revenue $39 million decrease in distribu

tion fees and $3 million decrease in other revenue offset by

an $84 million increase in BlackRock Solutions and advisory

revenue and $25 million increase in performance fees

Investment Advisory Administration Fees and

Securities Lending Revenue

Investment advisory administration fees and securities lending

revenue for the year ended December31 2009 included ap

proximately $278 million of fees related to the 801 acquisition

The decrease in investment advisory administration fees and

securities lending revenues of $431 million for the year ended

December31 2009 compared with the year ended December

31 2008 consisted of decreases of $357 million in active equity

products $40 million in multi asset class products $141 million

in alternative investment products $7 million in active fixed

income products and $83 million in cash management products

primarily associated with market driven reduction in average

AUM for equity multi asset class and alternative products and

net redemptions in cash management products The decrease

was offset by $136 million increase in equity iShares

Exchange traded products $28 million increase in institution

al index equity products $19 million increase in fixed income

iShares Exchange-traded products and $14 million increase

in institutional index fixed income products primarily related to

products acquired in the 801 acquisition

Performance Fees

Investment advisory performance fees increased $25 million

or 14% to $202 million for the year ended December31 2009

as compared to $177 million
fo1

the year ended December

31 2008 primarily due to an increase in performance fees in

alternative equity hedge funds fixed income and multi asset

class separate accounts offset by decrease in international

equity separate accounts The year ended December 31 2009

included $24 million of performance fees related to products

acquired in the 801 acquisition

BlackRock Solutions and Advisory

BlackRock Solutions and advisory revenue fOr the year ended

December 31 2009 increased $84 million or 21% compared

with the year ended December31 2008 The increase in

BlackRock Solutions and advisory revenue was primarily the

result of additional advisory assignments during the period

as well as additional Aladdin and risk management mandates

Revenue earned on advisory assignments was comprised of

advisory and portfolio structuring asignment fees and ongoing

fees based on AUM of the respective portfolio assignments

Distribution Fees

Distribution fees decreased $39 million to $100 million for the

year ended December31 2009 as compared to $139 million

for the year ended December31 2008 The decrease in distri

bution fees was primarily the result of lower sales redemptions

and AUM in certain share classes of open end mutual funds

Revenue

Oo//af amounts in mi//ions

Year ended

2009

December 31

2008

Variance

Amount Change

Investment advisory administration fees

and securities lending revenue

Equity

Active $1230 $1587 $357 22%
Institutional index 56 28 28 100%

iShares/Exchange traded products 136 136

Fixed income

Active 865 872 1%
Institutional index 16 14 700%

iShares/Exchange traded products 19 19

Multi asset class 479 519 40 8%
Alternatives 400 541 141 26%
Cash management 625

3826

708

4257

83

431

12%

10%Total

Investment advisory performance fees

Equity 46 86 40 47%
Fixed income 21 16 320%

Multi asset class 20 12 150%

Alternatives 115 78 37 47%

Tutal 202 177 25 14%

BlackRock Solutions and advisory 477 393 84 21%

Distribution fees 100 139 39 28%
Other revenue 95 98 3%
Total revenue $4700 $5064 $364 7%
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Other Revenue

Dollaramounts in mi/lions

Year ended

2009

ecember3l

2008 Amount

Variance

Change

Other revenue

Commissions revenue $28 $26 $2 8%

Transiticn management service fees 22 69%

Equity method investment earnings111 15 14

Fund accounting 11 18%
Property management fees 32 31 7%

Other miscellaneous revenue 20 15 33%

Total other revenue $95 $98 $3 3%

Not applicable or the percentage is in excços of tcccs

Related to operating advisory company /nveotments

Other revenue of $95 million for the year ended December31

2009 decreased $3 million or 3% compared with the year

ended December31 2008 Other revenue for the year ended

December31 2009 included $10 million of incremental revenue

related to the operations of 801

The decrease in other revenue was primarily the result of

$31 million decline in property management fees primarily

Expenses

related to the outsourcing in the fourth quarter of 2008 of

Metric contracts with BlackRpck real estate clients partially off

set by $14 million increase in BlackRocks share of underlying

earnings from certain operating advisory company investments

and $9 million increase in fees earned for transition manage

ment services
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Year ended

Dollaramounto in millions 2009

December31 Variance

2008 Amount Change

Expenses

Employee compensation and benefits $1802 $181 $1 1%
Distribution and servicing costs 477 591 114 19%
Amortization of deferred sales commissions 100 130 30 23%
Direct fund expenses 95 86 10%

General and administration 779 665 114 17%

Restructuringcharges 22 38 16 42%
Amortization of intangible assets 147 146 1%

Total expenses GAAP $3422 $3471 $49 1%

Total expenses GAAP $3422 $3471 $49 1%
Less Non GAAP adjustments

801 transaction/integrationcosts

Employee compensation and benefits 60 60

Ceneral and administration 123 123

Total BGI transaction/interation costs 183 183

PNC LTlPfunding obligation 59 59

Merrill Lynch compensation contribution 10 10

Restructuring charges 22 38 16 42%
Compensation expense related to appreciation

depreciation on deferred compensation plans 18 38 56

Total non-CAAP adjustments 292 69 223 323%

Total expenses as ajusted $3130 $3402 $272 8%

Not apphcable or rho porcootago is in oxcoos of t000%

Total GAAP expenses decreased $49 million or 1% to book value total expenses as adjusted decreased

$3422 million for the year ended December31 2009 com $272 million or 8% The decrease in total expenses as

pared to $3471 million for the year ended December31 2008 adjusted is primarily attributable to decreases in employee

Excluding certain items deemed non recurring by management compensation and benefits distribution and servicing costs

or transactions that ultimately will not affect the Companys and amortization of deferred sales commissions



Employee Compensation and Benefits

Dollar amounts in
millions

Year ended

2009

December 31

2008 Amcunt

Variance

Change

Employee compensation and benefits GAAP $1802 $1815 $13 1%
Less non GAAP expense adjustments

BGI integraticn ccsts 60 60

PNC LllPfundingobligaticn 59 59

Merrill Lynch compensation ccntributicn 10 10

Compensation expense related to appreciation/

depreciation on deferred compensation plans 18 38 56

Total non CAAP expense adjustments 147 31

$1784

116 374%

Employee compensation and benefits as adjusted $1655 $129 7%

Not
app//cable or the

percentage ib in excess of 1.000%

Employee compensation and benefits expense decreased

$13 million or 1% to $1802 million for the year ended

December31 2009 compared to $1815 million for the year

ended December31 2008 Employee compensation and ben

efits expense for the year ended December31 2009 included

$89 million of incremental expense related to an increase in the

number of employees related to BGI

The decrease in employee compensation and benefits expense

was attributable to $118 million decrease in salaries benefits

and commissions $12 million decrease in incentive compen

sation associated with lower operating income partially offset

by $60 million increase related to the BGI integration costs

and $57 million increase in deferred compensation which is

offset primarily by an increase in non operating income related

to appreciation on assets associated with certain deferred com

pensation plans The $118 million decrease in salaries benefits

and commissions is due to lower employment levels as result

of the Companys cost control efforts and outsourcing of Metric

services partially
offset by one month impact of the increase

in employees related to the BGI Transaction Employees at

December31 2009 totaled approximately 8600 as compared

to approximately 5300 at December31 2008

Distribution and Servicing Costs

Distribution and servicing costs decreased $114 million to

$477 million for the year ended December31 2009 compared

to $591 million for the year ended December 31 2008 These

costs include payments to Bank of America/Merrill Lynch under

global distribution agreement and payments to PNC as well

as other third parties primarily associated with the distribution

and servicing of client investments in certain BlackRock prod

ucts The $114 million decrease primarily related to lower levels

of average AUM serviced by related parties across all asset

classes and an increase in waivers within certain cash manage

ment funds resulting in lower distribution payments

Distribution and servicing costs for the y.eaL.ended December

31 2009 included-$349 million of costs attributable to Bank of

America/Merrill Lynch and affiliates and $19 million of costs

attributable to PNC and affiliates as compared to $464 million

and $30 million respectively in the year ended December 31

2008 Distribution and servicing costs related to other third
parties

increased $12 million to $109 million for the year ended December

31 2009 as compared to $97 million for the yearended December

31 2008 due to an expansion of distribution platforms

Amortization of Deferred Sale Commissions

Amortization of deferred sales commissions decreased

$30 million to $100 million for the year ended December

31 2009 as compared to $130 million for the year ended

December31 2008 The decrease in amortization of deferred

sales commissions was primarily the result of lower sales and

redemptions in certain share classes of U.S open-end mutual

funds

Direct Fund Expenses

Direct fund expenses incurred by BlackRock related to non

advisory operating expenses of certain funds increased $9 mil

lion primarily related to the addition of legacy 801 funds subject

to these arrangements inner which RlackRnck pays certain

fund expenses
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Not applicable or the percentage io to exceoo of 1000%

Prior year data reflecto certain reclaooificatiooo to conform to the cerrent year preoentation

General and Administration Expenses GAAP

General and administration expenses increased $114 million or

17% for the year ended Deoember 31 2009 oompared with the

year ended December31 2008

BGI Transaction and Integration Costs

BGI transaotion and integration oosts of $123 million for the year

ended Deoember 31 2009 inolueled professional servioes of

$91 million primarily related to legal advisory and oonsulting costs

General and Administration Expenses as Adjusted

Excluding the 801 transaction and
integration expenses general and

administration expenses as adjusted of $656 rrællion decreased

$9 million or 1% for the year ended December31 2009 compared

with $665 million for the year ended December31 2008

Marketing and promotional expenses decreased $80 million

or 52% primarily due to decline in travel and promotional

expenses

Occupancy and office related expenses increased $19 million

which included an $11 million expense related to the write

off of certain leasehold improvements

Portfolio service costs increased $12 million or 14% to

$100 million due to fund expense reimbursements

Professional services decreased $5 million or 7% to $71 mil

lion compared with $76 million for the year ended December

31 2008 primarily due to lower consulting fees

Other general and administration expenses increased

$62 million or 188% to $95 million from $33 million primar

ily
related tea $61 million change in foreign currency mn tea

surement costs/benefits from $50 million benefit in the

year ended December 31 2008 to $11 million of costs in the

year ended December 31 2009 $21 million increase to

provision related to an outstanding loan to Anthracite Capital

Inc and $10 million expense for potentially uncollectible

fee receivables partially
offset by reduction of various

expenses primarily the result of cost control efforts
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Restructuring Charges

For the year ended December31 2009 BlackRock recorded

pre tax restructuring charges of $22 million primarily related to

severance outplacement costs occupancy costs and acceler

ated amortization of certain previously granted stock awards

associated with reduction in work force and reengineering

efforts Forthe year ended December 31 2008 BlackRock

recorded pre tax restructuring charges of $38 million primarily

related to severance outplacement costs and accelerated

amortization of certain previously granted stock awards as

sociated with 9% reduction in work force See restructuring

charges discussion in Note 20 to the consolidated financial

statements beginning on page 93 of this Annual Report

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets increased $1 million to

$147 million for the year ended December31 2009 as com

pared to $146 million for the year ended December31 2008 The

increase in amortization of intangible assets reflects amortiza

tion of finite lived management contracts acquired in the BGI

Transaction

General and Administration Expenses

Do/faramountcinmifliono

Year ended

2009

December 31

2008 Amount

Variance

Change

General and administration expenses GAAP

Occupancy and office related $182 $162 $20 12%

Professional services 162 76 86 113%

Technology 114 116 2%
Portfolio services 100 88 14%

Marketing and promotional 85 154 69 45%
Communications 26 27 4%
Closed end fund launch costd 78%
Other general and administrdtion 108 33 75 227%

Total general and administration expenses GAAP $779 $665 $114 17%

Less BGI transaction and integration costs

Occupancy and office related $1 $1

Professional services 91 91

Technology

Marketing and promotional 11 11

Other general and administration 13 13

Total BGI transaction and integration costs $123 $123

General and administration expenses as adjusted

Occupancy and office related $181 $162 $19 12%

Professional services 71 76 7%
Technology 107 116 8%
Portfolio services 100 88 14%

Marketing and promotional 74 54 80 52%
Communications 26 27 4%
Closed end fund bunch costs

Other general and administration 95 33 62

78%
188%

Total general and administration expenses as adjusted $656 $665 $9 1%



Non-operating results for the year ended December 31 2009
as compared with the year ended December 31 2008

Non-Operating Income Expense Less Net Income Loss Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests

Non-operating inoome expense less net inoome loss attributable to non oontrolling interests for the years ended Deoember 31

2009 and 2008 was as follows

Year ended Deoember 31

Do//ar amounts in mi//ions 2009 2008

Varianoe

Amount Change

Non-operating inoome expense CAAP basis

Less Net inoome loss attributable to NCI

$6
22

$57
155

$571

177

99%

Non operating inoome expense// 28 422 394 93%

Compensation expense related to appreoiation/

depreolation on deferred oompensation plans 18 38 56
Non operating inoome expense as adjusted15 $46 $384 $338 88%

Noi applicable or the perceniage is in excess ot 1000%

Net of net income loss attribotable to non controlling interesis

Do//ar amounts/n m////ons

Year ended Deoember 31

2009 2uu5

The oomponents of non operating inoome expense less net inoome loss attributable to non oontrolling interests for the years

ended Deoember 31 2009 and 2008 were as follows

Vilanoe

Amount Change

Net gain loss on investments//

Private equity $9 $28 $37

Real estate 114 127 13 10%

Distressed oredit/mortgage funds 100 141 241

Hedge funds/funds of hedge funds 18 53 71

Dther investments121 11 30 19 63%

Sub-total 379 381

Investments related to deferred oompensation plans 18 38 56

Total net gain loss on investments 20 41 437

Net inoome loss attributable to

other non oontrolling interests151 100%

Interest and dividend inoome 20 65 45 69%
Interest expense 68 69 1%

Net interest expense 48 44
Total non operating inoome expense111 28 422 394 93%

Compensation expense related to appreoiation/

depreoiation on deferred oompensation plans 18 38 56

Non-operating inoome expense as adjusted1 $46 $384 $338 88%

Noi applicable or the petcentage is in excess of i000%

Net of oat income loss attnbotabio to non control/log intereots

lnclodos net gains losses related to oqmiy and fixed income investments and BiackRock seed capdal hedging program

inciodos non control/ins interests related to oporatins entities non investment activi has

Non-operating expense less net inoome loss attributable to offset by net losses in real estate produots of $114 million and

non-oontrolling interests deoreased $394 million to $28 million other investments of $11 million

for the year ended Deoember 31 2009 as oompared to
Net interest expense was $48 million an inorease of $44 mil

$422 million fqr the year ended Deoember 31 2008
lion primarily due to deoline in interest rates earned on oash

The $20 million net gain on investments less non oontrolling equivalents and interest rates paid on its line of oredit offset by

interests related to the Companys oo investment and seed an $8 million inorease in interest expense related to $2.5 billion

investments inoluded valuation gains in distressed oredit/ in issuanoes of long term notes in Deoember 2009

mortgage funds of $100 million investments related to deferred

oompensation plans of $18 million hedge funds/funds of hedge

funds of $18 million and private equity produots of $9 million
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Income Tax Expense

Year ended December31 Year ended December31

2009 2008 2009 2008

Dollar amounts in millions GAAP CAAP Change

As

adjusted

As

adjusted Change

Income before inccme taxeul $1250 $1171 7% $1524 $1278 19%

Income tax expense $375 $387 3% $503 $422 19%

Effective tax rate 30.0% 33.0% 33.0% 33.0%

Net of net income loss attributable to non controNng interests

Income tax expense decreased $12 million in the year ended

December31 2009 as compared to the year ended December

31 2008 The effective income tax rates for the years

ended December31 2009 and 2008 were 30.0% and 33.0%

respectively

The year ended December31 2009 included the effect of

third quarter 2009 legislation enauted primarily with respect

to New York City corporate income taxes effective January

2009 which resulted in approximately $45 million tax benefit

Net Inceme Attributable to BlackRock Inc

revaluation of net deferred income tax liabilities primarily

related to acquired intangible assets which has been excluded

from net income attributable to BlackRock Inc as adjusted

as it was non recurring enacted tax legislation change that

does not have cash flow impact and to ensure comparability

of this information to prior reporting periods The year ended

December31 2009 also included $25 million of tax benefits

primarily related to favorable tax ruling and the final resolution

of outstanding tax matters

The components of net income attributable to BlackRock Inc and net income attributable to BlackRock Inc as adjusted for the

years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 are as follows

Year ended December31 Year ended December31

2009 2008 2009 2008

Dollar amounts in millions except per share data GAAP GAAP Change

As

adjusted

As

adjusted Change

Operating income $1278 $1593 20% $1570 $1662 6%
Non operating expenselul 28 422 93% 46 384 88%

Income tax expense 375 387 3% 503 422 19%

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc $875 $784 12% $1021 $856 19%

attributable to common shares 97% 97% 97% 97%

Net income attributable to common shares $853 $759 12% $995 $828 20%

Diluted weighted average

common shares outstanding1t1 139481449 13137651 6% 139481449 13137651 6%

Diluted EPS components

Operatingincome $5.75 $7.86 27% $7.17 $8.20 13%
Non operating income expense1 0.13 2.08 94% 0.21 1.90 89%

Income tax benqfit 0.49 0.17

Diluted earnings per common share $6.11 $5.78 6% $7.13 $6.30 13%

Not applicable or the percentage is in excess of teees

Net of net income toss attnbotable to non controNng interesto redeemable and nonredeemable

unvested Psus that contain non forfeitable nghts to dividends are not included an they are deemed particip ating secsrities in accordance with OAAP upon veuhng of the participating

Rsus the shares are added to the weighted average
shares outstanding which results/n on increase to the percentage of net income attnbutable to common shares In addition sedes

and Onon voting preferred stock are considered to be common stock equivalents for
purposes

of determining basic and diluted
earnings per share calculations

GAAP

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc for the year

ended December31 2009 includes operating income of

$1278 million or $5.75 per diluted common share non oper

ating expenses less net income attributable to non-controlling

interests of $28 million or $0.13 per diluted common share and

$70 million or $0.49 per diluted common share of tax benefits

related to local income tax law changes favorable tax ruling

and the final resolution of outstaqding tax matters Net income

attributable to BlackRock Inc totaled $875 million or $6.11 per

diluted common share for the year ended December31 2009

which was an increase of $91 million or $0.33 pei diluted com

mon share compared to the year ended December31 2008

Net income attibutable to BlackRuuk lire fqr the year ended

December31 2009 included the after-tax effect of the por

tion of LTIP awards which will be funded through capital

contribution of BlackRock stock held by PNC of $41 million

801 transaction/integration costs of $129 million restructuring
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charges of $14 million and an expected cash-c-sntribution

portion of which has been pard by Merrill Lynch in third quarter

2009 of $7 million to fund certain compensation of former

LIM employees In addition net income for the year ended

December 31 2009 included $45 million one time reduction

in income tax expense as result of enacted
legislation primarily

with respect to New York City corporate income taxes which

resulted in revaluation of certain deferred income tax assets

and liabilities

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc of $784 million

for the year ended December31 2008 included the after tax

effect of the portion of certain LTIP awards which will be

funded through capital contribution of BlackRock stock held

by PNC nf $.Q millinn restructuring charges nf $26 million and

an expected contribution by Merrill Lynch of $7 million to fund

certain compensation of former MLIM employees portion of

which was received by BlackRock in third quarter 2009



As Adjusted

Exclusive of the items discussed above diluted earnings

per common share as adjusted of $713 for the year ended

December 31 2009 increased $0.83 or 13% compared to the

year ended December31 2008

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc as adjusted for the

year ended December31 2009 includes operating income of

$1570 million or $717 per diluted common share non operating

Balance Sheet Overview

expenses less net income attributable to non controlling

interests of $46 million or $021 per diluted common share and

$25 million of income tax benefits or $0.17 per diluted common

share primarily related to favorable tax ruling
and the final

resolution of an outstanding tax matter received during 2009

Diluted earnings per common share as adjusted is described

in more detail in the Overview to Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following table presents reconciliation of the Companys condensed consolidated statement of financial condition presented on

GAAP basis to the Companys consolidated statement of financial condition excluding the impact of consolidated variable interest

entities VIEs consolidated sponsored investment funds separate account assets and collateral held under securities lending

agreements and separate account liabilities and collateral liabilities under securities lending agreements

Separate

Account

Assets

Collateral

December31 2010

GAAP

Consolidated

Sponsored

Consolidated Investment

VIEs Funds

As

AdjustedOoIIar amounts in mi//ions Basis

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $3367 $65 $3302

Accounts receivable 2095 2095

Investments 1540 137 1403

Assets of consolidated variable interest entities 405 1405

Separate account assets and collateral held

under securities lending agreements 138775 138775

Other assetst1 960 957

Sub-total 148142 138775 1405 205 7757
Goodwill and intangible assets net 30317 30317

Total assets $178459 $138775 $1405 $205 $38074

Liabilities

Accrued compensation and benefits $1520 $1520

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1068 1068

Borrowings121 3359 3359

Liabilities of consolidated variable interest entities 1285 1285

Separate account liabilities and collateral liability

under securities lending agreements 138775 138775

Deferred income tax liabilities 5477 5477

Other liabilities131 641 10 631

Total liabilities 152125 138775 1285 .10 12055

Equity

Total stockholders equity 26094 75 26019

Non-controlling interests 240 45 195

Total equity 26334 120 195 26019

Total liabilities and equity $178459 $138775 $1405 $205 $38074

Inc/odes due from related parhes deferred sales commissions properly and eqo/pmeni and other asseis

2/nc/odes short term borrowings convertible debentures and long term borrowings

Inc/odes doe to related parSes and other ha bitt/es

Management reviews its as adjusted balance sheet non certain assets that have equal and offsetting liabilities and

CAAP financial measure for the reasons described below ultimately do not have an impact on stockholders equity ex

BlackRocks management does not advocate that investors cluding appropriated retained earnings related to consolidated

consider such non GAAP financial measure in isolation from or collateral loan obligations or cah flows The recognition of the

as substitute for financial information prepared in accordance as adjusted assets and liabilities generally result in net income

with GAAP The Company presents the as adjusted balance loss attributable to BlackRock Inc

sheet to enable investors to eliminate gross presentation of
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The following table presents selected significant components of BlackRocks GAAP consolidated statements of financial condition at

December 31 2010 and 2009

December 31 Variance

0/

Do//ar amounts in millions 2010 2009 Amount fu Change

Cash and cash equivalents $3367 $4708 $1341 28%
Accounts receivable 2095 1718 377 22%

Investments 1540 1049 491 47%

Goodwill and Intangible assets net 30317 30346 29
Other assets11 960 1339 379 28%
Accrued compensation and benefits 1520 1482 38 3%

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1068 840 228 27%

Borrowings121 3359 5668 2309 41%
Deferred income tax liabilities 5477 5571 94 2%
Other liabilities131 641 997 356 36%
Stockholders equity 26094 24329 1765 7%

Includes due from related parties deferred sales commissions property and equipment and other assets

includes short ter bsrrsvings vierhble debentures and long term borrsoings

Includes dse to related parties and other hahihhes

The following discussion summarizes the significant changes in Accounts Receivable

assets and liabilities These changes do not include assets and
Accounts receivable at December 31 2010 increased

liabilities that are equal and offsetting and have no impact on
$377 million from December31 2009 resulting

from increase in

BlackRocks stockholders equity base fees related to AUM growth and higher performance fees

Cash and Cash Equivalents Investments

Cash and cash equivalents at December31 2010 and 2009
The Company presents total net economic investments to

included $65 million and $75 million of cash held by consolidated
enable investors to understand the portion of its investments that

spur sured investment funds respectively See
Liquidity

unrd
are owned by the Company net of non controlling interests as

Capital Resources for further details on the change in cash and
gauge to measure the impact of changes in net non operating

cash equivalents during 2010
gain loss on investments to net income loss attributable to

BlackRock Inc

December31 Variance

0/

Do//ar amounts in mi//ions
2010 2009 Amount to Change

Total investments GAAP $1540 $1049 $491 47%

Investments held by consolidated sponsored investment funds11 397 463 66 14%

10/
Net exposure to consolidated invbstment funds 260 258 I/o

Total net ecnnomir investmnts $1403 $844 $N50

At December31 20t0and 2009 approximately $397 milbon and $463 million respectively of alackRscks total investments mere maintained in sponsored investment funds that are

deemed to be con Coiled by BlackRock in accordance wdh OAAP and therefore are consobdated even though BlackRock may not own majontyof such funds

The Company further presents the total net economic no impact to BlackRocks stockholders equity as the balance

investment exposure net of deferred compensation invest fluctuates Finally the Companys regulatory investment in

ments and hedged investments to reflect another gauge for Federal Reserve Bank stock which is not subject to market or

investors as the economic impact of investments held pursuant interest rate risk is excluded from the Companys net economic

to deferred compensation arrangements is substantially offset investment exposure

by change in compensation expense and the impact of
The following table represents the carrying value of investments

hedged investments is substantially mitigated by total return

by asset type at December31 2010 and 2009

swap hedges Carried interest is excluded as generally there is

Do//aramounts/n mi//ions

Year ended December31

2010 2009

Variance

Amount Change

Private equity $277 $232 $45 19%

Real estate 54 44 10 23%

Distressed credit/mortgage funds 267 197 70 36%

Hedge funds/funds of hedge funds 97 108 11 10%
Other investmentsli 269 142 127 89%

Total net economic investment exposure 964 723 241 33%

Federal Reserve Bank stock 325 10 315

Carried interect 13 225%

Deferred compensation investments

Hedged investments

76 71

25 36 11

7%

31%

Total net economic investments $1403 $844 $559 66%

Not apphcable the percentage in excess of 1000%

Other investments pnmanly include seed investments in fixed income and eqmty funds/s frategies as well as UK governmest secundes held for regulatory purposes
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Total net economic investments at December31 201

increased $559 million from December31 2009 resulting from

changes in the investment portfolio due to purchases including

$315 million of Federal Reserve Bank stock sales maturities

and distributions as well as market valuations and earnings from

equity method investments

BlackRock reports its investments on GAAP basis which

includes investments that are owned by sponsored investment

funds that are deemed to be controlled by BlackRock in

accordance with GAAF and therefore consolidated even though

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Quoted Prices

in Active

Markets for

Identical

Assets

Level

$249

Goodwill and intangible assets at December31 2010 decreased

$29 million from December31 2009 resulting from $160 million

amortization expense related to finite lived intangibles and

douline in goodwill rolated to tax benttfits realizod fruiii tax

deductible goodwill in excess of book goodwill from the Quellos

Transaction partially offset by $136 million related to there

lease of common shares held in escrow in connection with the

Quellos Transaction and increases in intangibles and goodwill

from the purchases of Primasia Investment Trust Co LTD and

Helix Financial Group LLC

Other Assets

Other assets at December31 2010 decreased $379 million

from December31 2009 resulting from decreases in current

taxes receivable sales of held for sale assets deferred sales

commissions due to redemptions in certain share classes

of U.S open end mutual funds and receivables from related

parties

Accrued Compensation and Benefits

Accrued compensation and benefits at December31 2010

increased $38 million from December31 2009 primarily

related to an increase in 2010 incentive compensation offset by

the effect of cash payments related to 2009 year end incentive

compensation and other compensation accruals assumed in

the BGI Transaction

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31 2010

increased $228 million from December 31 2009 resulting from

increases in unit trust payable retrocessions current taxes

payable and other accruals payable to Merrill Lynch

BlackRock may not own the majority of any such funds As

result management reviews its investments on an economic

basis which eliminates the portion of investments that do not

impact BlackRocks book value BlackRocks management does

not advocate that investors consider such non-GAAP financial

measures
in isolation from or as substitute for financial

information prepared in accordance with GAAR

The following table represents investments measured at fair

value on reourring basis at December31 2010

Borrowings at December31 2010 decreased $2309 million

from December31 2009 resulting from repayments of short-

term borrowings and convertible debt of $2134 million and

$176 tiilliuii rospeutively

Deferred Income Tax Liabiitieà

Deferred tax liabilities at December 31 2010 decreased

$94 million from December31 2009 primarily related to

intangible assets The decrease included revaluation of certain

deferred income tax liabilities due to the 2010 tax
legislation

enacted in the United Kingdom

Other Liabilities

Other liabilities at December31 2010 decreased $356 million from

December 31 2009 primarily resulting from decrease related

to repayments to Barclays of approximately $320 million to settle

certain non interest bearing notes assumed in the BGI Transaction

and settlement of liabilities related to the sales of held for sale

assets partially
offset by increases in various other liabilities

Stockholders Equity

Total stockholders equity at December31 2010 increased

$1765 from December31 2009 principally resulting from

$2063 million of net income attributable to BlackRock

$445 million of stock based comensation expense $136 mil

lion related to the release of common shares held in escrow in

connection with the Quellos Transaction $44 million excess tax

benefits from vested stock baed compensation and

$10 million Merrill Lynch cash capital contribution in 2010

partially offset by $776 million of payments for cash dividends

$109 million of net issuances of common shares related to

employee stock transactions and $140 million of stock repur

chases under the repurchase plan approved in July 2010

Significant

Other

Observable

In puts

Level

$133

Significant

Unobservable

Inputs

Level

$650

Dollar amounls in millions

Total investments GAAP

Net assets for which the Company does not

bear economic exposure11 122 137

Net economic investments01 $241 $126 $52B $50B $1403

Other

Investments

Not Held at

Fair Value111

$508

Investments at

December 31

_________
2010

$1540

compnsed of investments held at cost amorhzed cost carned interest and equity method investments which include investment
companies and other assets which in accordance with

GAAP are not accounted for under fair value measure In accordance with cAAP certain equity method investees do not account for both their financial assets and hnancial habihhes

under fair value measures therefore the companys investment in such equity method investnes may not represent fair value

consists of net assets attnbu fable to non controlling investors of consohdated non VIE sponsored investment funds

Includes BlackRocks portion of cash and cash equivalents other assets accounts poyable and accrued habitit ins and other habihhes that are consshdated from non VIE sponsored

investment funds

Borrowings
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

BlackRock Cash Flows Excluding the Impact of

Consolidated Sponsored Investment Funds and VIEs

In accordance with CAAP certain BlackRcck sponsored invest

ment funds and collateralized loan obligations are consolidated

into the financial statements of BlackRock notwithstanding the

fact that BlackRock may only have minority interest if any

in these funds or CLOs As result BlackRocks consolidated

statements of cash flows include the cash flows of consolidated

sponsored investment funds an CLOs The Company uses

an adjusted cash flow statement which excludes the impact

of consolidated sponsored investment funds and CLOs as

supplemental non GAAP measure to assess liquidity and

capital requirements The Company believes that its cash flows

excluding the impact of the consolidated sponsored investment

funds and CLOs provide investors with useful information on

the cash flows of BlackRock
relating to its

ability to fund addi

tional operating investing and financing activities BlackRocks

management does not advocate that investors consider such

non GAAP measures in isolation from or as substitute for its

cash flow presented in accordance with GAAR

The following table presents reconciliation of the Companys

consolidated statements of cash flows presented on GAAF

basis to the Companys consolidated statements of cash flows

excluding the impact of the cash flows of consolidated sponsored

investment funds and consolidated VIEs

Year ended December 31

2010 2009

Impact on Cash Flows Cash Flows

Cash Flows Excluding Excluding

of Impact on Impact of Impact of

Consolidated Cash Flows Consolidated Consolidated

Sponsored of Sponsored Sponsored

GAAF Investment Consolidated Investment Investment Variance

Do//ar
amounts in

mi/lions
gasig Funds 0/VIEs Funds and VIEs Funds and VIEs Amount /0

Cash flows from

Operating $2488 $76 $1 $2565 $1231 $1334 108%

Investing 627 52 575 5550 4975

Financing 3170 118 3280 6934 10214
Effect of exchange rate changes 32 32 47 79
Net change in cash and

cash equivalents 1341 10 1322 2662 3984
Cash and cash equivalents

beginningof year 4708 75 4624 1971 2653 135%

Cash and cash equivalents

end of year $3367 $65 $3302 $4633 $1331 29%

Not applicable or the percentage is in excess bt -t 000%

Cash and cash equivalents excluding cash held by consolidated of approximately $320 million to settle certain non interest

sponsored investment funds and VIEs at December31 2010 bearing notes assumed in the 801 Transaction

decreased $1322 rnilliun frum December 31 2009 resulting

from $2565 millicn of cash inflows from operating activities Investing Activities

$3280 million of cash outflows from financing activities

$575 million of cash outflows from investing activities and

$32 million decrease due to the effect of foreign exchange rate

changes on cash and cash equivalents

Cash outflows from investing activities excluding the impact

of consolidated sponsored investment funds and VIEs for the

year ended December31 2010 were $575 million and primarily

included $656 million of purchases of investments including

$315 million of Federal Reserve Bank stock $131 million of

OperatingActivities
purchases of property and equipment and $23 million of

Sources of BlackRoctsbperating cash primarily include acquisition-related payments partially offset by $181 million of

investment advisory administration fees and securities lending net proceeds from sales and maturities of investments and

revenue performance fees revenues from SlackRock Solutions $53 million of return of capital from equity method investees

and advisory products and services other revenue and distribu

tion fees BlackRock uses its cash to pay compensation and FinancingActivities

benefits distribution and servicing costs direct fund expenses

general and administration expenses interest and principal

on the Companys borrowings income taxes dividends on

BlackRocks capital stock capital expenditures and to purchase

cc investments and seed investments

Cash outflows from financing activities excluding the impact

of consolidated sponsored investment funds and VIEs for the

year ended December31 2010 were $3280 million primarily

included repayments of short term borrowings and convertible

debt of $2134 million and $176 million respectively $776 mil

Net cash inflows from operating activities excluding the impact
lion of payments for cash dividends and $264 million related

of consolidated sponsored investment funds and VIEs for the to repurchases of common stock including $140 million of

year ended December 31 2010 primarily include the receipt of stock repurchases under the repurchase plan approved in July

investment advisory and administration fees securities lending 2010 and $124 million to satisfy tax withholding obligations of

revenue and other revenue offset by the payment of operating employees related to vesting of certain restricted stock awards

expenses incurred in the normal course of business Net cash Cash outflows from financing activities were partially offset by

inflows for the year ended December31 2010 included the ef- cash inflows related to $44 million of excess tax benefits from

fect of cash payments related to 2009 incentive compensation
vested stock based compensation and $10 million Merrill

including the payments for BGI employee compensation accru Lynch cash capital contribution

als assumed in the 801 Transaction and repayments to Barclays
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Capital Resources

The Company manages its finanoial oondition and funding to maintain appropriate liquidity
for the buHiness Capital resouroes at

Deoember 31 2010 and 2009 were as follows

The $798 million inorease in total
liquidity during the year

ended Deoember 31 2010 inoluded the effeots on liquidity

of the following positive operating oash flows whioh were

partially offset by oash payments of 2009 year end inoentive

awards inoluding the payments for 801 employee compensation

aoorual assumed in the BGI Transaction ii the purohase of

$315 million of Federal Reserve Bank stook Hi the settlement

of approximately $320 million of oertain
non-interest bearing

notes assumed in the 801 Transaction and iv $176 million of

repayments related to convertible debt

signifloant portion of the Companys $1403 million of net

eoonomio investments are illiquid in nature and as suoh may

not be readily convertible to oash

Short-term Borrowings

The following desoribes the Companys short term borrowing

arrangements whioh the Company has aooess to utilize

2007 Credit Facility

In August 2007 the Company entered into five-year

$2.5 billion unseoured revolving oredit
faoility the 2007

facility to provide baok up liquidity
fund ongoing working

capital for general corporate purposes and to fund investment

opportunities The 2007
faoility requires the Company not to

exceed maximum leverage ratio ratio of net debt to earnings

before interest taxes depreciation and amortization where

net debt equals total debt less domestic unrestricted oash

of to whioh was satisfied with ratio of less than to at

December31 2010 At December31 2010 the Company had

$100 million outstanding under the 2007 facility with an interest

rate of 0.47% and maturity date df February 28 2011 The

Company had daily average of $100 million outstanding dur

ing the fourth quarter 2010 and daily average of $115 million

outstanding for the full year 2010

Lehman Commercial Paper Inc has $140 million participation

under the 2007 facility however BlackRock does not expect

that Lehman Commercial Paper Inc will honor its commitment

to fund additional amounts Bank of America related party

prior to November 2010 has $140 million participation under

the 2007 facility

Commercial Paper Program

On October14 2009 BlackRock established commercial pa

per program the CP Program under which the Company may

issue unsecured commercial paper notes the CP Notes on

private placement basis up to maximum aggregate amount

outstanding at any time of $3 billion The initial proceeds of the

commercial paperissuances were used to finance portion

of the 801 Transaction Subsidiaries of Bank of America and

Barclays as wellas other third parties act as dealers under the

CP Program At December 31 2010 the CP Program was sup

ported by the 2007 facility

The Company began to issue CP Notes under the CP Program

on November 2009 As of December 311 2010 BlackRock did

not have any outstanding CP Notes The Company did not have

any CP Notes outstanding subsequent to September 2010 and

had
daily average of $404 millibn CP Notes outstanding for

the full year 2010

Japan Commitment-line

In September 2010 BlackRock Japan Co Ltd wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company renewed its five billion Japanese yen

commitment line agreement the Japan Commitment line

for term of one year The Japan Commitment line is intended

to provide liquidity and flexibility for operating requirements in

Japan At December 31 2010 the Company had no borrowings

outstanding under the Japan Commitment Une

Other Significant 2010 Cash Uses

Settlement ofAcquisition-related Liabilities with Barclays

In general as certain acquired 801 receivables are collected

the Company is required to pay Barclays approximately

$342 million which was recorded as of December31 2009 in

due to related parties on the consolidated statement of financial

condition to settle certain non interest bearing notes assumed

in the 801 Transaction As of December 31 2010 the Company

had repaid approximately $320 million

Federal Reserve Bank Stock

BluukRuck Itibtitutiulidl Trust Curiiparry NA BTC wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Company purchased $315 million of

additional Federal Reserve Bank stock during the year ended

December 31 2010 pursuanttô its regulatory requirements

Additional purchases of Federal Reserve Bank stock pursuant

to BTCs regulatory requirements may be required however

such amounts currently are not expected to be material

Approval to Repurchase Up to 5100000 Shares

In July 2010 BlackRock announced that its Board of Directors

approved the repurchase of up to 5100000 shares to neutral

ize the dilutive effects 01 restricted stock units and options that

have been granted to employees and which will become dilutive

over the next several years The shares are to be repurcttased

portion of the required regulatory capital in artiatly met with canh and canh equwalents

Dollaramountninmillionn

December 31

2010 2009 Amount

Variance

%Change

Cash and cash equivalents $3367 $4708 $1341 28%
Cash and cash equivalents held by

consolidated sponsored investment funds11 65 75 10 13%

Subtotal 3302 4633 1331 29%
2007creditfacility undrawn1t1 2266 2171 95 4%

Commercial paper131 2034 2034 100%

Total
liquidity $5568 $4770 $798 17%

Required regulatory capital141 $897 $857 $40 5%

r/m company may not he able to access such cash to use in ds operating achvitien

Exclsden $134 mithnn and 5129 mi/hon of undrawn amnuntn at December31 2010 and 2009 renpechvety related to Lehman commercial Pape4 Inc

rho nutntanding commerc ial paper notes that are supported by the 2007 credit facihty reduce the avai/abihty of the facility
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with management discretion on the timing of the repurchases

BlackRocks pre existing repurchase program established in

2006 was terminated effective with the new authorization As

of December 31 2010 the Company had repurchased 896102

shares in open market transactions for approximately $140 million

Barclays Support of Certain Cash Funds

Barclays has provided capital support agreements to support

certain cash management products acquired by BlackRock in

the 801 Transaction Pursuant tothe terms of the capital sup

port agreements Barclays agreed to cover losses on covered

securities within the products in the aggregate of up to

$2.2 billion from December 12009 through December 12013

or until certain criteria are met BlackRock and Barclays have

procedures in place to determine loss events on covered securi

ties within the products and to ensure support payments from

Barclays At December 31 2010 Barclays remaining maximum

potential obligation in the aggregate under the
capital support

agreements was $1.7 billion At December 31 2010 BlackRock

concluded that although these funds were variable interest

entities it was not the primary beneficiary of these funds

Net Capital Requfrements

The Company is required to maintain net capital
in certain

regulated subsidiaries within number of jurisdictions which

is
partially

maintained by retaining cash and cash equivalents

in those jurisdictionsAs result such subsidiaries of the

Company may be restricted in their ability to transfer cash

between different jurisdictions and to their parents Additionally

transfers of cash between international jurisdictions including

repatriation to the United States may have adverse tax conse

quences that could discourage such transfers

BTC is chartered as national bank that does not accept client

deposits and whose powers are limited to trust activities BTC

provides investment management services including investment

advisory and securities lending agency services to institutional

investors and other clients BTC is subject to various regulatory

capital and liquid asset requirements administered by Federal

banking agencies

At December31 2010 the Company was required to maintain

approximately $897 million in net capital in certain regulated

subsidiaries including BTC and entities regulated by the FSA in

the United Kingdom and were in compliance with all applicable

regulatory minimum net
capital requirements

During 2011 the Companys net capital requirements increased

approximately $157 million due to increases related to certain

of its European regulated legal
entities

Contractual Obligations Comm itments and

Contingencies

The following table sets forth contractual obligations

commitments and contingencies by year of payment at

December 31 2010

Dollaramounts in millions 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter Total

Contractual obligations and commitments
Short term borrowings

Principal $100 $100

Convertible debentures

Principal 67 67

Interest

Long-term borrowings

Principal 500 1000 1700 3200

Interest 140 140 129 129 94 288 920

Operatingleases 131 117 130 115 106 903 1502

Purchase obligations 121 iu is 74

Investment commitments 183 183

Total contractual obligations and commitments 744 787 275 1249 202 2891 6148

Contingent obligations

Contingent distribution obligations 226 226 226 678

Total contractual obligations commitments and

contingent obligations11 $970 $1013 $501 $1249 $202 $2891 $6826

As of Oecember 37 2070 the company had $246 mi/hon of net unrecognized tax benehti Oue to the uncertainty of hming
and amonntn that wi/I

slhmate/ybe paid thin amount has been

excluded from the table above

Short-term Borrowings

At December 2u10 the Company had $i uu million out

standing under the 2007
facility

with an interest rate of 0.47%

and maturity date of February 28 2011

Convertible Debentures

In February 2005 the Company issued $250 million aggregate

principal amount of convertible debentures due in 2035 and

bearing interest at rate of 2.625% per annum Beginning in

February 2009 the convertible debentures became convert

ible at the option of the holders at any time and on and after

February 20 2010 the convertible debentures became callable

by the Company at any time following not more than 60 but

not less than 30 days notice On the contractual obligations

table above the remaining $67 million principal balance of the

convertibledebentures is assumed although not determined

to be fully repaid in 2011

Long-term Borrowings

At December 31 2010 the principal amount of long term bor

rowings was $3.2 billion Debt service and repayment require

ments are $140 million in 2011 $640 million in 2012

$129 million in 2013 $1129 million in 2014 and $94 million in 2015

2017 Notes

In September 2007 the Company issued $700 million in aggre

gate principal amount of 6.25% senior unsecured notes maturing

on September 15 2017 the 2017 Notes portion of the

net proceeds of the 2017 Notes was used to fund the initial

cash payment for the acquisition of the fund of funds business

of Quellos and the remainder was used for general corporate

purposes Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on March

15 and September 15 of each year or approximately $44 million

peryear The 2017 Notes may be redeemed priorto maturityat

any time in whole or in part at the option of the Company at
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make-whole redemption price The 2017 Notes were issued

at discount of $6 million which is being amortized over their

ten-year term

2012 2014 and 2019 Notes

In December 2009 the Company issued $2.5 billion in

aggregate principal amount of unsecured and unsubordinated

obligations These notes were issued as three separate series

of senior debt securities including $0.5 billion of 2.25% notes

$1.0 billion of 3.50% notes and $1.0 billion of 5.0% notes

maturing in December 2012 2014 and 2019 respectively

Net proceeds of this offering were used to repay borrowings

under our CP program which was used to finance portion

of the BGI Transaction and for general corporate purposes

Interest on these notes of approximately $96 million per year is

payable semi annually in arrears on June 10 and December10

of each year These notes may be redeemed prior to maturity

at any time in whole or in part at the option of the Company at

make whole redemption priceThese notes were issued

collectively at discount of $5 million which is being amortized

over approximately weighted 6.6 year term

Operating Leases

The Company leases its primary office space under agreements

that currently expire through 2035 In connection with certain

lease agreements the Company is responsible for escalation

payments The contractual obligations table above includes

only guaranteed minimum lease payments for such leases and

does not project potential escalation or other lease-related

payments These leases are classified as operating leases and

as such are not recorded as liabilities on the consolidated

statements of financial condition

In January 2010 the Company entered into an agreement with

Mourant Co Trustees Limited and Mourant Property Trustees

Limited as Trustees of the Drapers Gardens Unit Trust for

the lease of approximately 292418 square feet of office and

ancillary including retail space located at Drapers Gardens

12 Throgmorton Avenue London EC2 United Kingdom The

lease began on February 17 2010 the Effective Date and will

continue for 25 years with the option to renew for an additional

five year term The lease provides for total annual base rental

payments of approximately $22 million which is subject to

increase on each fifth anniversary of the beginning of the lease

The lease included an initial rent free period for 36 months and

22 days following the Effective Date

Purchase Obligations

In the ordinary course of business BlackRock enters into

contracts or purchase obligations with third parties whereby

the third parties provide services to or on behalf of BlackRock

Purchase obligations included in the contractual obligations

table above represent executory contracts which are either

non cancelable or cancelable with penalty At December31

2010 the Companys obligations primarily reflect standard ser

vice contracts for portfolio market data office related services

and third party marketing and promotional services Purchase

obligations are recorded on the Companys financial statements

when services are provided and as such obligations for servic

es not received are not included in the Companys consolidated

statement of financial condition at December31 2010

In connection with the Drapers Gardens lease described above

the Company entered into purchase obligation for construction

services of approximately $67 million The Company incurred

$4 million of construction services during the year ended

December31 2010 Substantially all of the remaining nbligation

of $63 million is expected to be incurred during 2011

Investment/Loan Commitments

At December31 2010 the Conipany had $183 million of various

capital commitments to fund sponsored investment funds includ

ing
funds of

private equity funds real estate funds and distressed

credit funds This amount excludes additional commitments

made by consolidated funds of funds to underlying third party

funds as third party non controlling interest holders have the
legal

obligation to fund the respective commitments of such funds of

funds Generally the timing of the funding of these commitments

is unknown and the commitments are callable on demand at any

time prior to the expiration of the commitment and are therefore

presented in 2011 These unfunded commitments are not

recorded on the Companys consolidated statements of financial

condition The above schedule does not include potential future

commitments approved by the Companys Capital Committee

but which are not yet legally binding The Company intends to

make additional capital commitments from time to time to fund

additional investment products for and with its clients

Prior to March 31 2010 the Company was committed to

provide financing of up to $60 million to Anthracite Capital

Inc Anthracite specialty commercial real estate finance

company that was managed by subsidiary of BlackRock

The financing is öollateralized by pledge by Anthracite of its

ownership interest in real estate debt investment fund which

is managed by subsidiary of BlackRock At December31

2010 $33.5 million of financing was outstanding and remains

outstanding as of February 2011 which is past its final maturity

date of March 2010 At December31 2010 the carrying

value of the collateral was estimated to be zero which resulted

in an additional $12.5 million reduction in amounts due from

related parties on the Companys consolidated statement of

financial condition and an equql amount recorded in general

and administrative expenses on the Companys consolidated

statements of income for the year ended December31 2010

The Company has no obligation to loan additional amounts to

Anthracite under this
facility

Anthracite filed voluntary petition

for relief under Chapter of Title 11 of the U.S Code in the

U.S Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York

on March 15 2010 Recovery of any amount of the financing

provided by the Company in excess of the value of the collateral

is not anticipated The Company continuesto evaluate the

collectability
of the outstanding borrowings

Carried Interest Claw-back

As general partner in certain investment funds including private

equity partnerships and certain hedge funds the Company may

receive certain carried interest cash distributions from the partner

ships in accordance with distribution provisions of the partnership

agreements The Company may from time to time be required to

return all or portion of such distributions to the limited partners

in the event the limited partners do not achieve certain return as

specified in the various partnership agreements At December31

2010 the Company has received less than $10 million in cash that

was not recorded as revenue and subject to claw back

Contingent Distribution Obligations

In November 2010 BlackRock entered into second amended

and restated global distribution agreement with Merrill Lynch

which requires the Company to make payments to Merrill Lynch

contingent upon sales of products and level of assets under

management maintained in certain BlackRock products The

economic terms of the agreement will remain in effect until

January 2014 After such term the agreement will renew for one

automatic three-year extension if certain conditions are satisfied

The above schedule reflects the Companys estimated payments

for 2011 which due to uncertainty of asset levels and future

additional sales has been held constant for 2011 through 2013
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Contingent Payments Related to Business Acquisitions

In connection with the Quellos Transaction Quellos was entitled

to receive two contingent payments subject to achieving certain

investment advisory base and performance fee measures

through December31 2010 totaling up to an additional

$969 million in combination of cash and stock

During second quarter 2009 the Company determined the

amount of the first contingent payment to be $219 million of

which $11 million was previouslypaid in cash during 2008 Of

the remaining $208 million during second quarter 2009

$156 million was paid in cash and $52 million was paid in com

mon stock or approximately 330000 shares based on price

of $15733 per share

The second contingent payment of up to $595 million would

have been payable in cash in 2011 Quellos also was entitled

to catch up payment in 2011 if certain investment advisory

base tee measures were met through 2010 as the value of the

first contingent payment was less than $374 million portion

of the second contingent payment not to exceed $90 million

would have been paid to Quellos based on factors including the

continued employment of certain employees with BlackRock

The base and performance fee measures through December

31 2010 were not achieved therefore theremaining contingent

payments will not occur

The following items have not been included in the contractual

obligations commitnients and contingencies table

Compensation and Benefit Obligations

The Company has various compensation and benefit obligations

including bonuses commissions and incentive payments

payable defined contribution plan matching contribution

obligations and deferred compensation arrangements that are

excluded from the table above primarily due to uncertainties

in their payout periods These arrangements are discussed in

more detail in Notes 15 Stock Based Compensation and 16

Employee Benefit Plans to the cpnsolidated financial statements

beginning on page 93 of this Annual Report Accrued com

pensation and benefits at December 31 2010 totaled $1520

million and includpd incentive dompensation of $1220 million

deferred compensation of $89 million and other compensation

and benefits related obligations of $211 million Substantially

all of the incentive compensation liability was paid in the first

quarter of 2011 while the deferred compensation obligations

are payable over periods up to five years

Separate Account Liabilities

The Companys two wholly owned registered life insurance

companies in the United Kingdom maintain separate account

abbetb rtprtbenting begrttgated fundb held fui purposes of

funding individual and group pension contracts The net invest

ment income and net realized and unrealized gains and losses

attributable to these separate account assets accrue to the

contract owners and as such an offsetting separate account

liability is recorded At December31 2010 the Company had

$121.1 billion of assets and offsetting liabilities on the consoli

dated statement of financial condition The payment of these

contractual obligations is inherently uncertain and varies by

customer As such these liabilities have been excluded from the

contractual obligations table above

Indemnifications

In many of the Companys contracts including the BCI MLIM

and Quellos Transaction agreements BlackRock agrees to

indemnify third parties under certain circumstances The

terms of the indemnities vary from contract to contract and the

amount of indemnification liability
if any cannot be determined
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and has not been included in the table above or recorded in

the Companys consolidated statement of financial condition

at December31 2010 See further discussion in Note 14

Commitments and Contingencies to the consolidated financial

statements beginning on page 93 of this Annual Report

CriticalAccounting Policies

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in confor

mity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the

date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported

amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods

Actual results could differ
significantly

from those estimates

Management considers the following critical accounting poli

cies important to understanding the consolidated financial

statements For summary of these and additional accounting

policies as well as recent accounting developments see Note

Significant Accounting Policies to the consolidated financial

statements beginning on page 93 of this Annual Report

Consolidation of Sponsored Investment Funds and

Securitization Products

Consolidation of sponsored investment funds and securitization

products collectively investment products is determined

pursuant to ASC 810 Consolidation The accounting method

used by the Company is dependent upon the influence the

Company has over its investee the investment product To the

extent that BlaOkRock can exert control over the financial and

operating policies of the investment product which generally

exists if there is 50% or greater voting interest or if partners

or members of certain products do not have substantive rights

the investment product is consolidated into BlackRocks finan

cial statements

For investment products in which BlackRocks voting interest

is less than 50% an analysis is performed to determine if the

investment product is VIE or voting rights entity Upon the

determination that the investment product is VIE further

analysis as discussed below is performed to determine if

BlackRock is the primary beneficiary PB of the investment

product which would result in consolidation

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities

Pursuant to ASC 810-10 certain investment products for which

the risks and rewards of ownership are not directly linked to

voting interests may be deemed VIEs BlackRock reviews factors

including the rights
of the equity holders and obligations of equity

holders to absorb losses or receive expected residual returns

to determine if the investment product is VIE BlackRock is re

quired fn cnnsnlidafe VIE when if is deemed to the PR whinh

is evaluated continuously as facts and circumstances change

In June 2009 the FASB issued ASU 2009 17 Improvements to

Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved with Variable Interest

Entities ASU 2009 17 which became effective for BlackRock

on January 2010 In February 2010 the FASB issued ASU

2010-10 Amendments to Statement 167 for Certain In vestment

Funds ASU 2010-10 This ASU deferred the application of

Statement of Einancial Accounting Standards SEAS No 167

Amendments to EASE Interpretation No 46R to reporting

enterprises interest in VIEs if certain conditions are met

The PB of VIE that is an investment fund meeting the conditions

of ASU 2010 10 is the enterprise that absorbs the majority of

the entitys expected losses receives majority of the entitys

expected residual returns or both as result of holding variable

interests including those of related parties Effective January

2010 the PB of VIE that does not meet the conditions for

deferral in ASU 2010-10 is the enterprise that has the power



to direct activities of the entity that most significantly impact

the entitys economic performance and has the obligation to

absorb losses or the
right

to receive benefits that potentially

could be significant to the VIE

Significant judgment is required in the determination of whether

the Company is the PB of VIE If the Company together with

its related parties is determined to be the PB of VIE the
entity

will be consolidated within BlackRocks consolidated financial

statements In order to determine whether the Company is

the PB of VIE for entities that do meet the conditions of ASU

2010-10 management must make significant estimates and

assumptions of probable future cash flows and assign prob

abilities to different cash flow scenarios Assumptions made

in such analyses include but are not limited to market prices

of securities market interest rates potential credit defaults on

individual securities or default rqtes on portfolio of securities

gain realization liquidity or marketability of certain securities

discount rates and the probability of certain other outcomes

In the normal course of business the Company is the manager

of various types of sponsored investment vehicles including

collateralized debt/loan obligations CDO5 or CLO5 that

do not meet the conditions of ASU 2010 10 and sponsored

investment funds which may be considered VIEs At December

31 2010 the Company consolidated four VIEs including three

CLOs and one sponsored private equity fund At December31

2010 the following balances related to these four VIEs were

consolidated on the Companys consolidated statement of

financial condition

Total

Consolidated

VIEs

Sponsored

Private

Equity FundDo//ar amounts in mi//ions CLOs

Assets of consolidated VIEs

Cash and cash equivalents $B2 $1 $93

Bank loans bonds and other investments 27B 34 1312

Liabilities of consolidated VIEs

Borrowings 27B 27B
Other liabilities

Appropriated retained earnings 75 75
Non controlling interests of consolidated VIEs 45 45
Total net interests in consolidated VIEs

As of December 31 2010 BlackRock was the manager of over has no risk of loss with its involvement with this VIE Therefore

20 CLO5/CDO5 and other securitization entities including the the changes in the assets and
Iiablities

of this VIE have no

three aforementioned CLOs in which BlackRock in accordance impact on net income attributable to BlackRock Inc

with ASU 2009 17 was determined to be the PB which resulted

in consolidation of these VIEs in the Companys consolidated Consolidation of Voting Rights Entities

financial statements BlackRock was deemed to be the PB

because it has the power to direct the activities of the CLO that

most significantly impact the entitys economic performance

and has the
right

to receive benefits that potentially could be

significant to the VIE At December31 2010 the Company had

To the extent that BlackRock maintains 50% or greater voting

interest of an investment product BlackRock is deemed to have

control of the product which results in consolidation of the

product into BlackRocks financial statements

$1360 million and $1 2B5 million in assets and liabilities re
The Company as general partner or managing member of

spectively on its consolidated statement of financial condition certain sponsored investment funds generally is presumed to

related to these consolidated CLOs In addition the Company control funds that are limited partnerships ot limited liability

recorded appropriated retained earnings for the difference as companies Pursuant to ASC B1 20 Confro/ of Parfnershos

the CLO noteholders not BlackRock ultimately will receive the and Similar Entifies ASC B1 20 the Company reviews such

benefits or absorb the losses associated with the CLOs assets investment vehicles to determine if such presumption can

and liabilities Therefore the changes in the assets and liabilities be overcome by deternSning if other non-affiliated partners

of these CLOs have no impact on net income attributable to or members of the limited partnership or limited liability

BlackRock Inc or its cash flows company have the substantive ability to dissolve liquidate the

As of December31 2010 BlackRock was determined to be the

PB of one sponsored private equity investment fund of funds

in which it had non substantive investment and was deemed

to absorb the majority of the
variability

due to its de facto

third party relationships with other partners in the fund which

limits the
ability

of the partners to transfer or sell their interests

investment vehicle or otherwise to remove BlackRock as the

general partner or managing member without cause based on

simple unaffiliated majority vote or have other substantive

participating rights If the investment vehicle is not VIE and the

presumption of control is not overcome the investment vehicle

will be consolidated into BlackRocks financial statements

without BlackRocks consent as the general partner of the fund At December31 2010 and 2009 as result of consolidation of

At December 31 2010 the Company had recorded $11 million various investment products deemed to be voting rights entities

$34 million and $45 million in cash and cash equivalents including products where BlackRock owns 50% of greater of the

private equity investments and nonredeemable non controlling voting rights of the product under the consolidation policies

interests of consolidated VIEs respectively on its consolidated described above the Company had the following balances on

statement of financial condition related to this VIE The Company its consolidated statements of financial condition

Do//ar amounts/n mi//ions December 31 2010 December31 2009

Cash and cash equivalents $65 $75

Investments

Trading investments 60 103

Other investments 337 360

Othur assists

Other liabilities 10
Non controlling interests 195 273

BlackRocks net interests in consolidated investment funds $260 $25B
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The Company has retained the speoialized acoounting of these

investment funds pursuant to ASC 810 10 At Deoember 31

2009 the above balances included consolidated sponsored

investment fund that also was deemed VIE at December31

2010 and is currently reported within assets and liabilities of

consolidated VIEs on the consolidated statement of financial

condition This VIE as well as three CLOs which are also VIEs

was excluded from the December31 2010 balances above as

commencing in 2010 these balances are reported separately on

the consolidated statement of financial condition

Investments

Equity Method Investments

For equity investments where BlackRock does not control the

investee and where the Company is not the PB of VIE but

can exert significant influence over the financial and operating

pulluies uf the irivestee the Company uses the equity riethud uf

accounting The evaluation of whether the Company exerts con

trol or significant influence over the financial and operational

policies of its investees requires significant judgment based on

the facts and circumstances surrounding each individual invest

ment Factors considered in these evaluations may include

the type of investment the
legal structure of the investee the

terms and structure of the investment agreement including in

vestor voting or other rights the terms of BlackRocks advisory

agreement or other agreements with the investee any influence

BlackRock mayhavØ on the governing board of the investee the

legal rights
of other investors in the entity pursuant to the funds

operating documents and the relationship between BlackRock

and other investors in the entity

Substantially all of BlackRocks equity method investees are

investment companies which record their underlying invest

ments at fair value Therefore under the equity method of

accounting BlackRocks share of the investees underlying net

income predominantly represents fair value adjustments in the

investments held by the equity method investees BlackRocks

share of the investees underlying net income or loss is based

upon the most currently available information and is recorded

as non operating income expense for investments in invest

ment companies or as other revenue for operating or advisory

company investments which are recorded in other assets

since such operating or advisory companies are considered to

be connected to BlackRocks core business

At December 31 2010 the Company had $583 million and

$58 million of equity method investments including equity

method investments held for deferred compensation reflected

within investmentsªn6 other assets respectively and at

December 31 2009 the Company had $401 million and

$36 million of equity method investees reflected in investments

and other assets respectively

Impairment of Investments

The Companys management periodically assesses its

equity method available for sale held to maturity and cost

investments for impairment If circumstances indicate that

impairment may exist investments are evaluated using market

values where available or the expected future cash flows of the

investment If the undiscounted expected future cash flows are

lower than the Companys carrying value of the investment an

impairment charge is recorded to the consolidated statement

of income

When the fair value of an available-for sale security is lower than

its cost or amortized cost value the Company evaluates the

security tO determine whether the Impairment is considered

other than temporary

In making this determination for equity securities the Company

considers among other factors the length of time the security

has been in loss position the extent to which the securitys

market value is less than its cost the financial condition and

near-term prospects of the securitys issuer and the Companys

ability
and intent to hold the security for period of time suf

ficient to allow for recovery of such unrealized losses If the

impairment is considered other than temporary charge is

recorded to the consolidated statement of income

In making this determination for debt securities the Company

considers whether the Company has the intent to sell the

security it is more likely
than not that the Company will be

required to sell the security before recovery or the Company

does not expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis of

the security If the Company does not intend to sell security

and it is not more likely thannot that the entity will be required

to sell the security but the security has suffered credit loss

the credit loss will be bifurcated from the total impairment and

recorded in earnings with the remaining portion recorded in

other comprehensive income

For the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 the

Company recorded other-than-temporary impairments of less

than $1 million $5 million and $8 million respectively related

to debt securities and CDD available for sale investments

which were recorded in non operating income expense on the

consolidated statements of income

The $5 million of impairments in 2009 included $2 million

related to credit loss impairments on debt securities The

$2 million credit loss impairment in 2009 was determined by

comparing the estimated discounted cash flows versus the

amortized cost for each individual security The other-than-

temporary impairments related to debt securities were due

to adverse credit conditions for debt instrument that was

purchased from an enhanced cash management fund in which

the Company determined that it did not have the ability to hold

the securities for period of time sufficient to allow for recovery

of such unrealized losses

Evaluatiun cf securities impairments invulves significdnt

assumptions and management judgments which could differ

from actual results and these differences could have material

impact on the Companys consolidated statements of income

Fair Value Measurements

BlackRock adopted the applicable provisions of ASC 820 10

Fafr Va/ue Measurements and D/sc/osures ASC 820 10 as of

January 2008 which require among other things enhanced

disclosures about assets andliabilities that are measured and

reported at fair value

Hierarchy of Fair Value Inputs

The provisions of ASC 820-10 establish hierarchy that
priori

tizes inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value

and requires companies to disclose the fair value oftheirfinan

cial instruments according to the fair value hierarchy i.e Level

and inputs as defined The fair value hierarchy gives the

highest priority to quoted prices unadjusted in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest
priority

to unob

servable inputs Additionally companies are required to provide

enhanced disclosure regarding instruments in the Level

category which have inputs to the valuation techniques that are

unobservable and require significant management judgment

including reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances

separately for each major category of assets and liabilities
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Assets and liabilities measured and reported at fair value are

classified and disclosed in one of the following categories

Level Inputs

Quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities at the reporting date

Level assets may include listed mutual funds including

those accounted for under the equity method of accounting

as these mutual funds are investment companies that have

publicly available net asset values NAys which in accor

dance with GAAP are calculated under fair value measures

and are equal to the earnings of such funds ETFs and listed

equities and certain derivatives

Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets

quoted prices for identical or similarassets or liabilities that

are not active quotes from pricing services or brokers for

which the Company can determine that orderly transactions

took place at the quoted price or that the inputs used to arrive

at the price were observable and inputs other than quoted

prices that are observable such as models or other valuation

methodologies

Level assets in this category may include debt securities

bank loans short-term floating rate notes and asset backed

securities securities held within consolidated hedge funds

certain equity method limited partnership interests in

hedge funds and mutual funds valued based on net asset

values where the Company has the
ability

to redeem at the

measurement date or in the near term without redemption

restrictions restricted public securities valued at discount

as well as over the-counter derivatives including interest

and inflation rate swaps and foreign exchange currency

contracts that have inputs to the valuations that can be

generally corroborated by observable market data

Level Inputs

Unobservable inputs for the valuation of the assetor liability

which may include non-binding broker quotes Level assets

include investments for which there is little if any market activ

ity
These inputs require significant management judgment or

estimatinn Certain investments that are valued using net asset

values and that are subject to current redemption restrictions

that will not be lifted in the near term are included in Level

Level assets in this category generally include general and

limited partnership interests in private equity funds funds of

private equity funds real estate funds hedge funds funds

of hedge funds direct private equity investments held within

consolidated funds and certain held for sale real estate

disposal assets

Level liabilities included in this category include borrowings

of consolidated collateralized loan obligations valued based

upon non binding broker quotes

Level inputs include BlackRock capital accounts for its

partnership interests in various alternative investments

BlackRocks $650 million of Level investments at December

31 2010 primarily include co investments in private equity fund

of funds and private equity funds funds of hedge funds as well

as funds that invest in distressed credit and mortgage securities

and real estate equity products Many of these investees are

investment companies which record their underlying invest

ments at fair value based on fair value policies established

by management of the underlying fund which could include

BlackRock employees Fair value policies at the underlying fund

generally utilize pricing/valuatidn information including inde

pendent appraisals from third party sources however in some

instances current valuation information for illiquid securities or

securities in markets that are not ctive may not be available

from any third party source or fund management may conclude

that the valuations that are available from third party sources

are not reliabip In these instances fund management may

perform model based analytical valuations that may be used to

value these investments

Significance of Inputs

The Companys assessment of the significance of particular

input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judg

ment and considers factors specific to the financial instrument

Pricing Services and Broker Quotes

significant amount of inputs used to value equity and debt

securities are sourced from well-recognized.hird party pricing

-vendors Generally prices obtained from pricing vendors are

categorized as Level inputs for securities that are traded in

active markets arid as Level for other securities if the vendor

uses observable inputs in determining the price Annually

BlackRock reviews both the valuation methodology including

the general assumptions and methods used to value various

asset classes and operational process with these vendors In

addition on quarterly basis meetings are held with the vendors

to identify any significant changes to the vendors process

In addition quotes obtained from brokers generally are non

binding and categorized as Level inputs However if the

Cumpdny is able to determine that market participdnts hdve

transacted for the asset in an orderly manner near the quoted

price or if the Company can determine that the inputs used by the

broker are observable the quote is classified as Level input

Significant Transfers Into and Qut of Levels and

During the year ended December31 2010 the Company

reclassified approximately $47 million of net investments out

of Level predominantly to Level The majority of the net

reclassifications were related to investments that Company

values using NAV or capital account and it currently has

the ability to redeem iq the near term

Changes in Valuation

Changes in value on $1051 million of investments will impact

the Companys non operating income expense $45 million

will impact accumulated other comprehensive income

$431 million are held at cost or amortized cost and the remain

ing $13 million related to carried interest has no impact on non

operating income expense As of December31 2010 changes

in fair value of approximately $397 million of such investments

within cnnsnlidated spnnsored investment funds will impact

BlackRocks net income loss attributable to non controlling

interests expense on the consoldated statements of income

BlackRocks net exposure to changes in fair value of such

consolidated sponsored investment funds is $260 million

S-.-

Level Inputs
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

At December31 2010 the carrying amounts of the Companys

goodwill and intangible assets were as follows

Do//ar amounts in mi/lions

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Indefinite lived

Management contracts

Mutual funds/

Exchange traded llroducts 10661
Other collective investment funds 3610

Alternative investment funds 917

Trade named/trademarks 1403

License

Finite-lived net of

accumulated amortization

Management contracts

Institutional/Retail separate accounts 807

Alternative investment

accounts and funds

Other

Total goodwill and intangible assets $30317

The value of contracts acquired in busircess acquisition to

manage assets in proprietary open- and closed end invest

ment funds as well as collective trust funds without specified

termination date is ciassified as an indefinite-lived intangible

asset The assignment of indefinite lives to such investment

fund contracts is based upon the assumption that there is no

foreseeable limit on the contract period to manage these funds

due to the likelihood of continued renewal at little or no cost

Goodwill represents the cost of business acquisition in excess

of the fair value of the net assets acquired In accordance with

the applicable provisions of ASC 350 In fang/b/es Goodwill

and OfherASC 350 indefinite-lived intangible assets and

goodwill are not amortized Finite lived management contracts

are amortized over their remaining expected useful lives which

at December31 2010 ranged trom years to 14 years with

weighted average remaining estimated useful life of 6.3 years

Goodwill

The Company assesses its goodwill for impairment at least

annually considehng such factors as the book value and the

market capitalization of the Company The impairment test

performed as of
July 31 2010 indicated no impairment charge

was required The Company continues to monitor its book

value per share as compared to closing prices of its common

stock for potential iTdi5ators of impairment At December31

2010 the Companys common stock closed at $190.58 which

exceeded its book value per share of approximately $136.00

after excluding appropriated retained earnings

Indefinite-lived and Finite-lived Intangibles

The Company assesses its indefinite-lived management

contracts trade names and licenses for impairment at least

annually considering various factors including AUM growth

rates product mix product margins tax rates discount rates

and projected cash flows to determine whether the values of

each intangible asset are impaired and whether the indefinite

life classification is still appropriate The fair value of indefinite

lived intangible assets is determined based on the discounted

value of expected future cash flows The fair value of finite-lived

intangible assets is reviewed atleast annually to determine

whether circumstances exist which indicate there may be

potential impairment In addition if such circumstances are

considered to exist the Companywill perform an impairment

test using an undiscounted cash flow analysis If the asset is
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December 31 2010

$12805

determined to be impaired the difference between the book

value of the asset and its current fair value is recognized as an

expense in the period in which the impairment occurs Actual

results could differ from these estimates which could materially

impact the impairment conclusion

In 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company performed impairment

tests that indicated no impairment charges were required the

classification of indefinite lived versus finite-lived intangibles

was still appropriate and no changes to the expected lives of

the finite lived intangibles were required The Company continu

ously monitors various factors including AUM for potential

indicators of impairment

In addition management judgment is required to estimate the

period over which finite lived intangible assets will contribute

to the Companys cash flows and the pattern in which these

assets will be consumed change in the remaining useful life

of any of these assets or the reclassification of an indefinite lived

intangible asset to finite lived intangible asset could have

104
significant impact on the Companys amortization expense

which was $160 million $147 million and $146 million for the

years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and

liability method prescribed by ASC 740 Income Taxes Deferred

income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future

tax consequences attributable to temporary differences

between th finanrial ctatmnt narrying amnunt nf exicting

assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases using cur

rently enacted tax rates The effect of change in tax rates on

deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the

period of the enactment date

BlackRcck adopted the applicable provisions of ASC 740 on

January 2007 related to uncertainties in income taxes which

clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recog

nized in companys financial statements ASC 740 prescribes

threshold for measurement and recognition in the financial

statements of an asset or liability resulting from tax position

tdken or eApeuted tu be taken in an incume tax return ASC 740

also provides guidance on among other things de recognition

of deferred tax assets and liabilities and interest and penalties

on uncertain tax positions

The application of ASC 740 requires management to make

estimates of the ranges of possible outcomes the probability of

favorable or unfavorable tax outcomes and potential interest and

penalties related to such unfavorable outcomes which require

significant management judgment Actual future tax conse

quences relating to uncertain.tax positions may be materially

different than the Companys current estimates At December

31 2010 BlackRcck had $307 million 01 gross unrecognized tax

benefits of which $194 million if recognized would affect the

effective tax rate

In accordance with ASC 740 management is required to

estimate the timing of the recognition of deferred tax assets

and liabilities make assumptions about the future deductibility

of deferred income tax assets and assess deferred income

tax liabilities based on enacted tax rates for the appropriate

tax jurisdictions to determine the amount of such deferred

income tax assets and liabilities At December 31 2010 the

Company had net deferred tax assets of $10 million and net

deferred tax liabilities of approximately $5477 million on the

consolidated statement of financial condition Changes in

the calculated deferred tax assets and liabilities may occur

in certain circumstances including statutory income tax rate

changes statutory tax law changes changes in the anticipated

timing of recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities or



changes in the structure or tax status of the Company ASC 740

requires the Company to assess whether valuation allowance

should be established against its deferred income tax assets

based on consideration of all available evidence both positive

and negative using more likely than not standard This assess

ment considers among other matters the nature frequency

and severity of recent losses forecast of future
profitability

the

duration of statutory carry back and carry forward periods the

Companys experience with tax attributes expiring unused and

tax planning alternatives

At December31 2010 the Company has recorded deferred

tax asset of $108 million for unrealized investment losses

however no valuation allowance has been established because

the Company expects to be able to carry back portion of its

unrealized capital losses when realized hold certain equity

riethod investments which include fixed income securities

over period sufficient for them to recover their unrealized

losses and generate future capital gains sufficient to offset

the unrealized capital losses Based on the weight of available

evidence it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset

will be realized However changes in circumstance could cause

the Company to revalue its deferred tax balances with the

resulting change impacting the income statement in the period

of the change Such changes may be material to the Companys

consolidated financial statements See Note 21 Income Taxes

to the consolidated financial statements beginning on page 93

of this Annual Report for further details

The Company records income taxes based upon its estimated

income tax liability or benefit The Companys actual tax liability

or benefit may differ from the estimated income tax liability or

benefit The Company had current income taxes receivable of

approximately $57 million and current income taxes payable of

$157 million at December 31 2010

Revenue Recognition

Investment advisory and administration fees are recognized as

the services are performed Such fees are based on pre deter

mined percentages of the market value of AUM or in the case

of certain real estate separate accounts net operating income

generated by the underlying properties and are affected by

changes in AUM including market appreciation or depreciation

and net subscriptions or redemptions Investment advisory and

administration fees for investment funds are shown net of fees

waived pursuant to contractual expense limitations of the funds

or voluntary waivers Certain real estate fees are earned upon

the acquisition or disposition of properties in accordance with

applicable investment management agreements and are recog

nized at the closing of the respective real estate transactions

The Company contracts with third parties including related

parties for various fund distributioo and shareholder servicing

to be performed on behalf of certain non U.S funds managed

by the Company Such arrangements generally are priced as

portion of the management fee paid by the fund In certain

cases the fund takes on the primary responsibility for payment

for services such that BlackRock bears no credit risk to the third

party The Company accounts for such retrocession arrange

ments in accordance with ASC 605 45 Revenue Recogn/t/on

Pr/nco/e Agent Cons/derat/ons ASC 605 45 and records its

investment advisory and administration fees net of retrocessions

Retrocessions for the years ended December31 2010 2009

and 2008 were $831 million $611 million and $762 million

respectively The Company has additional contracts for similar

services with third parties which due to the terms of the con

tracts are recorded as distribution and servicing costs and thus

not netted on the consolidated statements of income

The Company earns revenue by lending securities on behalf of

clients primarily to brokerage irpstitutions Such revenues are

accounted for on an accrual basis The securities loaned are

secured by collateral in the form of cash and securities generally

ranging from 102% to 112% of the value of the loaned securities

The revenue earned is shared between the Company and the

funds or other third-party accounts managed by the Company

from which the securities are borrowed For the years ended

December31 2010 2009 and 2008 securities lending revenue

totaled $325 million $36 million and $25 million respectively and

is recorded in investment advisory administration fees and secu

rities lending revenue on the consolidated statements of income

Investment advisory administration fees and securities lending

revenue are reported together as the fees for these services

often are agreed upon with clients as bundled fee

The Company also may receive performance fees or incentive

allocations from certain actively managed investment funds and

certain separately managed accounts which are primarily alter

native equity or multi asset class products These performance

fees generally are earned upon exceeding specified relative or

absolute investmentreturn thresholds Such fees are recorded

upon completion of the measurement periods which vary by

product or accouTit and could be monthly quarterly annually

or longer For the years ended December31 2010 2009 and

2008 performance fee revenue totaled $540 million $202 mil

lion and $177 million respectively

In addition the Company may receive carried interest in the

form of an investment capital aIlcation or cash from certain

alternative investment funds upop exceeding performance

thresholds However BlackRock nay be required to return all

or part of such carried interest depending upon performance

of these investment products ir\ future periods Therefore

BlackRock records carried interest subject to such claw back

provisions in investments or casK to the extent that it is dis

tributed on its consolidated statements of financial condition

Carried interest is realized upon the earlier of the termination

of the alternative investment fund orwhen the likelihood of

claw back is mathematically improbable The Company records

realized carried interest as performance fees on its consoli

dated statements of income The Company records deferred

carried interest liability to the extent it receives cash or capital

allocations prior to meeting the revenue recognition criteria At

December31 2010 and 2009 the Company had $23 million and

$13 million respectively of deferred carried interest recorded

in other liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial

condition The ultimate recognition of revenue if any for these

products is unknown

Fees earned for 8/ackRock So/ut/ons which include advisory

services are recorded as services are performed and are

determined using some or all of the following methods fixed

fees percentages of various attributes of advisory assets

under management and Hi performance fees if contractual

thresholds are met Revenue earned on advisory assignments

was comprised of one time advisory and portfolio structuring

fees and ongoing fees based on AUM of the respective portfolio

assignment For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008 8/ackRock So/ut/ons and advisory revenue totaled

$460 million $477 million and $393 million respectively

Adjustments to revenue arising from initial estimates histori

cally have been immaterial since the majority of BlackRocks

investment advisory and administration revenue is calculated

based on the fair value of AUM and since the Company does

not record performance revenues until performance thresh

olds have been exceeded and the likelihood of claw back is

mathematically improbable
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures

About Market Risk

AUM Market Price Risk

BlackRocks investment advisory and administration fees are

primarily comprised of fees based on percentage of the value

of AUM and in some cases performance fees expressed as

percentage of the returns realized on AUM At December 31

2010 the majority of our investment advisory and administra

tion fees were based on average or period end AUM of the

applicable investment funds or eparate accounts Movements

in equity market prices interest rates/credit spreads foreign

exchange rates or all three could cause the value of AUM to

decline which would result in lower investment advisory and

administration fees

Corporate Investments Portfolio Risks

As leading investment management firm BlackRock devotes

significant resources across all of its operations to identifying

measuring monitoring managing and analyzing market and op

erating risks including the management and oversight of its own

investment portfolio The Board of Directors of the Company has

adopted guidelines for the review of investments to be made by

the Company requiring among other things that all investments

be reviewed by the Companys Capital Committee which consists

of senior officers of the Company and that certain investments

may be referred to the Audit Committee or the Board of

Directors depending on the circumstances for approval

The net economic investment exposure of the portfolio is

presented in either the equity market price or the interest rate/

credit spread risk disclosures below

Equity Market Price Risk

At December 31 2010 the Companys net exposure to market

price risk in its investment portfolio was approximately $544

million of the Companys net economic investment exposure

Investments that are subject to market price risk include private

equity and real estate investments hedge funds and fund of

funds as well as mutual funds The Company estimates that

10% adverse change in market prices would result in decrease

of approximately $54.4 million in the carrying value of such

investments

Interest Rate/Credit Spread Risk

In the normal course of its business BlackRock is exposed

to equity market price risk interest rate/credit spread risk

and foreign exchange rate risk associated with its corporate

investments

BlackRock has investments primarily in sponsored investment

products that invest in variety of asset claSses including real

estate private equity and hedge funds Investments generally

are made for co-investment purposes to establish perfor

mance track record to hedge exposure to certain deferred

compensation plans orfor regulatory purposes Currently the

Company has seed capital hedging program in which it enters

into total return swaps to hedge exposure to certain equity

investments At December 31 2010 the outstanding total

return swaps had an aggregate notional value of approximately

$25 million

At December31 2010 approximately $397 million of

BlackRocks total investments were maintained in sponsored

investment funds that are deemed to be controlled by BlackRock

in accordance with GAAP and therefore are consolidated

even though BlackRock may not own majority of such funds

Excluding the impact of the Federal Reserve Bank stock car

ried interest investments made to hedge exposure to certain

deferred compensation plans and certain equity investments

that are hedged via the seed capital hedging program the

Companys net economic exposure to its investment portfolio

is as follows

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

As discussed above the Company invests in sponsored

investment products that invest in variety of asset classes

The carrying value of the net economic investment exposure

denominated in foreign currencies primarily the pound sterling

euro South Korean won and Taiwan dollars was $11 million

10% adverse change in foreign exchange rates would result in

approximately an $11 .B million decline in the carrying value of

such investments

December31 Variance

Dollar amounts in mi//ions 2010 2009 Amount Change

Total investments GAAP $1540 $1049 $491 47%

Investments held by consolidated sponsored investment funds 397 463 66 14%

Net exposure to consolidated investment funds 260 25B 1%

Total net economic investments 1403 B44 559 66%

Federal Reserve Bank stock 325 10 315
Carried interest 13 225%

Deferred compensation investments 76 71 7%

Hedged investments 25 36 11 31%

lotal net economic investment exposure $964 $723 $241 33%

Not app//cable or rho oorcentage join excess of 7000%

At December31 2010 the Company was exposed to interest

rate risk and credit spread risk as result of approximately

$420 million nf investments in debt securities and sponsored

investment products that invest primarily in debt securities

Management considered hypothetical 100 basis point

fluctuation in interest rates or credit spreads and estimates that

the impact of such fluctuation on these investments in the

aggregate would result in decrehse or increase of approxi

mately $7 million in the carrying value of such investments
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Risk Factors

As leading investment management firm risk is an inherent

part of BlackRocks business Global markets by their nature

are prone to unoertainty and subject participants to variety of

risks While BlackRock devotes significant resources across all

of its operations to identify measure monitor manage and ana

lyze
market and operating risks BlackRocks business financial

condition operating results or non-operating results could be

materially adversely affected or our stock price could decline

by any of the following risks

Risks Related to BlackRocks Business

and Competition

Changes in the value levels of the capital commodities

or currency markets or other asset classes could lead to

decline in revenues and earnings

BlackRocks investment management revenues are primarily

comprised of fees based on peroentage of the value of AUM

and in some cases performance fees expressed as percent

age of the returns earned on AUM Movements in equity debt

or commodity market prices interest rates or foreign exchange

rates could cause

the value of AUM to decrease

the returns realized on AUM to decrease

clients to withdraw funds in favor of products in markets that

they perceive offer greater opportunity that BlackRock may

not serve

clients to rebalance assets away from products that

Blackkock manages into products that it may not manage

clients to rebalance assets away from products that earn

higherfees into products with lower fees and

an impairment to the value of intangible assets and goodwill

The occurrence of any of these events could result in lower

investment advisory administration and performance fees or

earnings and cause our stock price to decline

Poor investment performance could lead to the loss of

clients and decline in revenues and earnings

The Companys management believes that investment

performance including the efficient delivery of beta for

passively managed products is one of the most important

factors for the growth and retention of AUM Poor investment

performance relative to applicable portfolio benchmarks or

to competitors could reduce revenues and cause earnings to

decline as result of

existing clients withdrawing funds in favor of better

performing products which could result in lower investment

advisory and administration fees

the diminishing ability to attract funds from existing and new

clients

the Company earning minimal or no performance fees and

an impairment to the value of intangible assets and goodwill

The determination to provide support to particular

products from time to time may reduce earnings or

other investments in the business

BlackRock may at its option from time to time support

investment products through capital or credit support

See for example Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Result of Operations Liquidity and

Capital Resources Such support utilizes capital that would

otherwise be available for other corporate purposes Losses on

such support or failure to have or devote sufficient capital to

support products could have an adverse impact on revenues

and earnings

Changes in the value levels of the capital markets or

other asset classes could lead to decline in the value

of investments that RlackRock owns

At December31 2010 BlackRocks net economic investment

exposure of approximately $1.0 billion in these investments see

Ouantitative and Oualitative Disclosures About Market Risk is

primarily the result of co-investments and seed investments

in its sponsored investment funds decline in the prices of

stocks or bonds or the value of real estate or other alternative

investments within or outside the United States could lower the

value of these investments and result in decline of non-operat

ing income and an increase in the volatility of our earnings

Continued capital losses on investments could have

adverse income tax consequences

The Company may generate realized and unrealized capital

losses on seed investments and co investments Realized capi

tal losses may be carried back three years and carried forward

five years and offset against realized capital gains for federal

income tax purposes The Company has ufirealzed capital

losses for which deferred tax asset has been established In

the event such unrealized lossesare realized the Company

may not be able to offset such loses within the carryback

or carryforward period or from future realized capital gains

in which case the deferred tax asset will not be realized The

failure to utilize the deferred tax asset could materially increase

BlackRocks income tax expense

The soundness of other financial institutions could

adversely affect BlackRock

Financial services institutions are interrelated as result

of trading clearing counterparty or other relationships

BlackRock and the products and accountsjhatit manages

have exposure to many different industries and counterparties

and routinely execute transactions with counterparties in the

financial services industry including brokers and dealers com

mercial banks investrfient banks mutual and hedge funds and

other institutional clients Many of these transactions expose

BlackRock or the funds and accounts that it manages to credit

risk in the event of default of its counterparty or client There

is no assurance that any such losses would not materially and

adversely impact BlackRocks revenues and earnings

The failure or negative performance of products of

other financial institutions could lead to reduced AUM
in similar products of BlackRock without regard to the

performance of BlackRocks products

The failure or negative performance of products of other financial

institutions could lead to loss yf confidence in similarproducts

of BlackRock without regard to the performance of BlackRocks

products Such negative contagion could lead to withdrawals

redemptions and liquidity issues in such products and have

material adverse impact on our AUM revenues and earnings
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Loss of employees could lead to the loss of clients and

decline in revenues

The ability to attraot and retain quality personnel has contrib

uted significantly to BlackRocks growth and success and is

important to attracting and retaining clients The market for

qualified fund managers investment analysts financial advisers

and other professionals is competitive There can be no assur

ance that the Company will be successful in its efforts to recruit

and retain required personnel Loss of personnel could have

material adverse effect on the Cpmpany

BlackRocks investment advisory contracts may be

terminated or may not be renewed by clients and the

liquidation of certain funds may be accelerated at the

option of investors

Separate account and commingled trust clients may terminate

their investment management contracts with BlackRock or

withdraw funds on short notice The Company has from time

to time lost separate accounts and could in the future lose

accounts or significant AUM pnder various circumstances such

as adverse market conditions or poor performance

Additionally BlackRock manages its U.S mutual funds closed-

end funds and exchanged traded funds urjder management

contracts with the funds that must be renewed and approved

by the funds boards of directors annually majority of the

directors of each such fund are independent from BlackRock

Consequently theretan be no assurance that the board of

directors of each fund managed by the Company will approve

the funds management contract each year or will not condition

its approval on the termsof the management contract being

revised in way that is adverse to the Company

Further the governing agreements of many of the Companys

private investment funds generally provide that subject to

certain conditions investors in those funds and in some cases

independent directors of those funds may remove the invest

ment adviser general partner or the equivalent of the fund

or liquidate the fund without caqse by simple majority vote

resulting in reduction in the management or performance fees

as well as the total carried interest BlackRock could earn

Failure to comply with client contractual requirements

and/or guidelines could result in damage awards

against BlackRock and loss of revenues due to client

terminations

When clients retain BlackRock to manage asseth or provide

products or services on their behalf they specify guidelines

or contractual requir.gments that the Company is required to

observe in the provision of its services failure to comply

with these guidelines or contractual requirements could result

in damage to BlackRocks reputation or in its clients seeking

to recover losses withdrawing their AUM or terminating their

contracts any of which could cause the Companys revenues

and earnings to decline

Competitive fee pressures could reduce revenues and

profit margins

The investment management industry including the offering of

exchange traded funds is highly competitive and has
relatively

low barriers to entry To the extent that the Compary is forced

to compete on the basis of price it may not be able to maintain

its current fee structure Fee reductions on existing nrftiture new

business could cause revenues and
profit margins to decline

Performance fees may increase revenue and earnings

volatility

portion of the Companys revenUes is derived from perfor

mance fees on investment and risk management advisory
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assignments Performance fees represented $540 million or

6% of total revenue for the year ended December31 2010 In

most cases performance fees are based on relative or absolute

investment returns although in some cases they are based on

achieving specific service standards Generally the Company

is entitled to performance fees only if the returns on the related

portfolios exceed agreed upon periodic or cumulative return

targets If these targets are not exceeded performance fees for

that period will not be earned and if targets are based on cumu

lative returns the Company may not earn performance fees in

future periods Performance fees will vary from period to period

in relation to volatility in investment returns and the timing of

revenue recognition causing earnings to be more volatile

Additional acquisitions may decrease earnings and harm

the Companys competitive position

BlackRock employs variety of strategies intended to enhance

earnings and expand product offerings in order to improve

profit margins These strategies have included smaller-sized

lift outs of investment teams and acquisitions of investment

management businesses such as the MLIM Quellos and BGI

Transactions These strategies may not be effective and failure

to successfully develop and implement these strategies may

decrease earnings and harm the Companys competitive

position in the investment management industry In the event

BlackRock pursues additional acquisitions it may not be able

to find suitable businesses to acquire at acceptable prices

and it may not be able to successfully integrate or realize the

intended benefits from such acquisitions

Risks Related to BlackRocks Operations

Failure to maintain adequate infrastructure could

impede BlackRocks productivity and growth

The Companys infrastructure including its technological

capacity data centers and office space is vital to the

competitiveness of its business The failure to maintain an

adequate infrastructure commensurate with the size and scope

of its business including any expansion could impede the

Companys productivity and growth which could cause the

Companys earnings or stock price to decline

Failure to maintain adequate business continuity plans

could have material adverse impact on BlackRock and

its products

significant portion of BlackRocks critical business operations

are concentrated in few geographic areas including San

Francisco California New York New York and London England

major earthquake fire terrodst or other catastrophic event

could result in disruption to the business The failure of the

Company to maintain updated adequate business continuity

plans including backup facilities could impede the Companys

ability to operate upon disruption which could cause the

Companys earnings or stock price to decline

Operating in international markets increases

BlackRocks operational regulatory and other risks

As result of BlackRocks extensive international business

activities the Company faces increased operational regulatory

reputational and foreign exchange rate risks The failure of the

Companys systems of internal control to properly mitigate such

additional risks or of its operating infrastructure to support

such international activities could result in operational failures

and regulatory fines or sanctions which could cause the

Companys earnings or stock price to decline



Failure to maintain technological advantage could lead

to loss of clients and decline in revenues

key element to BlackRocks continued success is the
ability to

maintain technological advantage in providing the sophisticat

ed risk analytics incorporated into BlackRocks Aladdin technol

ogy platform that support investment advisory and 8lackRock

Solutions clients Moreover the Companys technological

and software advantage is dependent on number of third

parties who provide various types of data The failure of these

third parties to provide such data or software could result in

operational difficulties and adversely impact BlackRocks abil

ity
to provide services to its investment advisory and BlackRock

Solutions clients There can be no assurance that the Company

will be able to maintain this technological advantage or be able

to effectively protect and enforce its intellectual property rights

In these systems and processes

Failure to implement effective information security

policies procedures and capabilities could disrupt

operations and cause financial losses that could result in

decrease in BlackRocks earnings or stock price

BlackRock is dependent on the effectiveness of its information

security policies procedures and capabilities to protect its

computer and telecommunications systems and the data that

reside on or are transmitted through them An externally caused

information security incident such as hacker attack virus or

worm or an
internally

caused issue such as failure to control

access to sensitive systems could materially interrupt business

operations or cause disclosure or modification of sehsitive or

confidential information and could result in material financial

loss regulatory actions breach of client contracts reputational

harm or legal liability which in turn could cause decline in

the CoIIIpdrIys ediiiirlgb
urstock price

The failure of key vendor to BlackRock to fulfill its

obligations could have material adverse effect on

BlackRock and its products

BlackRock depends on number of key vendors for various

fund administration custody and transfer agent roles and other

operational needs The failure or inability
of BlackRock to diver

sify
its sources for key services or the failure of any key vendors

to fulfill their obligations could lead to operational issues for the

company and in certain products which could result in financial

losses for the Company and its clients

The remaining integration of the BGI business creates

risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect

profitability

portion of the BGI business and personnel remain in the

process of being integrated with BlackRocks previously existing

business and personnel These transition activities are complex

and the Company may encounter Unexpected difficulties or

incur unexpected costs including

the diversion of managements attention to integration

matters

difficulties in the integration of operations and systems

difficulties in the assimilation of employees and

challenges in keeping existing clients and obtaining new

clients including potential conflicts of interest and client

imposed concentration limits on the use of an investment

manager and

As result the Company may not be able to realize all of the

benefits that it hoped to achieve from the transaction In

addition BlackRock may be required to spend additional time

or money on integration that would otherwise be spent on the

development and expansion of its business and services

Failure to manage risks in operating BlackRocks

securities lending prograrr for clients could lead to

loss of clients and decline in revenues and liquidity

The size of BlackRocks securities lending programs increased

significantly
with the completion of the BGI Transaction As part

of these programs BlackRock must manage risks associated

with ensuring that the value of the collateral held against

the securities on loan does not decline in value or become

illiquid
and that its nature and value complies with regulatory

requirements and investment requirements the potential

that borrower defaults or dops not return loaned security on

timely basis Hi the potential that the collateral held may not

be sufficient to repurchase the loaned security and iv errors

in the settlement of securities daily
mark-to-market valuations

and collateral collection The failure of the Companys controls

to mitigate these risks could result in financial losses for our

clients that participate in our securities lending programs as

well as for the Company

Risks Related to Relationships with Bank of America/
Merrill Lynch PNC Barclays and OTher Institutional

Investors

Merrill Lynch is an important distributor of BlackRocks

products and the Company is therefore subject to risks

associated with the business of Merrill Lynch

Under global distribution agreement entered into with Merrill

Lynch Merrill Lynch provides distribution portfdlio administration

and servicing for certain BlackRock investment management

products and services through its various distribution channels

The Company may not be succeUsful in distributing products

through Merrill Lynch or in distributing its products and services

through other third party distributors If BlarkRnrk is unable to

distribute its products and services successfully or if it experi

ences an increase in distribution related costs BlackRocks

business results of operations or financial condition may be

materially and adversely affected

Loss of market share within Merrill Lynchs Global

Wealth Investment Management business could harm

operating results

significant portion of BlackRocks revenue has
historically

come from AUM generated by Merrill Lynchs Global Wealth

Investment Management GWIM busine.ss BlackRocks

ability to maintain strong relationship within GWIM is material

to the Companys future performance If one of the Companys

competitors gains significant additional market share within

the GWIM retail channel at the expense of BlackRock then

BlackRocks business results of operations or financial condi

tion may be negatively impacted

The failure of Barclays to fulfill its commitments or

the inadequacy of the support provided under certain

capital support agreements in favor of number of cash

management funds acquired In the BGI Transaction

could negatively impact such funds and BlackRock

Barclays has provided capital support agreements through

December 2D1 or until certaii criteria are met to support

certain cash management products which were acquired by

BlackRock in the BGI Transaction The failure of Barclays to

fulfill its obligations under these agreements or the inadequacy

of the support provided could cause our clients to suffer losses

and BlackRock to suffer reputational and other adverse impacts

For discussion on the capital support agreements see

Management Discussion and Analysis Liquidity
and Capital

Resources Barclays Support of Certain Cash Funds
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PNC and Barclays have each agreed to vote as

stockholders in accordance with the recommendation of

BlackRocks Board of Directors and certain actions will

require special board approval or the prior approval of

Bank of America/Merrill Lynch PNC and Barclays

PNC and Barclays have agreed to vote all of their voting shares in

accordance with the recommendation of BlackRocks Board of

Directors in accordance with the provisions of their respective

stockholder agreements with BlackRock As consequence if

the shares held by PNC and Barclays constitute substantial

portion of the outstanding voting phares matters submitted to

stockholder vote that require majority or plurality
of votes for

approval including elections of directors will have substantial

number of shares voted in accordance with the determinations

of the BlackRock Board of Directors This arrangement has the

effect of concentrating significant block of voting control over

BlackRock in its Board of Directors whether or not stockholders

agree with any particular determination of the Board At December

31 2010 PNC and Barclays owned approximately 25.3% and 2.3%

respectively of BlackRocks voting common stock

large portion of our capital stock is held by small

group of significant shareholders Future sales of our

common stock in the public market by us or our large

stockholders could adversely affect the trading price of

our common stock

As of December31 2010 after giving effect to the dispositions

referred to in the following sentence PNC Barclays and Bank

of America/Merrill Lynch owned 20.3% 19.6% and 71% uf our

capital stock respectively We have entered into registration

rights agreements with PNC Barclays and Bank of America/

Merrill Lynch as well as the institutional investors who pur

chased shares of BlackRock capital stock in connection with

the BGI Transaction and pursuant to such agreements on

November 15 2010 Bank of America/Merrill Lynch and PNC

sold approximately 5B.7 million shares of our capital stock

The registration rights agreements which include customary

piggyback registration provisions may continue to allow

the respective stockholders to cause us to file one or more

registration statements for the resale of their respective shares

of capital stock aqd cooperate in certain underwritten offerings

Sales by us or our large stockholders of substantial number

of shares of our common stock in the public market pursuant

to registration rights or otherwise or the perception that these

sales might occur could cause the market price of our common

stock to decline

Legal and Regulatpry Risks

BlackRock is subject to extensive regulation in the

United States and internationally

BlackRocks business is subject to extensive regulation in the

United States and around the world See the discussion under

the heading Business Regulation Violation of applicable

laws or regulations could result in fines temporary or permanent

prohibition of the engagement in certain activities reputational

harm suspensions of personnel or revocation of their licenses

suspension or termination of investment adviser or broker dealer

registrations or other sanctions which could have material

adverse effect on BlackRocks reputation business results of

operations or financial condition and cause the Companys

earnings or stock price to decline

BlackRock may be adversely impacted by legal

and regulatory changes in the United States and

internationally

On July 21 2010 the Dodd Frank Wall Street Reform and

Consumer Protection Act the DFA was signed into law in

the United States The DFA is expansive in scope and requires

the adoption of extensive regulations and numerous regulatory

decisions in order to be implemented The adoption of these

regulations and decisions will in large measure determine the

impact of the DFA on BlackRock

The DFA and its regulations and other new laws or regulations

or changes in enforcement of existing laws or regulations

could adversely impact the scope or profitability of BlackRocks

business activities could require BlackRock to change certain

business practices and could expose BlackRock to additional

costs including compliance and tax costs and liabilities as well

as reputational harm Regulatory changes could also lead to

business disruptions could adversely impact the value of assets

in which BlackRock has invested on behalf of clients and/or

via seed or cc investments and to the extent the regulations

strictly
control the activities of financial services firms could

make it more difficult for BlackRock to conduct certain business

activities or distinguish itself from competitors

Failure to comply with the Advisers Act and the

Investment Company Act and related regulations could

result in substantial harm to BlackRocks reputation and

results of operations

Certain BlackRock subsidiaries are registered with the

Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC under the

Advisers Act and BlackRocks U.S mutual funds and exchange

traded funds are registered with the SEC under the Investment

Company Act The Advisers Act imposes numerous obligations

and fiduciary duties on registered investment advisers including

record-keeping operating and marketing requirements disclo

sure obligations and prohibitions on fraudulent activities The

Investment Company Act imposes similarobligations as well

as additional detailed operational requirements on investment

advisers to registered investment companies The failure of any

of BlackRocks subsidiaries to comply with the Advisers Act or

the Investment Company Act could cause the SEC to institute

proceedings and impose sanctions for violations of either of

these acts including censure termination of an investment

advisers registration or prohibition to serve as adviser to SEC

registered funds and could lead to litigation by investors in

those funds or harm to the Companys reputation any of which

could cause its earnings or stock price to decline

Failure to comply with ERISA regulations could result in

penalties and cause the Companys earnings or stock

price to decline

Certain BlackRock subsidiaries are subject to Employee

Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 as amended ERISA
and to regulations promulgated thereunder insofar as they

act as fiduciary under ERISA with respect to benefit plan

clients ERISA and applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue

Code impose duties on persons who are fiduciaries under

ERISA prohibit specified transactions involving ERISA plan

clients and provide monetary penalties for violations of these

prohibitions The failure of any of the relevant subsidiaries to

comply with these requirements could result in significant

penalties that could reduce the Companys earnings or cause

its stock price to decline
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BlackRock is subject to banking regulations that may
limit its business activities

Because the total equity ownership interest of each of Bank

of America and PNC in BlackRock exceeds or until recently

exceeded certain thresholds BlackRock is deemed to be non

bank subsidiary of each of Bank of America and PNC which

are both financial holding companies under the Bank Holding

Company Act of 1956 as amended As non bank subsidiary

of each of Bank of America and PNC BlackRock is subject to

banking regulation including the supervision and regulation

of the Federal Reserve Such banking regulation limits the

activities and the types of businesses that BlackRck may

conduct The Federal Reserve has broad enforcement authority

over BlackRock including the power to prohibit BlackRock

from conducting any activity that in the Federal Reserves

opinion is unauthorized or constitutes an unsafe or unsound

practice in conducting BlackRocks business and to impose

substantial fines and other penalties for violations Any failure

of either Bank of America or FNC.to maintain its status as

financial holding company could result in substantial limitations

on certain BlackRock activities and its growth In addition

BlackRocks trust bank subsidiary is subject to regulation by

the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency 0CC which

is similar in many respects to that imposed under the Advisers

Act and the Investment Company Act as described above and

to
capital requirements established by the 0CC The 0CC has

broad enforcement authority over BlackRocks trust bank sub

sidiary Being subject to banking regulation may put BlackRock

at competitive disadvantage because most of its competitors

are not subject to these limitations

Failure to comply with laws and regulations in the

United Kingdom7 other member states of the European

Union Hong Kong Japan Australia and other non-U.S

jurisdictions in which BlackRock operates could result in

substantial harm to BlackRocks reputation and results

of operations

The Financial Services Authority the FSA regulates

BlackRocks subsidiaries in the United Kingdom Authorization

by the FSA is required to conduct any financial services related

business in the United Kingdom under the Financial Services

and Markets Act 2000 The FSAs rules govern firms
capital

resources requirements senior management arrangements

conduct of business interaction with clients and systems and

controls Breaches of these rules may result in wide range

of disciplinary actions against the Companys U.K-regulated

subsidiaries

In addition these subsidiaries and other European subsidiaries

branches or representative offices must comply with the

pan European regime established by the Markets in Financial

Instruments Directive which regulates the provision of invest

ment services throughout the European Economic Area as

well as the Capital Requirements Directive which delineates

regulatory capital requirements As discussed under Business-

Regulation in the aftermath of the financial crisis the European

Commission set out detailed plan to complete the EUs financial

reform outlining number of initiatives to be reflected in new

or updated directives regulations and recommendations

There are changes proposed by the Alternative Investment

Fund Managers Directive to be implemented by the summer

of 2013 and UCITS IV which is required to be adopted in the

national law of each EU member state by July 2011 There are

also European Commission consultations in process regarding

certain insurance wrap products referred to in the United

Kingdom as packaged retail investment products covering

pre-contractual information to be provided with respect to such

products and UCITS which addresses among other items

custodial
liability

In the United Kingdom the Bribery Act 2010

was to be implemented in April 2011 but has been put on hold

while the U.K government rewrites guidance for businesses on

how to comply with its provisions When in force it is likely to

impose additional procedures on the Companys U.K-regulated

subsidiaries In addition retail
distribution

review initiated by

th FSA is expected to change how investment advice is paid

for in the United Kingdom for all investment products Final

retail distribution rules are expected in early 2011 with

implementation to occur by the end of 2012

In Japan certain BlackRock subsidiaries are subject to the

Financial Instruments and Exchange Law the FIEL and

the Law Concerning Investment Trusts and Investment

Corporations These laws are administered and enforced by

the Japanese Financial Services Agency the JFSA which es

tablishes standards for compliance including capital adequacy

and financial soundness requirements customer protection

requirements and conduct of business rules The JFSA is em

powered to conduct administrative proceedings that can result

in censure fines the issuance of cease and desist orders or

the suspension or revocation of registrations and licenses

granted under the FIEL

In Australia BlackRocks subsidiaries are subject to various

Australian fedeFal and state laws and certain subsidiaries

are regulated by the Australian Securities and Investments

Commission the ASIC and the Australian Prudential

Regulation Authority The ASIC regulates companies and

financial services in Australia and is responsible for promoting

investor creditor and consumer jxotection Failure to comply

with applicable law and regulations could result in the cancel

lation suspension or variation Of the relevant subsidiaries

licenses in Australia

The activitiec nf certain BlacklRnrk subsidiariec in Hnng Knng

are subject to the Securities and Futures Ordinance the SF0
which governs the securities and futures markets and the

non bank retail leveraged foreign exchange market in Hong

Kong The SF0 is administered by the Securities and Futures

Commission the SFCan independent non governmental

body The relevant subsidiaries and certain individuals repre

senting them which conduct business in any of the regulated

activities specified in the SF0 are generally required to be reg

istered or licensed with the SFC and are sGbject to the rules

codes and guidelines issued by the SFC from time to time

There are similar
legal

and regulatory arrangements in force in

many other non-U.S jurisdictions where BlackRocks subsidiar

ies conduct business or where the funds and products it man

ages are organized Failure to comply with laws and regulations

in any of these jurisdictions could result in substantial harm to

BlackRocks reputation and results of operation

Legal proceedings could adversely affect operating

results and financial condition for particular period

Many aspects of BlackRocks business involve substantial risks

of legal liability The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have

been rldrrled as defendants in variuus legal autiuns inuluding

arbitrations class actions and other litigation arising in connec

tion with BlackRocks activitiesç From time to time BlackRock

receives subpoenas or other rquests for information from

various U.S and non U.S governmental and regulatory authori

ties in connection with certain industry wide company specific

or other investigations or proceedings Additionally certain of

the investment funds that the Company manages are subject

to lawsuits any of which could potentially harm the investment

returns of the applicable fund or result in the Company being

liable to the funds for any resulting damages
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Forward-looking Statements

This report and other statements that BlaokRook may make

may oontain forward looking statements within the meaning

of the Private Seourities
Litigation

Reform Aot with respeot to

BlaokRooks future finanoial or business performanoe strate

gies or expeotations Forward-looking statements are typioally

identified by words or phrases suoh as trend potential

opportunity pipeline believe comfortable expeot

antioipate ourrent intention estimate position

assume outlook oontinue rremain maintain

sustain seek aohieve anddmilar expressions orfuture

or oonditional verbs suoh as will would should oould

may or similarexpressions

BlaokRook oautions that forward looking statements are subjeot

to numerous assumptions risks and unoertainties whioh

ohange overtime Forward-looking statements speak only as

of the date they are made and BlaokRook assumes no duty to

and does not undertake to update forward-looking statements

Aotual results oould differ materially from those antioipated

in forward-looking statements and future results could differ

materially from historioal performanoe

In addition to risk faotors previously disclosed in BlackRocks

Seourities and Exohange Commission reports and those identi

fied elsewhere in this report the following faotors among others

oould oause actual results to differ materially from forward look

ing
statements or historioal performanoe the introduotion

withdrawal suooess and timing of business initiatives and strate

gies ohanges and volatility in political eoonomio or industry

conditions the interest rate environment foreign exohange rates

orfinanoial and
capital markets whioh could result in ohanges

in demand for produots or servioes or in the value of assets

under management the relative and absolute investment

performanoe of BlaokRooks investment produots the impaot

of inoreased oompetition the impaot of
oapital improvement

projeots the impaot of future acquisitions or divestitures

the unfavorable resolution of
legal prooeedings the extent

and timing of any share repurchases the impaot extent and

timing of technologioal ohanges and the adequaoy of intelleotual

property proteotion 10 the impaot of
legislative

and regulatory

aotions and reforms including Dodd-Frank Wall Street

Reform and Consumer Proteotion Aot and regulatory supervi

sory or enforoement aotions of government agenoies relating
to

BlaokRook Barolays Bank PLC Bank of Amerioa Corporation

Merrill Lynoh Co Inc or The PNC Finanoial Services Group

Ino 11 terrorist aotivities international hostilities and natural

disasters whioh may adversely affeot the general eoonomy

domestio and local financial and
oapital markets specifio

industries or BlaokRook 12 the
ability

to attract and retain

highly talented professionals 13 fluctuations in the carrying

value of BlackRocks economic investments 14 the impact of

changes to tax
legislation and generally the tax position of the

Company 15 BlaokRooks success in maintaining the distribu

tion of its products 16 the impact of BlackRock electing to

provide support to its products from time to time 17 the im

pact of problems at other financial institutions or the failure or

negative performance of products at other financial institutions

and 18 the ability of BlackRock to complete the integration of

the operations of Barclays Global Investors
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Reports on ConsoLidated FinanciaL Statements

Managements Report on Internal Control

Over Financial Reporting

Management of BlackRock Inc the Company is responsible

for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over

financial repurting Internal uuntrol over finonuial reporting is

defined in Rules 13a 15f and 15d 15f under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended as process designed by

or under the supervision of the Companys principal executive

and principal financial officers or persons performing similar

functions and affected by the Companys board of directors

management and other personnel to provide reasonable as

surance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in

the United States of America and includes those policies and

procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable

detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the Company

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded

as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in

the United States of America and that receipts and expen

ditures of the Company are being made only in accordance

with the authorizations of management and directors of the

Company and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely

detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of

the Companys assets that could have material effect on

the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over

financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance with

respeut to financial statenient prepardtiun ond pieseiitatiun

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of the inter

nal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject

to the risks that controls may become inadequate because of

changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with

the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2010 In making this assessment management used the

criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Cpmmission in Internal ControlIntegrated

Framework Based on this assessment management concluded

that as of December 31 2010 the Companys internal control

over financial reporting is effective

The Companys independent registered public accounting firm

has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of the

Companys internal control over financial teporting

February 2B 2011
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Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Direotors and Stookholders of BlaokRock Inc

We have audited the internal oontrol over finanoial reporting

of BlaokRook mo and subsidiaries the Company as of

Deoember 31 2010 based on driteria established in Infernal

Confro lntegrafedFramework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission The

Companys management is responsible for maintaining effeotive

internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment

of the effectiveness of internal control overfinancial reporting

included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal

Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express

an opinion on the Companys.internal control over financial

reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal

control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of

infernal contrnl nver financial repnrting ascecsing the risk that

material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design

and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the

assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we

considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our

audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process

designed by or under the supervision of the companys principal

executive and
principal

financial officers or persons performing

similar functions and effected by the companys board of direc

tors management and other personnel to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the
reliability

of financial reporting and the

preparation of finnciaI statemnts for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

companys internal control over financial reporting includes

those policies and procedures that pertain to the mainte

nance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and
fairly

reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company provide reasonable assurance thqt transactions

are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company

are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the company and provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection

of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the

financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over

financial reporting including the
possibility

of collusion or

improper management override of controls material misstate

ments due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected

on timely basis Also projections of any evaluation of the

effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting tofu

ture periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree

of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material

respects effective internal control over rinancial reporting as of

December31 2010 based on the criteria established in Internal

Confrol Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States the consolidated statement of financial condition as of

December 31 2010 and the related consolidated statements

of income comprehensive income changes in equity and cash

flows for the year then ended of the Company and our report

dated February 2B 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on

those consolidated financial statements

New York New York

February 2B 2011

86 BLAcKROcK



Report of Independent Registered

Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of BlackRock Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements

of financial condition of BlackRock Inc and subsidiaries the

Company as of December31 2010 and 2009 and the

related consolidated statements of income comprehensive

income changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three

years in the period ended December31 2010 These financial

statements are the responsibility of the Companys manage

ment Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial

statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit

includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit

also includes assessing the accounting principles used and sig

nificant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our

audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements pres

ent fairly
in all material respects the financial position of

BlackRock Inc and subsidiaries at December31 2010 and

2009 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended December31 2010

in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in

the United States of America

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of

December31 2010 based on criteria established in Infernal

Confrol lntegra fed Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadwayommission and our

report dated February 28 2011 expressed an unqualified opin

ion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting

New York New York

February2B2011

87 BLAcKSOcK



88 BLAKROK

ConsoLidated Statements of FinanciaL Condition

Do//ar amounts/n m////ons except per share data 2010

December31

2009

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $3367 $4708

Accounts receivable 2095 1718

Due from related parties 150 189

Investments 1540 1049

Assets of consolidated variable intrest entities

Cash and cash equivalents 93

Bank loans and other investments 1312

Separate account assets 121137 119629

Collateral held under securities lending agreements 17638 19335

Deferred sales commissions net 66 03

Property and equipment net of accumulated depreciation of

$476 and $303 at December 31 7010 and 7009 respectively 428 443

Intangible assets net of accumulated amortization of $61 and $466

at December31 2010 and 2009 respectively 17512 7666

Goodwill 12805 12680

Gther assets 316 604

Total assets $178459 $178124

Liabilities

Accrued compensation and benefits $1520 $1482

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1068 840

Due to related parties 57 505

Short term borrowings 100 2234

Liabilities of consdlidated variable interest entities

Borrowings 1278

Gther liabilities

Convertible debentures 67 243

Long term borrowings 3192 3191

Separate account liabilities 121137 119629

Collateral liability under securities lending agreements 17638 19335

Deferred income tax liabilities 5477 5571

Dther liabilities 584 492

Total liabilities 152125 153522

Commitments and contingencies Note 14
Temporary equity

Redeemable non controlling interests 49

Permanent eqyity

BlackRock Inc stockholders equity

Common stock $0.01 par value

Shares authorized 500000000 at December31 2010 and 2009

Shares issued 131923624 and 62776777 at December31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Shares outstanding 13121 6561 and 61896236 at December31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Series non-voting participating preferred stock $0.01 par value

Shares authorized 150000000 at December 31 2010 and 2009 Shares issued and

outstanding 571 O8553 and 112817151 at December31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Series non voting participating preferred stock $0.01 par value

Shares authorized 6000000 at December31 2010 and 2009 Shares issued and

outstanding 2866439 and 2889467 at December31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Series non-voting participating preferred stock $0.01 par value

Shares authorized 20000000 at December31 2010 and 2009 Shares issued and

outstanding and 11203442 at December31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Additional paid in
capital 22502 22127

Retained earnings 3723 2436

Appropriated retained earnings 75

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 96 96
Escrow shares common at cost 3603 and 868940 shares held at

December31 2010 and 2009 respectively 137
Treasury stock common at cost 703460 and 11601 shares held at

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively 111

Total BlackRock Inc stockholders equity 26094 24329

Nonredeemable non-controlling interests 189 224

Nonredeemable non controlling interests of consolidated variable interest entities 45

Total permanent equity 26328 24553

Total liabilities temporary equity ard permanent equity $178459 $178124

See accompanying notes to consetidated Cnanciat ntatements



ConsoLidated Statements of Income

Dollar amounts in millions except per share data 2010

Year ended December31

2009 2008

Revenue

Investment advisorM administration fees and securities lending revenue

Related parties $4893 $2616 $2962

Other third parties 2397 1210 1295

Total investment advisorM administraticn fees and securities lending revenue 7290 3826 4257

Investment advisory pertormance fees 540 202 II

B/ac/cRock SD/u fions and advisory 460 477 393

Distributicn fees 116 100 139

Other revenue 206 95 98

Total revenue 8612 4700 5064

Expenses

tmployee compensation and benefits 3097 1802 181

Distribution and servicing costs

Related parties 226 368 495

Other third parties 182 109 96

Amortization of deferred sales commissions 102 100 130

Direct fund expenses 493 95 86

Oeneral and administration 1354 779 665

Restructuring charges 22 38

Amortization of intangible assets 160 147 146

Total expenses 5614 3422 3471

Operating income 2998 1278 1593

Non-operating income expense
Net gain loss on investments 179 42 573
Net gain loss on consolidated variable interest entitles 35
Interest and dividend income 29 20 65

Interest expense

Total non-operating income expense

150 68 69

23 577

liiuume befure inuune taxes 3021 1272 1016

Income tax expense 971 375 387

Net income 2050 897 629

Less

Net income loss attributable to redeemable non controlling interests

Net income loss attributable to nonredeemable

non-controlling interests 16 20 154

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc $2063 $875 $784

Earnings per share attributable to BlackRock Inc

common stockholders

Basic $10.67 $6.24 $5.86

Diluted $10.55 $6.1 $5.78

Cash dividends declared and paid per share $4.00 $3.12 $3.12

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic 190554510 136669164 29543443

Diluted 192692047 139481449 131376517

ConsoLidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

e9 BLACKROCK

Dollar amounts in millions 2010

Year ended December31

2009 2008

Net income $2050 $897 $629

Other comprehensive income

Change in net unrealized gains losses

from available for sale investments net of tax

Unrealized holding gains losses net of tax 14
Less reclassification adjustment included in net income 19

Net change from available for sale investments net of tax11 15 19
Minimum pension liability adjustment

Foreign currency translation adjustments 74 237

Comprehensive income 2050 987 372

Less Comprehensive income loss attributable to non controlling interests 13 22 155

Comprehensive income attributable to BlackRock Inc $2063

rhe lax benefit expense on snrealized fin/ding gains losses was $4 $e and se in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

965 527

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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114 114 49 49 114

2063 2063 19 35 2047

39 39

776

136 136 136

444 445 445

10 10 10

128 128

202 93 109

140 140

54 66 12

44

14 124

170

ConsoLidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Non

Corn add odooonatlo Todnomoh

Bthoo Non Non Noi

Common Total rodoomadlo coil 01

lOT
cooloolliog

Addiliona Alyroy ialod hono vo horoo Trooouiv Stock Non olorooto ol Total olooooto/

Paid in To rod Tolainod locomo Hold in Stock Holdois conloolling Poinanon Tompooany

Dollar amounts in millions Eaoninys coo no ow Common Equity lolninJo TlEo Eqoity Equity

December31 2007 $10287 $1615 $71 $1 88 $184 $11601 $549 $12150 $29

NeT income 784 784 54 630

Dividends paid net oT dividend

expense Tor unvesTed RSUs 417
Releane of common stock from

417 41

eocrom agent in connection

with Osellos Transaction 45 45 45

Stock based compensation 278 279 279

PNC capital contnbution

Net i050ance of common shares related

to employee stock trsnsactions 140 125 15 15
Net tax benefit shorttall from

stock based compensation 55 55

Minimum pension liability sdjostment

Subocriptions/redemptions/diotributions

non contnolling interest holders 36 36 243
Net consolidations deconsolidations of

sponsored investment funds 203 203 481

Other change in non controlling
interests

Foreign currency
translation adjustments 10 237 247 247

Chsnge in net unrealized gain loss from

available tor sale investments net of tom 19 19 19

December31 2008 $10474 $1982 $1 86 $143 $58 $1 2069 $225 $1 2294 $266

Net income 875 875 20 895

Dividends paid net of dividend expense

for unvested RSU5 421 421 421
Release of common stocktrom escrow agent

in connection with Ouellos Transaction

Stock booed compensation 31o 317 317

losoance of shares to Barclays 8529 8529 8529

Isosance of shares to institotional investors 2800 2800 2800

Issoance of common shares for

contingent consideration 43 43 43

PNC capital contdbution

MernIl capital
contribotion 25 25 25

Net is050nce of common shares related.to

employee stock tranoactiono 78 54 24 24
Net tam benetit shortfall from stock based

compenoation 14 14

Minimum pension liability adustment

Sobscriptiono/redemptions/distribotiono

non controlling interest holders 247
Net consolidations deconsolidationo of

sponsored investment fundsii 28

Other change in non controlling intereyth

Foreign corrency trarqolation adjootments 74 74 74

Change in net unrealized gain Ions from

available for sale investments net of tas

$22129 $2436

15 15 15

$96 $137 $3 $24329 $224 $24553 $49

776

December31 2009

iansary 2010 initial recognition
of

ASU 2009 17

Net income

Allocation of losses ot consolidated

collateralized loan obligations

Dividends paid net of dividend

expense for snvesteffRSUs

Release of common stock trom

escrow agent in connection

with Ouellos Transaction

Stock based compensation

PNC LTIP capital contdbution

Merrill Lynch capital contdbut ion

Exchange ot common stock for

preferred nhares sedes

Net isssance of common shares related

to employee otock transactions

Other stock repurchases

Convertible debt conversions net of tax

Net tax benefit
shortfall

from stocrtbaned

compensation

Minimom pension liability adjuotment

Subscriptiono/redemptions/distributions

non controlling interest holders

Net consolidations deconsolidations of

sponsored investment funds

Other changes in non controlling intenests

Foreign cunrency translation adjustments

Change in net anrealized gains losses from

available for sale investments net of tax

39

776

44

109

140
12

44

December 31 2010 $22504 $3723 $75 $96 $1 $111 $26094 $189 $45 $26328 $6

Imc/udau $0 stcswwsn unsxk an Dezewber 3f 2000 2009 and 2008 reupechvety and Sn ntprnterred utsxk an Oexewbnr3l 2000 and 2009 wapezsveuy

anzauden $02 ntredeawabte nun xnnnrn/hng wtnrcsna azqsuredun the goa rransazhnn nn Oexewber 2009

See axznwpanying nnneu on xsnsnhdatad hnanzial ananewennz



Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash

from operating activities

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of deferred sales commissions

Other adjustments

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable

Due from related parties

Deferred sales commissions

Investments trading

Other assets

Accrued compensation and benefits

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Due to related parties

Othr liabilities

45
35

44

141
14

364
45

65
118

236

52

164

356

30
18

223
59

68
53
50

Z18
65

10

236

130

278

234
216

127

342

294

28

13

339

112
90
265

115

237
227

ConsoLidated Statements of Cash FLows

Year ended December31

OolIar amounts in millions
2010 2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities

$629$2050 $897

310 239

102 100

445 317

89
62 20
26 41

54 285

Stock based compensation

Deferred income tax expense benefit

Net gains losses on non-trading investments

Purchases of investments within consolidated funds

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments

within consolidated funds

Assets and liabilities of consolidated VIEs

Change in cash and cash equivalents

Net gains losses within consolidated VIEs

Net purchases/proceeds within consolidated VI Es

Earnings losses from equity method investees

Distributions of earnings from equity method investees

112 18 51

Cash flowsfrom operatingactivities 2488 1399 1916

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of investments 656 73 41

Purchases of assets held for sale 59
Proceeds from sale of disposal group 41

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 181 260 122

Distributions of
capital

from equity method investees 53 89

Net consolidations deconsolidations of

sponsored investment funds 52 27

Acquisitions net of cash acquired and contingent payments 23 5755
Purchases of property and equipment 131 65 77

Cash flows from investing activities 627 5519 394

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayments of short-term borrowings 2134 400
Proceeds from short term borrowings 2034 300

Repayments of long term borrowings

Repayments of convertible debt 176
Proceeds from long term borrowings 2495

Cash dividends paid 776 422 419
Proceeds from stock options exercised 10 18 24

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 2804

Repurchases of common stock 264 46 46
Merrill Lynch capital contribution 10 25

Net redemptions/distributions paid/subscriptions

received from non controlling interests holders 110 55 207
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 44 33 59

Net borrowings/repayment of borrowings

by consolidated sponsored investment funds 70 203

Cash flows from financing activities 3170 6749 887

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 32 47 259

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1341 2676 376

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 4708 2032 1656

Cash and cash equivalents end of year $3367 $4708 $2032

Sen accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information is as follows

OoIIar amounts in millions
2010

Year ended December31

2009 2008

Cash paid for

Interest $146 $52 $63

Interest on borrowings of consolidated VIEs $53

Income taxes $583 $503 $644

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing transactions is as follows

Dollaramounls in millions 2010

Year ended December31

2009 2008

Issuance of common stock $266 $767 $136

Issuance of preferred stock $7842

Increase decrease in non controlling interests

due to net consolidation/deconsolidation of

sponsored investment funds $170 $7 $280

Contingent common stock payment related to

Quellos transaction $43

Increase decrease in borrowings due to consolidation of VIEs $1157
Common stock released from escrow agent

in connection with Quellos transaction $136 $6 $45

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statemeets

92 BLACKSOcK



Notes to the ConsoLidated FinanciaL Statements

December 31 2010

O1INTRODUCTION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Business

BlackRock Inc together with its subsidiaries unless the

context otherwise indicates BlackRock or the Company

provides diversified investment management to institutional

clients intermediary and individual investors through various

investment vehicles Investment management services

primarily consist of the management of equity fixed income

multi asset class alternative investment and cash management

products BlackRock offers its investment products in variety

of vehicles including open end and closed-end mutual funds

iSharesC exchange traded funds PIEs collective investment

trusts and separate accounts In addition BlackRock provides

market risk management financial markets advisory and en

terprise investment system services to broad base of clients

Financial markets advisory services include valuation services

relating to illiquid securities dispositions and workout assign

ments including long term portfolio liquidation assignments

risk management and strategic planning and execution

On January 2009 Bank of America Corporation Bank of

America acquired Merrill Lynch Co Inc Merrill Lynch
In connection with this transaction BlackRock entered into

exchange agreements with each of Merrill Lynch and The PNC

Financial Services Group Inc PNC pursuant to which on

February 27 2009 Merrill Lynch and PNC each exchanged

portion of its BlackRock common stock it held for an equal

number of shares of non voting preferred stock See Note 19

Capital Stock for more details on these transactions

On December 2009 BlackRock completed its acquisition

of Barclays Global Investors BOI from Barclays Bank PLC

Barclays the BOl Transaction In exchange for BOl

BlackRock paid approximately $6.65 billion in cash and issued

capital stock valued at $B.53 billion comprised of 3031516

shares of BlackRock common stock and 34535.255 shares of

BlackRock Series and non voting participating preferred

stock See Note Mergers and Acquisitions for more details

on this transaction

On November 15 2010 Bank of America and PNC sold

5B7371 22 shares of BlackRocks common stock which

included 56407040 shares of common stock that converted

from non-voting preferred stock In connection with this trans

action BlackRock entered into an xchange agreement with

PNC pursuant to which PNC agreed to exchange 11105000

shares of BlackRock non voting preferred stock they held for

common stock

On December 31 2010 equity ownership of BlackRock was as

follows

Voting

common stock Capital stock1

PNC 25.3% 20.3%

Barclays 2.3% 19.6%

Bank of America/Merrill Lynch 0.0% 7.1%

Other 72.4% 53.0%

100.0% 100.0%

Includes sststanding csmmsn and nun vsling preferred stuck enly

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared

in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States OAAP and include the accounts of

the Company and its controlled subsidiaries N9n controlling

interests on the consolidated statements of financial condition

include the portion of consolidated sponsored investment funds

in which the Company does not have direct equity ownership

Significant accounts and transactions between consolidated

entities have been eliminated

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with

OAAP requires management to make estimates and assump

tions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities

and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of

the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues

and expenses during the reporting periods Actual results could

differ from those estimates

Reclassifications

Certain items previously reported have been reclassified to

conform to the current year presentation
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02/SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cost Method

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consists of cash money
For equity investments where BlackRock neither controls

market tunds and short term highly liquid investments with nor has significant influence over the investee and which are

original maturities at date of purchase of three months or less non marketable the investments are accounted for using the

in which the Company is exposed to market and credit risk cost method of accounting Under the cost method dividends

Cash and cash equivalent balances that are legally restricted received from the investment are recorded as dividend income

from use by the Company are reborded in other assets on the within non operating income expense

consolidated statements of finaiicial condition Cash balances

maintained by consolidated sponsored investment funds are Impairments

not considered legally
restricted and are included in cash and The Companys management periodically assesses its equity

cash equivalents on the consolidated statements of financial method available for sale and cost method of accounting

condition Effective January 2010 cash balances maintained investments for impairment If circumstances indicate that

by consolidated variable interest entities are included in assets impairment may exist investments are evaluated using fair

of consolidated variable interest entities on the consolidated values where available or the expected future cash flows of

statements of financial condition the investment If the discounted expected future cash flows

are lower than the Companys carrying value of the investment

an impairment charge is recorded in non-operating income
Investments

expense on the consolidated statements of income

Investments in Debt and Marketable When the fair value of available for sale securities is

Equity Securities lower than its cost the Company evaluates the securities

to determine whether the impairment is considered to be

BlackRock holds debt and marketable equity investments
other than temporary

which pursuant to Accounting Standards Codification ASC
320-1 Investments Debt and EquitySecurities are classified In making this determination for equity securities the Company

as trading available-for sale or held to maturity based on the considers among other factors the length of time the security

Companys intent to sell the security or for debt security the has been in loss position the extent to which the securitys

Companys intent and ability to hold the debt security to maturity
market value id less than its cost the financial condition and

near term prospects of the securitys issuer and the Companys
Trading securities are those investments that are purchased

ability and intent to hold the security for length of time suf

principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term
ficient to allow for recovery of such unrealized losses If the

Trading securities are carried at fair value on the consolidated

impairment is considered other than temporary an impairment
statements of financial condition with changes in fair value re-

charge is recorded in non operating income expense on the

corded in non-operating income expense on the consolidated
consolidated statements of income

statements of income during the period of the change
In making this determination for debt securities the Company

Available for sale securities are those securities that are not
considers whether the Company has the intent to sell the

classified as trading or held to maturity securities Available
security it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell

for sale securities are carried at fair value on the consolidated
the security before recovery or the Company does not expect

statements of financial condition with changes in fair value
to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security If the

recorded in the accumulated other comprehensive income
Company does not intend to sell security and it is not more

component of stockholders equity in the period of the change
likely than not that it will be required to sell the security but the

Upon the disposition of an available for sale security the
security has suffered credit loss the credit loss will be bifur

Company reclassifies the gain or loss on the security from
cated from the total impairment and recorded in earnings with

accumulated other comprehensive income to non operating the remaining portion recorded in other comprehensive income

income expense on the Companys consolidated statements

of income

Consolidation
Held to-maturity de6t securities are recorded at amortized cost

on the consolidated statements of financial condition
The accounting method used for the Companys equity

investments is dependent upon the influence the Company has

Equity Method over its investee the irrvestrrierit product To the extent that

BlackRock can exert control over the financial and operating
For equity investments where BlackRock does not control

policies of the investee which generally exists if there is 50%
the investee and where it is not the primary beneficiary of

or greater voting interest or if partners or members of certain

variable interest entity VIE but can exert significant influ

products do not have substantive rights the investee is

ence over the financial and operating policies of the investee
consolidated into BlackRocks financial statements

the Company follows the equity method of accounting in

accordance with ASC 323 Investments EqoifyMethodandJoint
For investment products in which BlackRocks voting interest

Ventures Under the equity method of accounting BlackRocks
is less than 50% an analysis is performed to determine if the

share of the investees underlying net income or loss on
investment product is variable interest entity VIE or voting

investment funds is recorded as net gain loss on investments rights entity Upon the determination that the investment prod

within non operating income expense and as other revenue
oct is VIE further analysis as discussed below is performed to

for operating advisory company investments since such
determine if BlackRock is the primary beneficiary PB of the

companies are considered to be an extension of BlackRocks
investment product which would result in consolidation

core business The net income of the investee is recorded

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
based upon the most current information available at the time

which may precede the date of the statement of financial condi- Pursuant to ASC 810-10 Consolidation ASC 810 10 certain

tion Distributions received from the investment reduce the investment products for which the risks and rewards of owner

Companys investment balance ship are not
directly

linked to voting interests may be deemed
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VIEs BlackRock reviews factors including the rights of the

equity holders and obligations of equity holders to absorb

losses or receive expected residual returns to determine if the

investment product is VIE BlackRock is required to consoli

date VIE when it is deemed to be the PB which is evaluated

continuously as facts and circumstances change

In June 2009 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update

ASU 2009 17 Improvements to Financial Reporting by

Enterprises Involved with Variable mterest Entities ASU 2009

17 which became effective for BlackRock on January 2010

In February 2U1 the EASB issued ASU 201 10 Amendments

to Statement 767 for Certain Investment Funds ASU 2010-1

This ASU defers the application of Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards SPAS No 167 SFAS No 167
Amendments to FASB Interpretation No 46R to reporting

enterprises interest in VIEs if certain conditions are met See

Accounting Policies Adopted in the Year Ended December31

2010 below for more information

The PB of VIE that does not meet the conditions of ASU 2010

10 is the enterprise that has the power to direct activities of the

entity that most significantly impact the entitys economic per

formance and has the obligation to absorb losses or the right to

receive benefits that potentially could be significant to the VIE

The PB of VIE that meets the conditions of ASU 2010 10 is the

enterprise that has variable interest or combination of variable

interests including those of related parties that will absorb

majority of the entitys expected losses receive majority of

the entitys expected residual returns or both

Consolidation of Voting Rights Entities

To the extent that BlackRock maintains 50% or greater voting

interest of investment product BlaokRnck Ic deemed to have

control of the product which results in consolidation of the

product into BlackEocks financial statements

The Company as general partner or managing member of

certain sponsored investment funds generally is presumed to

control funds that are limited partnerships or limited liability

companies Pursuant to ASC 810 20 Control of Partnerships

and Similar Entities ASC 810 20 the Company reviews such

investment vehicles to determine if such presumption can

be overcome by determining if other non affiliated partners

or members of the limited partnership or limited
liability

company have the substantive ability to dissolve liquidate the

investment vehicle or otherwise to remove BlackRock as the

general partner or managing member without cause based on

simple unaffiliated majority vote or have other substantive

participating rights If the investment vehicle is not VIE and the

presumption of control is not overcome the investment vehicle

will be consolidated into BlackRocks financial statements

From time to time the Company will maintain controlling

interest in sponsored investment fund All of the underlying

investments held by consolidated sponsored investment funds

are carried at fair value with corresponding changes in the

investments fair values reflected in non operating income

expense on the Companys consolidated statements of

income In the absence of publicly available market value the

fair value for such underlying investments is estimated in good

faith by the Companys management based on such factors

as the
liquidity

financial condition and current and projected

operating performance of the investment and in the case of

private investment fund investments the funds net asset value

When the Company no longer controls these funds due to

reduced ownership percentage or other reasons the funds are

deconsolidated and accounted for under another investment

accounting method In addition changes in fair value of certain

illiquid investments held by these funds including direct invest

ments in equity or debt securities of privately held companies

and certain real estate products are recorded based upon

the most current information available at the time which may

precede the date of the statement of financial condition

Upon consolidation of various sponsored investment funds on

the Companys consolidated statements of financial condition

the Company retains the specialized accounting principles of

the underlying funds pursuant to ASC 810 10

Separate Account Assets and Liabilities

Two wholly-owned subsidiaries ot the Company in the United

Kingdom are registered life insurance companies that maintain

separate accounts representing segregated funds held for

purposes of funding individual and group pension contracts and

equal and offsetting separate account non-financial liabilities

The separate account assets are not subject to general claims

of the creditors of BlackRock These accounts and the related

liabilities are recorded as separate account assets and separate

account liabilities on the Companys consolidated statements

of financial condition in accordance with the ASC 944 80

Financial Services Separate Accounts

The net investment income and net realized and unrealized

gains and lossesattributable to separate account assets sup

porting individual and group pension contracts accrue directly

to the contract owner and are not reported as revenue or non

operating income expense on the consolidated statements of

income Policy administration and management fees associated

with separate account products pre included in investment

advisory administration fees and securities lending revenue on

the consolidated statements of ipcome

Collateral Assets Held and Liabilities Under
Securities Lending Agreements

The Company facilitates securitis lending arrangements

whereby securities held by separate account assets maintained

by the life insurance companies are lent to third parties In

exchange the Company receives collateral principally cash and

securities with minimums generally ranging from approximately

102% to 112% of the value of the securities lent in order to

reduce counterparty risk Under the CompQnys securities

lending arrangements the Company can resell or re pledge the

collateral and the borrower can re sell or re pledge the loaned

securities The securities lending transactions entered into by

the Company are accdmpanied by an agreement that entitles

the Company to request the borrower to return the securities at

any time therefore these transactions are not reported as sales

under ASC 860 Transfers and Servicing

As result of the Companys ability to resell or re pledge the

collateral the Company records on its consolidated statements

of financial condition the collateral received under these

arrangements both cash and non-cash as its own asset in

addition to an equal and offsetting collateral
liability

for the

obligation to return the collateral At December31 2010 and

2009 the fair value of loaned securities held by separate ac

count assets was approximately $16.1 billion and $18.0 billion

respectively and the collateral held under these securities lend

ing agreements was approximately $17.6 billion and

$19.3 billion respectively During the years ended December

31 2010 and 2009 the Company had not sold or re-pledged

any of the collateral received under these arrangements

Deferred Sales Commissions

The Company holds the rights to receive certain cash flows

from sponsored mutual funds sold without front-end sales

charge back end load shares The carrying value of these

deferred mutual fund commissions is being amortized over
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periods between one and six years The Company receives

distribution fees from these funds and contingent deferred

sales commissions CDSCs upon shareholder redemption

of certain back-end load shares which are recorded within

distribution fees on the consolidated statements of income

Upon receipt of CDSCs the Company records revenue and the

remaining unamortized deferred sales commission is expensed

The Company periodically reviews the carrying value of deferred

commission assets to determine whether significant decline

in the equity or bond markets or pther events or circumstances

indicate that an impairment in value may have occurred If mdi

cators of potential impairment exist the Company compares

the carrying value of the assetto the estimated future net un

discounted cash flows related to the asset If such assessments

indicate that estimated future net undiscounted cash flows

will not be sufficient to recover the recorded carrying value

the assets are adjusted to their estimated fair value No such

impairments were recorded for the years ended December31

2010 2009 or 2008

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated

depreciation Depreciation generally is redorded using the

straight line method over the estimated useful lives of the

various classes of property and equipment Leasehold improve

ments are amortized.using the straight line method over the

shorter of the estimated useful life or the remaining lease term

Software Costs

BlackRock develops variety of risk management investment

analytic and investment system services for internal use

utilizing proprietary software that is hosted and maintained by

BlackRock The Company follovs ASC 350 40 Internal Use

Software ASC 350 40 ASC 350 40 requires the capitalization

of certain costs incurred in connection with developing or

obtaining software for internal use Capitalized software costs

are included within property and equipment on the consolidated

statements of financial condition and are amortized beginning

when the software project is corhplete and put into production

over the estimated usful life of the software of three years

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess cost of business acquisition

over the fair value of the net assets acquired The value of an

assembled workforce is subsumed in goodwill-as is it not

separable identifiablE intangible asset Intangible assets are

comprised of indefinite lived intangible assets and finite lived

intangible assets The value of contracts to manage assets in

proprietary open-end funds closed-end funds and collective

trust funds without specified termination date is classified as

an indefinite lived intangible asset The assignment of indefinite

lives to such contracts primarily is based upon the following

the assumption that there is no foreseeable limit on the

contract period to manage these funds the Company

expects to and has the ability to continue to operate these

products indefinitely the products have multiple investors and

are not reliant on single investor or small group of investors

for their continued operation current competitive factors and

economic conditions do not indicate finite life and there is

high likelihood of continued renewal based on historical

experience In addition trade names/trademarks are considered

indefinite lived intangibles as they are expected to generate

cash flows indefinitely

In accordance with ASC 350 lnfaogibles Goodwill and Other

ASC 350 indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill are
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not amortized The value of contracts for separately managed

accounts and certain alternative funds which have finite lives

are amortized over the expected life of the contracts

The Company assesses its goodwill indefinite lived manage

ment contracts trade names/trademarks and licenses for

impairment at least annually In its assessment of goodwill

for impairment the Company considers such factors as the

book value and market capitalization of the Company In its

assessment of indefinite-lived management contracts and trade

names/trademarks the Company considers various factors

including assets under management product mix operating

margins tax rates discount rates and projected cash flows to

determine whether the values of each asset are impaired and

whether the indefinite life classification is still appropriate The

fair value of indefinite lived intangible assets is determined

based on the discounted value of expected future cash flows

The feir velue uf finite lived
rrrerregeirrerrt uurrtreuts end their

remaining useful life is reviewed at least annually to determine if

circumstances exist which may indicate potential impairment

In addition if circumstances exist the Company will perform an

impairment test using an undiscounted cash flow analysis If

the asset is determined to be impaired the difference between

the book value of the asset and its current fair value would be

recognized as an expense in the period in which the impairment

is determined

Assets and Liabilities to be Disposed of

by Sale

In the course of the business of establishing real estate and

other alternative investment funds the Company may purchase

land properties and other assets while incurring liabilities

directly associated with the assets together disposal group

with the intention to sell the disposal group to sponsored

investment funds upon their launch In accordance with the

provisions of ASC 360 10 Property Plant and Equipment

the Company treats these assets and liabilities as disposal

group measured at the lower of the carrying amount or fair

value Losses are recognized for any initial or subsequent write-

down to fair value and gains are recognized for any subsequent

increase in fair value but not in excess of the cumulative loss

previously recognized

During the year ended December31 2010 the disposal group

assets were sold and the liabilities were settled At December

31 2009 the Company held disposal group assets of $46 mil

lion which were reported in other assets and related liabilities

of $45 million which were reported in other liabilities on its

consolidated statements of financial condition During the year

ended December31 2009 the Company recorded net loss

of $z million within non-operating income expense on its

consolidated statements of income related to the disposal

group and did not record any adjustments in 2010

Convertible Debt Instruments

In accordance with the provisions within ASC 470 20 Oebt

ASC 470-20 issuers of convertible debt instruments that

may be settled in cash upon conversion should separately

account for the
liability

and equity components in the statement

of financial condition The excess of the initial proceeds of the

convertible debt iristrunient ever the amuurit alloudted to the

liability component creates debt discount which is amortized

as interest expense over the expected life of the liability See

Note 13 Borrowings for further discussion on the Companys

convertible debentures



Non-controlling Interests

According to the requirements within ASC 810-10 the

Company reports non controlling interests as equity separate

from the parents equity on the consolidated statements of

financial condition In addition the Companys consolidated net

income on the consolidated statements of income includes the

income/Uoss attributable to non-controlling interest holders of

the Companys consolidated sponsored investment funds and

collateralized loan obligations CLO5 Income/loss attribut

able to non-controlling interests are not adjusted for income

taxes for consolidated sponsored investment funds and CLOs

that are treated as pass through entities for tax purposes

Classification and Measurement of

Redeemable Securities

The provisions of ASC 480 10 Distinguishing Liabilities from

Equity require temporary equity classification for instruments

that are currently redeemable or oonvertible for cash or other

assets at the option of the holder The Company includes

redeemable non controlling interests related to certain consoli

dated sponsored investment funds in temporary equity on the

Companys consolidated statements of financial condition

Appropriated Retained Earnings

Upon adoption of ASU 2009 17 BlackRock consolidated three

CLOs and recorded cumulative effect adjustment to appropri

ated retained earnings on the consolidated statement of finan

cial condition equal to the difference between the fair value

of the CLOs assets and the fair value of their liabilities Such

amounts are recorded as appropriated retained earnings as

the CLO noteholders not BlackRock ultimately will receive the

benefits or absorb the losses associated with the CLOs assets

and liabilities Subsequent to adoption of ASU 2009-17 the net

change in the fair value of the CLOs assets and liabilities has

been recorded as net income loss attributable to nonredeem

able non controlling interests and as an adjustment to appropri

ated retained earnings See Accounting Policies Adopted in the

Year Ended December31 2010 below for more information

Treasury Stock

The Company records cnmmon stock purchased for treasury at

cost At the date of subsequent reissuance the treasury stock

account is reduced by the cost of such stock on the average

cost method

Revenue Recognition

Investment Advisory Administration Foes and

Securities Lending Revenue

Investment advisory and administration fees are recognized as

the services are performed Such fees are primarily based on

pre determined percentages of the market value of the assets

under management AUM or in the case of certain real estate

clients net operating income generated by the underlying

properties Investment advisory and administration fees are

affected by changes in AUM including market appreciation or

depreciation foreign exchange translation and net subscriptions

or redemptions Investment advisory and administration fees for

investment funds are shown net of fees waived pursuant to con

tractual expense limitations of the funds or voluntary waivers

The Company contracts with third parties and related parties

for various mutual fund distribution and shareholder servicing

to be performed on behalf of certain funds managed by the

Company Such arrangements generally are priced as portion

of the management fee paid by the fund In certain cases the

fund takes on the primary resppnsibility for payment for services

such that BlackRock bears no credit risk to the third party

The Company accounts for such retrocession arrangements in

accordance with ASC 605 45 Revenue Recognition Principal

Agpnt Considerations and has recorded its management

fees net of retrocessions Retrocessions for the years ended

December31 2010 2009 and 2008 were $831 million

$611 million and $762 million respectively and were reflected

net in investment advisory administration fees and securities

lending revenue un the consolidated statements uf icume

The Company also earns revenue by lending securities on behalf

of clients primarily to brokerage institutions Such revenues are

accounted for on an accrual basis The revenue earned on the

collateral is shared between the Company and funds or other

third party accounts managed by the Company from which the

securities are borrowed

Performance Fees

The Company receives performance fees ocan incentive alloca

tion from alternative investment products and certain sepa

rately managed accounts These performance fees are earned

upon exceedingSpecified relative and/or absolute investment

return thresholds Such fees are recorded upon completion of

the measurement period which varies by product or account

The Company receives carried interest from certain alternative

investments upon exceeding performance thresholds BlackRock

maybe required to return all or part of such carried interest

depending upon future performance of these investments

Therefore BlackRock records crried interest subject to such

claw back provisions in investments or cash to the extent that

it is distributed on its consolidated statements of financial

condition Carried interest is realized upon the earlier of the

termination of the investment fuod or when the likelihood of

claw-back is mathematically improbable The Company records

realized carried interest as performance fees on its consolidated

statements of income The Company records deferred carried

interest liability to the extent it receives cash or capital allocations

prior to meeting the revenue recognition criteria At December31

2010 and 2009 the Company had $23 million and $13 million

respectively of deferred carried interest recorded in other

liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial condition

BlackRock Solutiçns and Advisory

BlackRock provides variety of risk management investment

analytic enterprise investment system and financial markets

advisory services to financial institutions pension funds asset

managers foundations consultants mutual fund sponsors real

estate investment trusts and government agencies These

services are provided under the brand name BlackRock Solutions

and include wide array of risk management services valuation

of
illiquid securities disposition and workout assignments

including long term portfolio liquidation assignments strategic

planning and execution and entetprise investment system

outsourcing to clients Fees earned for BlackRock Solutions and

advisory services are recorded as services are performed and

are determined using some orall of the following methods

fixed fees percentages of various attributes of advisory

AUM and Hi performance fees if contractual thresholds are

met The fees earned for 8lackRock Solutions and advisory

services are recorded in BlackRock Solutions and advisory on

the consolidated statements of income

Other Revenue

The Company earns fees for transition management services

comprised of referral fees or agency commissions from acting

as an introducing broker-dealer in buying and
selling

securities
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on behalf of the Companys customers Commissions related to

transition management services are recorded on trade date

basis as securities transactions occur and are reflected in other

revenue on the consolidated statements of income

The Company earns commissions revenue upon the sale of unit

trusts and Class mutual funds Revenue is recorded at the

time of the sale of the product

Other revenue also includes equity method investment earnings

related to operating advisory company investments and market

ing fees earned for services to disfribute Barclays/Path products

which are related to exchange-traded notes issued by Barclays

Stock-based Compensation

The Company applies the requirements within ASC 71 10

Compensat/on Stock Compensation ASC 71 B-iD which

establish standards for the accounting for transactions in

which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or

services primarily focusing on the accounting for transactions

in which an entity obtains employee services in share-based

payment transactions Entities are required to measure the

cost of employee services received in exchange for an award

of equity instruments based on the grant date fair value of the

award The cost is recognized over the period during which an

employee is required to provide service usually the vesting

period in exchange for the stock award

The Company measures the grant date fair value of employee

share options and similar instruments using option pricing

models If an equity award is modified after the grant date

incremental compensation cost is recognized in an amount

equal to the excess of the fair value of the modified award

over the fair value of the original award immediately before

the modification The grant datefair value of restricted stock

units is calculated using the Companys share price on the

date of grant Compensation cost is recorded by the Company

on straight line basis over the requisite service period for

each separately vesting portion bf the award as if the award is

in substance multiple awards Awards under the Companys

stock-based compensation plan vest over periods ranging from

one to five years Compensation cost is reduced by the number

of awards expected to be forfeited
prior to vesting Forfeiture

estimates generally are derived using historical forfeiture infor

mation where available and are reviewed for reasonableness at

least annually

The Company amortizes the grant date fair value of stock-based

compensation awards made to retirement
eligible employees

over the required service period Upon notification of retire

ment the Company accelerates the unamortized portion of the

award over the contractually required retirement notification

period if applicable

The Company pays cash dividend equivalents that are not

subject to vesting on outstanding restricted stock units RSUs
granted prior to 2009 ASC 71 10 requires dividend equivalents

on RSUs expected to be forfeited to be included in compensation

and benefits expense Dividend equivalents on participating

shares expected to vest are recorded in retained earnings

Distribution and Servicing Costs

Distributiuri and servicing costs include paymnts tu third

parties and affiliates including Bank of America/Merrill Lynch

PNC and Barclays primarily associated with distribution and

servicing of client investments in certain BlackRock products

Distribution and servicing costs are expensed when incurred

Direct Fund Expenses

Direct fund expenses which are expensed as incurred primarily

consist of third party non advisory expenses incurred by

BlackRock related to certain funds for the use of certain index

trademarks reference data for certain indices custodial

services fund administration fund accounting transfer agent

services shareholder reporting services audit and tax services

as well as other fund related expenses directly
attributable to

the non-advisory operations of the fund

Leases

The Company accounts for its operating leases which may

include escalations in accordance with ASC B40-10 Leases

The Company expenses the lease payments associated with op

erating leases evenly during the lease term including rent-free

periods beginning on the commencement of the lease term

Foreign Exchange

Monetary assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries having

non U.S dollar functional currencies are translated at exchange

rates at the date of the consolidated statements of financial

condition Non monetary assets and liabilities of foreign sub

sidiaries having non-U.S dollar functional currencies are trans

lated at historical exchange rates Revenues and expenses are

translated at average exchange rates during the period Gains

or losses resulting from translating foreign currency financial

statements intO U.S dollars are included in accumulated other

comprehensive income separate component of stockholders

equity on the consolidated statements of financial condition

Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are

included in general and administration expense on the consoli

dated statements of income For the years ended December31

2010 2009 and 200B the Company recorded gains/losses

from foreign currency transactions of $6 million $11 million

and $50 million respectively

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and

liability
method prescribed by ASC 740 10 /ncome Taxes ASC

740-10 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recog

nized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary

differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of

existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases using

currently enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the dif

ferences are expected to reverse The effect of change in tax

rates on deferred income tax assets and liabilities is recognized

in income in the period that includes the enactment date

Management periodically assesses the recoverability of its de

ferred income tax assets based upon expected future earnings

taxable income in prior carryback years future deductibility of

the asset changes in applicable tax laws and other factors If

management determines that it is not more likely
than not that

the deferred tax asset will be fully recoverable in the future

valuation allowance will be established for the difference between

the asset balance and the amount expected to be recoverable

in the future This allowance will result in charge to income tax

expense on the Companys consolidated statements of income

Further the Company records its income taxes receivable and

payable based upon its estimated income tax
liability

ASC 740 10 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income

taxes recognized in companys financial statements by

prescribing threshold for measurement and recognition in the

financial statements of an asset or liability resulting from tax
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position taken or expected to be taken in an income tax return

ASC 740 10 also provides guidance on derecognition clas

sification interest and penalties accounting in interim periods

disclosure and transition

Excess tax benefits and shortfalls related to stock-based

compensation are recognized as additional paid in capital and

are reflected as financing cash flows on the consolidated state

ments of cash flows If the Company does not have additional

paid in capital credits cumulative tax benefits recorded to

additional paid in capital the Company will record an expense

for any deficit between the recorded tax benefit and tax return

benefit At December31 2010 and 2009 BlackRock had ex

cess additional paid in capital credits to absorb potential future

deficits between recorded tax benefits and tax return benefits

Earnings per Share EPS
EPS is calculated pursuant to the two class method as defined

in ASC 260 10 Earnings per Share ASC 260 10 which speci

fies that all outstanding unvested share based payment awards

that contain rights to nonforfeitable dividends or dividend

equivalents are considered participating securities and should

be included in the computation of EPS pursuant to the two-

class method

The Company presents both basic and diluted EPS amounts

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net distributed and undis

tributed earnings allocated to common shareholders excluding

participating securities by the weighted average number of

common shares outstanding The Companys participating

securities consist of its unvested share based payment awards

that contain rights to nonforfeitable dividends or dividend equiv

alents Diluted EPS includes the determinants of basic EPS and

in addition reflects the impact of other potentially dilutive shares

outstanding during the period using the two class method

Due to the similarities in terms among BlackRock series

and non voting participating preferred stock and the

Companys common stock the Company considers each series

of non-voting participating preferred stock to be common

stock equivalents for purposes of earnings per common share

calculations

In accordance with ASC 260 10 shares of the Companys com

mon stock are not included in basic earnings per common share

until contingencies are resolved and the shares are released

Shares of the Companys common stock are not included in

diluted earnings per common share unless the contingency has

been met assuming that the contingency period ended on the

date of the consolidated statement of financial condition

Business Segments

The Companys management directs BlackRocks operations

as one business the asset management business As such the

Company operates in one business segment as defined in ASC

280 10 Segment Reporfing ASC 280 10

Business Combinations

The Company accounts for business combinations in accordance

with the requirements of ASC 805 Business Combinations ASC
BUS The fundamental requirement of ASC BUS is that the

acquisition method of accounting the purchase method be

used for all business combinations and for an acquirer to be

identified for each business combination The provisions within

ASC 805 further define the acquirer establish the acquisition

date and broaden the scope of transactions that qualify as

business combinations

Additionally the requirements within ASC 805 change the fair

value measurement provisionsfor assets acquired liabilities

assumed and any non controlling interest in the acquiree provide

guidance for the measurement of fair value in step acquisition

change the requirements for recognizing assets acquired and

liabilities assumed subject to contingencies provide guidance on

recognition and measurement of contingent consideration and

require that acquisition related costs of the acquirer generally be

expensed as incurred Reversal of valuation allowances related to

acquired deferred tax assets and changes to liabilities for unrec

ogrnzed tdx benefits ieleted to tdx
pusitiutis

dssurlled iii business

combinations that settled
prior

to the adoption of the new require

ments within ASC 805 affected goodwill If such valuation allow

ances reverse or liabilities change subsequent to the adoption of

the new requirements within ASC 805 such changes will affect

the income tax provision in the period of reversal or change

The Company adopted the requirements within ASC 805 on

January 2009 The adoption of the new requirements within

ASC 805 impacted the Companys consolidated financial state

ments for the year ended December31 2009 as the Company

completed its
acqijisition

of Bt31 during 2009 and certain

acquisition related costs were expensed as incurred

In addition in adhordance with the requirements of ASC 805

certain line items on the consolidated statement of financial

condition including goodwill intangible assets and deferred

tax liabilities have been retrospectively adjusted as of

December31 2009 to reflect new information obtained about

facts that existed as of Decembe 12009 the BCI acquisition

date See Note Mergers and Acquisitions for summary of

the changes in 2010 to the 801 purchase price allocation

Fair Value Measurements

ASC 820-10 Fair Value Measuremenfs and Disclosures ASC
820 10 requires among other things disclosures about assets

and liabilities that are measured and reported at fair value

Hierarchy of Fair Value Inputs

The provisions of ASC 820 10 establish hierarchy that

prioritizes inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair

value and require companies to disclose the fair value of their

financial instruments according to the fair value hierarchy i.e

Level and inputs as defined The fair value hierarchy

gives the highest priobty to quoted prices unadjusted in active

markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority

to unobservable inputs Additionally companies are required

to provide additional disclosure regarding instruments in the

Level category which have inputs to the valuation techniques

that are unobservable and require significant management

judgment including reconciliation of the beginning and ending

balances separately for each major category of assets and

liabilities See Accounting Policies Adopted in the Year Ended

December31 2010 below for more information on additional

fairvalue disclosure requirements adopted in 2010

Assets and liabilities measured and reported at fair value are

classified and disclosed in one of the following categories

Level Inputs

Quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities at the reporting date

Level assets may include listed mutual funds including those

accounted for under the equity method of accounting as these

mutual funds are investment companies that have
publicly

available NAVs which in accordance with GAAP are calculated

under fair value measures and are equal to the earnings of

such funds ETEs equities and certain derivatives
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Level Inputs

Quoted prioes for similarassets or liabilities in aotive markets

quoted prices for identical or similarassets or liabilities that are

not active quotes trom pricing services or brokers tor which

the Company can determine that orderly transactions took

place at the quoted price or that the inputs used to arrive at the

price were observable and inputs other than quoted prices that

are observable such as models or other valuation methodolo

gies As practical expedient the Company relies on the NAVs

or its equivalents of certain investments as their fair value

Level assets in this category may include debt securities

bank loans short term floating rate notes and asset backed

securities securities held Within consolidated hedge funds

certain equity method limited partnership interests in hedge

funds and mutual funds valued based on NAV where the

Company has the ability to redeem at the measurement date

or within the near term without redemption restrictions re

stricted public securities valued at discount as well as over

the counter derivatives including interest and inflation rate

swaps and foreign currency exchange contracts that have

inputs to the valuations that generally can be corroborated

by observable market data

Level Inputs

Unobservable inputs for the valuation of the asset or liability

which may include non-binding broker quotes Level assets

include investments for which there is little if any market activ

ity
These inputs require significant management judgment or

estimation Certain investments that are valued using NAV

and are subject to current redemption restrictions that will not

be lifted in the near term are included in Level

Level assets in this category include general and limited

partnership interests in private equity funds funds of private

equity funds real estate funds hedge funds and funds of

hedge funds direct private equity investments held within

consolidated funds bank loaps and certain held for sale real

estate disposal assets

Level inputs include BlackEock capital accounts for its

partnership interests in various alternative investments in

cluding distressed credit hedge funds real estate and private

equity funds which may be adjusted by using the returns of

certain market indices The various partnerships are invest

ment companies which record their underlying investments

at fair value based on fair value policies established by

management of the underlying fund Fair value policies at the

underlying fund gBnetally require the fund to utilize pricing/

valuation information including independent appraisals from

third party sources However in some instances current

valuation information for illiquid securities or securities in

markets that are not active may not be available from any

third party source or fund management may conclude that

the valuations that are available from third party sources

are not reliable In these instances fund management may

perform model based analytical valuations that may be used

as an input to value these investments

Level liabilities included in this category include borrowings

of consolidated collateralized loan obligations valued based

upon non binding single broker quotes

Significance of Inputs

The Companys assessment of the significance of particular

input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judg

ment and considers factors specific to the financial instrument

Fair Value Option

ASC 825 10 Financial Instruments ASC 825-10 provides

fair value option election that allows companies to irrevocably

elect fair value as the initial and subsequent accounting mea

surement attribute for certain financial assets and liabilities

ASC 825-10 permits entities to elect to masur eligible

financial assets and liabilities at fair value on an ongoing basis

Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value

option has been elected are reported in earnings The decision

to elect the fair value option is determined on an instrument by

instrument basis must be applied to an entire instrument and

is irrevocable once elected Assets and liabilities measured at

fair value pursuant to ASC 825 10 are required to be reported

separately from those instruments measured using another ac

counting method In 2010 the Company elected the fair value

option for certain assets and liabilities of consolidated CLOs

See Accounting Policies Adopted in the Year Ended December

31 2010 belowfor more information

Disclosure of Fair Value

The disclosure requirements within ASC 825 10 require disclo

sure of estimated fair values of certain financial instruments

both on and off the consolidated statements of financial condi

tion For financial instruments recognized at fair value in the

statement of financial position the disclosure requirements of

ASC 820-10 also apply

The methods apd assumptions are set forth below

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at either cost or am
ortized cost which approximates fair value due to their short

term maturities Money market funds are valued through the

use of quoted market prices or $1.00 which generally is the

net asset value of the fund

The carrying amounts of receivables accounts payable and

accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to their short

maturities

The fair value of marketable investments is based on quoted

market prices nr hrnker quntes If investments are not readily

marketable fair values primarily are determined based on net

asset values or capital accounts of investments in limited

partnerships/limited liability companies or by the Company

based on managements assumptions or estimates taking

into consideration financial information of the investment

the industry of the investment market indices or valuation

services from third party service providers At December 31

2010 with the exception of certain equity and cost method

investments and carried interest that are not accounted for

under fair value measure The carrying value of investments

approximated fair value See Note Fair Value Disclosures

for further discussion

Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities

ASC 815 10 Derivatives and Hedging ASC 815 10 es

tablishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative

instruments including certain derivatives embedded in other

contracts and for hedging activities ASC 815-10 generally

requires an entity to recognize all derivatives as either assets or

liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial condition

and to measure those investments at fair value

The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for

trading or speculative purposes The Company uses derivative

financial instruments primarily for purposes of hedging

exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates of
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certain assets and liabilities and market expcsures fcr certain

investments The Company may also use derivatives within

separate account assets and liabilities which are segregated

funds held for purposes of funding individual and group pension

contracts or in connection with capital support agreements

with affiliated investment companies In addition certain

consolidated sponsored investment funds may also invest in

derivatives as part of their investment strategy

Changes in the fair value of the Companys derivative financial

instruments are recognized in current earnings and where

applicable are offset by the corresponding gain or loss on the

related foreign denominated assets or liabilities orhedged

investments on the consolidated statements of income

Comprehensive Income Attributable to

BlackRock

Subsequent to the issuance of BlackRocks second quarter

2010 Form 10 filed with the SEC on August 2010 the

Company determined that pursuant to ASC 810 it should have

presented the amount of comprehensive income attributable to

non controlling interests and comprehensive income attributable

to BlackRock on its consolidated statements of comprehensive

income and it mislabeled total comprehensive income as being

attributable to BlackRock The affected periods include each

of the two years in the period ended December31 2009 The

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive

Income for years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 have been

corrected to include the required information as the Company

believes this correction was not material to the consolidated

financial statements taken as whole

Subsequent Events

The Company discloses subsequent events in accordance

with ASC 855 10 Subsequenf Evenfs ASC 855-10 which

provides guidance to establish general standards of accounting

for and disclosures of events that occur after the balance sheet

date but before financial statements are issued or are avail

able to be issued and ASU 2010 09 Amendments to Certain

Recognition and Disclosure Requirements which amends ASC

855-10 to clarify that an SEC filer is not required to disclose the

date through which subsequent events have been evaluated in

the financial statements See Note 25 Subsequent Events for

further discussion

Accounting Policies Adopted in the Year
Ended December 31 2010

New Consolidation Guidance for

Variable Interest Entities

In June 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board

FASB issued ASU 2009 17 which amended the consolidation

guidance for VIEs The amendments include the elimination

of the exemption from consolidation for qualifying special

purpose entities new approach for determining the PB of

VIE which requires that the PB have both the power to

control the most significant activities of the VIE and either

the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits

that potentially could be significant to the VIE and the

requirement to continually reassess the PB of VIE

In February 2010 the FASB issued ASU 201 0-10 This ASU de

fers the application of SPAS No 167 for reporting enterprises

interest in an entity if all of the following conditions are met

the entity either has all of the attributes of an investment

company as specified in ASC 946-10 Financial Services

Investment Companies ASC 946 10 or it is industry practice

to apply measurement principles for financial reporting that are

consistent with those in ASC 946-10 the entity is not se

cuitization entity an asset backed financing entity or an entity

formerly considered qualifying special purpose entity and

the reporting enterprise does not have an explicit or implicit

obligation to fund losses of the entity that could potentially be

significant to the entity

In addition the deferral applies to reporting entitys interest

in an entity that is required to comply or operate in accordance

with the requirements of Rule 2a of the Investment Company

Act of 1940 for registered money market funds

The amendments in ASU 2010-10 clarify that for entities that do

not qualify for the deferral related parties should be considered

when evaluating each of the criteria for determining whether de

cision maker or service provider fee represents variable interest

An entity that qualifies for the deferral will continue to be assessed

for consolidation qnder the overall guidance on variable interest

entities in ASC 810 before its amendment by SPAS No 167 or

other applicableconsolidation guidance including guidance for

the consolidation of partnerships in ASC 810 The amendment

does not defer the disclosure requirements of ASU 2009 17

Dn January 2010 upon adoption of ASU 2009 17 the

Company determined it was the PB of three CLiOs which

resulted in consolidation of these CLOs on the Companys

consolidated financial statements Upon consolidation the

Company elected the fair value bption for eligible financial as

sets and liabilities to mitigate accounting mismatches between

the carrying value of the assets and liabilities and to achieve

operational simplifications Upon adoption of the provisions

of ASU 2009 17 the Company recorded cumulative effect

adjustment to appropriated retained earnings of $114 million

Improving Disclosures about

Fair Value Measurements

In January 2010 the FASB issued ASU 2010-06 Fair Value

Measurements and Disclosures ASU 2010 06T ASU 2010 06

amended ASC 820 10 to require new disclosures with regards

to significant transfers into and out of Levels and ASU

2n10 16 alsn clarifies existing fair value disclnsurc abnut

the appropriate level of disaggregation and about inputs and

valuation techniques for both recurring and nonrecurring fair

value measurements that fall in either Level or Level The

new disclosures and clarifications of existing disclosures were

effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning

after December 15 2009 The adoption on january 2010 of

the additional disclosure requirements of ASU 2010 06 did not

materially impact BlackRocks financial statement disclosures

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Not Yet Adopted

Additional Level Fair Value Roilforward Disclosures

In addition ASU 2010 06 requires separate disclosures about

purchases sales issuances and other settlements in the

rollforward of activity in Level fair value measurements which

are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2010

and for interim periods within those fiscal years The adoption of

the additional Level rollforward disclosure requirements is not

expected to materially impact BlackRocks financial statement

disclosures
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03/MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

Barclays Global Investors

On December 2009 BlackRock acquired frcm Barclays all

of the outstanding equity interests of subsidiaries of Barclays

conducting the investment management business 01 BGI in

exchange for an aggregate of 37566771 shares of BlackRock

common stock and participating preferred stock and $6.65 bil

lion in cash The fair value of the 37566771 shares at closing

on December 2009 was $B.53 billion at price of $227108

per share the closing price of BlackRocks common stock on

November 30 2009

The shares of capital stock issued to Barclays pursuant to

the BGI Transaction represented approximately 4.B% of the

outstanding shares of common stock and approximately an

aggregate 19.B% economic interest in BlackRock immediately

following the closing of the transaction Barclays generally

is restricted from purchasing additional shares of BlackRock

common or preferred stock if it would result in Barclays holding

more than 4.9% of the total voting power of BlackRock or more

than 19.9% of the total capital stock of BlackRock on fully

diluted basis In addition after the close of the BGI Transaction

Barclays was restricted from transferring 100% of its BlackRock

capital stock for one year after closing and 50% of its BlackRock

Do//ar amounts in mi//ions

Accounts receivable

Investments

Separate account assets

Collateral held under securities lending agreements

Property and equipment

Finite lived intangible management contracts intangible assets

Indefinite lived intangible managerrent
contracts intangible assets

Trade names/trademarks indefinite-lived intangible assets

Goodwill

Other assets

Separate account liabilities

Cullateral
liability

under securitieslending agreements

Deferred income t4x liabilities

Accrued compensation and benefits

Other liabilities assumed

Non-controlling interest assumed

Total consideration net of cash acquired

Summary of consideration net of cash acquired

Cash paid

Cash acquired

Capital_stock at fair value

Total cash and stock consideration

capital stock for the second year without the prior written

consent of BlackRock

The cash portion of the purchase price was funded through

cumbiriatiun uf existing cash issuance of short term debt

backed by short term credit facility which was arranged by

Barclays related party and subsequently terminated upon the

issuance of long term notes in December 2009 and proceeds

from the private issuance of 19914652 shares of common and

preferred stock at price of $140.60 to group of institutional

investors including PNC

The BGI Transaction was accounted for under the acquisition

method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805 Accordingly

the purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and li

abilities and non controlling interests assumed based upon their

estimated fair values at the date of the transaction Substantially

all of the excess of the final purchase price over the fair value

of assets acquired and liabilities and non controlling interests

assumed was recorded as non deductible goodwill

summary of the initial and revised fair values of the assets

acquired and liabilities and non-controlling interests assumed

on December 2009 in this acquisition is as follows

Initial

Estimate of

Fair Value-

Purchase

Price

Adjustments

Revised

Estimate of

Fair Value

$593 $12 $581

125 125

116301 116301

23498 23498

205 203

163 156

9785 25 9810

1403 1403

6842 110 6952

366 16 382

116301 116301
23498 23498
3799 45 3844

885 BBS
660 85 745
12 02

$14126 $14126

$6650 $6650

1055 1055
8531 8531

$14126 $14126

The fair value of 801 finite lived management contracts consists which provides advisory valuation and analytics solutions

to commercial real estate lenders and investors the Helixprimarily of separate accounts and custom segregated funds

and the fair value of BGI indefinite lived management contracts Transaction The assets acquired and liabilities assumed as

primarily consists of exchange traded funds collective invest well as the total consideration paid for the acquisition were not

ment trusts and other investment funds material to the Companys consolidated financial statements

Finite lived management contracts have weighted average

estimated useful life of approximately 10 years and are amortized
Primasia Investment Trust Co LTD

using the straight line method

The fair value of acquired trade names/trademarks was

determined using royalty rate based primarily on normalized

marketing and promotion expenditures to develop and support

the brands globally

In October 2010 the Company completed the acquisition of

all of the net assets of Primasia Investment Trust Co LTD
which sells offshore mutual funds in Taiwan the Primasia

Transaction The assets acquired and liabilities assumed as

well as the total consideration paid for the acquisition were not

material to the Companys consolidated financial statements

Helix Financial Group LLC

In January 2010 the Company completed the acquisition of

substantially all of the net assets of Helix Financial Group LLC
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04/INVESTMENTS

summary of the carrying value of total investments is as follows

December31

Do//ar amounts in millions 2010 2009

Available for sale investments $45 $73

Held to maturity investments 100 29

Trading investments

Consolidated sponsored investment funds 60 03

Other equity and debt securities 22 22

Deferred compensation plan mutual fund investments 49 42

Total trading investments 131 167

Other investments

Consolidated sponsored investment funds 337 360

Equity method investments 556 372

Deferred compensation plan hedge fund equity method investments 27 29

Carried interest 13

Cost method investments 331 15

Total other investments 1264 780

Total investments $1540 $1049

At December31 2010 the Company consolidated $397 million of which $103 million and $360 million were classified as trading

of investments held by consolidated sponsored investment funds investments and other investments respectively Other invest

non VIEs of which $60 million and $337 million were classified ments at December31 2009 included $40 million related to

as trading investments and other investments respectively consolidated VIE which has been reclassified prospectively as of

At December31 2009 the Company consolidated $463 million
January 2010 to bank loans and other investments of consoli

of investments held by consolidated sponsored investment funds
dated VIEs on the consolidated statement df financial condition

Available-for-sale Investments

summary of the cost and carrying value of investments classified as available for-sale is as followq

Dollar amounts in mi/lions
Gross Unrealized

Carrying

December 31 2010 Cost Gains Losses Value

Available for sale investments

Equity securities

Sponsored investment funds $33 $4 $1 $36

Collateralized debt obligations CDOs
Debt securities

Mortgage debt

Asset backed debt

Total available for-sale investments $40 $6 $1 $45

December 31 2009

Available for sale investments

Equity securities

Sponsored investment funds $53 $2 $1 $54

Collateralized debt obligations

Debt securities

Mortgage debt

Asset-backed debt 10 10

Total available for sale investments $71 $3 $1 $73

Available for-sale investments include seed investments in comparing the estimated discounted cash flows versus the

BlackRock sponsored investment funds and debt securities amortized cost for each individual security

received upon closure of certain funds in lieu of the Companys
The Company has reviewed the gross unrealized losses of $1

remaining investment in the funds and securities purchased
million as of December31 201 related to available for sale

upon closure from an enhanced cash fund
equity securities which had been in loss position for greater

During the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 than twelve months and determined that these unrealized

the Company recorded other than temporary impairments of losses were not other than temporary primarily because the

less than $1 million $5 million and $8 million respectively Company has the ability and intent to hold the securities for

which were recorded in non operating income expense on the period of time sufficient to allow for recovery of such unrealized

consolidated statements of income The other-than temporary losses As result the Company did not record impairments on

impairments in 2009 included $2 million related to credit loss such equity securities

impairments on debt securities which were determined by
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The cost and fair value of debt seourities olassified as available-for sale at Deoember 31 2010 and 2009 by maturity date were as follows

After

Year

Year through

or less Years

After

Years

through 10

Years

summary of sale
activity

in the Companys available for sale securities during the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

is shown below

Do//ar amounts in millions 2010

Year en ded December31

2009 2008

Sales proceeds $42 $100 $57

Net realized gain loss

Gross realized gains $3 $3 $2

Gross realized losses

Net realized gain loss $2 $5 $5

Held-to-Maturity Investments

summary of the carrying value of held-to-maturity investments is as follows

Carrying Value

December31

Do//aramounts in mi//ions 2010 2009

Held to maturity investments

Foreign government debt $100 $28

U.S government debt

Total held to maturity investments $100 $29

Held to maturity investments include debt instruments held for regulatory purposes and the amortized cost the carrying value of

these investments approximates fair value

The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities classified as held to maturity at December31 2010 and 2009 by maturity date

were as follows

After

Year

Year through

or less Years

After

Years

through 10

Years

After 10

Years TotalDo//ar amounts in mi//ions

December 31 2010

Mortgage debt

Asset backed debt

$1 $3 $4

Cost $1 $4 $5

Fair value $1 $6 $7

December 31 2009

Mortgage debt $2 $2 $2 $6

Asset-backed debt 10 10

Cost $2 $2 $2 $10 $16

Fairvalue $2 $2 $3 $10 $17

After 10

YearsDo//ar amounts in mi//ions Total

December3l2010
Foreign government debt $18 $76 $6 $100

Fair value $18 $76 $6 $100

December 31 2009

Foreign government debt $23 $5 $28

U.S.governmentdebt

Total $24 $5 $29

Fair value $24 $5 $29

104 NOTEs



Trading Investments

summary of the oost and oarrying value of trading investments is as follows

At Deoember 31 2010 trading investments include $24 million

of equity and $36 million of debt seourities held by oonsolidated

sponsored investment funds $49 million of oertain deferred

oompensation plan mutual fund investments and $22 million of

equity and debt seourities held in separate investment a000unts

for the purpose of establishing an investment history in various

investment strategies before being marketed to investors

summary of the oost and oarrying value of other investments is as follows

Decem

00//ar amounts in mi//ions Cost

ber3l 2010 December3l2009

Carrying Value Cost parrying Value

Other investments

Consolidated sponsored investment funds $319 $337 $380 $360

Equity method 569 556 499 372

Deferred compensation plan hedge fund

equity method investments 20 27 28 29

Carried interest 13

Cost method investments

Federal Reserve Bank stock 325 325 10 10

Other

Total cost method investments 331 331 15 15

Total other investments $1239 $1264 $922 $780

Consolidated sponsored investment funds include third party are subject to change upon cash distributions additional al

private equity funds direct investments in
private companies and

third party hedge funds held by BlackRock sponsored investment

funds

locations or reallocations back to limited partners within the

respective funds

Equity methnd investments include BlarkRocks direct invst

ment in BlackRock sponsored investment products

Cost method investments include non marketable securities

including $325 million of Federal Reserve Bank stock at

December31 2010 which is held for regulatory purposes and

Carried interest represents allocations to BlackRock general is restricted from sale As of December31 2010 there were no

partner capital accounts for certain funds These balances indicators of impairments on these investments

Do//ar amounts in mi//ions

December

Cost

31 2010

Carrying Value

December 31 2009

Cost Carrying Value

Trading investments

Deferred compensation plan

mutual fund investments $45 $49 $49 $42

Equity securities 37 45 112 97

Debt securities

Municipal debt 10 10 10 11

Foreign government debt

Corporate debt 25 27

U.S.governmentdebt

Total trading investments $117 $131 $188 $167

Other Investments
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Year Ended

December 31 2010 December 31 2010

Dollar amounts in millions

Net

Assets01

BlackRocks

Investments

Average

Ownership

Net Income BlackRocks

Loss Portion

Investments

Private equity

Real estate funds

Hedgefunds/Fundsofhedgefunds

Other investments

$1853

2681

12221

393

$87

54

331

111

5%

2%

3%

28%

$187 $8

471 11

3187 84

13

Total $17148 $583 $3858 $108

Year Ended

December 31 2009 December31 2009

Net BlackRocks Average Net Income BlackRocks

Dollar amounts in millions Assets111 Investments Ownership Loss Portion

Investments

Private equity $574 $38 7% $23 $2

Real estate funds 1365 43 3% 1588 108
Hedge funds/Funds of hedge funds 11450 319 3% 2984 120

Other investments 434 1%

Total $13823 $401 $1419 $14

05/EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS

BlackRock invests in hedge funds funds of hedge funds real the equity method of accounting in addition to other account

estate funds and private equity investments to establish ing methods At December31 2010 and 2009 the Company

performance track record or for co-investment purposes held the following equity method investments in its sponsored

BlackRock accounts for certain of these investments under investment products

The majority or trio nat assets or toe eqsitymernoo ova stocs are compnses of investments solo for Gap/ta appreciation offset by ilashities which may incisde borro wings

In addition due to BlackRocks ownership levels BlackRock includes BlackRocks approximate 40% investment in DSP

has equity method investments in various operating advisory BlackRock Investment Managers Pvt Ltd and its 42% investment

entities held for strategic purposes related to BlackRocks core in Private National Mortgage Acceptance Company LLC

business which are recorded in other assets The table below

December31

Dollaramounts in millions 2010 2009

Equity Method Investees

Assets $181 $99

Liabilities 51 18

Equity $130 $81

BlackRocks investments11 $56 $34

Year ended December 31

2010 2009

9/n addison at Oecember 31 2070 and 2009 B/ackhock had approximately $2 mi/hon and $2 mi//ion respectively ot other strategic eqsity method investments recorded within other assets
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Net income loss of equ

BlackRocks portion

by method investees $40

$17

$31

$14



06/CONSOLIDATED SPONSORED INVESTMENT FUNDS

The Company oonsolidates certain sponsored investment 2009 the following table presents the balances related to these

funds primarily because it is deemed to control such funds in consolidated funds that were included on the consolidated

accordance with GAAR The investments that are owned by statements of financial condition as well as BlackRocks net

these consolidated sponsored investment funds are classified interest in these funds

as other or trading investments At December31 2010 and

Do//ar amounts in millions

December31

2010 2009

Cash and cash equivalents $65 $75

Investments

Trading investments 60 103

Other investments 337 360

Other assets

Other liabilities 10
Non controlling interests 195 273

BlackRocks net inferests in consolidated investment funds $260 $258

At December31 2009 the above balances included consoli

dated sponsored investment fund that was also deemed VIE

This VIE as well as three consolidated CLOs which are also

VIEs were excluded from the December31 2010 balances

in the table above See Note Variable Interest Entities for

further discussion on these consolidated products

BlackRocks total exposure to consolidated sponsored invest

ment funds of $260 million and $258 million at December

31 2010 and 2009 respectively represents the valug of the

Companys economic ownership interest in these sponsored

investment funds Valuation changes associated with these
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consolidated investment funds are reflected in ncn-operafing

income expense and partially
offset in net income loss

attributable to non-controlling interests for the portion not

attributable to BlackRock

The Company may not be
readily

able to access cash and cash

equivalents held by consolidated sponsored investment funds

to use in its operating activities In addition the Company may

not be readily able to sell investments held by consolidated

sponsored investment funds in order to obtain cash for use in

its operations



Assets measured at fair value

Quoted Prices Significant

in Aotive Other Significant

Markets Observable Unobservable

for Identical Inputs Inputs

Assets Level Level Level

Comprised
of investments he/dat cost amortized cost carried interest and

eqsity
method investments which include ineeotment companies and other assets which in accordance with

GAAP are nor accounted for under fair va/se measure In accordance with OAAP certain eqsity method investees do not accosnt for both their financial assets and financial liabihhes

snder fair va/se meassres therefore the Cor4panys investment in ssch eqmty method inve stees may not represent fair va/se

Includes company owned and spht doharhfe inssrance policies
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07/FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

Fair Value Hierarchy

Total assets measured at fair value on recurring basis of $140460 million at December 31 2010 were as follows

Other

Assets

Not

Held at

Fair Value/i

December 31
2010Dollar amounts in millions

Assets

Investments

Available-for sale

Equity secuhties funds and CDO5 $36 $2 $38

Debt securities

Tutal available for sale 36 45

Held to maturity

Debt Securities 100 100

Total held to-maturity 100 100

Trading

Deferred compensation plan

mutual funds investments 49 49

Equity securities 36 45

Debt securities 37 37

Total trading 85 46 131

Other investrnenth

Consolidated sponsored investment funds

Hedgefunds/Fundsoffunds 19 20

Private/public equity 18 299 317

Total consolidated Sponsored

investment funds 18 318 337

Equity method

Hedge funds/Funds of hedge funds 44 226 34 304

Private equity investments 68 20 88

Real estate funds 36 10 54

Fixed income mutual funds 103 103

Equity/Multi asset clss mutual funds

Total equity method 110 52 330 64 556

Deferred compensation plan hedge tund

equity method investments 27 27

Carried interest 13 13

Cost method investments 331 331

Total investments 249 133 650 508 1540

Separate account assets

Equity securities 79727 79734
Debt securities 3641 70 36585

Derivatives 1598 1599

Money market funds 2549 2549
Other 670 670

Total separafe account asstc 82277 08016 174 70 121137
Collateral held under securities

lending agreements

Equitysecurities 15237 15237
Debt securities 2401 2401

Total collateral held under

securities lending agreements 15237 2401 17638

Other assets121 11 11

Assets of consolidated VIEs

Banklcans 1130 32 1162

Bonds 113 113

Private/public equity 30 37

Total assets of consolidated VIEs 1246 62 1312

Total $97767 $41807 $886 $1178 $141638



Includes credit default swap Pillars recerded within stherhabihties sn the censshdated statement ef financial ceedi hen

Total assets and liabilities measured at fair value on recurring basis of $139226 million and $19335 million respectively at

December31 2009 were as follows

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Quoted Prices Significant

in Active Other Significant

Markets Observable Unobservable

for Identical Inputs Inputs

Assets Level Level LevelDo/far amounfs in millions

Assets

Investments

Available for sale $53 $20

Held-to maturity 29 29

Trading 118 49 167

Other investments

Consolidated sponsored investment funds 22 338 360

Equity method 330 41 372

Deferred compensation plan hedge fund

equity method investments 14 29

Carried interest

Cost method investments 15 15

Total investments 193 84 683 89 1049

Separate account assets 99983 7599 1292 755 119629

Collateral held under securities

lending agreements 11580 7755 19335

Dther assets121 11 46 57

Total $111756 $25449 $2021 $844 $140070

Liabilities

Collateral
liability under securities

lending agreements $11580 $7755 $19335

Includes dispssalgresp assets and csmpany ewned and spht dsllar life inssrance pshcies

Separate Account Assets

BlackRock Pensions Limited and BlackRock Asset Management

Pensions Limited both wholly owned subsidiaries of the

Company are registered life insurance companies that maintain

separate account assets representing segregated funds held icr

purposes of funding individual and group pension contracts and

equal and offsetting separate account non financial liabilities

The net investment income and net gains and losses attribut

able to separate account assets accrue directly to the contract

owners and are not reported on the Companys consolidated

statements of income

Money Market Funds Within Cash

and Cash Equivalents

At December31 2010 and 2009 approximately $87 million

and $1.4 billion respectively of money market funds were

recorded within cash and cash equivalents on the Companys

consolidated statements of financial condition Money market

funds are valued through the use of quoted market prices

Level input or $1.00 which generally is the net asset value of

the fund

Level Assets

Level assets recorded within investments which include

equity method investments andconsolidated investments of

real estate funds private equity funds and funds of private eq

uity funds are valued based upon valuations including capital

accounts received from internal as well as third party fund

managers Fair valuations of the underlying funds are based

on combination of methods which may include third party

independent appraisals and discounted cash flow techniques

Direct investments in private equity companies held by funds of

private equity fuuds ate valued based uii art assessirierit of each

underlying investment incorporating evaluation of additional

Liabilities measured at fair value on recurring basis at December31 2010 were as follows

Quoted Prices Significant

in Active Other Significant

Markets Observable Unobservable

for Identical lnputp Inputs December31

Do/far amounts in millions Assets Level Level Level 2010

Liabilities

Borrowings of consolidated VIEs $1278 $1278

Collateral liability under securities

lendingagreements 15237 2401 17638
Other liabilities11

Total liabilities measured atfairvalue $15237 $2404 $1278 $18919

Other

Assets

Not

Held at

Fair Valuelil

December31

2009

csmpnsed ef investments held at cent amertized cent earned interest and equity methed investments which include investment companies
and other assets which in accerdance with

GAAP are net accesnted fur under fair value measure In accerdance with OAAP certain equity methed investees de nut account ferbeth their hnancial assets and financial habihhen

under fair valne measures therefere the companys investment in such equity methed investees may net represent fair value
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significant third party financing changes in valuations of

comparable peer companies the business environment of the

companies and market indices among other factors

Level assets recorded within separate account assets include

single broker non binding quotes for fixed income securities

and equity securities which have unobservable inputs due to

certain corporate actions

Level assets of consolidated VIEs include bank loans valued

based on single broker non binding quotes and direct private

equity investments and private equity funds valued based

upon valuations received from internal as well as third party

fund managers which may be adjusted by using the returns of

certain market indices

Level Liabilities

Level liabilities recorded as borrowings of consolidated VIEs

include CLO borrowings valued based upon single broker non

binding quotes

Changes in Level Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on Recurring Basis for the Year Ended

December31 2010

Realized

and

unrealized

December31 gains

2009 losses net

Purchases

sales other

settlements

and

issuances

net

Net

transfers

in andor

out of

Level

Total net

gains

losses

included in

earnings11

December 31
2010001/ar amounts in mi//Ions

Assets

Investments

Available-for sale

Equity securities funds and CDO5 $1 $1 $2 $2

Consolidated sponsored investment funds

Hedge fundsFunds of funds 26 19

Private equity 312 44 54 299 44

Equity method

Hedge fundsFunds of hedge funds 247 36 .26 31 226 34

Private equity investments 47 13 68

Real estate funds 36 17 17 36 10

Deferred compensation plan hedge funds 15 15

Total Level investments 683 107 93 47 650 95

Separate account assets

Equity securities 29 93 63

Debtsecurities 1287 60 284 1461 170

Total Level separate account assets 1292 89 191 1398 174 na121

Other assets 46 38
Assets of consolidated VIEs

Bank loans 32 32

Private equity 27 30

Total Level assets of consolidated VIEs 27 32 62 nja131

Total Level assets $2021 $191 $87 $1413 $886

Liabilities

Borrowings of consolidated VIEs $121 $1157 $1278 na151

n/a nat applicable

Earnings attnbstable to the change in anreahzed gains or lasses relating assets still held at the repnrting date

The net investment income and net gains and lessen attributable te separate account assets accrue directly to the contract awners and are net reported en the campanyn consolidated

statements at inceme

The net gain lass an cannahdated viEs is
solely attnbstable ta non csatrolling interests an the companys cansalidatod statements at income

Changes in Level Assets Measured at Fair Value on Recurring Basis for the Year Ended December 31 2009

Purchases

Realized sales pther Net

and settlements transfers

unrealized and in andor

gains issuances out of

losses net net Level

$45 $1 53 $22

20
1276

_______ ____________________

$1125 $18

Do//ar amounts in mi//ions

December 31

2008

December31

2009

Investments $813 $683

Other assets 64 46

Separate account assets 1292

Total Level assets $881 $33 $2021

Total net

gains

losses

included in

earnings11

$92

20
na151

$72

n/a not applicable

Earnings attributable to tha change in unrealized gains or lasses relating ta assets still held at the reporting date

The net in vestment income and net
gains

and lasses attnbstable to separate accosnt assets accrue directly to the contract awners and are not reported an the companyb cansalldated

statements at income
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Realized and Unrealized Gains/ Losses for Level

Assets and Liabilities

Realized and unrealized gains losses recorded for Level

assets and liabilities are reported in non operating income ex

pense on the Companys consolidated statements of income

portion of net income loss for consolidated investments and

all of the net income loss for consolidated VIEs is allocated

to non controlling interests to reflect net income loss not

attributable to the Company

Significant Transfers In and/or Out of Levels

Transfers in and/or out of Levels are reflected as ofthe begin

ning of the period when significant inputs including market

inputs or performance attributes used for the fair value

measurement become observable unobservable or when

the Company determines it has the ability or no longer has the

ability
to redeem in the near term certain investments that the

Company values using NAV or capital account or when the

book value of certain equity method investments no longer rep

resents fair value as determined under fair value methodologies

Dollar amounts in millions

Trading

Equity

Consolidated sponsored investment funds

Private equity funds of funds

Other funds of hedge funds

Consolidated VIE

Private equity funds

not redeemable

Separate Account Assets

In the year ended December 31 2010 there were $1.5 billion of

net transfers out of Level to Level related to debt securities

held within separate account assets The net transfers in Levels

were primarily due to
availability

of observable market inputs

including additional inputs from pricing vendors and brokers

In the year ended December 31 2010 there were $63 million of

net transfers of equity securities held within separate account

assets into LeOeI from Level and Level The net transfers

into Level were primarily due to market inputs no longer being

considered observable

Significant Other Settlements in 2010

As ofianuary 12010 upon the adoption of ASU 2009 17

there was $35 million reclassification of assets from Level

private equity investments to Level private equity assets of

consolidated VIEs as well as the consolidation of $1157 million

of borrowings within the consolidated CLOs

Total

Unfunded Redemption Redemption

Ref Fair Value Commitments Frequency Notice Period

Daily 100% none

62 n/r

Quarterly 84%
Annual 6% 30 90 days

Monthly1%

Quarterly 7%

n/r 82%
57 n/r

52 Quarterly 18%
n/r 82%

Monthly 11%
Quarterly 89% 60 90 days

comprised of equity method ihvestmenls which include investment companies which in accordance With GAAP account for both their hnancial assets and financial liabf ides under fair

value measures therefore the companys investment in such equity method investees approximates fad value

rhis category includes several csnsohdated offshore feeder funds that invest in master funds with multiple equity strategies to diversity risks The fair values of the investments in this

category have been estimated using the net asset value of master offshore funds held by the feeder funds Investments in this category generally can be redeemed at any time as long as

there are no restrictions in place by the underlying master funds

This category
includes the

underlying
third party pnvate equity funds within consshdated lllackllock spsnsored private equity funds offends The fair values of the investments in the third

party funds have been estimated using the net asset value of the companys ownership interest in partners capital in each fund in the port sb as well as other performance inputs These

investments are nut subject to redemphon however for certain funds the company may sell or transfer its interest which may need approval by the general partners the underlying

funds Ose to the nature of the investments in this category
the company reduces hs investment by distributions that are received through the reahvation of the undedying assets of the

funds It is eshmated that the undedying assets of these funds mill be hquidated over weghted average period of approximately llyears rsthi
remaining unfunded commitments to other

third party funds is $62 milhon The company is contractually obllgated to fund only $42 milton to the consolidated funds while the remaining unfunded balances in the table absve are

required tube funded by capital contribu buns from non controlllng interest holders

This category includes several consobdated funds of hedge funds that invest in muhiple strategies to diversify risks The fair values of the investments in this category have been eshmated

using the net asset value of the funds omnership interest in partners capital of each fund in the portfolio Investments in thm category generally can be redeemed as long as there are no

resfrictions in place by the underlying funds

This category includes hedge funds and funds of hedge funds that inve or primarily in equities llxed income secunhes distressed credll and mortgage mstruments and other third party

hedge funds The fair values of the investments in this category have been eshmated using the net asset value of the companys ownership interest in partners capllat Iris estimated that

the investments in the funds that are not subect to redemphons mill be liquidated over weighted average period of less than lyears

eI This category includes severaiprivate equity funds that inillally invest in non marketable secunties of pnvate companies which ultimately may become publlc in the future The fair

values of these investments have been eshmated using the net asset value of the comnanvs ownership interest in partners capital as well as other performance inputs The comnanvs

investment in each fund is not subject to redemphon and is normally returned through distributions as resull of the bquidation of the undedying assets of the pnvate eqully funds Iris

eshmated that the investment in these funds will be llquidated over meighted average period of approximately syears

Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value Per Share

As practical expedient to value certain investments the Company relies on net asset values as the fair value for certain investments

The following table lists information regarding all investments that use fair value measurement to account for both their financial

assets and financial liabilities in their calculation of net asset value per share or its equivalent at December31 2010

$9

Equity method

Hedge funds/funds of hedge funds 269

247

Private equity funds

Real estate funds

n/r

68

44

Deferred compensation plan hedge

fund investments 27

15 9Odays

n/r

60 days

29 n/r n/r

Total $696 $182

itt NOTES



This catbgerymcludes several real estate fsnds that in vest primarily ts acquire expand renevate finance held fur in vestment and ultimately sell incsme pruducing apartment prsperhes er

te capitahze en the distress in the residenhal real estate market The fair values ef the investments in this categery have been eshmated ssing the net asset valse ef the Cumpanys uwner

ship interest in partners capitat The majurity ef the Cempanys investments in these fsnds is net ssbject te redemptien and is nermally reterned thresgh diutnbuhuns as resslt uf the

hquidatien ef the underlying assets ef the real estate fsnds It is esbmated that the investments ih these funds will be liquidated ever weighted average pened ef appruximately 7yearu

This categery includes investments in certain hedge fends thet invest in energy and health science related equity uecurihee The fair values ef the investments in this categery have been

eshmated suing the net asset value ef the Cempanys ewners hip mte rest in partners capital as well as perfermance inputs

This categery includes the underlying third party pri vale eqmty funds within see cunuebdated BlackRuck spunuered pri vale equity fund uf funds The fair values ef the investments in the

third
putty

herlc have hene vitimaterl uiieg the net accpt value ef the rempany ewnercbp interect in partntrc capital in Parh fred in the pnrttnhin as weil at ether perfnrrnaere mpuic

These investments are net subject te redemptien he we ver fur certain funds the Cumpanymaysell ur transfer its interest which may need appreval by the general partner ef the underly

ing funds Due tu the nature uf the inveutmentu in this categury the Cempany reduces its investment by distributiuns that are received threugh tue reahzatien ef the undedying assets uf

the funds It is eshmaled that the underlying assets ef these funds will be liquidated ever weighted average purled uf appruximatuly 5years Tetal remaining unfunded cummitmentu Is

ether third party funds is 52 milhen which are required Is be funded by capital centribuhunu frem nun centrulhug interest hulderu

Fair Value Option

Upon consolidation of three CLOs on JanuaTy 2010 the

Company elected to adopt thefair value option provisions for

eligible
assets and liabilities including bank loans and borrowings

of the CLOs To the extent there is difference between the

change in fair value of the assets and liabilities the difference will

be reflected as net income loss attributable to nonredeemable

non controlling interests on the consolidated statements of

income and offset by change in appropriated retained earnings

on the consolidated statements of financial condition

The following table presentsas of December31 2010 the

tair value of those assets and liabilities selected tor tair value

accounting
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Ou/Iuramuuntsinmilliunc December 31 2010

CLO Bank Loans

Aggregate principal amounts outstanding $1245
Fairvalue $1162

Aggregate unpaid principal
balance in excess of fair value $83

Unpaid principal balance of loans more than 90 days past due $3

Aggregate fair value of loans more than 90 days past due $1

Aggregate unpaid principal
balance in excess of fair value for loans more than 90 days past due $2

CLO Borrowings

Aggregate principal amounts outstanding $1430
Fairvalue $1278

The principal amounts outstanding of the borrowings issued by $175 million loss in the fair value of the CLO borrowings The net

the CLOs mature between 2014 and 2019 loss was recorded in net gain loss on consolidated VIEs on the

consolidated statement of income The change in fair value of

During the year ended December31 2010 the change in fair

the assets and liabilities includes interest income and expensevalue of the bank loans along with the bonds held at fair value

resulted in $148 million gain which was offset by
respectively



08/VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

In the normal oourse of business the Company is the manager

of various types of sponsored investment vehioles including

CDOs/CLOs and sponsored investment funds whioh may be

oonsidered VIEs The Company receives advisory fees and/

or other incentive related fees for its services and may from

time to time own equity or debt securities or enter into deriva

tives with the vehicles each of which are considered variable

interests The Company enters into these variable interests

principally to address client needs through the launch of such

investment vehicles The VIEs are primarily financed via
capital

contributed by equity and debt holders The Companys involve

ment in financing the operations of the VIEs is limited to its

equity interests

The PB of VIE that is an investment fund that meets the

conditions of ASU 2010 10 is the enterprise that has variable

interest or combination of variable interests including those

of related parties that will absorb majority of the entitys

expected losses receive majority of the entitys expected

residual returns or both In order to determine whether the

Company is the PB of VIE management must make significant

estimates and assumptions of probable future cash flows of the

VIEs Assumptions made in such analyses may include but are

not limited to market prices of securities market interest rates

potential credit defaults on individual securities or default rates

on portfolio of securities pre-payments realization of gains

liquidity or marketability of certain securities discount rates

and the probability of certain other outcomes

Effective January 2010 the PB of CDO/CLO or other
entity

that is VIE that does not meet the conditions of ASU 2010 10

is the enterprise that has the power to direct activities of the

entity
that most significantly impact the entitys economic per

formance and has the obligation to absorb losses or the right to

receive benefits that
potentially

could be significant to the entity

VIEs in Which BlackRock is the Primary
Beneficiary

At December 31 2010

At December 31 2010 BlackRock was the primary beneficiary

of four VIEs which included three CLOs in which it did not have

an investment however BlackRock as the collateral manager

was deemed to have both the power to control the activities of

the CLOs and the
right to receive benefits that could potentially

be significant to the VIE In addition BlackRock was the primary

beneficiary of one sponsored private eqoityinvestment fund

in which it had non-substantive investment which absorbed

the majority of the
variability

due to its de facto third party re

lationships with other partners in the fund The assets of these

VIEs are not available to creditors of the Company In addition

the investors in these VIEs have no recourse to the credit of

the Company At December31 2010 the following balances

related to these four VIEs were consolidated on the Companys

consolidated statement of financial condition

Do//ar amounts in mi/lions December 31 2010

Assets of consolidated VIEs

Cash and cash equivalents $93

Bank loans bonds and other investments 1312

Liabilities of consolidated VIEs

Borrowings 1278
Other liabilities

Appropriated retained earnings 75
Non controlling interests of consolidated VIEs 45

Total net interests in consolidated VIEs

For the year ended December31 2010 the Company recorded have substantive investment due to its de facto third party

non operating expense of $35 million offset by $35 million net relationships with other partners in the fund Due to the

loss attributable to nonredeemable non-controlling interests on consolidation of this VJE at December 31 2009 the Company

the Companys consolidated statements of income recorded $54 million of net assets primarily comprised of

At December 31 2010 bank loans bonds and other investments
investments and cash and cash equivalents These net assets

of consolidated VIEs were $1162 million $113 million and were offset by $54 million of nonredeemable non controlling

$37 million respectively The weighted average maturity of the interests which reflect the equity ownership of third parties on

bank loans and bonds was approximately 4.2 years
the Companys consolidated statements of financial condition

At December 31 2009
For the year ended December31 2009 the Company recorded

non-operating expense of $4 million offset by $4 million net

At December31 2009 BlackRock was the PB of one VIE loss attributable to nonredeemable non-controlling interests on

sponsored private equity investment fund in which it did not its consolidated statements of income
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VIEs in Which the Company Holds Significant Variable Interests or is the Sponsor That Holds
Variable Interest but is Not the Primary Beneficiary of the VIE

At December 31 2010 and 2009 the Companys carrying value of assets and liabilities and its maximum risk of loss related to VIEs

in which it holds significant variable interest or is the sponsor that holds variable interest but for which it was not the PB were as

follows

At December 31 2010

Variable Interests on the Consolidated

Statement of Financial Condition

Other Net

Advisory Fee Assets

Receivables Liabilities

Maximum

Risk of LossDo//ar amounts fri mi//ions Investments

CDOs/CLOs $2 $3 $3 $22

Other sponsored investment funds

Collective trusts 188 188

Private equity funds 14 14

Other 14 52 66

Total $30 $243 $10 $290

The size of the net assets of the VIEs that the Company does aggregated separately and may include collective trusts

not consolidate related to CDOs/CLOs collective trust funds that invest in other collective trusts

and other sponsored investment funds were as follows
The net assets of these VIEs primarily are comprised of

CDO5/CLO5 approximately $4 billion comprised of cash and cash equivalents and investments offset by

approximately $7 billion of assets at fair value and $11 billion liabilities primarily comprised of various accruals for the

of liabilities primarily comprised of unpaid principal debt sponsored investment vehicles

obligations to CDU/CLO debt holders
At December31 2010 BlackRocks maximum risk of loss

Other sponsored investments funds approximately ossuuiated with these VIEs pri narily
relates tu BlaukRouks

$1.6 trillion to $1.7 trillion of net assets investments advisory fee receivables and Hi $17 million

This amount includes approximately $1.2 trillion
of credit protection sold by BlackRock to third party in

of collective trusts Each collective trust has been synthetic CDO transaction

At December 31 2009

Variable Interests on the Consolidated

Statement of Financial Condition

Other Net

Advisory Fee Assets Maximum

Do//aramounts/nmj//ions Investments Receivables Liabilities Risk of Loss

CDO5/CLOs $2 $2 $3 $21

Other sponsored investment funds 14 254 268

Total $16 $256 $10 $289

The size of the net assets of the VIEs that the Company does aggregated separately and may include collective trusts

not consolidate related to CDO5/CLOs collective trust funds that invest in other collective trusts

and other sponsored-investment funds were as follows
The net assets of these VIEs primarily are comprised of

CDOs/CLOs approximately $8 billion comprised of cash and cash equivalents and investments offset by

approximately $10 billion of assets at fair value and $18 billion liabilities primarily comprised of various accruals for the

of liabilities primarily comprised of unpaid principal debt
sponsored investment vehicles

obligations to CDO/CLO debt holders

At December31 2009 BlackRocks maximum risk of loss

Other sponsored investments funds approximately associated with these VIEs primarily relates to BlackRocks

$1.5 trillion to $1.6 trillion of net assets
investments ii advisory fee receivables and Hi $17 million

This amount includes approximately $1.1 trillion
of credit protection sold by BlackRock to third party in

of collective trusts Each collective trust has been synthetic CDO transaction
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09/DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING

For the years ended December31 2010 and 2009 the

Company did not hold any derivatives designated in formal

hedge relationship under ASC 815 10

During 2007 the Company commenced program to enter into

series of total return swaps to economically hedge against

market price exposures with respect to certain seed investments

in sponsored investment products At December31 2010 the

Cnmpany had six outstanding total ret rn swaps with two criun

terparties with an aggregate notional value of approximately

$25 million At December31 2009 the Company had seven

outstanding total return swaps with two counterparties with an

aggregate notional value of approximately $36 million

By using derivative financial instruments the Company exposes

itself to market and counterparty risk Market risk from forward

foreign currency exchange contracts is the effect on the value

of financial instrument that results from change in currency

exchange rates The Company manages certain exposure to

market risk associated with foreign currency exchange contracts

by establishing and monitoring parameters that limit the

types and degrees of market risk that may be undertaken At

December 31 2010 the Company did not have any outstanding

forward foreign currency exchange contracts At December

31 2009 the Company had two outstanding forward foreign

currency exchange contracts with two counterparties with an

aggregate notional value of approximately $100 million

In December 2007 BlackRock entered into capital support

agreements up to $100 million with two enhanced cash

funds These capital support agreements were backed by

letters of credit issued under BlackRocks revolving credit facil

ity
In December 2uOu the capital support agreements were

modified to be up to $45 million and were no longer backed by

the letters of credit In 2009 the capital support agreements

were terminated due to the closure of the related funds

During 2009 the Company provided approximately $4 million

of capital contributions to the funds under the capital support

agreements BlackRock determined that the capital support

agreements qualified as derivatives under ASC 815 10 Upon

closure of the funds in 2009 the
liability decreased $11 million

to zero and the change in the
liability was included in general

and administration expenses

The flompany arts the portfolio manager in series of crdit

default swap transactions referred to collectively as the Pillars

synthetic COO transaction Pillars The Company has entered

into credit default swap with Citibank N.A Citibank

providing Citibank credit protection of approximately $17 million

representing the Companys maximum risk of loss with respect

to the provision of credit protection The Companys manage

ment has performed an assessment of its variable interest in

Pillars collateral management agreement and the credit default

swap under ASC 810 10 and has concluded the Company is not

Pillars PB Pursuant to ASC 815-10 the Company carries the

Pillars credit default swap at fair value based on the expected

future cash flows under the arrangement

Dn behalf of clients of the Companys registered life insurance

companies that maintain separate accounts representing

segregated funds held for the purpose of funding individual

and group pension contracts the Company invests in various

derivative instruments which may include futues and forward

foreign currency exchange conttacts and interest rate and

inflation rate swaps

The Company consolidates certain sponsored investment

funds which may utilize derivative instruments as part of

the funds investment strategy The change in fair value of

such derivatives which is recorded in non-operating income

expense was not material to the Companys consolidated

financial statements

The following table presents fair value as of December31 2010 of derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments

Liabilities

Balance Sheet Fair

Location Value

The following table presents fair value as of December31 2009 of derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments

Assets

Balance Sheet Fair

Location Value
Dollar amounts in mi/lions

Credit default swap Pillars Other assets Other liabilities $3

Separate account derivatives Separate

account

assets 1599

Separate

account

liabilities 1599

Total $1599 $1602

Dollar amounts in
millions

Assets

Balance Sheet

Location

Fair

Value

Liabilities

Balance Sheet

Location

Fair

Value

Credit default swap Pillars Other assets Other liabilities $3

Separate account derivatives Separate

account

assets 1501

Separate

account

liabilities 1501

Total $1501 $1504
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Do//ar amounts in millions
Income Statement Location 2010 2009

Foreign currency exchange contracts General and administration expense $5
Total return swaps Nnn nperating income expense 10
Credit default swap Pillars Non operating income expense

Capital support agreements General and administration expense

Total $7 $5

The follwing table presents gains losses recognized in income on derivative instruments for the years ended December31 2010

and 2009

Net realized and unrealized gains and losses attributable to derivatives held by separate account assets and liabilities accrue directly

to the contract owners and are not reported in the Companys consolidated statements of income

10/PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following

Estimated useful
December31

Dollar amounts in millions life in years 2010 2009

Property and equipment

Land N/A $4 $4

Building 39 17 17

Building improvements 15 13 13

Leasehold improvements 1-15 352 324

Equipment and computer software 368 304

Furniture and.fixtures 74 69

Construction in progress N/A 26 15

Gross property and equipment 854 746

Less accumulated depreciation 426 303

Property and equipment net $428 $443

N/A NotAppiicable

Qualifying software costs of approximately $39 million $31 Depreciation expense was $145 million $85 million and $84

million and $28 million have been capitalized within equipment million for the years ended December31 2010 2009 and

and computer software for the years ended December31 2008 respectively

2010 2009 and 2008 respectively and are being amortized

over an estimated useful life of three years

11/GOODWILL

Goodwill activity during the years ended December31 2010 and 2009 was as follows

Dollar amounts in millions 2010 2009

Beginning of year balance $12680 $5533

Goodwill acquiredrelated to

BG191 6952

Other

Total goodwill acquired 6952

Goodwill adjustments related to

Quellos 117 185

SSR/Other 10

Total goodwill adjustments 117 195

End of year balance $12805 $12680

Oecernbersi 2009 goodwill has been retrospectively adjusted by Silo million to reflect newioformation obtained about facts that existed as of Oacember 2009 the aoi acquisition date

During the year ended December31 2010 goodwill increased benefits realized from tax deductible goodwill in excess of book

by $125 million The increase resulted from $136 million goodwill from the Quellos Transaction

release of common shares held in escrow in connection with
The impairment tests performed for goodwill as of July31 2010

the Quellos Transaction and the Helix Transaction offset by
2009 and 2008 indicated that no impairment charges were

decline related to tax benefits realized from tax-deductible
required The Company continuously monitors its book value

goodwill in excess of book goodwill
per share as compared to closing prices of its common stock

At December31 2010 the balance of the Quellos tax deductible for potential indicators of impairment As of December31

goodwill in excess of book gocdwi was approximately 2010 the Companys common stock closed at $190.58 which

$353 million Goodwill related to the Quellos Transaction will exceeded its book value per share of approximately $136.09

continue to be reduced in future periods by the amount of tax after excluding appropriated retained earnings
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Do//ar amounts in millions

AmountYear

$1562011

1552012

1552013

2014

2015

148

119

Indefinite-lived Acquired License

In 2010 in conjunction with the Primasia Transaction the

Company acquired license to develop mutual funds in Taiwan

12/INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets at December 31 2010 and 2009 consisted of the following

Remaining
December 31 2010

Weighted-Average Gross

Estimated Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying

Do//ar amounts in m////ons
Useful Life Amount Amortization Amount

Indefinite-lived intangible assets

Acquired management contracts

Mutual funds/Exchange-traded products N/A $10661 $10661
Other collective investment funds N/A

Alternative investment funds N/A

3610 3610

917 917

Trade names/trademarks N/A 1403 1403
License N/A

Total indefinite lived intangible assets 16597 16597

Finite-lived intangible assets

Acquired management contracts

Institutional/Retail separate accounts 6.5 1341 534 807

Alternative investment accOunts and funds 5.0 183 79 104

Other1 7.6

Total finite-lived intangible assets 63 1530 615 915

Total intangible assets $18127 615 17512

Remaining
December31 2009

Weighted Average Gross

Estimated Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying

Do//ar amounts in mi//ions Useful Life Amount Amortization Amount

Indefinite-lived intangible assets

Acquired management contracts

Mutual funds/Exchange traded products121 N/A $1 0661 $1 0661

Other collective investment funds121 N/A 3610 3610

Alternative investment funds N/A

Trade names/trademarks N/A

917 917

1403 1403

Total indefinite lived intangible assets 16591 16591

Finite-lived intangible assets

Acquired management contracts

Institutional/Retail separate accounts121 7.4 1345 403 942

Alternative investment accounts and funds 5.1 190 62 128

Other111 8.6

Total finite lived intangible assets 7.2 1541 466 1075

Total intangible assets $1 8132 $466
.-

$17666

Nor Applicable

Orherrepreseols inlellcclsal properly

lode finile hved and hose lived inrangible amer have been rerrospeclively adjssled by $25 milhoo and $7 mN/on respecrively In refIner new informahon oblained aboul fads rhar

exisledas of December 12009 rho fiGlacqa/sihoc dale

Amortization expense for finite lived intangible assets was Indefinite-livedAcquired Management Contracts

$160 million $147 million and $146 million in 2010 2009 and
On December 2009 in conjunction with the 801 Transaction

2008 respectively The impairment tests performed for intan
the Company acquired indefinite lived management contracts

gible assets as of July31 2010 2009 and 2008 indicated that
valued at $9810 million consisting primarily of exchange traded

no impairment charges were required
funds and common and collective trusts

Finite-lived Acquired Management Contracts
Indefinite-lived Acquired Trade Names/Trademarks

In December 2009 in conjunction with the 801 Transaction
On December 2009 in conjunction with the BCI Transaction

the Company acquired $156 million of finite lived management the Company acquired trade names/trademarks related to

contracts with weighted-average estimated useful life of
shares /LifePafh valued at $1403 billion The fair value was

approximately 10 years determined using royalty rate primarily based on normalized

Estimated amortization expense for finite lived intangible assets marketing and promotion expenditures to develop and support

for each of the five succeeding years is as follows the brands globally
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13/B OR ROW IN OS

Short-Term Borrowings

The carrying value of short term borrowings included the following

118 NOTES

December31

Do//ar arnounrs /n m////ons
2010 2009

Commercial paper program $2034

2007 Revolving credit facility
100 200

Total short-term borrowings $100 $2234

Commercial Paper Program domestic unrestricted cash of to which was satisfied with

On October 14 2009 BlackRock established commercial pa
ratio of less than to at December31 2010

per program the CP Program under which the Company may The 2007 facility provides back up liquidity funds ongoing work

issue unsecured commercial paper notes the CP Notes on ing capital for general corporate purposes and funds various

private plauenient basis up tu maximum aggregate omuurit investment opportunities At December 31 2010 the Company

outstanding at any time of $3 billion The initial proceeds of the had $100 million outstanding under the 2007 facility with an

commercial paper issuances were used for the financing of interest rate of 0.47% and maturity date of Pebruary 28 2011

portion of the 801 Transaction Subsidiaries of Bank of America
Lehman Commercial Paper Inc has $140 million participation

and Barclays as well as other third parties act as dealers under
under the 2007 facility however BlackRock does not expect

the CP Program The CP Program is supported by the 2007
that Lehman Commercial Paper Inc will honor its commitment

revolving credit facility
to fund additional amounts Bank of America has $140 million

The Company began issuance of CP Notes under the CP Program participation under the 2007 facility

on November 2009 During 2010 all CP Notes outstanding as

of December31 2009 have been repaid and as of December31 Japan Commitment-line

2010 BlackRock did not have any outstanding CP Notes
In September 2010 BlackRock Japan Co Ltd wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company renewed five billion Japanese2007 Revolving Credit Facility
yen commitment line agreement with banking institution

In August 2007 the Company entered into five year the japan Commitment-line The term of the renewed

$2.5 billion unsecured revolving credit
facility the 2007 facil-

Japan Commitment-line is one year and will accrue interest on

ity which permits the Company to request an additional
outstanding borrowings at the applicable Japanese short-term

$500 million of borrowing capacity subject to lender credit
prime rate The Japan Commitment line is intended to provide

approval up to maximum of $3.0 billion The 2007 facility liquidity
and

flexibility
for operating requirements in Japan At

requires the Company not to exced maximum leverage ratio December31 2010 the Company had no borrowings outstand

ratio of net debt to earnings before interest taxes deprecia ing under the Japan Commitment-line

tion and amortization where net.debt equals total debt less

Convertible Debentures

The maturity amount and carrying value of the 2.625% convertible debentures due in 2035 included the following

December31

Do//aramounts/nmi///ons 2010 2009

Maturity amount/Carrying value $67 $243

Fairvalue $128 $486

In Pebruary 2005 the Company issued $250 million of convert 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively As of March 31 2010 the

ible debentures the Debentures due in zu35 and bearing initial $15 million debt discount was fully amortized

interest at rate of 2.625% per annum Interest is payable semi-
Prior to Pebruary 15 2009 the Debentures could have been

annually in arrears on Pebruary 15 and August 15 of each year convertible at the option of the holder at December31 2008

The Company retrospectively adopted the requirements of ASC conversion rate of 9.9639 shares of common stock per one

470 20 on January 2009 see Note Significant Accounting dollar principal amount of Debentures under certain circum

Policies for further discussion resulting in total cumulative im stances Comnencing on Pebruary 15 2009 at any time
prior

pact of $9 million reduction to retained earnings at December to maturity at the option of the holder the Debentures became

31 2008 The effective borrowing rate for nonccnvertible debt convertible into cash and in some situations as described

at the time of issuance was estimated to be 4.3% which resulted below additional shares of the Companys common stock at

in $18 million of the $250 million initial aggregate principal
the current conversion rate During the year ended December

amount of the Debentures issued or $12 million after tax being
31 2010 holders of $176 million of Debentures converted their

attributable to equity The Company recognized interest expene holdings into cash and approximately 942000 shares

of $2 million $10 million and $10 million for years ended At the time the Debentures are tendered for conversion for

December31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively comprised each one dollar principal amount of Debentures converted

of $2 million $6 million and $7 million related to the coupon holder shall be entitled to receive cash and shares of BlackRock

and less than $1 million $4 million nd $3 million related to common stock if any the aggregate value of which the con

amortization of the discount for the years ended December31 version value will be determined by multiplying the applicable



conversion rate by the average of the daily volume weighted

average price of BlackRock common stock for each of the ten

consecutive trading days beginning on the second trading day

immediately following the day the Debentures are tendered

for conversion the ten day weighted average price The

Company will deliver the conversion value to holders as fol

lows an amount in cash the principal return equal to the

lesser of the aggregate conversion value of the Debentures

to be converted and the aggregate principal amount of the

Debentures to be converted and if the aggregate conversion

value of the Debentures to be converted is greater than the

principal return an amount in shares the net shares deter

mined as set forth below equal to such aggregate conversion

value less the principal return the net share amount The

number of net shares to be paid will be determined by dividing

.the net share amount by the ten day weighted average price

The conversion rate for the Debentures is subject to adjust

ments upon the occurrence of certain corporate events such

as change of control of the Corrrpaoy or payment of quarterly

dividends greater than $0.30 per share The initial conversion

rate of 9.7282 was determined by the underwriters based

on market conditions and hasbeen subsequently revised to

10.2628 as result of dividends paid by the Company that were

in excess of $0.30 per share

Beginning on February 20 2010 the Company was able to

redeem any of the Debentures at redemption price of 100%

of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest

including contingent interest and accrued and unpaid liquidated

damages if any upon not more than 60 but not less than

30 days notice Holders of the Debentures have the right to

require the Company to repurchase the Debentures for cash on

February 15 2015 2020 2025 and 2030 In addition holders

of the Debentures may require the Company to repurchase

the Debentures for cash at repurchase price equal to 100%

of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest

including contingent interest and accrued and unpaid liquidated

damages if any upon change of control of the Company or

if BlackRocks common stock is neither listed for trading on

the New York Stock Exchange nor approved for trading on the

NASDAG

The carrying value and fair value of long term borrowings estimated using market prices at December31 2010 included the following

2017 Notes

In September 2007 the Company issued $700 million in

aggregate principal amount of 6.25% senior unsecured notes

maturing on September 15 2017 the 2017 Notes Interest is

payable semi annually in arrears on March 15 and September

15 of each year or approximately $44 million per year The 2017

Notes may be redeemed
prior to maturity at any time in whole

or in part at the option of the Company at make whole

redemption price The 2017 Notes were issued at discount of

$o million which is being amortized over their ten year term

The Company incurred approximately $4 million of debt issu

ance costs which are being amortized over ten years As of

December31 2010 $3 million of unamortized debt issuance

costs were included in other assets on the consolidated state

ment of financial condition

20122014 and 2019 Notes

In December 2009 the Company issued $2.5 billion in ag

gregate principal amount of unsecured and unsubordinated

obligations These notes were isued as three separate series

of senior debt securities including $0.5 billion of 2.25% notes

$1.0 billion of 3.50% notes and $1.0 billion of 5.0% notes

maturing in December 2012 2014 and 2019 respectively Net

proceeds of this offering were used to repay borrowings under

the CP Program which was used to finance portion of the 801

Transaction and for general corporate purposeb Interest on

these notes is payable semi annually in arrears on June 10 and

December10 of each year in an amount of approximately $96

million per year These notes may be redeemed prior to maturity

at any time in whole oE in part at the option of the Company at

make whole redemption price These notes were issued

collectively at discount of $5 million which is being amortized

over the respective terms of the notes The Company incurred

approximately $13 million of debt issuance costs which are

being amortized over the respective terms of these notes As of

December31 2010 $11 million of unamortized debt issuance

costs were included in other assets on the consolidated state

ment of financial condition

Long-Term Borrowings

Do//aramountsinmil//ons

2.25%

Notes

due 2012

3.50%

Notes

due 2014

6.25%

Notes

due 2017

5.00%

Notes

due 2019

Total

Long term

Borrowings

Maturity amount $500 $1000 $700 $1000 $3200

Unamortized discount

Carryingvalue $499 $999 $696 $998 $3192

Fairvalue $511 $1040 $729 $1041 $3381

Fair value

The carrying value and fair value of long term borrowings estimated using market prices at December 31 2009 included the following

2.25% 3.50% 6.25% 5.00% Total

Notes Notes Notes Notes Long term

Doflaramounts/nmiffions due 2012 due 2014 due 2017 due 2019 Borrowings

Maturity amount $500 $1000 $700 $1000 $3200

Unamortized discount

Carrying value $499

$497

$999

$987

$696

$751

$997

$987

$3191

$3222
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14/COMMITMENTS ANO CONTINOENCIES

Operating Lease Commitments

The Company leases its primary office space under agreements

which expire through 2035 Future minimum commitments

under these operating leases are as follows

Dollar amounts in millions

Year Amount

2011 $131

117201

2013

2014

2015

Thereafter

payment related to the first contingent payment if certain per

formance measures were met in 2010 as the value of the first

contingent payment was less than $374 million At December

31 2010 the base and performance fee measures were not

achieved and therefore the remaining contingent payments will

not occur

In connection with the acquisition of SSR the holding company

of State Street Research and Management Company which

closed in January 2005 the Company made final contingent

payment in August 2010 of approximately $8 million based on the

106
Companys retained assets under management associated with

903
the MetLife Inc defined benefit and defined contribution plans

$1502

Rent expense and certain office equipment expense under

agreements amounted to $158 million $87 million and $92

million for the years ended December31 2010 2009 and

2008 respectively

Purchase Commitments

During 2010 the Company entered into purchase obligation

for construction services related to Drapers Gardens of ap

proximately $67 million The Company incurred $4 million of

construction services which is recorded in property and equip

ment durii
ig

the year ended December31 2010 resulting in

remaining obligation of approximately $63 million

Investment Commitments

At December31 2010 the Company had $183 million of various

capital commitments to fund sponsored investment funds

including funds of private equity funds real estate funds and

distressed credit funds This amodnt excludes additional com

mitments made by consolidated funds of funds to underlying

third party funds as third party gon controlling interest holders

have the legal obligation to fund the respective commitments

of such funds of funds Generally the timing of the funding of

these commitments is unknown and the commitments are

callable on demand at any time prior to the expiration of the

commitment These unfunded commitments are not recorded

on the Companys consolidated statements of financial

condition These commitments do not include
P.Otential

future

commitments approved by the Companys Capital Committee

but which are not yet legally binding The Company intends to

make additional capftel commitments from time to time to fund

additional investment products for and with its clients

Contingencies

Contingent Payments Related te

Business Acquisitions

On October 2007 the Company acquired the fund of funds

business of Ouellos As part of this transaction Ouellos is entitled

to receive two contingent payments upon achieving certain

investment advisory revenue measures through December31

2010 totaling up to an additional $969 million in combination

of cash and stock The first contingent payment was paid in

2009 and the second contingent payment of up to $595 million

would have been payable in cash in 2011

During 2009 the Company determined the first contingent

payment to be $219 million of which $11 million was previously

paid in cash during 2008 Of the remaining $208 million $156

million was paid in cash and $52 r6illion was paid in common

stock or approximately 330000 shares based on price

of $15733 per share Ouellos was entitled to catch-up
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Capital Support Agreements

In December 2007 BlackRock entered into capital support

agreements up to $100 million with two enhanced cash funds

These capital support agreements were backed by letters of

credit issued under BlackRocks revolving credit facility In

December 2008 the
capital support agreements were modi

fied to be up to $45 million and were no longer backed by the

letters of credit In January and May 2009 the capital support

agreements were terminated due to the closure of the related

funds During the six months ended June 30 2009 the Company

provided approximately $4 million of capital contributions to the

funds under the capital support agreements At December31

2008 the derivative
liability

for the fair value of the capital sup

port agreements for the two funds totaled approximately

$18 million The fair value of these liabilities increased and de

creased as BlackRocks
obligation

under the guarantee fluctuated

based on the fair value of the derivative Upon closure of the funds

the liability decreased $11 million to zero while the change in the

liability was included in general and administration expenses

Other Contingent Payments

The Company acts as the portfolio manager in series of

credit default swap transactions and has maximum potential

exposure of $17 million under credit default swap between the

Company and Citibank See Note Derivatives and Hedging

for further discussion of this transaction and the related

commitment

Legal Proceedings

From time to time BlackRock receives subpoenas or other

requests for information from various U.S federal state govern

mental and domestic and international regulatory authorities in

connection with certain industry wide or other investigations

or proceedings It is BlackRocks policy to cooperate fully
with

such inquiries The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have

been named as defendants in various
legal actions including

arbitrations and other litigation arising in connection with

BlackRocks activities Additionally certain of the investment

funds that the Company manages are subject to lawsuits any

of which potentially could harm the investment returns of the

applicable fund or result in the Company being liable to the

funds for any resulting damages

Management after consultation with legal counsel currently

does not anticipate that the aggregate liability
if any arising

out of regulatory matters or lawsuits will have material adverse

effect on BlackRocks earnings financial position or cash flows

although at the present time management is not in position

to determine whether any such pending or threatened matters

will have material adverse effect on BlackRocks results of

operations in any future reporting period



Indemnifications

In the ordinary course of business BlackRock enters into con

tracts pursuant to which it may agree to indemnify third parties

in certain circumstances The terms of these indemnities vary

from contract to contract and the amount of indemnification

liability
if any cannot be determined

Under the transaction agreement in the MLIM Transaction the

Company has agreed to indemnify Merrill Lynch for losses it may

incur arising from any alleged or actual breach failure to com

ply violation or other deficiency with respect to any regulatory or

fiduciary requirements relating to the operation of BlackRocks

business any fees or expenses incurred or owed by

BlackRock to any brokers financial advisors or comparable other

persons retained or employed by BlackRock in connection with

the MLIM Transaction and certain specified tax covenants

Under the transaction agreement in the BGI Transaction the

Company has agreed to inderrinify Barclays for losses it may

incur arising from breach by the Company of certain repre

sentations breach by the Company of any covenant in the

agreement liabilities of the entities acquired in the transac

tion other than liabilities assumed by Barclays or for which it is

providing indemnification and certain taxes

Management believes that the likelihood of any liability arising

under the MLIM Transaction or the BGI Transaction indemnifica

tion provisions is remote Management cannot estimate any

potential maximum exposure due both to the remoteness of any

potential claims and the fact that items that would be included

within any such calculated claim would be beyond the control of

BlackRock Consequently no liability has been recorded on the

consolidated statements of financial condition

15/STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The components of the Companys stock based compensation expense are comprised of the following

Year ended December31

Do/far amounts/n mi//ions 2010 2009 20DB

Stock based compensation

Restricted stock and RSUs $375 $246 $209

Long term incentive plans funded by PNC 58 59 59

Stockoptions 12 12 10

Total stock-based compensation $445 $317 $27B

Stock Award and Incentive Plan Restricted Stock and RSUs

Pursuant tu the BlackRuLk Inu 1999 Stuck Award and Incentive Pursuant tu the Award Plon retricted stuck grants and

Plan the Award Plan options to purchase shares of the RSUs may be granted to certain employees Substantially all

Companys common stock at an exercise price not less than the restricted stock and RSUs vest dyer periods ranging from one to

market value of BlackRocks common stock on the date of grant five years and are expensed using the straight line method over

in the form of stock options restricted stock or RSUs may be the requisite service period for each separately vesting portion

granted to employees and non employee directors maximum of the award as if the award was in substance multiple awards

of 27000000 shares of common stock are authorized for issu- Prior to 2009 the Company awarded restricted stock and

ance under the Award Plan Df this amount 99563B shares RSUs with nonforfeitable dividend equivalent rights Restricted

remain available for future awards at December31 2010 Upon stock and RSUs awarded in 2009 and 201 Qarenot considered

exercise of employee stock options the issuance of restricted participating securities as the dividend equivalents are subject

stock or the vesting of RSUs the Company issues shares out of to forfeiture prior to vesting of the award

treasury to the extent available

Restricted stock and RSU
activity for the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 20DB is summarized below

Restricted Stock Weighted Average

Outstanding at and Units Grant Date Fair Value

December31 2007 37090DB $1 SB.01

Granted 161 B1 61 $201 SO

Converted 46B046 $146.69

Forfeited 255170 $163.64

December31 20DB 4603953 $1 74.24

Granted B69B49 $1 B.43

Converted B94909 $1 7B.53

Forfeited 21B430 $157.21

December31 2009 5360463 $1 54.75

Granted 32B3321 $22B.77

Converted 1400390 $1 56.09

Forfeited 500925 $19B.B6

December 31 2010 6742469 $187.24

Ar Oecember 31 20/0 approximately a.o mit/ion awards are expected to vest and t.944 awards have vested bet have net been converted

The Company values restricted stock and RSUs at their grant long term incentive compensation which will be
partially

fund

date fair value o5 measured by BlaukRut..ks commun stock price ed by shares currently held by PNC see Lung-Term Incentive

In January 20DB and 2009 the Company granted under
Plans Funded by PNC below The awards cliff vest five years

the Award Plan 295633 and 23417 RSUs respectively as
fmm the date of grant
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In January 2008 and 2009 the Company granted 1212759 and

1789685 RSUs respeotively to employees as part of annual

inoentive oompensation under the Award Plan that vest ratably

over three years from the date of grant

In January 2010 the Company granted the following awards

under the Award Plan

846884 RSUs to employees as part of annual inoentive

oompensation that vest ratably over three years from the

date of grant

256311 RSUs to employees tht oliff vest on January31 2012

the end of the servioe oondition as BlaokRock had aotual

CAAP EPS in exoess of $6.13 in 2010 The RSUs may not be

sold before the one year anqiversary of the vesting date

1497222 RSUs to employees that vest 50% on both January

31 2013 and 2014 the end of the service condition as

BlackRock had actual OAAP EPS in excess of $6.13 in 2010

124575 shares of restricted common stock to employees

that vest in tranches on January31 2010 2011 and 2012

The restricted common stock may not be sold before the

one year anniversary of each vesting date

In May 2010 the Company granted 198977 RSUs to employees

that cliff vest on January 31 2012 the endof the service condi

tion as BlackRock had actual GAAP FF5 in excess of $6.13 in

2010 The RSUs may not be sold before the one year anniversary

of the vesting date

At December 312010 there was $528 million in total unrecog

nized stock based compensation expense related to unvested

restricted stock and RSUs The unrecognized compensation

cost is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted

average period of 1.4 years

In January 2011 the Company gtanted the following awards

under the Award Plan

1594259 RSUs to employees part of annual incentive

compensation that vest ratably over three years from the

date of grant

609733 RSUs to employees that cliff vest 100% on January

31 2014

Long-Term Incentive Plans Funded by PNC

Under share surrender agreement PNC committed to provide

up to 4000000 shares of BlackRock stock hek by PNC to

fund certain BlackRock long term incentive plans LTIP In

February 2009 the share surrender agreement was amended

for PNC to provide BlackRock series non-voting participating

preferred stock to fund the remaining committed shares

The BlackRock Inc 2002 Long Term Retention and Incentive

Plan the 2002 LTIP Awards permitted the grant of up to

$240 million in deferred compensation awards of which the

Company previously granted approximately $233 million

Approximately $208 million of the 2002 LTIP Awards were paid

in January 2007 The 2002 LTIP Awards were settled for ap

proximately 16.7% in cash and the remainder in approximately

million shares of BlackRock common stock contributed by

PNC and distributed to plan participants During the year ended

December31 2010 the remaining $6 million of previously

issued 2002 LTIP Awards were settled in cash and BlackRock

shares held by PNC at conversion price approximating the

market price on the settlement date On the payment date

the Company recorded capital contribution from PNC for the

amount of shares funded by PNC

During 2007 the Company granted additional long term incentive

awards out of the Award Plan of approximately 1.6 million

RSUs that will be settled using BlackRock shares held by PNC

in accordance with the share surrender agreement The RSU

awards will vest on September 29 2011 the end of the service

condition as BlackRock had actual GAAP EPS in excess of

$5.20 the applicable performance hurdle in 2009 The value of

the RSUs was calculated using BlackRocks closing stock price

on the date of grant The grant date fair value of the RSUs is being

amortized as an expense using the straight-line method over

the vesting period net of expected forfeitures The maximum

value of award that may be funded by PNC prior to the earlier

of September 29 2011 or the date the performance criteria are

met is approximately $271 million all of which was granted as

of December31 2009

Subsequent to September 29 2011 the remaining shares com

mitted by PNC of approximately 1.3 million would be available

to fund future long term incentive awards

Stock Options

Stock option grants were made to certain employees pursuant

to the Award Plan in 1999 through 2007 Options granted have

ten year life vest ratably over periods ranging from two to five

years and become exercisable upon vesting The Company has

not granted any stock options subsequent to the January 2007

grant which will vest on September 29 2011 as the Company

had actual GAAP EPS in excess of $5.20 the applicable perfor

mance hurdle in 2009 Stock option activity
for the years ended

December31 2010 2009 and 2008 is summarized below

The aggregate intrinsic value of Options exercised during the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $46 million $63

million and $113 million respectively

Outstanding at

Shares under

option

Weighted average

exercise price

December 312007 4101165 $86.19

Exercised 662013 $36.36

Forfeited 298635 $16776

December31 2008 3140517 $88.82

Exercised 4906 $34.92

Forfeited 8064 $16776

December31 2009 2641836 $98.59

Exercised 2881 00 $39.35

Forfeited 9002 $16776

December 31 20101 2344734 $105.60

At Oecember 2010 approximately 2.3 million options were vested or are expected to vest

122 NOTE5



Employee Stock Purchase Plan ESPP
The ESPP allows eligible employees to purchase the Companys common stock at 95% of the fair market value on the last day of each

three month offering period In accordance with ASC 718-10 Compensation Stock Compensation the Company does not record

compensation expense related to employees purchasing shares under the ESPR

16/EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Deferred Compensation Plans

Voluntary Deferred Compensation Plan

The Company adopted Voluntary Deferred Compensation

Plan VDCP that allows participants to elect to defer between

1% and 100% of their annual cash incentive compensation The

participants must specify deferral period of one three five or

ten years The Company funds the obligation through the estab

lishment of rabbi trust on behalf of the plans participants

Rabbi Trust

The rabbi trust established for the VDCP with assets totaling

$66 million and $57 million as of December31 2910
and 2009

respectively is reflected in investments on the Companys

consolidated statements of financial condition Such invest

ments are classified as trading and other investments The cor

responding liability balance of $66 million and $57 million as of

December31 2010 and 2009 respectively is reflected on the

Companys consolidated statements of financial condition as

accrued compensation and benefits Earnings in the rabbi trust

including unrealized appreciation or depreciation are reflected

as non operating income expense and changes in the corre

sponding liability are reflected as employee compensation and

benefits expense on the consolidated statements of income

Other Deferred Compensation Plans

The Company has additional compensation plans for the

purpose of providing deferred compensation and retention

incentives to certain employees For these plans the final value

of the deferred amount to be distributed upon vesting is associ

ated with the returns of certain investment funds The
liability

balances for these plans were $13 million and $38 million as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively and are reflected

in the Companys statements of financial condition as accrued

compensation and benefits In January 2011 the Company

granted approximately $36 million of additional deferred com

pensation which will fluctuate with investment returns and will

vest ratably over three years from the date of grant

SSR and Realty had deferred compensation plans that allowed

participants to elect to defer purtion of their annual incentive

compensation or commissions for either fixed term or until

retirement and invest the funds in specified investments SSR
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has funded portion of the obligation through the purchase of

company-owned life insurance TOLl policieE to the benefit

of SSR The COLI assets are carried at fair value on the consoli

dated statements of financial condition and at December31

2010 and 2009 the value of the OLl assets was $11 million and

$11 million respectively which were recorded in other assets

Changes in the cash surrendertvalue of the CDLI policies are

recorded to non operating income expense on the consolidated

statements of income In addition the Company has recorded

related obligation to repay the deferred incentive compensation

plus applicable earnings to employees which totaled $10 million

and $11 million which were recorded in accrued compensation

and benefits on the consolidated statements of financial condi

tion as of December31 2010 and 2009 respectively Changes

in the Companys obligations under these plans as result of

appreciation or depreciation of the underlyPng investments in

an employees account are recorded as compensation and

benefits expense on the consolidated statements of income

Both plans no longer show participants to defer portion of

their annual incentive compensation or commissions

Defined Contribution Plans

BlackRock Retirement Savings Plan

Certain of the Companys employees participate in the

BlackRock Retirement Savings Plan BRSP Under the BRSP

employee contributions of up to 6% of eligible compensation

as defined by the plan and subject to Internal Revenue Code

IRC limitations are matched bthe Company at 50% As part

of the BRSP the Company also will make an annual retirement

contribution on behalf of each eligible participant equal to

no less than 3% of eligible comriensation plus an additional

amount determined at the discretion of the Company not to

exceed 2% of eligible compensation for total contribution of

no more than 5% of eligible compensation who has attained

one year of service and remain employed with the Company

through the end of the plan year The BRSP expense for the

Company was $35 million $24 million and $33 million for the

years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Contributions to the BRSP are made in cash and no new invest

ments in BlackRock stock or matching contributions of stock

are available in the BRSR

Stock options outstanding and exercisable at

Options Outstanding

December 31 2010 were as follows

Options Exercisable

Dollar amounts in millions Aggregate

axcaptporsharo data Weighted

Average

Weighted

Average

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Intrinsic

Value of

Exercise Options Remaining Exercise Options Exercise Remaining Exercisable

Prices Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price Life Shares

per share years years

$37.36 1117700 1.79 $37.36 1117700 $37.36 1.79 $171

$167.76 1227034

2344734

6.09

4.04

$167.76

$105.60

45023

1162723

$167.76

$42.41

6.09

1.96 $172

As of December31 2010 the Company had $9 million in unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested

stock options The unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over remaining period of 0.8 years



Effectivdianuary 2011 all U.S employees including U.S

legaoy BGI employees will partioipate in the BRSR All plan

assets in the two legaoy BGI plans inoluding the 401K Plan

and Retirement Plan see below were merged into the BRSP

onianuary 12011 Underthe oombined BRSP employee

oontributions of up to 8% of
eligible oompensation as defined

by the plan and subjeot to IRC limitations will be matohed by

the Company at 50% In addition the Company will oontinue to

make an annual retirement oontribution to eligible partioipants

equal to 3-5% of eligible oompensation

BlackRock Institutional Trust Company 40 1k
Savings Plan formerly the BGI 40 1k Savings Plan

The Company assumed 401k Plan the 801 Plan oovering

employees of former 801 as result of the BGI Transaotion As

part of the BGI Plan employee oontributions for partioipants

with at least one year of servioe were matohed at 200% of

partioipants pre tax oontributions up to 2% of base salary and

overtime and matohed 100% of the next 2% of base salary and

overtime as defined by the plan and subject to IRC limitations

The maximum matohing oontribution partioipant would have

reoeived is an amount equal to 6% of base salary up to the IRC

limitations The BGI Plan expense was $12 million for the year

ended Deoember 31 2010 and immateriafrto the Companys

oonsolidated finanolal statements for the year ended Deoember

31 2009 Effeotive January 2011 the net assets of this plan

merged into the BRSR

BlackRock Institutional Trust Company Retirement

Plan formerly the BG Retirement Plan

The Company assumed defined oontribution money purchase

pension plan 801 Retirement Plan as result of the BGI

Transaction All salaried employees of former 801 and its

participating affiliates who wereU.S residents on the U.S

payroll were eligible
to participate For participants earning less

than $100000 in base salary the4Company contributed 6% of

participants total compensation base salary overtime and

performance bonus up to $100000 For participants earning

$100000 or more in base salary the Company contributed 6%

of participants base salary and overtime up to the IRC limita

tion of $245000 in 2010 These contributions were 25% vested

once the participant has completed two years of service and

then vested at rate of 25% for each additional year of service

completed Employees with five or more years of service under

the Retirement Plan were 100% vested in their entire balance

The Retirement Plan expense was $13 million for the year

ended December31 2010 and immaterial to the Companys

consolidated financia1-stetements for the year ended December

31 2009 Effective January 2011 the net assets of this plan

merged into the BRSR

BlackRock Group Personal Pension Plan

BlackRock Investment Management UK Limited BIM
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company contributes to the

BlackRock Group Personal Pension Plan defined contribution

plan for all employees of BIM BIM contributes between 600 and

15% of each employees eligible compensation The expense

for this plan was $22 million $13 million and $16 million for the

years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Defined Benefit Plans

In 2009 prior to the BGI Transaction the Company had several

defined benefit pension plans in Japan Germany Luxembourg

and Jersey All accrued benefits under these defined benefit

plans are currently frozen and the plans are closed to new

participants In 2008 the defined benefit pension values in

Luxembourg were transferred into new defined contribution

plan for such employees removing future liabilities Participant

benefits under the plans will not change with salary increases or

additional years of service

Through the BGI Transaction the Company assumed defined

benefit pension plans in Japan and Germany which are closed

to new participants During 2010 these plans merged into

the legacy BlackRock plans in Japan the Japan Plan and

Germany At December31 2010 and 2009 the plan assets for

these plans were approximately $19 million and $10 million

respectively and the unfunded obligations were less than

$6 million and $3 million respectively which were recorded

in accrued conipensation and benefits on the consolidated

statements of financial condition Benefit payments for the next

five years and in aggregate for the five years thereafter are not

expected to be material

Defined benefit plan assets for the Japan Plan of approximately

$16 million are invested using total return investment approach

whereby mix of equity securities debt securities and other

investments are used to preserve asset values diversify
risk and

achieve the target investment return benchmark Investment

strategies and asset allocations are based on consideration of

plan liabilities and the funded status of the plan Investment

performance and asset allocation are measured and monitored

on an ongoing basis The current target allocations for the plan

assets are 45-50% for U.S and international equity securities

50 55% for U.S and international fixed income securities and

5% for cash and cash equivalents

The table below provides the fair value of the defined benefit

Japan Plan assets at December31 2010 by asset category The

table also identifies the level of inputs used to determine the fair

value of assets in each category

Quoted Prices

in Active

Markets for

Identical Assets

Level

significant

Other

Observable

Inputs

Level

December 31
2010Oo//ar amounts in millions

Cash and cash equivalents

Equity securities

Fixed income securities

$9 $9

Fair value of plan assets $13 $3 $16

The assets and unfunded obligation for the defined benefit pension based in the United Kingdom and through the BGI Transaction

plan in Germany and Jersey were immaterial to the Companys the Corripariy assumed post retirement benefit plan to closed

consolidated financial statements at December31 2010 population of former 801 employees in the United Kingdom For

the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 expenses

Post-retirement Benefit Plans

and unfunded obligations for these benefits were immaterial to

the Companys consolidated financial statements

Prior to the 801 Transaction the Company had requirements to In addition through the 801 Transaction the Company assumed

deliver post retirement medical benefits to closed population requirement to deliver post retirement medical benefits to

124 NOTES



closed population of former 801 employees in the United States

At December 31 2010 and 2009 the accumulated benefit

obligation for this unfunded plan which is included in accrued

compensation and benefits on the consolidated statements of

financial condition was approximately $7 million and

$14 million respectively For the year ended December31

201 expenses for these benefits were immaterial to the

Companys consolidated financial statements The post

retirement medical plan costs are developed from actuarial

valuations that include key assumptions including the discount

17/RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Determination of Related Parties

As result of the BGI Transaction Barclays acquired approximately

19.8% of the total capital stock of BlackRock See Note Mergers

and Acquisitions forfurther discussion The Company has

considered Barclays along with its affiliates to be related parties

in accordance with ASC 850 10 Re/afedParfyDisclosures ASC
850 10 sinc the closing of the 801 Transaction based on its

level of capital stock ownership At December31 2010 Barclays

owned approximately 2.3% of the Companys voting common

stock and held approximately 19.6% of the total capital stock

As result of the MLIM Transaction in 2006 the Company

considered Merrill Lynch subsidiary of Bank of America

along with its affiliates to be related parties based on its level of

ownership Subsequent to the secondary offering in November

2010 by Bank of America of shares of the Companys stock

Bank of America owned 0% of the Companys voting common

stock and held approximately 7.1% of the total
capital stock and

rate and health care cost trends Changes in retiree medical

plan benefit costs may occur i9 the future due to changes in

these assumptions changes in the number of plan participants

and increases in the cost of healthcare Benefit payments for

the next five years and in aggregate for the five years thereafter

are not expected to be material The estimated impact of

one percentage point change in the discount rate would be

change of less than $100 thousand on 2010 pension expense

and would change the projected benefit obligation by less than

$1 million

therefore subsequent revenues and expenses after the second

ary offering related to Bank of America and its affiliates are no

longer considered related party transactions

For the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 the

Company considered PNC along with its affiliates to be related

parties based on the level of its ownership ef BlackRock
capital

stock At Decembor 31 2010 PNC owned approximately 25.3%

of the Companys voting common stock and held approximately

20.3% of the tota capital
stock

For the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 the

Company considers the registered investment companies that

it manages which include mutual funds and exchanged traded

funds to be related parties as result of the Companys

advisory relationship In addition equity method investments

are considered related parties iq
accordance with ASC 850 10

due to the Companys influence over the financial and operating

policies of the investee

Investment Advisory and Administration Fees from Related Parties

Revenues for services provided by the Company to these and other related parties are as follows

Dollar amounts in millions 2010

Year ended December 31

2009 2008

Investment advisory administration fees and securities lending revenue

Bank of America and affiliates $37 $48 $76

FNC and affiliates

Barclays and affiliates 14

Anthracite Capital Inc 14

Registered investment companies/

Equity method investees 4833 2561 2864

Dther

Total investment advisory and administration fees 4893 261 2962

Investment advisory performance fees

equity method investees 39 35

BlackRock Solufioris and advisory

Bank of America and affiliates

PNC and affiliates 11

Equity method investees 17 21 19

Other

Total B/ackRock Solufions and advisory 27 31 31

Other revenue

Bank of America and affiliates 13 10

FNC and affiliates

Barclays and affiliates 35

Equity method investees 22

Other

Total other revenue 66 34 13

Total revenue from related parties $5025 $2716 $3006
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The Company provides investment advisory and administration

servioes to its open and olosed end funds and other oommingled

or pooled funds and separate a000unts in which related parties

invest In addition the Company provides investment advisory

and administration services to Bank of America/Merrill Lynch

Barclays and PNC and its affiliates for fees based on AUM

Further the Company provides risk management services

to PNC and Bank of America/Merrill Lynch The Company

contracts with Bank of America/Merrill Lynch for various mutual

fund distribution and shareholder servicing to be performed on

behalf of certain non U.S funds managed by the Company The

Company records its investment advisory and administration

fees net of retrocessions Such retrocession arrangements paid

to Bank of America and affiliates during 2010
prior to the offer

ing 2009 and 2UUB were $BB million $85 million and

$118 million respectively

Aggregate Expenses for Transactions with Related Parties

Aggregate expenses included in the consolidated statements of income for transactions with related parties are as follows

Do//aramountsinrni//ions

Year ended December31

2010 2009 200B

Expenses with related parties

Distribution and servicing costs

Bank of America and affiliates $214 $349 $464

PNC and affiliates 11 19 30

Barclays and affiliates

Other

Total distribution and servicing costs 226 36B 495

Direct fund expenses

Bank of America and affiliates 10

Barclays and affiliates

Total direct fund expenses 16

General and administration expenses

Bank of ArneriSa and affiliates 11 13

Barclays and affiliates 14

Anthracite Capital Inc 14 31

Other registered investment companies 33 31 21

Support of two private sponsored

enhancedcashfunds/Other 10

Total general and administration expenses 72 73 44

Total expenses with related parties $314 $441 $539

Certain Agreements and Arrangements with

Merrill Lynch and PNC
These changes to the stockholder agreement with Merrill Lynch

among other items provide Merrill Lynch with additional

flexibility to form or acquire asset managers substantially all

Global Distribution Agreement with Merrill Lynch of the business of which is devoted to non traditional invest

The global distribption.agreembnt provides framework under ment management strategies such as short selling leverage

which Merrill Lynch provides distribution and servicing of arbitrage specialty finance and quantitatively driven structured

client investments in certain BlackRock investment advisory trades expand the definition of change in control of Merrill

products Pursuant to the global distribution agreement Lynch to include the disposition of two-thirds or more of its

Merrill Lynch has agreed to cause each of its distributors to
Global Wealth Investment Management business ik extend

continue distributing BlackRock covered produrits and covered the general termination date to the later of July 16 2013 or the

products of the former MLIM Business that it distributed as date Merrill Lynchs beneficial ownership of BlackRock voting

of February 15 2006 on the same economic terms as were securities falls below 20% and iv clarify certain other provisions

in effect on February 15 2006 or as the parties otherwise in the agreement

agree For new covered products introduced by BlackRock to

Merrill Lynch for distribution that do not fall within an existing

category type or platform of covered products distributed by

Merrill Lynch the Merrill Lynch distributors must be offered the

most favorable economic terms offered by BlackRock to other

distributors of the same product If covered product that does

not fall within an existing category type or platform of covered

products distributed by Merrill Lynch becomes part of group

or program of similar products distributed by the Merrill Lynch

distributors some of which are sponsored by managers other

than BlackRock the economic terms offered by Merrill Lynch

distributors to BlackRock for the distribution of such covered

The changes in the global distribution agreement in relation

tu the
prior dgreement among uther things pruvide fur dn

extension of the term to five years from the date of change

in control of Merrill Lynch to January 2014 following Bank of

Americas acquisition of Merrill Lynch and one automatic year

extension if certain conditions are satisfied strengthen the

obligations ofMerrill Lynch to achieve revenue neutrality across

the range of BlackRock products distributed by Merrill Lynch if

the pricing or structure of particular products is required to be

changed Hi obligate Merrill Lynch to seek to obtain distribution

arrangements for BlackRock products from buyers of any portion

products must be at least as favorable as the most favorable

economic terms to which any such product is entitled

of its distribution business on the same terms as the global

distributiun agreement for periud of at least years and iv

restrict the manner in which products managed by alternative

July2008 Changes to Stockhoider and

Global Distribution Agreements

asset managers in which Merrill Lynch has an interest may be

distributed by Merrill Lynch

In July 2008 the Company entered into an amended and In connection with the closings under the exchange agree-

restated stockholder agreement and an amended and restated ments on February 27 2009 BlackRock entered into second

global distribution agreement with Merrill Lynch amended and restated stockholder agreement with Merrill

126 NOTES



Lynch and an amended and restated implementation and

stockholder agreement with PNC and third amendment to

the share surrender agreement with PNC See Note 19 Capital

Stock for further discussion

The changes contained in the amended and restated stockholder

agreement with Merrill Lynch in relation to the prior agreement

among other things revised the definitions of Fair Market

Value Ownership Cap and Significant Stockholder and

amended or supplemented certain other definitions and

provisions therein to incorporate series preferred stock and

series preferred stock respectively The changes contained

in the amended and restated stockholder agreement with

PNC in relation to the
prior agreement among other things

revised the definitions of Fair Market Value Ownership

Cap Ownership Percentage Ownership Threshold and

Significant Stockholder and amended or supplemented

certain other provisions therein to incorporate series preferred

stock and series preferred stock respectively

The amendment to the share surrnder agreement with PNC

provided for the substitution of series preferred stock for

the shares of common stock subject to the share surrender

agreement

June 2009 Changes to Stockholder Agreements

In connection with the BGI Transaction certain additional

amendments were made to the amended and restated stock

holder agreements with Merrill Lynch and PNC

The amended and restated stockholder agreement with Merrill

Lynch was changed to among other things amend or supple

ment certain definitions and provisions therein to incorporate

series participating preferred stock amend the provision

relating
to the composition of BlackRocks Board of Directors

and Ui add certain provisions relating to the U.S Bank Holding

Company Act

The amended and restated stockholder agreement with PNC

was changed to among other things revise the definitions

of Ownership Cap and Ownership Threshold amend or

supplement certain other definitions and provisions therein to

incorporate series participating preferred stock Ui provide

that none of the transfer restriction provisions set forth in the

amended and restated stockholder agreement with PNC apply

to the shares purchased by PNC as part of the financing for the

BCI Transaction iv amend the provision relating to the compo

sition of BlackRocks Board of Directors and provide that the

amended and restated stockholder agreement with PNC shall

terminate upon the later of the five-year anniversary of the

amended and restated stockholder agreement with PNC and

the first date on which PNC and its affiliates beneficially own

less than 5% of the outstanding BlackRock capital stock subject

to certain other conditions specified therein

November 2010 Changes to Stockholder and

Global Distribution Agreements with Merrill Lynch

In November 2010 in connection with the secondary offering

by Bank of America of shares of BlackRocks common stock the

Company entered into an amended and restated stockholder

agreement and an amended and restated global distribution

agreement with Merrill Lynch

The changes to the stockholder agreement with Merrill Lynch

provides among other things for the following reduction

in the number of directors Merrill Lynch is entitled to designate

upon its holding falling
below 10% and 5% thresholds

reduction of the cap on total ownership of BlackRock
capital

stock Ui restriutions on Merrill Lynuh trdnsferring any shares

until November 15 2011 and iv the setting of termination

date of the agreement to July31 2013

This amendment to the global distribution agreement clarifies

certain economic arrangements with respect to revenue neu

trality across BlackRock products distributed by Merrill Lynch

The total amount of related party transactions expensed by

BlackRock through November 2Q10 and full year 2009 and

200B related to Merrill Lynch distribution and servicing of

products covered by the global distribution agreement including

mutual funds separate accounts liquidity funds alternative

investments and insurance products was approximately

$210 million $337 million and $456 million respectively

Other Agreements

In connection with the MLIM Transaction Merrill Lynch agreed

that it will provide reimbursement to BlackRock for employee

incentive awards issued to former MLIM employees who became

BlackRock employees subsequent to the MLIM Transaction

Reimbursements will amount to 50% of the total amount of

awards to former MLIM employees between $100 million and

$200 million The Company is entitled to invoice Merrill Lynch

following its determination of the portion otpwards entitled to

reimbursement for given calendar year Through January 2007

the Company had issued total eligible incentive compensation

to qualified employees in excess of $200 million In 2010 and

2009 Merrill Lynch reimbursed $10 million and $25 million

respectively to BlackRock for employee incentive awards

issued to former MLIM employees who became BlackRock

employees subsequent to the MLIM Transaction Upon receipt

the reimbursements were recorçled as capital
contributions

Merrill Lynch and certain of its affiliates have been engaged

by the Company to provide recoUdkeeping administration and

trustee services to the BRSR The compensation to Merrill

Lynch and its affiliates for these services paid by the Company

was not material

Certain Agreements and Arrangements with

Barclays

Barclays Amended and Restated

Stock Purchase Agreement

On November 30 2009 BlackRock Barclays BUnk PLC and

Barclays PLC for limited purposes entered into an Amended

and Restated Stock Purchase Agreement the Amended and

Rustdted Stuck Puruhosu Agreement Thu ArneHded and

Restated Stock Purchse Agreement amended and restated

the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of June

16 2009 by and among BlackRock Barclays and Barclays

PLC for limited purposes which provided for the acquisition

by BlackRock of BGI from Barclays The revised terms relate

among other things to the amount of cash and capital required

to be held by the various BOl entities at the closing of the

acquisition and to the post closing purchase price adjustment

mechanism On December 2009 BlackRock completed its

acquisition of BGI pursuant to theAmended and Restated Stock

Purchase Agreement

Barclays Stockholder Agreement

In connection with the completion of its acquisition of BGI

BlackRock entered into Stockholder Agreement dated as of

December 2009 the Barclays Stockholder Agreement

with Barclays and Barclays BR Holdings Sari BR Holdings

and together with Barclays the Barclays Parties Pursuant to

the terms of the Barclays Stockholder Agreement the Barclays

Parties agreed among other things to certain transfer and

voting restrictions with respect to shares of BlackRock common

stock and preferred stock owned by them and their affiliates

to limits on the
ability

of the Barclays Parties and their affiliates

to acquire additional shares of BlackRock common stock and
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preferred stock and to certain other restrictions In addition the

Barclays Stockholder Agreement contains certain provisions

relating
to the composition of BlackRocks board of directors

including requirement that BlackRocks board must consist

of not more than 19 directors with two directors designated by

the Barclays Parties

Other Agreements

Barclays and certain of its affiliates have been engaged by

the Company to provide the use of certain indices for certain

BlackRock investments funds an.d for fee to provide indemni

fication to clients related to potential losses in connection with

lending of client securities For the year ended December31

2010 fees incurred for these agreements were $14 million and

amounts during the year ended December31 2009 were not

material

Certain Agreements with Merrill Lynch
PNC and Barclays

Concurrent with the secondary offering BlackRock Merrill

Lynch PNC and Barclays agreed with the underwriters in such

transactions subject to certain limited exceptions not to sell

or transfer any common stock or securitie convertible into

exchangeable for exercisable for or repayable with common

stock for 90 days after November 2010 without first obtaining

the written consent of Merrill Lynch This lock up provision

expired on February 2011 Additionally Merrill Lynch agreed

to an additional lock up period of 12 months following the closing

of the secondary offering which occurred on November 15

2010 subject to certain limited exceptions pursuant to the

amended and restated stockholder agreement with BlackRock

Receivables and Payables with

Related Parties

Due from related parties was $150 million and $1 B9 million

at December31 2010 and 2009 respectively and primarily

represented tax indemnification asset due from Barclays

receivables for investment advisory and administration services

provided by BlackRock and other receivables from certain

investment prodqcts managedby BlackRock Due from related

parties at December31 2010 included $71 million due from

certain funds $69 million of tax indemnification asset due

from Barclays and $10 million in receivables from PNC and

Barclays Due from related parties at December31 2009

included $72 million of tax indemnification aset due from

Barclays $57 million due from certain funds $48 million in

receivables from Bank of America/Merrill Lynch PNC and

18/NET CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

The Company is required to maintain net capital in certain

regulated subsidiaries within number of jurisdictions which

is
partially

maintained by retaining cash and cash equivalent

investments in those subsidiaries or jurisdictions As result

such subsidiaries of the Company may be restricted in their abil

ity
to transfer cash between different jurisdictions and to their

parents Additionally transfers of cash between international

jurisdictions including repatriation to the United States may have

adverse tax consequences that could discourage such transfers

Banking Regulatory Requirements

BlackRock Institutional Trust Company N.A BTC wholly

owned subsidiary of the Company is chartered as national

bank whose powers are limited to trust activities BTC is subject

to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the

Federal banking agencies Failure to meet minimum capital
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Barclays and $12.5 million carrying value in loan receivables

from Anthracite Capital Inc Anthracite see below

Accounts receivable at December31 2010 and 2009 includes

$559 million and $492 million respectively related to receiv

ables from BlackRock mutual funds and iShares for investment

advisory and administration services

Due to related parties was $57 million and $505 million at

December31 2010 and 2009 respectively and primarily rep

resented assumed liabilities from the BGI Transaction Due to

related parties at December31 2010 included $41 million and

$15 million payable to Barclays and certain investment products

managed by BlackRock respectively The payable at December

31 2010 to Barclays included non interest bearing notes as

sumed by BlackRock at the close of the BGI Transaction related

to certain acquired tax receivables and other contractual items

Due to related parties at December 31 2009 included

$40B million and $95 million payable to Barclays and Merrill

Lynch respectively The payable at December31 2009 to

Barclays included non interest bearing notes assumed by

BlackRock at the close of the BGI Transaction related to certain

acquired tax receivables and other contractual items

Loan Commitments with Anthracite

Prior to March 31 2010 the Company was committed to

provide financing of up to $60 million to Anthracite specialty

commercial real estate finance company that was managed by

subsidiary of BlackRock The financing is collateralized by

pledge by Anthracite of its ownership interest in real estate

debt investment fund which is managed by subsidiary of

BlackRock At December 31 2010 $33.5 million of financing

was outstanding and remains outstanding as of February

2011 which is past its final maturity date of March 2010 At

December31 2010 the carrying value of the collateral was

estimated to be zero which resulted in an additional

$12.5 million reduction in amounts due from related parties on

the Companys consolidated statement of financial condition

and an equal amount recorded in general and administrative

expenses on the Companys consolidated statement of income

for the year ended December31 2010 The Company has no

obligation to loan additional amounts to Anthracite under this

facility
Anthracite filed voluntary petition

for relief under

Chapter of Title 11 of the U.S Code in the U.S Bankruptcy

Court for the Southern District of New York on March 15

2010 Recovery of any amount of the financing provided by the

Company in excess of the value of the collateral is not antici

pated The Company continues to evaluate the
collectability

of

the outstanding borrowings

requirements can initiate certain mandatory and possibly

additional discretionary actions by regulators that if under

taken could have direct material effect on the Companys

consolidated financial statements Under the capital adequacy

guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective

action BTC must meet specific capital guidelines that invoke

quantitative measures of BTCs assets liabilities and certain

off balance sheet items as calculated under the regulatory

accounting practices BTCs capital amounts and classification

are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators

about components risk weightings and other factors

Quantitative measures established by regulators to ensure capital

adequacy require BTC to maintain minimum Tier capital and

Tier leverage ratio as well as Tier and Total risk-based capital

ratios Based on BTCs calculations as of December31 2010 and

2009 it exceeded the applicable capital adequacy requirements



Broker-dealers

BlackRock Investments LLC BlackRock Capital Markets LLC

BlackRock Execution Services and BlackRock Fund Distribution

Company are registered broker dealers and wholly-owned sub

sidiaries of BlackRock that are subject to the Uniform Net Capital

requirements underthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934 which

requires maintenance of certain minimum net capital levels

19/CAPITAL STOCK

Capital Stock Authorized

BlackRocks authorized common stock $0.01 par value was

500000000 shares at December31 2010 and 2009 At

December31 2010 and 2009 BlackRock had 20000000 se

ries non voting participating preferred shares $0.01 par value

authorized At December31 2010 and 2009 BlackRock had

150000000 series non-voting participating preferred shares

$0.01 par value authorized At December31 2010 and 2009

BlackRock had 6000000 series non voting participating

preferred shares $0 01 par value aHthnrized At December31

2010 and 2009 BlackRock had 20000000 series non voting

participating preferred shares $0.01 par value authorized

Common Shares Held in Escrow

On October 2007 the Company acquired the fund of funds

business of Ouellos The Company issued 1191785 shares

of BlackRock common stock that were placed into an escrow

account In April 2008 November 2009 and October 2010

280519 42326 and B65337 respectively of common shares

were released to Ouellos in accordance with the Quellos asset

purchase agreement which resulted in an adjustment to the

recognized purchase price and had dilutive effect subsequent

to the release The remaining 3603 common shares may have

dilutive effect in future periods based on the timing of the

release of shares from the escrow account in accordance with

the Ouellos asset purchase agreement

February 2009 Capital Exchanges

On January 12009 Bank of America acquired Merrill Lynch

In connection with this transaction BlackRock entered into

exchange agreements with each of Merrill Lynch and PNC

pursuant to which each agreed to exchange portion of the

BlackRock common stock it held for an equal number of shares

of non voting participating preferred stock On February

27 2009 Merrill Lynch exchanged 49865000 shares of

BlackRocks common stock for like number of shares of

BlackRocks series non voting participating preferred stock

and ii 12604918 shares of BlackRocks series preferred

stock for like number of shares of series preferred stock and

PNC exchanged 17872000 shares of BlackRocks common

stock for like number of shares of series non voting preferred

stock and 2889467 shares of BlackRocks common stock

for like number of shares of BlackRocks series non voting

participating preferred stock
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Capital Requirements as of

December 31 2010

At December31 2010 the Company was required to maintain

approximately $897 million in net
capital

in certain regulated

Subsidiaries including BTC entities regulated by the FSA in the

United Kingdom and the broker dealers and is in compliance

with all applicable regulatory minimum net capital requirements

Below is sumrrrary description of the series and preferred

stock issued in the exchanges

The Series non voting participating preferred Stock

is non voting except as otherwise provided by applicable law

participates in dividends on basis generally equal to the

common stock

benefits from
liquidation prdference of $0.01 per share and

is mandatorily convertible to BlackRock common stock upon

transterto an unrelated partty

The series non voting participating preferred stock

is non voting except as otherwise provided by applicable law

participates in dividends on basis generally equal to the

common stock

benefits from
liquidation preference of $40.00 per share

and is only convertible to BlackRock common stock upon

the termination of the obligations of PN under its share

surrender agreement with BlackRock

2009 Capital Sfock Activities Related to

BGI Transaction

In June and December 2009 the Company raised capital from

third-party investors via private placement of 19914652

shares of
capital stock at an agreed upon fixed price of

$140.60 per share to finance the cash consideration of the

BGI Transaction The issuance price of $140.60 was based on

the valuation of the Companys common shares for 10 day

period prior to the announcement of the 801 Transaction less an

agreed upon discount Subsequent to the determination of the

issuance price the number of share to be issued were fixed

In June 2009 the Company issued to an institutional investor

2133713 shares of BlackRocks common stock at $140.60

per share The $300 million proceeds from this issuance was

used to fund portion of the purchase of BGI See Note

Mergers and Acquisitions for further discussion

On December 2009 pursuant to separate stock purchase

agreements entered into on June 11 2009 and June 12 2009

as amended BlackRock sold an aggregate of 8637519

shares of common stock 5587232 shares of series

irOn vutirig participatiiig preferred stock arid 3556188

shares of series non-voting participating preferred stock

collectively the Financing Shares to certain institutional

To Be Well

Actual

For Capital

Adequacy

Purposes

Capitalized Under

Prompt

Corrective Action

Provisions

Dollaramounts in millions
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

December31 2010

Total
capital to risk weighted assets

Tier
capital to risk weighted assets

Tier
capital to average assets

$874

$874

$874

103.3%

103.3%

55.1%

$68

$34

$64

8.0%

4.0%

4.0%

$85 10.0%

$51 6.0%

$79 5.0%



investors including the sale of the 3556188 shares of series

non voting partioipating preferred stook to FNC each at

price of $140.60 per share The Company received approxi

mately $2.5 billion in total consideration from the sale of

the Financing Shares which was also used to fund the cash

portion of the purchase of BGI

At the close of the 801 Transaction on December 2009 the

Company issued 3031516 common shares and 26888001 and

7647524 of series and non voting participating preferred

stock respectively to Barclays as part of the consideration for

the purchase of 801

January 2010 CapitalExchange

In January 2010 600000 common shares were exchanged for

Series preferred stock and all 11203442 Series preferred

stock outstanding at December31 2009 were exchanged for

Series preferred stock

November 2010 Capital Exchanges

On November 15 2010 the Company announced the closing

of the secondary offerings by Bank of America and PNC of

58737122 shares of BlackRocks common stock which included

56407040 shares of common stock issued upon the conversion

nf Rlne-.kRnnks series non-voting participating preferred stock

Concurrently with the secondary offerings BlackRock issued

11105000 shares of common stock to PNC in exchange for

an equal number of shares of series non voting participating

preferred stock

Cash Dividends for Common and
Preferred Shares/RSUs

During the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008

the Company paid cash dividends of $4.00 per share or $776

million $3.12 per share or $422 million and $3.12 per share

or $419 million respectively

The Companys common and preferred shares issued and outstanding and related
activity

consist of the following

Shares Issued

Treasury Preferred
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Shares Shares Shares Series
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Series
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ceofrof eel coeorderatioe 236341 33B.341

felease ef Lu5mu sleLk frum

eecrew afeof is

cooocfroo

wild Beellos Traosoclroo 42.326 42.326
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related fo emyleyee slack

fraesacf roes aed ceeeerlible
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1.1 67577
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series fec series l12ffdf1fI 12664.9ff 112.6f4.91f1 12.B64.B1B
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67.737.666 167.737.6261 67737.6ff

12.Bff.4671

151.3991

62.776777 lfff.9421 1116611 112617.151

2fff.467 12.fff.4671

151 .3991

2.fff.467 11.263.442 61.696.236 112.617151

2.fff.d67

2969467 11.263.447

ff5337

preferred
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of cameras shares far
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series far series
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series far common shares 67.S12.64f
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20/RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

During the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company reduoed

its workforce globally by approximately 9% This action was

the result of cost-cutting initiative designed to streamline

operations enhance competitiveness and better position the

Company in the asset management marketplace The Company

recorded pre tax restructuring charge of approximately

$38 million $26 million after tax for the year ended December

31 2008 This charge was comprised of $34 million of severance

and associated outplacement costs $3 million of expenses

related to the accelerated amortization of previously granted

equity-based compensation awards and $1 million of expenses

related to
legal

services for the year ended December31 2008

During 2009 the Company continued to reduce its workforce

globally This action was the result of business reengineer

ing efforts designed to streamline operations enhance

competitiveness and better position the Company in the asset

management marketplace The Cbmpany recorded pre tax

restructuring charge of $22 million $14 million after tax

for the three months ended March 31 2009 This charge

was comprised of $15 million of severance and associated

outplacement costs $4 million of property costs associated

with the lease payments for the remaining term in exbess of

the estimated sublease proceeds and $3 million of expenses

related to the accelerated amortization of previously granted

equity-based compensation awards

The following table presents roliforward of the Companys

restructuring liability
which is included within other liabilities on

the Companys consolidated statements of financial condition

Dollar amounts in mi//ions

Liability as of December31 2007

Additions 38

Cash payments 14
Accelerated amortization of equity based awards

Liability as of December 31 2008 21

Additions 22

Cash payments 34
Accelerated amortization of equity-based awards

Liability as of December 31 2009 $6

Cash payments

Liability as of December 31 2010 $2

The components of income tax expense for the yeas ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 are as follows

Income tax expense has been based on the following components of income before taxes less net income loss attributable to

non-controlling interests

Dollar amounts in mi/lions 2010

Year ended December31

2009 2008

Current income tax expense

Federal $708 $342 $396

State and local 60 36 49

Foreign 200 86 175

Total net current income tax expense 968 464 620

Deferred income tax expense benefit

Federal 28 160
State and local 10 60 21
Foreign 35 22 52

Total net deferred income tax expense benefit 89 233

Total income tax expense $971 $375 $387

Dollar amounts in millions
2010

Year ended December 31

2009 2008

Domestic $2258 $899 $654

Foreign 776 351 517

Total $3034 $1250 $1171

reconciliation of income tax expense with expected federal income tax expense computed at the aplicable federal income tax

rate of 35% is as follows

Dollar amounts in millions
2010

Year ended

2009

ecerh ber3l

2008

Statutory income tax expense $1062 35% $438 35% $410 35%

Increase decrease in income taxes resulting
from

State and local taxes net of federal benefit 53 21 25

Impact of foreign state and local tax rate

changes on deferred taxes 27 45
Effect of

foreign tax rates 145 81 37
Other 28 42 11

Income tax expense $971 32% $375 30% $387 33%

21/INCOME TAXES
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Deferred income taxes are provided for the effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of an asset or liability
and its

reported amount in the Companys consolidated financial statements These temporary differences result in taxable or deductible

amounts in future years

The components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities are shown below

Decembe.r 31

Oo//eremosnts in millions 2010 2009f

Deferred income tax assets

Compensation and benefits $374 $399

Unrealized investment losses 108 155

Loss carryforwards 67 40

Other 186 134

Gross deferred tax assets 735 728

Less deferred tax valuation allpwanoes 78 71

Deferred tax assets net of valuation allowances 657 657

Deferred income tax liabilities

Goodwill and acquired indefinite-lived intangibles 5813 5829

Acquired finite lived intangibles 271 325

Other 40 53

Gross deferred tax liabilities 6124 6207

Net deferred tax liabilities $5467 $5550

Oertani line items en the censshdated statement ef financial csndihen mclsding deferred tax assets and deferred tax habilihes have been retrsspechvelyadjsstedas ef Oecember 31

2009 te reflect new mfsrmahsn ebtainedabest facts that existed as sf Oecember 2009 the 801 acqsisihsn date

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded net

when related to the same tax jurisdiction At December 31

2010 the Company recorded on the consolidated statement

of financial condition deferred income tax assets within

other assets and deferred income tax liabilities of $10 million

and $5477 million respectively At December31 2009 the

Company recorded on the consolidated statement of financial

condition deferred income tax assets within other assets and

deferred income tax liabilities of $21 million and $5571 million

respectively

The United Kingdom in the third
qyarter

of 2010 and New York

City in the third quarter of 2009 enacted legislation reducing

corporate income tax rates which resulted in revaluation of

certain net deferred income taxliabilities primarily related to

acquired intangible assets which resulted in $30 million and

$45 million tax benefit respectively

The Company had deferred income tax asset related to

unrealized investment losses of approximately $108 million and

$155 million as of December31 2010 and 2009 respectively

reflecting the Companys conclusion that based on the weight

of available evidence it is more likely
than not that the deferred

tax asset will be realized During 2008 the Company incurred

investment losses of..$573 million primarily related to unrealized

losses on investments Substantially all of the investment losses

relate to investments held by subsidiaries in the United States

After the allocation of net loss attributable to non contrrilling

interests of $155 million the net loss on investments was

$418 million portion of the net loss is expected to be ordinary

if recognized and as result will not be subject to any limita

tions Realized
capital

losses may be carried back three years

and carried forward five years and offset against realized
capital

gains for federal income tax purposes The Company expects

to be able to carry back portion of its unrealized capital losses

when realized hold certain fixed income securities over pe

riod sufficient for them to recover their unrealized lOsses and to

generate future
capital gains sufficient to offset the unrealized

capital
losses

At December31 2010 and 2009 the Company had available

state net operating loss carryforwards of $182 million and

$568 million respectively which will expire on or before 2032 As

of December31 2010 the Company had foreign net operating

loss carryforwatds of $84 million of which $42 million expires on

or before 2017 and the balance will carry forward indefinitely In

addition at December31 2010 and 2009 the Company had U.S

capital loss carryforwards of $90 million which were acquired in

the BGI Transaction and will expire on or before 2013

At December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company had $78 million

and $71 million of valuation allowances for deferred income tax

assets respectively recorded on the consolidated statements of

financial condition The year over year increase in the valuation

allowance primarily related to certain foreign deferred income

tax assets

Goodwill recorded in connection with the Ouellos Transaction

has been reduced during the period by the amount of tax

benefit realized from tax-deductible goodwill See Note 11

Goodwill for further discussion

Current income taxes are recorded net in the consolidated

statements of financial condition when related to the same tax

jurisdiction As of December31 2010 the Company had current

income taxes receivable and payable of $57 million and

$157 million respectively recorded in other assets and accounts

payable and accrued liabilities respectively As of December 31

20u9 the company had current income taxes receivable and

payable of $292 million and $86 million respectively recorded

in other assets and accounts payable and accrued liabilities

respectively

The Company does not provide deferred taxes on the excess of

the financial reporting over tax basis on its investments in foreign

subsidiaries that are essentially permanent in duration The

excess totaled $1297 million and $778 million as of December

31 2010 and 2009 respectively The determination of the

additional deferred income taxes on the excess has not been

provided because it is not practicable due to the complexities

associated with its hypothetical calculation
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Pursuant to the adoption of ASC 740 10 related to uncertainty in income taxes see the following tabular reconciliation which

presents the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits

included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively are $194

million $184 million and $60 million of tax benefits that if

recognized would affect the effective tax rate

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to

income tax matters as component of income tax expense

Related to the unrecognized tax benefits noted above the

Company accrued interest and penalties of $8 million during

2010 and in total as of December31 2010 has recognized

liability for interest and penalties of $56 million During 2009

the Company accrued interest and penalties of $8 million and

in total as of December31 2009 has recognized liability for

interest and penalties of $48 million of which $28 million was

assumed in the BGI Transaction During 2008 the Company

accrued interest and penalties of $5 million and in total as of

December 31 2008 had recognized liability
for interest and

penalties of $11 million

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Stock Purchase

Agreement the Company has been indemnified by Barclays for

$69 million of unrecognized tax benefits

BlackRock is subject to U.S federal income tax as well as

income tax in multiple jurisdictions The tax years after 2005

remain open to U.S federal state and local income tax exami

nation and the tax years after 2006 remain open1o income tax

examination in the United Kingdom With few exceptions as of

December31 2010 the Company is no longer subject to U.S

federal state local or foreign examinations by tax authorities

for years before 2006 The Internal Revenue Service IRS is

currently examining the Companys 2006 and 2007 tax years

and management expects that examination to conclude during

2011 In February 2011 the Company received notice of

proposed adjustments from the IRS Management does not

anticipate that its resolution would result in material change to

its consolidated financial statements The Company is currently

under audit in several state and foreign jurisdictions

As of December31 2010 it is reasonably possible the total

amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will increase or decrease

within the next twelve months due to coFrrpletion of tax

authorities exams or the expiration of statues of limitations

Management estimates that the existing liability
for uncertain

tax positions could decrease by approximately $15 million to

$25 million within the next twelve months The Company does

not anticipate that any possible adjustments resulting from

these audits would result in material change to its consoli

dated financial statements

Prior to September 29 2006 BlackRock had filed selected

state and municipal income tax eturns with one or more PNC

subsidiaries on combined or unitary basis When BlackRock

was included in groups combined or unitary state or municipal

income tax filing with PNC subsidiaries BlackRocks share of

the liability generally was an allocation to BlackRock of per

centage of the total tax
liability

based upon BlackRocks level

of
activity

in such state or municipality PNC and BlackRock

have entered into tax disaffiliation agreement that sets forth

each partys rights and obligations with respect to income tax

payments and refunds and addresses related matters such

as the filing of tax returns and the conduct of audits or other

proceedings involving claims made by taxing authorities As

such the Company may be responsible for its pro rata share of

tax positions taken by PNC for unaudited tax years which may

be subsequently challenged by taxing authorities Management

does not anticipate that any such amounts would be material to

the Companys operations financial position or cash flows

Do//ar amounts in rn/I/ions 2010

Year ended December31

2009 2008

Balance at January $285 $1 14 $66

Additions for tax positions of
prior years 10 11

Reductions for tax positions of
prior years 17

Additions based on tax positions related to current year 35 63 42

Lapse of statute of limitations

Settlements

Foreign exchange translation

Positions assumed in BCI Transaction 117

Balance at December31 $307 $285 $114
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22/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the oomputation of basio EPS

Year ended December 31

Do//ar amounts in rn//lions eccept per share data1 2010 2D09 20D8

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc $2063 $875 $784

Less

Dividends distributed to common shares 764 41 406

Dividends distributed to partiqipating RSUs 12 10 13

Undistributed net income attributable to BlackRock Inc 1287 453 365

Percentage of undistributed net income

allocated to common sharesldl 98.6% 97.3% 96.6%

Undistributed net income allocated to common shares 1269 441 353

Plus

Common share dividends 764 412 406

Net income attributable to common shares $2033 $853 $759

Weighted average shares outstanding 190554510 136669164 129543443

Basic earnings per share attributable to BlackRock Inc

common stockholders $10.67 $6.24 $5.86

The following table sets forth the computation of diluted EPS

Year ended December 31

Dollar
amounts/n mill ions except pershare data 2010 2009 2008

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc $2063 $875 $784

Less

Dividends distributed to common shares 764 41 406

Dividends distributed to participating RSUs 12 10 13

Undistributed net income attributable to BlackRock Inc 1287 453 365

Percentage of undistributed net income

allocated to common shareslal 98.6% 97.3% 96.6%

Undistributed net income allocated to common shares 1269 441 353

Plus

Common share dividends 764 412 406

Net income attributable to commn shares $2033 $853 $759

Weighted-average common shares outstanding 190554510 136669164 129543443

Dilutive effect of

Stock options and non
participating

RSUs 1751487 1519570 1172081

Convertible debt

Acquisition refated contingent stock payments

386050 1292715 z54254

406709

Total diluted weighted average shares outstanding 192692047 139481449 131376517

Dilutive earnings per share attributable to BlackRock Inc

common stockholders $10.55 $6.11 $5.78

Allecatien te common shareholders is based so the total of commen and participadngsecsnty shareholders which represent sn vested RSUs that contain nontorfeitabte rights to dividends

At Oecember 31 20 10 2009 and 2008 outstanding parhc ipahng sessrities were 2.8 million 3.a million and 4.5 million respectively

Basic EPS is calculated pursuant to the two class method to

determine income attributable to common shareholders Basic

EPS is calculated by dividing net distributed and undistributed

earnings allocated to common shareholders by the weighted

average number of common shares outstanding Diluted

includes the determinants of basic and in addition reflects

the impact of other potentially dilutive shares including

awards that do not contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends un

exercised stock options and convertible debentures The dilutive

effect of participating securities is calculated under the more

dilutive of either the treasury method or the two-class method

Due to the similarities in terms between BlackRock series

and non voting participating preferred stock and the

Companys common stock the Company considers the series

and non voting participating preterred stock to be

common stock equivalent for purposes of EPS calculations As

such the Company has included the outstanding series

and non voting participating preferred stock and dividends

paid for these series in the calculatjon of average basic and

diluted shares outstanding for the years ended December31

2010 2009 and 2008
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Fortheyearended December 31 20101198856 RSUs were

excluded from the calculation of diluted because to include

them would have an anti dilutive effect For the years ended

December31 2009 and 2008 1240998 and 1336911 stock

options respectively were excluded from the calculation of

diluted earnings per share because to include them would have

an anti dilutive effect

Shares Issued in Quellos Transaction

On October 2007 the Company acquired the fund of funds

business of Quellos The Company issued 1191785 shares

of BlackRock common stock that were placed into an escrow

account In total 1188182 common shares were released to

Quellos between
April

2008 and October 2010 and became

dilutive subsequent to the respective release dates The

remaining 3603 common shares may have dilutive effect

in future periods based on the timing of the release of shares

from the escrow account in accordance with the Quellos asset

purchase agreement



The tollowing table illustrates the uompanys total revenue for the years ended December 201 2Ouv and 200u by geographic

region These amounts are aggregated on legal entity basis and do not necessarily reflect where the customer resides

Dollar amounts in millions 2010 2009 Total 2008

Revenue

Amehcas $5824 67% $3309 70% $3438 68%

Europe 2300 27% 11 79 25% 1360 27%

Asia Pacific 488 6% 212 5% 266 5%

Total revenue $8612 100% $4700 100% $5064 100%

The following table illustrates the Companys long lived assets including goodwill and property and quipment at December31

2010 2009 and 2008 by geographic region These amounts are aggregated on legal entity basis and do not necessarily reflect

where the asset is physically located

of

Total

of

Total

Americas primarily is comprised of the United States Canada Brazil and Mexico while Europe primarily is comprised of the United

Kingdom and Asia-Pacific primarily is comprised of Japan Australia and Hong Kong

23/SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Companys management directs BlackRocks operations The following table illustrates investment advisory administration

as one business the asset management business As such fees securities lending revenue and performance fees 8lackRock

the Company believes it operates in one business segment in Solutions and advisory distribution fees and other revenue for

accordance with ASC 280 10 the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008

Dollaramounts in millions

Year ended December31

2010 2009 2008

Equity $4055 $1468 $1701

Fixed income 1531 921 879

Multi asset class 773 499 527

Alternatives 961 515 619

Cash management 510 625 708

Total investment advisory administration fees

securities lending revenue and performance fees 7830 4028 4434

SlackRock Solufions and advisory 460 477 393

Distribution fees 116 100 39

Other revenue 206 95 98

Total revenue $8612 $4700 $5064

of

Total

of of

Total

of

Dollar amounts in millions 2010 2009 Total 2008

Long-lived Assets

Americas

Europe

Asia Pacific

$13092
42

99

99%

1%

$12983

46

94

99%

1%

$5714

.27

52

99%

1%

Total
long-lived assets $13233 100% $13123 100% $5793 100%
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24/SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITEDI

Quarter

Do//ar amounts in millions except per share data 1st nd 3rd 4th

2010

Revenue $1995 $2032 $2092 $2493

Operating income $654 $697 $707 $940

Net income $428 $389 $584 $649

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc $423 $432 $551 $657

Earnings per share attributable tq BlackRock Inc

common stockholders

Basic $2.20 $2.23 $2.85 $3.39

Diluted $2.17 $2.21 $2.83 $3.35

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Basic 189676023 190975161 190494905 191057374

Diluted 192152251 192569539 192326841 193478460

Dividend Declared Per Share $1.00 $1.00 $1.00 $1.00

Common stock price per share

High $243.80 $212.27 $172.87 $193.74

Low $200.56 $143.01 $138.42 $161.53

Close $217.76 $143.40 $170.25 $190.58

2009

Revenue $987 $1029 $1140 $1544

Operating income $271 $261 $357 $389

Net income $62 $244 $334 $257

Net income attributable to BlackRock Inc $84 $218 $31 $256

Earnings per share attributable to BlackRock Inc

common stockholders

Basic $0.63 $1.62 $2.31 $1.65

Diluted $0.62 $1.59 $2.27 $1.62

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic 130216218 130928926 133266379 152062468

Diluted 131797189 133364611 135902241 155040242

Dividend Declared Per Share $0.78 $0.78 $0.78 $0.78

Common stock price per share

High $143.32 $183.80 $220.17 $241.66

Low $88.91 $1 19.12 $1 59.45 $206.00

Close $130.04 $175.42 $216.82 $232.20

The first quarter of 2009 included the impact of $22 million The third quarter of 2010 and 2009 included $30 million

pre tax expense related to restructuring charges and $45 million tax benefit related to United Kingdom and

The second third and fourth quarters of 2009 included $15
New York City income tax law changes respectively

million $16 million and $152 million of pre tax 801 transaction The first second and third quarters of 2010 included $52

and integration costs respectively million $32 million and $6 million of pre tax BGI integration

The fourth quarter of 2009 included incremental revenue and
costs respectively

expenses relatedlo the operations of BOl in December 2009

and subsequent quarters in 2010 included the full effect of

the operations of BGl

25/SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Additional Subsequent Event Review

In addition to the subsequent events included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements the Company conducted review

for additional subsequent events and determined that no additional subsequent events had occurred that would require accrual or

additional disclosures
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Market for Registranfs Common Equity ReLated StockhoLder Matters and

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

BlackRocks common stock is listed on the NYSE and is traded The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high

under the symbol BLK At the close of business on January31 and low reported sale prices period end closing prices for

2011 there were 400 common stockholders of record Common the common stock and dividends declared per share for the

stockholders include institutional or omnibus accounts that hold common stock as reported on the NYSE

common stock for multiple underlying investors

Cash
Common Stock Price Ranges Closing Dividend

High Low Price Declared

2010

First Quarter $243.80 $200.56 $217.76 $1.00

Second Quarter $212.27 $143.01 $143.40 $1.00

Third Quarter $172.87 $138.42 $170.25 $1.00

Fnurth Quarter $193.74 $161.53 $190.58 $1.00

2009

FirstQuarter $143.32 $88.91 $130.04 $0.78

Second Quarter $1 83.80 $119.12 $1 75.42 $0.78

Third Quarter $220.17 $1 59.45 $21 6.82 $0.78

Fourth Quarter $241.66 $206.00 $232.20 $0.78

BlackRocks closing common stock price as of FebruBry 25 Barclays Merrill Lynch PNC andtheir respective affiliates

2011 was $203.92 along with other institutional investors that hold non voting

participating preferred stock receive dividends on these shares

which are equivalent to the dividends received by common
Dividends

stockholders

On February 24 2011 the Board of Directors approved

BlackRocks quarterly dividend of $1375 to be paid on March

23 2011 to stockholders of record on March 2011
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Common Stock Performance Graph

Index 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07

Period Ending

12/31/08 12/31/09 12/31/10

BlackRock Inc 100.00 141.75 205.67 129.62 229.00 192.46

SNL Asset Manager 100.00 115.97 132.01 62.74 101.78 117.15

Russell 2000 108.00 118.37 116.51 77.15 98.11 124.46

rhe SNL Asset Manager Index currently comprises the following companies Affihated Managers Ore
up Inc AlbanceBerestein Holding L.P Art/u Global Investors Inc BIackRock Inc

Blackstsne Ore up L.P BrookfieldAsset Management calamos Asset Menagement lee cohen Steers Inc 0/amend Hill Investment Group gates Vance cerp gpech Holdmg cerp

Federated levesters lee Financial gegines Inc Fertress Investment Group LLc FrnkIin Resources Inc GAMcG Investors lee HeenessyAdvdors Inc INVESGO Ltd Janus capital

broup Inc lchR uo LF Legg Mason Inc Uch Zitt c.apiral Management Pzeea Investment Management SbI Investments Go Rowe Hrice Group Inc US Global Investors Inc Value

Line Inc Hrtus Investment Partners WP Stewart Go Ltd WaddeR Reed Financial lee Westwood Holdings Group lee

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder

return on BlackRocks common stock from December31 2DD5

through December 31 2010 with the cumulative total return

of the Russell 2000 Index Russell 2000 and the SNL Asset

Manager lndex The graph assumes the investment of $1 DO

in BlackRocks common stock and in each of the two indices

on December31 2005 and the reinvestment of all dividends if

any The following information has been obtained from sources

believed to be reliable but neither its accuracy nor its complete

ness is guaranteed The performance graph is not necessarily

indicative of future investment performance

TOTAL RETURN PERFORMANCE

250r

200-

1/150 _t_

100

BRociincTs00tht0t_1
II

50 r1 SNL Asset Manager

Russell 2000

12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08 12/31/09 12/31/10
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Corporate Information

Corporate Headquarters

BlackRock Inc

55 East 52nd Street

New York NY 10055

212 810 5300

Stock Listing

BlackRock Inc.s common stock is traded on the New York

Stock Exchange under the symbol BLK At the close of business

on January 31 2011 there were 400 common stockholders of

fØcord including institutional omnibus accounts

Internet In formation

Information on BlackRocks financial results and its products

and services is available on the Internet at www.blackrock.com

Financial Information

BlackRock makes available free of charge through its website

at www.blackrock.com under the heading Investor Relations

its Annual Report to Stockholders Annual Report on Form

10 Quarterly Reports on Form 10 Current Reports on

Form its Proxy Statement and Form of Proxy and all

amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practi

cable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished

to the Securities and Exchange Commission The Company has

included as Exhibit 31 to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for

fiscal year 2010 with the Securities and Exchange Commission

certificates of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer of the Company certifying the quality of the Companys

public disclosure and the Company has submitted to the New

York Stock Exchange certificate of the Chief Executive Officer

of the Company certifying that he is not aware of any violation

by the Company of New York Stock Exchange corporate gover

nance listing standards

Inquiries

BlackRock will provide free of charge to each stockholder

upon written request copy of BlackRocks Annual Report

to Stockholders Annual Report on Form 10 Quarterly

Reports on Form 10 Current Reports on Form 8-K Proxy

Statement and Form of Proxy apd all amendments to those

reports Requests for copies should be addressed to Investor

Relations BlackRock Inc 55 East 52nd Street New York

NY 10055 Requests may also be directed to 212 810 5300

or via e-mail to invrel@blackrock.com Copies may also be

accessed electronically by means of the SECs home page on

the Internet at www.sec.gov Stockholders and analysts should

contact Investor Relations at 212 810-5300 or via e-mail

at invrel@bIackrock.com News media representatives and

others seeking general information should contact Corporate

Communications at 212 810 5300 or via e-mail at invrel@

lackroc .com

Dividend Policy

The declaration of and payment of dividends by BlackRock are

subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors On February

24 2011 the Board of Directors approved quarterly dividend

of $1375 which was paid on Mardh 23 2011 to stockholders

of record on March 2011

Registrar and TransferAgent

BNY Mellon Shareholder Servies

480 Washington Boulevard

Jersey City NJ 07310 1900

800 851 9677

Common Stock Prices

The table below sets forth by quarter the range of high and low sale and quarter end closing prices for BIckRocks common stock

Cash
Common Stock Price Ranges Closing Dividend

High Low Price Declared

2010

First Quarter

Second Quarter

Third Quarter

Fourth Quarter

$243.80

$212.27

$172.87

$193.74

$200.56

$143.01

$138.42

$161.53

$217.76

$143.40

$170.25

$190.58

$1.00

$1.00

$1.00

$1.00

2009

HrstQuarter

Second Quarter

Third Quarter

Fourth Quarter

$143.32

$1 83.80

$220.17

$241.66

$88.91

$1 19.12

$1 59.45

$206.00

$130.04

$1 75.42

$21 6.82

$232.20

$0.78

$0.78

$0.78

$0.78
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Important Notes

On December 2009 BlackRock acquired from Barclays Bank

PLC all of the outstanding equity interests of subsidiaries of

Barclays conducting the business of Barclays Global Investors

BGI the BGI Transaction

Diluted earnings per share operating income and net income

are presented on an adjusted basis See page 43 for GAAP

reconciliation

2010 adjusted operating mar$in as compared to the 2009 pro

forma adjusted operating mafgin related to the BGI Transaction

Unless stated otherwise net new business figures are before

giving effect to merger related outflows resulting from manager

concentration considerations and scientific active equity

performance totaling $121.0 billion or 7% of the $1 .B trillion

of AUM acquired in the BGI Transaction well within overall

tolerances in BlackRocks valuation model

Past performance is not indicative of future results The

performance information for actively managed accounts

reflects U.S open end and closed end mutual funds and

similar EMEA based products with respect to peer median

comparisons and actively managed institutional and high

net worth separate accounts and funds located globally with

respect to benchmark comparisons as determined using

objectively based internal parameters using the most current

verified information available as of December31 2010

Accounts terminated
prior to December31 2010 are not

included If such terminated and other accounts had been

included the performance information may have substantially

differed from that shown The performance information does

not include funds or accounts that are not measured against

benchmark private equity products CDOs or accounts

managed by BlackRocks Financial Markets Advisory Group

Comparisons are based on gross-of-fee performance for U.S

retail institutional and high net worth separate accounts

and EMEA institutional separate accounts and net of fee

performance for EMEA based retail products The performance

tracking information for institutional index accounts is based

on gross of fee performance as of December31 2010 and

includes all institutional accounts globally using an index

strategy AUM information is based on AUM for each account

or fund in the asset class shown without adjustment for

overlapping management of the same account or fund as

of December 31 2010 Source of performance information

and peer medians is BlackRock Inc and is based in part on

data from Lipper Inc for U.S funds and Morningstar Inc for

non U.S funds Fund performance reflects the reinvestment of

dividends and distributions but does not reflect sales charges

SP 500 Index isa widely recognized unmanaged index of

common stock prices of industrial utility transportation and

financial companies in U.S markets

Barclays Capital U.S Aggregate Index is an unmanaged index

considered representative of the U.S investment grade fixed

rate bond market

Opinions expressed through page 40 are those of BlackRock

Inc as of
April

2011 and are subject to change
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BLackRock Offices WorLdwide

Corporate Headquarters Headquartered in New York City BlackRock has offices in

BlackRock Inc 25 countries and major presence in key global markets

55 East 52nd Street
including the Americas Europe the Middle East and

New York NY 10055 Africa and Asia-Pacific

EUROPE

MIDDLE EAST

AMERICAS AFRICA ASIA PACIFIC

Atlanta GA Montreal Canada Amsterdam
Beijing

Bloomfield Hills MI New York NY Brussels Brisbane

Boston MA Newport Beach CA Dubai Gurgaon

Charlotte NC Palm Beach FL Dublin Hong Kong

Chicago IL Philadelphia PA Edinburgh Melbourne

Cincinnati OH Phoenix AZ Frankfurt Mumbai

Dallas TX Pittsburgh PA Geneva Perth

Durham NC Princeton NJ Isle of Man Seoul

Houston TX San Francisco CA Jersey Shanghai

Jacksonville FL Santiago Chile London
Singapore

Jersey City NJ Sªo Paulo Brazil Luxembourg Sydney

La Jolla CA Seattle WA Madrid
Taipei

Los Angeles CA St Louis MO Milan
Tokyo

Marietta GA St Petersburg FL Munich

Mexico City Mexico Toronto Canada Paris

Miami FL Washington DC Peterborough

Minneapolis MN Wilmington DE Stockholm

Vienna

Warsaw

Zurich

Joint Venture
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